RESEARCH REPORT 2008-2009



MAX-PLANCK-INSTITUT FÜR WISSENSCHAFTSGESCHICHTE

Max Planck Institute for the History of Science



Cover:

Drawing table of the scientific illustrator Nils Hoff, Museum of Natural History, Berlin 2006. Foto: Barbara Wittmann

Back cover:

A section of the Peutinger table, an ancient road map representing the worldview of Roman travelers rather than a geographical mapping. The world, surrounded by water, is extremely distorted, favoring the east-west direction. The original size of the map was ca. 0.34 x 6.75 m. The section displayed here shows Italy and Africa divided by the Mediterranean Sea; it reaches from Lombardy (Insubria) on the left to the city of Milan (Mediolanum) on the right.

Most of the portrait photographs were done by Skúli Sigurdsson.

RESEARCH REPORT 2008-2009

MAX-PLANCK-INSTITUT FÜR WISSENSCHAFTSGESCHICHTE

Max Planck Institute for the History of Science

Introduction

The Max Planck Institute for the History of Science (MPIWG) comprises three Departments, each administered by a Director, and several Independent Research Groups, each led for five years by an outstanding junior scholar. Since its foundation in 1994 the MPIWG has investigated fundamental questions of the history of knowledge from the Neolithic to the present time. The focus is on the history of the natural sciences, but the history of the human sciences has also played an increasing role in recent research projects. Of central interest are basic categories of scientific thinking and practice as well as their transformation over time, such as, for instance, experiment, observation, space, motion, number or force. The research of the Institute pursues questions of philosophical epistemology historically. The common perspective of the diverse research activities is therefore often labeled as "historical epistemology."

The Library, which now holds over 60 000 volumes as well as the large number of digitized historical sources made openly available with the help of the Institute's Information Technology Group, significantly contributes to these broad-ranging historical inquiries. The approaches and methods used rely on a multitude of disciplines, ranging over the history and philosophy of science, the history of art and literature, cultural studies, the philologies of various languages, psychology and cognitive science to social anthropology and computer linguistics. Since current research projects take a comparative view of scientific developments, disciplines such as sinology, Mongolian and Islamic studies are becoming ever more important. Scholars working at the Institute accordingly have a diverse and often multidisciplinary background, many of them trained in the natural sciences—an important presupposition in particular for dealing with the challenges of recent history of science. This Research Report describes in detail the work of the different research units over the past two years. This work would not have been possible without the support of our Advisory Board. We hope that the results presented in this report will reward the reading.

The three Departments of the Institute approach questions of historical epistemology in different ways. The Departments are organized neither along disciplinary lines, nor according to historical periods. Their work embraces numerous scientific disciplines and large historical timescales. Department I, directed by Jürgen Renn, focuses on structural changes in systems of knowledge and investigates long-term processes of changes in scientific knowledge. These processes are studied in all their dimensions, in particular with regard to cognitive, material and societal aspects. Scientific knowledge itself is understood as part of a more comprehensive societal system of knowledge. Longitudinal studies examining the development of scientific knowledge from ancient to modern times are being complemented by transversal studies dedicated to global processes of knowledge transfer and transformation. Department II, directed by Lorraine Daston, focuses on the history of the ideals and practices of rationality. It investigates the history of epistemic categories and practices that have become so fundamental for modern science and culture that they appear self-evident, including scientific objectivity and observation. Working Groups composed of scholars from a variety of specialties and national scholarly traditions investigate such the history of such epistemic categories across historical epochs and diverse cultural contexts. Department III, directed by Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, studies experimental systems and spaces of knowledge. The scope of its historical subjects is broad, with special emphasis on the history of the life sciences and the epistemology of experiments. Research projects of the Department also treat foundational cultural techniques of science, the emergence of scientific concepts, and reflections on historicity. The Department of Hans-Jörg Rheinberger will be completing its work in January 2011, while Hans-Jörg Rheinberger himself will remain at the Institute until 2014. In agreement with the rules of the Max Planck Society (MPG) the search for a successor has been initiated. The Independent Research Group I, led by Dagmar Schäfer, at the Institute since 2006, traces the history of innovation in China. It collaborates closely with a Partner Group at the Chinese Academy of Sciences in Beijing.

In their individual research projects the Departments raise complementary questions, which, also in their concrete research, often lead to cooperative ventures. Department I and Research Group I, for example, share an interest in the history of science and technology in China; Departments II and III have common interests in the history of scientific observation and the ways in which observations are registered. All research units have developed an interest in issues of intercultural knowledge circulation. Joint conferences have been dedicated to issues such as historical epistemology and digital publication. The entire Institute has also been involved in a Research Network on the History of Scientific Objects, funded by the Innovation Fund of the President of the Max Planck Society, that also links the MPIWG to major international centers in the history and philosophy of science and technology, both universities and museums.

Over the past years, local cooperation with Berlin universities has intensified, resulting in a formal cooperation agreement in 2007 involving the Max-Planck-Society, the Free University and the Humboldt University. The cooperation has prepared the creation of an International Center for the History of Knowledge in Berlin. The center represents an open forum for the history of science and pursues three closely connected goals: it aims at encouraging an interdisciplinary dialogue with the goal of developing an all-encompassing cultural history of knowledge, it favors the exchange among natural, social, and cultural sciences, and it supports the creation of international research networks. The establishment of the new center takes place in the context of an upsurge in the history of science at the Berlin universities and a growing interest in this subject. In the past two years, first steps have been undertaken towards dual appointments at both the MPIWG and the Berlin partner universities. Together with the universities, the Max-Planck-Society selected Veronika Lipphardt as a new Independent Research Group Leader in 2009 who has launched her new group "Historicizing Knowledge About Human Biological Diversity in the 20th Century", and who is expected to be appointed as a W2-Professor for the History of Life Sciences at the Free University in 2010. Other new appointments made possible by the agreement included Mark Geller as professor for the History of Knowledge at the Free University, and a new junior professor for the History of the Human Sciences at the Humboldt University, due to be appointed in 2010. The Kuratorium (Board of Trustees) of the Institute as well as the Berlin center's cooperation council, established in 2007, supported these cooperation efforts. In this context, partners have begun to intensify cooperation in research, for example, in the contexts of the Excellence Cluster TOPOI and the Berlin School of Mind and Brain. The MPIWG will further strengthen its ties to its Berlin partners in the next years, including the joint appointment of another Independent Research Group Leader together with the Free University. An expansion of the agreement will include the Technical University as well. With additional support by the MPG, the instrument of Independent Research Groups, allowing young and exceptionally gifted researchers to develop their own research projects independently, has been extended even beyond these cooperations so that in 2010, two new Research Groups will be initiated at the MPIWG. Due to the continuing expansion of the Institute, new offices have been procured at the neighboring Harnackstr. 5.

The Institute continues to sustain collaborative research projects with other Max Planck Institutes such as the Bibliotheca Hertziana in Rome, the Max Planck Institute for European Legal History in Frankfurt am Main, the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florence, the Fritz Haber Institute in Berlin, the Albert Einstein Institute for Gravitational Research in Golm, and the Max Planck Institute for Comparative Public Law and International Law in Heidelberg. International cooperations have been extended beyond the well-established close partnerships in Europe, for example, with the Institute and Museum for the History of Science in Florence, in the U.S., for example, with Harvard University, and in China, in particular, with the Chinese Academy of Sciences. Intensive scholarly relations have meanwhile also been established with colleagues and with institutions in Brazil, Canada, India, Israel, Mexico, Mongolia and Syria.

The MPIWG aims to innovate first and foremost in research, but it has also pioneered new forms of publication and the exploitation of new source materials. The MPIWG has created a new genre of publication, "working group volumes," which are the result of years of collaborative research by teams of scholars, in contrast to the more familiar conference proceedings or edited volumes. Further exploration of new channels of publication, making use of the rapidly developing electronic facilities, is planned. In the past years cooperation with museums and archives has intensified as well, including several exhibitions, in part also available in electronic form. Finally, all research units are developing electronic research environments for historical work on science and knowledge on the basis of tools developed in cooperation with the Max Planck Digital Library. The Institute thus seeks to fulfill the pledge of the Berlin Declaration on Open Access to Science and the Humanities, launched by the Max Planck Society in 2001, to realize its part in the vision of a global and accessible representation of knowledge.

Obituaries

Blahoslav Hruška 5.5.1945-26.6.2008

At the Institute almost every year from 1995 (Dept. I)

Blahoslav Hruška, director of the Hussite Faculty of Theology at Charles University in Prague, passed away on 26 June 2008. A scholar of Sumerian, Akkadian, cuneiform writing, archaeology, ancient history and philosophy, he found international acclaim with his work on Mesopotamian agriculture. He taught for many years as a visiting professor at the Institute of Ancient Near Eastern Languages and Civilizations in Berlin, and was later involved in numerous international projects, for example, at Cambridge University and at the German Archaeological Institute in Berlin. Bibek, as he was known, was a regular guest of Dept. I where he contributed valuable work to the CDLI project and made substantial contributions to the history of agriculture in the Ancient Near East. An accomplished international research scholar and a kind and considerate person—he will be greatly missed by his many collaborators and friends at the Institute.

Lydia Marinelli 15.7.1965-8.9.2008

At the Institute from January to March 2001 (Dept. III) and May to June 2008 (Dept. II)

Lydia Marinelli was trained as a historian at the University of Vienna where she received her PhD in 1999. From 1992, she worked as a curator at the Sigmund Freud Museum in Vienna and later served as its director of scientific research. She devoted much of her career to transforming this site from a mere tourist attraction into an institution with growing international prestige producing novel and serious scholarship. Her exhibitions, all realized at the Freud Museum, mostly under difficult conditions, were major contributions to a renewal of the image of Freud and psychoanalysis. She was the first to publish detailed studies on the role of the media and of material culture in the making of psychoanalytic knowledge in a deep epistemological sense. Lydia was a frequent visitor to the Institute and it was with a deep sense of shock and loss that all those who knew her as a generous and gifted friend and colleague came to learn that she had taken her life on the 8th September 2008 in Vienna. Lydia Marinelli was one of the most brilliant Austrian historians of her generation and her loss is irreplaceable.

Malcolm D. Hyman 12.11.1970 - 4.9.2009

At the Institute from 2004 (Dept. I)

Malcolm Hyman was a historian of science, a linguist, a classical philologist, a Sanskrit scholar and an information scientist all combined in one person. For Dept. I and for the Institute as a whole he played a crucial role: he was a member of the Collaborative Research Centre 644 "Transformations of Antiquity," he was a key figure in the project on the globalization of knowledge and its consequences, he initiated a workshop series on multilingualism and linguae francae, he successfully led a very productive group in the context of the Max Planck Digital Library, he organized one of the Cross-Sectional Groups of the TOPOI Excellence Cluster, and he was always there to give advice, to help out, or to stimulate new ideas. He was an outstanding scholar and a warm and gentle human being, a unique mind whose loss is irreplaceable. He leaves behind his wife Ludmila and their one-year-old son, Stanley.

Naamah Akavia 18.9. 1977 - 7.2. 2010

At the Institute from January to March 2008 (Dept. II) and from October to November 2008 (Dept. III)

Naamah Akavia was a student in the Adi Lautman Interdisciplinary Program for Outstanding Students at Tel-Aviv University. She completed her MA thesis at the Cohn Institute for the History and Philosophy of Science and Ideas in 2003, for which she was awarded the Amos Funkenstein Prize. That same year, she was accepted as a Ph. D. student in the Department of History at the University of California, Los Angeles, where she started to work on her dissertation. She became particularly interested in the theoretical conceptualization and clinical practice of psychotherapy in Germany and Switzerland in the 1920s, in particular, in the motives of dynamism and motion so virulent in the work of Hermann Rorschach, Ludwig Binswanger, and Hans Prinzhorn, on whom her work came to focus. In 2008 Naamah spent time as a predoctoral fellow in Dept. II and was invited to continue work on her dissertation by Dept. III. Unfortunately her health condition forced her to return home to Tel Aviv for medical treatment, during which she was devoting all available time to the completion of her thesis. Naamah was able to send her completed work to the History Department of UCLA a few days before she died on 7 February 2010. We will keep her in our minds as a fine scholar and colleague.

Table of Contents

13 Structure and Organization of the Institute

Department | Jürgen Renn

- 17 Structural Changes in Systems of Knowledge
- **29** Project 1: Mental Models in the History of Knowledge: The Relation of Practical Experience and Conceptual Structures in the Emergence of Science
- 38 Project 2: Reorganizing Knowledge in Developed Science: The History and Foundations of Quantum Physics
- **46** Project 3: TOPOI—Historical Epistemology of Space: Experience and Theoretical Reflection in the Historical Development of Spatial Knowledge
- 53 Project 4: The Globalization of Knowledge and its Consequences: The Transfer and Transformation Processes of Knowledge across Different Cultures
- 60 History of Science in Action: Alternative Forms of Dissemination

Department II Lorraine Daston

- 67 Ideals and Practices of Rationality
- 69 History of Scientific Observation
- 88 Between the Natural and the Human Sciences
- 99 Gender Studies of Science
- Science in Circulation: The Exchange of Knowledge among Islam, Judaism, and Christianity,
 9th 17th Centuries
- 106 The Sciences of the Archive
- 110 Emmy-Noether Research Group
- 112 Short-term Visitors and Their Projects

Department III Hans-Jörg Rheinberger

- 117 Experimental Systems and Spaces of Knowledge
- 120 Experimentalization of Life
- 127 A Cultural History of Heredity
- 136 Knowledge in the Making. Drawing and Writing as Research Techniques
- 144 Additional Departmental Projects
- 154 Short-term Visitors and Their Projects

Independent Research Group | Dagmar Schäfer

- 159 Concepts and Modalities: Practical Knowledge Transmission
- 170 Partner Groups and Cooperations
- 179 Visiting Scholars
- 181 Events
- 182 Short-term Visitors and Their Projects

Independent Research Group III Veronika Lipphardt

- 185 Historicizing Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity in the 20th century
- 187 From Field Surveys to Biobanks. A History of Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity
- 195 Guests
- 197 Events

201 Joint Activities

- 201 Research Network: History of Scientific Objects
- 217 Workshop: Scholarly Publishing and the Issues of Cultural Heritage, Fair Use, Reproduction Fees, and Copyrights
- 220 Information Technology
- 224 Library
- 230 Cooperation and Outreach
- 237 Overviews
- 237 Researchers and Guests
- **265** Collaborations and Other External Activities
- 271 Conferences, Workshops, and Colloquia
- 274 Academic Achievements and Scientific Awards
- 277 Publications and Preprints
- 348 Index

Structure and Organization of the Institute

Scientific Advisory Board

- *Prof. Dr. M. Norton Wise* (Chair), Department of History, University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A.
- *Prof. Dr. Janet Browne* (Vice Chair), The Wellcome Trust, Centre for the History of Medicine at University College London, U.K.
- Prof. Dr. Francesca Bray, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom
- *Prof. Dr. Moritz Epple*, Historisches Seminar, Johann Wolfgang Goethe-Universität, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
- Prof. Dr. Paula E. Findlen, History Department, Stanford University, U.S.A.
- *Prof. Dr. Peter Galison*, Department of the History of Science, Harvard University, Cambridge, U.S.A.
- Prof. Dr. Paolo Galluzzi, Istituto e Museo di Storia della Scienza, Florence, Italy
- *Prof. Dr. Peter Hammerstein*, Fachinstitut Theoretische Biologie, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany
- Prof. Dr. Ilana Löwy, l'Institut Fédératif de Recherche IFR 69, Villejuif, France
- Prof. Dr. Christoph Meinel, Lehrstuhl für Wissenschaftsgeschichte, Universität Regensburg, Germany
- Prof. Dr. David Sabean, Department of History, University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A.
- Prof. Dr. Jakob Tanner, Historisches Seminar, Universität Zürich, Switzerland
- Prof. Dr. Helmuth Trischler, Deutsches Museum, München, Germany

Board of Trustees

- Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Schieder (Chair), Universität zu Köln, Germany
- Prof. Monika Grütters (Vice Chair), Member of the German Bundestag
- Hans Werner Kilz, Editor-in-chief, Süddeutsche Zeitung
- Prof. Dr. Dieter Lenzen, President of the Freie Universität Berlin, Germany
- Prof. Dr. Christoph Markschies, President of the Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany
- Thedel von Wallmoden, Director of the Wallstein Verlag, Göttingen, Germany
- Ranga Yogeshwar, Head of the Science Department, Westdeutscher Rundfunk Köln, Germany



Department I Jürgen Renn



Department II Lorraine Daston



Department III Hans-Jörg Rheinberger



Dagmar Schäfer



IRG III Veronika Lipphardt













Hannah Lotte Lund Claudia Paaß

Jochen Schneider

Urs Schoepflin

Dirk Wintergrün

Hansjakob Ziemer



Departments and Research Groups

Department I Structural Changes in Systems of Knowledge DIRECTOR Prof. Dr. Jürgen Renn RESEARCH SCHOLARS Dr. Peter Beurton (associated), Jochen Büttner, Giuseppe Castagnetti, Dr. Jacob Lebovitch Dahl (until September 2008), PD Dr. Peter Damerow (associated), Carmen Hammer, Prof. Dr. Dieter Hoffmann, Dr. Malcolm Hyman, Dr. Horst Kant, Dr. Falk-Juri Knauft (since September 2008), Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Lefèvre (associated), Dr. Christoph Lehner, Dr. Ernst-Wilhelm Osthues, Dr. Albert Presas i Puig (since August 2008), Simone Rieger, Dr. Matthias Schemmel, Dr. Arne Schirrmacher (since December 2009), Dr. Wolfgang Schmidle (since September 2008), Dr. Volkmar Schüller, Matteo Valleriani, Prof. Dr. Renate Wahsner (associated), Dr. Milena Wazeck

Department II Ideals and Practices of Rationality

DIRECTOR Prof. Dr. Lorraine Daston

RESEARCH SCHOLARS Dr. Charlotte Bigg (until December 2008), Dr. Grégoire Chamayou (since September 2009), Dr. Suparna Choudhury (since September 2009: Research Group Leader), Dr. Andreas Mayer, Dr. Tania Munz, PD Dr. Christine von Oertzen, Dr. Thomas Sturm (until September 2009), PD Dr. Fernando Vidal, Dr. Annette Vogt, Dr. Kelley E. Wilder (until August 2008)

Department III Experimental Systems and Spaces of Knowledge DIRECTOR Prof. Dr. Hans-Jörg Rheinberger

RESEARCH SCHOLARS Dr. Dr. h. c. Hans Erich Bödeker, Dr. Christina Brandt (since February 2006: Research Group Leader), Dr. Bernd Gausemeier, PD Dr. Christoph Hoffmann, Prof. Dr. Ursula Klein, Dr. Julia Kursell, PD Dr. Sybilla Nikolow (April– September 2009), Dr. Irina Podgorny (October 2009– September 2010), Dr. Henning Schmidgen, Dr. Alexander von Schwerin (November 2008– March 2009), Dr. Barbara Wittmann

Independent Research Group I (2006-2011)

Concepts and Modalities: Practical Knowledge Transmission DIRECTOR PD Dr. Dagmar Schäfer RESEARCH SCHOLAR Dr. Martina Siebert (until November 2009)

Independent Research Group III (2009-2014)

Historicizing Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity in the 20th Century DIRECTOR Dr. Veronika Lipphardt RESEARCH SCHOLAR Dr. Susanne Bauer

Administration, Coordination, Services

Hannah Lotte Lund (Coordinator of the Network "History of Scientific Objects"), Claudia Paaß (Head of Administration), Jochen Schneider (Research Coordinator), Urs Schoepflin (Head of Library) Dirk Wintergrün (Head of Information Technology Group), Dr. Hansjakob Ziemer (Cooperations and Public Outreach) Members of Department I (from left to right, top to bottom): Albert Presas i Puig, Lindy Divarci, Stefan Paul Trzeciok, Johannes Mücke, Dennis Kirchhoff, Anna Holterhoff, Martin Thiering, Mark Geller, Florentina Geller, Jochen Büttner, Beatrice Gabriel, Peter Damerow, Christian Voller, Shaul Katzir, Carmen Hammer, Sascha Freyberg, Martin Jähnert, Jaume Navarro, Sadiye Leather-Barrow, Willhelm Osthues, Tom Werner, Sophie Roux, Anna Perlina, Arne Schirrmacher, Margareta Tilberg, Giuseppe Castanetti, Massimiliano Badino, Ed Jurkowitz, Arie Krampf, Simone Rieger, Wolfgang Lefèvre, Milena Wazeck, Volkmar Schüller, Christoph Lehner, Petra Schröter, Jonathan Ludwig, Nina Ruge, Horst Kant, Renate Wahsner, Matthias Schemmel, Jürgen Renn, Dieter Hoffmann, Christian Joas, Oksana Kuruts



Department I

Structural Changes in Systems of Knowledge

Director: Jürgen Renn

Research Focus

The work of the research group headed by Jürgen Renn is dedicated to understanding the historical processes of structural changes in systems of knowledge. This goal comprises the reconstruction of central cognitive structures of scientific thinking, the study of the dependence of these structures on their experiential basis and on their cultural conditions, and the study of the interaction between individual thinking and institutionalized systems of knowledge. This theoretical program of a historical epistemology is the common core of the different investigations and research projects pursued and planned by the research group. Historically, they stretch from ancient Babylonian mathematics and medicine to recent physics and institutional history of science.

Approach and Achievements

Department I understands its research program of a historical epistemology as contributing to an evolutionary history of knowledge but also to the reflectivity of present science and its institutions. The emphasis is on macro-studies to enable the identification of large-scale structures of knowledge development in social, technological, and cultural contexts. Approaches, methods, and objects of inquiry are taken from a large array of disciplines, ranging from the history and philosophy of science, technology and art, via the cognitive sciences and linguistics, to archeology, Middle Eastern studies, classics, Sinology, Indology, sociology, to physics, mathematics, chemistry, and other natural sciences. The creation of innovative IT instruments is essential for managing the concrete historical evidence for the research of Department I, provided by sources that are written in various languages and come from a broad range of historical periods, cultures, and fields. The work of the Department continues to take inspiration from challenges of the present and future development of science, tackling such issues as the role of the new information technologies, globalization, and the position of science in society. It thereby opens up opportunities for younger scholars of the Department in finding positions in a broad variety of fields, including science organization and dissemination, in addition to academic positions within and outside the history of science.



Preliminary planning in the 5th-millennium: complex bonding systems for bricks were laid out using small model bricks. Mesopotamia Tepe Gawra II, northern Iraq, chalcolithic period (ca. 4500–4500 BC). Partly redrawn after Arthur J. Tobler, *Excavations at Tepe Gawra*, 1950. Research in Department I has led to the formulation of an overarching theoretical framework, offering cohesion to the wide spectrum of individual research activities realized under its auspices. Among past achievements was the filling of this framework with studies on the emergence of writing and mathematical thinking in ancient civilizations, investigations of the role of practical knowledge for the emergence of early modern science, a long-term history of mechanical

thinking, a comprehensive analysis of the relativity revolution at the beginning of the 20th century, groundwork for a long-term history of the development of architectural knowledge, as well as studies of knowledge development in an intercultural perspective. The Department has thus contributed to extending the perspective of the history of science to include a broader range of knowledge.

As the research projects of Department I integrate insights from a wide range of disciplines, cultures, and historical periods, they are realized in cooperative networks extending well beyond the boundaries of the Institute. The Institute typically represents, however, a central node of such networks, bringing together scholars to form teams characterized by intense co-operation over longer periods of time. The challenges of cross-cultural comparisons, diachronic studies of historical developments, and the close integration of computer-assisted source analysis and scholarly interpretations



A rare historical source on the history of architecture: *Vitruvius' De architectura*, 1524 from the Werner Oechslin Library collection in Einsiedeln, digitized and made openly accessible via the ECHO research environment. are addressed with the help of a combination of core teams, who bear the main responsibility for a project, and an array of informal working groups which are often independently funded, characteristically shaped by the interests of younger scholars and connected by weaker or stronger links to the activities of the core team. A scientific coordinator is assigned to supervise each of the four central projects. Exploring and validating theoretical conclusions with reference to the vast collection of primary sources, but also building upon the existing scholarly literature would be inconceivable without the support and substantial active participation of the Institute's library, and the information management facilities that were built up with the support of the IT group.



Two-volume edition of Yuanxi Qiqi Tushuo Luzui, 1627 (Collected Diagrams and Explanations of the Wonderful Machines of the Far West), the first Chinese translation of Western mechanical knowledge and machines. The first volume (left) comprises essays, the second (right), a facsimile reproduction, transcription and commentaries.

Cooperations with the other departments, with the Independent Research Groups, and with other Max Planck Institutes have proven particularly valuable for the research pursued in Department I. Questions concerning knowledge and belief but also the challenges of archival science have emerged as a common interest with Department II, while processes of intercultural knowledge transfer in modern science are jointly studied with other Departments and Independent Research Groups. Investigating the role of challenging scientific objects in various historical contexts has remained a common concern of all three departments. The ECHO (European Cultural Heritage Online) infrastructure maintained by the Department jointly with the IT group and the library, continues to serve as the basic model and as a sustainable framework for all research projects of the Institute that deal with the digitization of cultural heritage. Research on the history of Chinese knowledge and its interactions with European science has greatly benefitted from cooperation with the Independent Research Group led by Dagmar Schäfer, but also with the Institute's Partner Groups, $\rightarrow p. 159$ both the former and the present one, at the Institute for the History of Natural Sciences of the Chinese Academy of Sciences in Beijing. One of the results is a twovolume book publication in Chinese on the interaction between European and Chinese mechanics.

A common ongoing activity with the Independent Research Group and the present Partner Group headed by Sun Xiaochun focuses on the relation of ancient Chinese astronomy to the instruments used for astronomical observation documented by a text

 \rightarrow The Sciences of the Archive, p. 106

→ Conference, p. 214

Construction of the Older Parthenon on the Athenian Acropolis: Erection of the outer colonnade, shortly before 485 BC: Carving, surface-dressing, hoisting and placing of column drums and capitals. Drawing by Manolis Korres in M. Korres, *From Pentelicon to the Parthenon*, 1995. of Shen Kua 沈括 (1031–1095), perhaps the earliest extant Chinese treatise on astronomical instruments. Furthermore, supported in part by the Strategic Innovation Fund of the President of the Max Planck Society, joint research endeavors have been undertaken also with other Max Planck Institutes, in particular with the Biblioteca Hertziana, the Fritz Haber Institute, the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florenz, and the Max Planck Institute for Comparative Public Law and International Law. Resulting from the cooperation with the Biblioteca Hertziana, a major two-volume book publication has been dedicated to an epistemic history of architecture, conceived as the long-term history of the knowledge that has made the great architectural achievements of mankind possible. In cooperation with the Fritz Haber Institute a comprehensive history of quantum physics is in preparation.

As will be discussed more extensively below, the Department is also involved in institutionalized cooperations with other research centers both in Berlin and worldwide, benefitting from additional funding from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft,



from the Humboldt Foundation, the German Academic Exchange Service, and from other sources. One major cooperative venture is the *Project Cluster of Excellence TOPOI-The Formation and Transformation of Space and Knowledge in Ancient Civilizations.*

The Cuneiform Digital Library Initiative (CDLI) was launched by the Institute together with the University of California at Los Angeles, with support from the US National Science Foundation (NSF) and is now co-funded by the Mellon Foundation.

Completed Project: Epistemic History of Architecture

This joint project with the Biblioteca Hertziana in Rome and a team of scholars from several universities and institutes has completed its research in 2009. In the same year, a final internal workshop was held near Berlin, and some of the findings were presented at a symposium at Einsiedeln/Switzerland organized by the 'Bibliothek Werner Oechslin' and the Institute. The project was dedicated to establishing a long-term epistemic history of architecture, a new approach which focuses on knowledge as a crucial factor for the development of the building trade, in addition to the material, logistic, financial and personal resources involved. The historic periods covered by the project start with the very beginning of stone architecture in the Neolithic era and comprise the early civilizations in the Middle East and Egypt, Ancient Greece

→ p. 177

→ p. 60

Structural Changes in Systems of Knowledge

and Rome, the Medieval period in northern Europe and the Italian Renaissance. The findings of the project for the various periods investigated provide new insights into the specific qualities of practical knowledge.

The final publication comprises three major sections. In the first section, the theoretical and methodological framework is presented, which focuses-for the first time-on knowledge as a decisive resource for the history of architectural development. An explanation is also given of the dual structure of the work, i.e., the distinction between contributions labelled as 'basics' or 'specials': the 'basic' contributions essentially represent review or survey papers and cover entire periods following a homogeneous set of fundamental topics and questions, whereas the 'special' contributions constitute more specialized contributions dedicated to key issues that called for substantially novel research because of their impact on building knowledge.

The second section comprises the main contributions and opens with a basic review of the Neolithic era in South-West Asia (Dietmar Kurapkat). Others are devoted to ancient Mesopotamia: a basic overview (Uwe Sievertsen) is complemented by special contributions dealing with cuneiform sources on architecture (Markus Hilgert), architectural drawings (Claudia Bührig) and the building trade in the older Babylonian period (Rosel



Pientka-Hinz). A special contribution on Egypt (Ulrike Fauerbach) is followed by two basic surveys on Greece and Ancient Rome, together with an in-depth study of visual refinements in canonical architecture (Wilhelm Osthues). Further basic reviews cover the Middle Ages in Northern Europe (Günther Binding) and the early modern period (Hermann Schlimme, Dagmar Holste, Jens Niebaum). Related specials contributions study the documents of the erection of the famous Cupola of the Florentine cathedral (Margaret Haines), the role of architects as researchers, the complex design of profiles for column shafts (Antonio Becchi), and the architectural knowledge contained in German 'Hausväterliteratur' (Torsten Meyer). The final section is dedicated to the overall interpretation and discussion of the project's findings about the long-term development of building knowledge. A collection of relevant sources on the epistemic history of architecture was made freely available via the ECHO website. Work on this subject is being continued in the context of the collaboration with the Werner Oechslin Library in Einsiedeln.

Bones, muscles, ligaments of the construction and a new interpretation of the Vitruvian man. From B. Galiani, L'architettura di M. Vitruvio Pollione, colla traduzione italiana e comento del Marchese Berardo Galiani, 1758. Courtesy of the library of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science. Courtesy of the library of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science.

→ p. 61

→ p. 60

Ongoing Projects

Present research focuses on four central projects and on a cluster of activities directed at new forms of creating access to the empirical basis as well as to research results of the history of science. Each of the projects is coordinated by a research fellow and involves its own forum of discussion (project colloquium), while overarching issues are being discussed at team meetings involving the scholars responsible for the individual projects.

1. Mental models in the history of knowledge: the relation of practical experience and conceptual structures in the emergence of science



The aim of the project has been to study the origins and longterm development of scientific knowledge and to analyze the role of practical experience for the emergence and development of fundamental scientific concepts, such as those of weight, force, and motion. The project seeks to understand the emergence of such fundamental concepts as a result of reflecting on practical experiences, prior to the period in which experiments became the dominant experiential basis of science.

The project is in the final phase of publishing its results, in particular, in a book series entitled

The Historical Epistemology of Mechanics issued as part of the Boston Studies in the Philosophy of Science. At the same time, a number of follow-up studies have been undertaken in the framework of institutional cooperations, which made it possible to approach new subjects such as the emergence of modern hydromechanics in relation to pre-existing practical knowledge. In the report period the project has particularly benefitted from the support of the German Israeli Foundation (GIF) and the German Research Foundation (DFG) in the context of the Research Center—*Transformations of Antiquity* (coordinator: Matteo Valleriani).

2. Reorganizing knowledge in developed science: the history and foundations of quantum physics

The second project studies the reorganization of knowledge in developed science in the case of the development of quantum mechanics. It thus continues earlier studies on the relativity revolution in reconstructing the conceptual revolution of modern physics. A deeper understanding of this conceptual revolution requires tracing its roots in the established concepts and foundational debates of classical science. The project

Geometrical analysis of circular motions in the employment of basic mechanical devices such as the lever. Illustration by C. Cesarino, Vitruvius, 1521. Courtesy of the library of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science. studies the empirical evidence and theoretical conflicts that led to a need to reassess established knowledge, and follows the conflicts about the reinterpretation of this knowledge within new conceptual frameworks.

The project, coordinated by Christoph Lehner, is a joint venture of Department I with the Fritz Haber Institute of the Max Planck Society (MPG), funded by the Strategic Innovation Fund of the President of the Society. It has established itself as the center of a large international net-



work of historians, physicists, and philosophers. Through regular meetings and collaborative publications, it aims at establishing a continuing dialogue about the history of the conceptual foundations of quantum physics, transcending traditional disciplinary boundaries.

Just as the previous project on the relativity revolution, the project collects and digitizes key sources in the history of quantum mechanics. This includes the digitization of the existing microfilm archive for the history of quantum physics and the cataloging and digitization of Erwin Schrödinger's papers. The aim is to make these sources openly accessible.

3. TOPOI—Historical Epistemology of Space: Experience and Theoretical Reflection in the Historical Development of Spatial Knowledge

The project on the historical epistemology of space is part of the Department's broad involvement in the Excellence Cluster 264, TOPOI: *The Formation and Transformation of Space and Knowledge in Ancient Civilizations*, which is a cooperative venture of the Free University, the Humboldt University of Berlin, the Berlin Brandenburg Academy of Sciences and Humanities, the German Archeological Institute, the Prussian Cultural Heritage Foundation, and the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science. Its long-term aim is to establish a lasting institutional structure for research on Antiquity: the Berlin Antiquity College.

Technical illustration showing a Jamin interferometer for the measurement of optical dispersion. E. Ketteler *Beobachtungen über die Farbenzerstreuung der Gase*, 1865.

Two dimensional models of spaces with different curvatures (Euclidean; spherical; hyperbolic). In 20th-century relativistic cosmology, it turned out that physical space is not Euclidean, but can only be adequately described as a curved four-dimensional Riemannian manifold. The modern transformations of ancient concepts of space are a central concern of the project on the *Historical Episemology of Space*.



From the beginning of the TOPOI initiative in 2007 to the present, the Department has actively participated in forming the cluster. It is represented in the cluster's executive board (Jürgen Renn, member, and Matthias Schemmel, deputy) and in its organizational infrastructure, Jürgen Renn being the spokesperson of Area E, one of the five research areas of the cluster, jointly with Ernst Osterkamp of Humboldt University. The Area is central to the cluster in at least two respects: (1) It is the only research area whose historical subject goes beyond antiquity, investigating the later transformations of ancient spatial knowledge until the present. It therefore offers a reflective perspective on ancient knowledge which is of crucial relevance for the cluster at large. (2) It contains the so-called Cross-Sectional Groups which have the explicit mission to integrate research from different areas of the cluster by reflecting upon their results against the background of more general questions of the history of knowledge, and to feed back their results into the more specialized research projects. Within Area E, a series of working meetings has been held furthering the cross-fertilization of the research activities on space as transformed in the history of science centered at the Department on one hand and those on the transformation of spatial concepts in literature, art, and architecture centered at the Humboldt University on the other. The TOPOI project cluster further provided a framework for those research activities of the project The Globalization of Knowledge and Its Consequences that relate to the ancient world. Thus, work on the spread of knowledge through ancient cultures particularly focused on the role of writing, language, and multilingualism in the framework of a TOPOI Cross-Sectional Group. Contributions to the project by Manfred Krebernik, Mark Geller, and Mark Schiefsky were completed during their stay at the Institute.

4. The Globalization of Knowledge and its Consequences: The Transfer and Transformation Processes of Knowledge across Different Cultures

The fourth project, coordinated by Milena Wazeck, focuses on the conditions, pathways, and consequences of globalization processes of knowledge. The project aims at developing a new framework: a comparative history of knowledge on a large scale in which present processes of globalization are conceived as the outcome of historical





developments and their interactions.

The four research foci of the project address historical phases in which knowledge production, transmission and transformation were critical for advancing processes of intercultural transmission. The first focus investigates a series of processes in the very early phases of globalization from the transmission of practical knowledge to the emergence of science. The second focus explores how knowledge was

→ p. 59

→ p. 55

Transmission of knowledge by teaching. In an Islamic Madrasa, Al-Harir, *Maquamat*, Bagdad 1237 (left) © bpk-images; during the Renaissance, depicted on a marble panel by Luca della Robbia, ca. 1438 (right). disseminated as a consequence of the spread of power and belief structures on the Eurasian continent. The third focus deals with the encounters between culturally specific knowledge and globalized knowledge. The fourth focus is dedicated to the great challenges such as energy supply and climate change that humanity faces today when dealing with knowledge.

The research network established in 2007 has since been expanded. The participating scholars have collaborated in a variety of workshops and meetings on developing a theoretical framework and on producing a series of publications dedicated to an integrated and coherent history of the globalization of knowledge.

History of Science in Action: Alternative Forms of Dissemination

Further areas of work belong to what may be called "history of science in action" and are coordinated by Simone Rieger. Alternative forms of dissemination have been adopted to investigate the potential of the history of science as a mediator between science and society by exploring new forms of combining scholarly communication with public outreach, also in the service of the Max Planck Society as a whole. New forms of dissemination include the development of advanced tools for an historical epistemology: New electronic media have been used and developed—in close co-operation with the library and the IT group of the Institute—to explore innovative ways of creating access to the empirical basis and the research results of the history of science.



Training session at the Mongolian Academy of Science 2008: Simone Rieger (center) showing Mongolian historians how to use the virtual spaces tool for a future virtual exhibition of historical Mongolian photo collections.

Events and Developments

The period of the report was mainly characterized by a consolidation of the new projects, in particular the quantum project and the project on the globalization of knowledge, and by substantial efforts invested in collaborative research on ancient science and its transformations, in particular in the context of the TOPOI-project and the Research Center—*Transformations of Antiquity.* Both projects successfully underwent external evaluations within this period. The sudden death of Malcolm Hyman in 2009, collaborating with both projects, as well as with the globalization project, was a major loss for the Department.

In 2008, Arne Schirrmacher was awarded the publication prize of the Deutsches Museum for his article "Der lange Weg zum neuen Bild des Atoms." In 2009 Milena Wazeck was awarded the Georg-Uschmann prize for the history of science from the German Academy of Sciences, Leopoldina for her thesis on Einstein's adversaries. In the same year, Julia Damerow received a special award for an outstanding contribution to computational science from the Heinz-Billing-Foundation of the Max Planck Society for her diploma thesis "Entwicklung eines MDD-Tools für eine virtuelle Ausstellung." Miki Elazar was awarded the 2009 Funkenstein Prize of the Tel Aviv University for his doctoral dissertation "Honoré Fabri and the Concept of Impetus: A Bridge between Paradigms". Together with Susan Neiman, Iris Nachum and Barbara Hahn, Peter McLaughlin received the 2009 Margherita-von-Brentano-Preis for the comprehensive edition and publication of the Nachlass of Margherita-von-Brentano.



Title page of Milena Wazeck's book *Einsteins Gegner*.

Collaborative Ventures

The ongoing investigations of the Department have once again been expanded with collaborative ventures supported by third-party resources. Several major research initiatives have been launched, such as the Excellence Cluster TOPOI or joint research ventures in Brazil, India, Israel, Mongolia and Spain.



Since January 2005, the Department has been part of the Research Center-Transformations of Antiquity at the Humboldt University in Berlin, which concentrates on the transformation processes by which European cultures, arts, and sciences were formed in a continuation of the cultures of antiquity. The scholars of the Department taking part in this venture focus in particular on the conceptual structural changes in ancient knowledge as a result of its transmission. Within the framework of this cooperative venture, a special initiative has been launched with the Garden of Pratolino in Florence to investigate the transmission and transformation of the technical knowledge of antiquity. Its aim is to enable a comparison of the conflict between technical and theoretical knowledge during the Renaissance and during antiquity.

The cooperation on *Jesuit Mechanics in the Seventeenth Century: Scientific Education in a Catholic Context*, launched in 2008, is partly funded by the German Israeli Foundation for Scientific Research Development (G.I.F.) and undertaken with the Cohn Institute for History and Philosophy of Science and Ideas at Tel Aviv University. It continues to examine an important aspect of the development of mechanical knowledge: the dissemination and transmission of scientific knowledge in the early modern period through the highly developed communicative network of Jesuit colleges

and universities. A further cooperation with the Biblioteca Nacional de Portugal (BNP) was established to digitize and make openly accessible the Jesuit Coimbra Commentaries on Aristotle.

In addition to the ongoing collaborations of the project on the *History of Quantum Physics*, a new cooperation was launched with the Universidade Federal da Bahia in Brazil to research the history of the interpretational debates in quantum physics.

In the frame of the Department's cooperation with the Centre for Logic, History and Philosophy of Science at the University of Rostock, a new study was launched in January 2009 on the reorganization of knowledge in the life sciences.

Also in 2009, a new Minerva Center for the Humanities, headed by Rivka Feldhay, was founded at Tel Aviv University. In collaboration with Department I and oth-

Frontispiece of the Jesuit scientist Mario Bettini's Aerarium philosophiae mathematicae, 1648. er international research institutions, the section on *Migrating Knowledge* will explore knowledge in its dynamic dimensions focusing on a series of historical cases of knowledge transmissions between Europe and the Middle East and between Asia and Europe.

The Department's activities in developing an innovative digital infrastructure to support its research have continued in close cooperation with the Max Planck Digital Library (MPDL), a central body for scientific information management, which the Institute has helped to set up.

Several institutes of the MPG, among them the MPIWG, are developing a close cooperation with the Mongolian Academy of Sciences. A competence center for the digitization of Mongolian cultural heritage at the Mongolian Academy of Sciences is being established with the support of Department I and the Institute's library. This center supports the preservation of Mongolian cultural heritage by making it freely available in digital form using the advanced infrastructure developed within the Max Planck Society for such purposes, in particular the ECHO environment.

In cooperation with the Independent Research Group led by Dagmar Schäfer and Department II, an initiative was launched by the Max Planck Society in India to set up a new Partner Group to undertake research on the historiography of knowledge in different cultural contexts.

A research venture "Convivencia" has been launched together with the Spanish Consejo Superior de Investigationes Científicas (CSIC) by the Human Sciences Section of the MPG, following an initial proposal by the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florence together with Department I. A preparatory conference took place in 2009 that investigated from a multidisciplinary perspective a formative period of the European world with its cultural and religious heterogeneity: the encounters and exchanges between



³D-scan of a sealed cuneiform tablet from the Hilprecht Collection at Jena.

→ p. 178

→ p. 55

Jewish, Christian and Islamic communities and elites in the millennium between the decline of the Roman empire and the beginning of the early modern period. The ongoing collaboration between the MPIWG and the CDLI continues to augment the efforts of an international group of Assyriologists, museum curators and historians of science to make openly available through the Internet images and content of cuneiform tablets dating from the beginning of writing, ca. 3350 B.C., until the end of the pre-Christian era, cataloging cuneiform collections and capturing images of the cuneiform tablets. In the frame of CDLI, a cooperation between the MPIWG and the Friedrich Schiller University of Jena (FSU) was launched in December 2008 that aims to digitize the cuneiform tablets and the archival materials of the university's Hilprecht Collection and thus provide metadata for classifying the materials and reconstructing the process of the early philological and archaeological work. Pioneering 3D-scanning technology has been acquired that produces virtual images to replicate the original cuneiform tablets. Together with the Hilprecht Collection and the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florence, in 2009 the project organized an international workshop in Jena on the future perspectives of the use of 3D-technologies in the sciences. This workshop became the starting point for cooperation between several research institutions on new applications dealing with three-dimensional data.

Project 1

Mental Models in the History of Knowledge: The Relation of Practical Experience and Conceptual Structures in the Emergence of Science

General Goals of the Project

The project focuses on mechanics as a part of science that has extraordinary significance for the development of science in general. More than other disciplines, mechanics has a continuous tradition from its origins in antiquity to the elimination of fundamental categories of mechanics by modern physics. The project covers the period from antiquity to the emergence of classical mechanics in early modern times. Key issues are followed up into the 20th century by the research activities of the project on *Reorganizing Knowledge in Developed Science*. Substantial parts of the project have been completed. The results have motivated an extension of the project to cover related areas such as hydromechanics and practical pneumatics. Furthermore, central ideas of the project are being pursued in cooperations with other institutions and with several visiting scholars, enriching the project's findings with complementary investigations, such as the reconstruction of the process of transformation of ancient culture during the early modern period.

In the case of mechanics, knowledge structures can be reconstructed in terms of a variety of mental models which partly fulfilled functions in specific contexts of application, later covered by abstract concepts such as weight or force. The overarching vision of the project is realized following a series of different phases ranging from the emergence of theoretical mechanics in antiquity, via its elaboration in the scholastic framework, to the further transformations of this knowledge in the Renaissance and the subsequent creation of classical mechanics. This vision includes the investigation of the crucial role that practical knowledge played in all these historical phases as well as the relation between individual and shared knowledge. Taking these dimensions into account, the project has been able to show how social conditions and material culture shaped the large-scale structures of scientific development.

The Ancient Origins of Theoretical Mechanics

The use of mechanical tools predates any theoretical attempt to explain their function. The oldest known of these attempts date to the time of ancient Greece. The early Greek treatises not only changed the conditions for the construction of mechanical → p. 39

devices but also provided a model case for the structure of scientific theories: experiences of practitioners are traced back to principles from which they can be deduced as necessary implications. Paradigmatically, the work of Archimedes on the equilibrium of planes embodies this notion of a deductive theory.

The investigation of the emergence of this notion of a deductive theory in ancient Greece and the study of its impact on the later development of mechanics is a central activity pursued to understand the emergence of theoretical mechanics (Peter Damerow, Peter McLaughlin, Jürgen Renn). The Mechanical Problems of Aristotle (or of one of his disciples) played a crucial role in the early development of theoretical mechanics. Traditionally this treatise has been studied either with philological methods to evaluate the authenticity of attribution to Aristotle as its author, or from the viewpoint of later mechanics as an early application of the law of the lever. In contrast to such investigations, the treatise has been analyzed here against the background of the multilayered knowledge system of mechanics as a transformation of existing knowledge into a new form. In applying this method, it was shown that the treatise is not based on any theoretical explanation of the law of the lever, but rather on a principle that represents a general experience of practitioners and that is best interpreted as a precursor of the law of the lever. This principle can therefore be interpreted as the missing link between the long tradition of mechanical practices and the foundation of theoretical mechanics. On the one hand, it can be traced back to experiences of practitioners. On the other hand, its application is based on the Aristotelian notion of syllogism and not yet on the proof techniques of mathematical deduction as applied to mechanical theorems by Archimedes. In this respect the treatise represents a missing link in yet another sense, namely between the rules of philosophical discourse and the rules of mathematical proofs. It is this crucial position between the first-order knowledge of practitioners and the higher-order knowledge created in Greek philosophy that explains the impact of this treatise in the European Renaissance.

This is confirmed by a comparative analysis of the first early modern theories of the strength of materials. These theories were presented in the context of early modern commentaries on Aristotle's *Mechanical Problems*. The Aristotelian commentators developed such theories while sharing the practical rules concerning resistance and stability that were embodied in pre-modern building methods established over centuries by architects, shipwrights and machine-makers (Matteo Valleriani). This investigation has shown how novel theorems were formulated on the basis of a process of transformation of ancient theories in view of contemporary practical activities.

Scholastic Elaborations of Ancient Mechanics

Aristotelian mechanics remained dominant in Medieval times but was enriched in the 14th century by the work of the Oxford *calculatores*, who expanded the ancient theory of proportions, and by the Parisian School, which supplemented the Aristotelian theory of qualities with diagrammatic representations that went beyond the ancient means of representing functional dependencies. To investigate the process of scholastic elaborations of Aristotelian mechanics the *Liber de triplici motu*, published in 1509 by Alvarus Thomas, an early modern Portuguese natural philosopher, is being

→ p. 49

translated, analyzed, and interpreted (Stefan Trzeciok). This book about the theory of proportions and the Aristotelean theory of motion represents the culmination of the scholastic dispute about motion before the rise of preclassical mechanics and was directly relevant to Thomas Harriot's studies on mechanics. As a first result, a fulltext electronic edition of Thomas Alvarus' book is being published within the ECHO infrastructure.

The Use of Scholastic Tools in Early Modern Mechanics

The mathematical tools that were further developed or originated in the medieval scholastic tradition, such as the theory of proportions or the diagrammatic representation of change usually associated with the name of Nicolàs Oresme, constituted an important precondition for the mathematical treatment of various subjects of early modern science. In the case of early modern treatments of the motion of fall, the combined application of these two tools resulted in new interpretations of the dia-

grams themselves and eventually in the transformation of fundamental mechanical concepts like that of velocity. The hitherto unpublished working notes of the English mathematician and philosopher Thomas Harriot (1560–1621) contain the most systematic exploration of the implications of the medieval diagrams for the understanding of motion known to us. They clearly reveal the new practical contexts of early modern applications of medieval tools, such as the increasing importance of artillery in early modern warfare, as well as the conceptual difficulties that had to be overcome, such as the interpretation of diagrams in terms of proportions relating space traversed, time elapsed,

The relocity of A diagons	Al dig 2 s-mond by
Pata:	a
abt.	N
Autoring this queli	11
nde I abe.	
Control 491 10	1 Alse
in	1
by de : ab. ab Had.)	A STATE OF CONTRACT
〒 11	Firt: 64, 69, 69, 60

and velocity. A comprehensive edition and detailed analysis of Harriot's manuscripts on motion has been published as a two-volume set in the Department's series on *The Historical Epistemology of Mechanics: The English Galileo: Thomas Harriot's Work on Motion as an Example of Preclassical Mechanics* (Matthias Schemmel). The book contains facsimile reproductions and transcriptions of the 180 folio pages as well as a thorough interpretation which sets Harriot's work in the context of early modern mechanics.

Thomas Harriot's use of medieval diagrams of change in his notes on the motion of fall, motion along inclined planes, and projectile motion. On this particular folio Harriot determines the ratio of the velocities of two downwards motions, one along a vertical line of given length and one along an inclined plane of the same length (British Library Add MS 6789, f. 31r, excerpt).

The Impact of Practitioner's Knowledge on Early Modern Mechanics

A series of research activities examined the role of practical knowledge in the development of theoretical mechanics during the early modern period. These activities deal with three questions. What are the relations between practical and theoretical knowledge? What is the structure of practical knowledge as far as it influences the development of theoretical knowledge? What are the socio-economic conditions of the development of practical knowledge? The work of Galileo Galilei is particularly suited as a model case for addressing the first question. In order to understand the practical background of his theoretical achievements, his apprenticeship as an artist-engineer between 1584 and 1589 and the practical activities performed during his stay in Padua between 1592 and 1610 were analyzed. It was thus shown that his profile was comparable to that of a contemporary military engineer. Practical concerns had an immediate impact on Galileo's theoretical achievements. During his stay in Padua, Venetian authorities led an official enquiry concerning practical issues such as the maneuverability of large galleys. As it turned out, it was in reaction to this enquiry that Galileo developed his theory for analyzing the resistance to fracture of materials, later published in the *Discorsi* in 1638.

During his apprenticeship Galileo also became an expert in pneumatics. In particular he worked on an ancient pneumatic device, mentally re-configured into what is now called thermoscope and used for the first time to determine temperatures. The search for an explanation of the functioning of the thermoscope led Galileo to the formulation of the hypothesis of the discrete nature of heat, published in 1623 in *Il Saggiatore*.

The starting point of such investigations by Galileo was constituted by a set of mental models rooted in Aristotelian natural philosophy, which were transformed in the course of confrontation with practical experiences (Matteo Valleriani). The results of this research are published in a book entitled *Galileo Engineer*, the second volume in the series *The Historical Epistemology of Mechanics*.

Example of an early thermoscope, from Sanctorius, 1646 (left); Replica of Galileo's thermoscope, IMSS Florence (right), photo by Franca Principe, inv. N° 2444.



retical knowledge in the context of another, closely related field, the role of early modern hydraulic and pneumatic technology for the development of hydromechanics was examined (Matteo Valleriani). Within the framework of the collaboration with the Research Center-Transformations of Antiquity, it could be shown, in particular, that hydraulic engineers, who constructed the Garden of Pratolino near Florence-one of the greatest achievements of early modern technology-relied on ancient sources which they interpreted in the context of Renaissance technology. This research was based on a newly established virtual archive of relevant sources accessible on the ECHO website and via a virtual reconstruction of the garden <pratolino.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de>. The wider historical background of hydromechanics was studied focusing on the analysis of texts related to clepsydra, water-clocks, the shaduf and Archimedes' screw (Elio Nenci). The relation between practitioners' and scientific knowledge was furthermore examined by investigating the history of the design and construction of complex two- and three-dimensional shapes in architecture and ship geometry. Before 1800, the task of conceiving, documenting and fabricating such shapes constituted an important interface between practical and theoretical knowledge. A volume has been published that comprises comparative results in both naval and civil architecture from classical antiquity to the Renaissance (Wolfgang Lefèvre, Horst Nowacki). Another study has shown that the theoretical reflection of mechanical practices are

In order to address the question of the impact of practical on theo-

not necessarily confined to the realm of mechanics. This becomes particularly evident by the role that anatomy played in the interpretation of the stability of buildings (Antonio Becchi).

Work on the role and structure of practical knowledge was supported by a database of machine drawings. Extending earlier work, these drawings have been systematically analyzed with regard to technical components and pictorial language in social context. They have been made available as part of the Archimedes digital research library, including rare manuscripts from the 15th and 16th centuries (Wolfgang Lefèvre, Marcus Popplow).

The influence of the socio-economic conditions on the development of practical knowledge is revealed by a case study that examines the life and works of the mathematician, architect and engineer Mutio Oddi of Urbino (1569–1639), a contemporary of Galileo and pupil of Guidobaldo del Monte (Alexander Marr). This study has identified the growing overlap between mathematics, instrumental practice, bookish knowledge, and visual culture in the Late Renaissance through close examination of a voluminous archive of manuscript material, comprising some 1000 letters, notebooks, and unpublished treatises.



The development of mechanics as the result of an interaction of practical knowledge with other forms of knowledge ranging from antiquity to the early modern period finds its parallels in the evolution of optics and music theory as fields of scientific knowledge similarly dependent on the accumulated experiences of practitioners. Work on a critical edition and translation of Isaac Newton's *Opticks* has continued (Volkmar Schüller). Further work has also been dedicated to the investigation of the process of arithmetization of the theory of proportions in early modern music and its consequences on the contemporary development of theoretical music (Oscar Abdounur).

The analysis of the social contexts of science in the 17th century and the investigations on the origins of "externalism" in science studies has motivated a reconsideration of classical papers (Peter McLaughlin, Gideon Freudenthal). A collection of papers by Boris Hessen and Henryk Grossmann was published with an introduction explicating and analyzing the classical Marxist approach to an explanation of the Scientific Revolution developed in these writings. It was shown that Hessen and Grossmann, far from arguing that science was pursued in order to improve technology, focussed on the role of technology as the precondition and subject matter of theoretical knowledge.

The 'Mystery of the feats done by Sampsons, or strong men' described by J. T. Desaguliers in *A Course of Experimental Philosophy*, 1734. Courtesy of the library of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science.

The Impact of Challenging Objects

In the context of the technological development of the early modern period, certain devices, material objects and processes assumed the role of challenging objects for traditional conceptual frameworks of mechanics. Examples are the pendulum, fly-wheel, and projectile trajectory. The concepts of the extant theoretical frameworks of mechanics were probed by their application in the investigation of these novel challenging objects. The new results thus account for the inherent potential of the challenging objects to trigger and advance conceptual developments. This mechanism contributed decisively to the revolution of the theoretical knowledge of mechanics in the early modern period.

A central case study explores the reorganization of knowledge taking place in the course of Galileo's research process, which is documented by a vast collection of correspondence and research notes. It has revealed the challenging objects that motivated and shaped Galileo's thinking and closely followed the knowledge reorganization that these engendered. The problem of reducing the properties of pendulum motion to the laws governing naturally accelerated motion on inclined planes have thus been shown to have served as the mainspring for the formation of Galileo's comprehensive theory of naturally accelerated motion. These insights have made it possible to rewrite the

System of pneumatic automata representing Vulcan's Forge. Drawing by Giulio Parigi, *Gabinetto di Disegni e Stampe*, Uffizi Gallery, Florence.



history of Galileo's theory of motion as a transformation of the shared knowledge of preclassical mechanics, which is comparable to other intellectual trajectories. The focus on challenging objects has thus enabled an understanding of congruent theoretical developments-so characteristic for the period—which cannot be accounted for by oral and textual transmission alone. Another stimulus for the development of the theoretical knowledge of mechanics was the fact that the theoretical accounts given for these challenging objects often sought to mirror and account for the complex relations of these objects in their technological context to other objects and phenomena outside this context. In Galileo's case this led to the integration of established theoretical results that were previously considered to be unrelated. One example is Galileo's integration of knowledge concerning the motion of fall, the pendulum and the inclined plane. This is evidently an important mechanism for the unification of mechanical knowledge. The results of the case study is now being prepared as the third book of the book series The Historical Epistemology of Mechanics, Galileo's Challenges: The Origin and Early Conceptual Development of Galileo's Theory of Naturally Accelerated Motion on Inclined Planes (Jochen Büttner).

Further studies pursued in the framework of the Research Center—*Transformations* of Antiquity have deepened the historical understanding of challenging objects in their historical contexts. It has thus turned out, for instance, that the introduction of the fly-wheel as a machine part in the late Middle Ages served as a source for early modern reflections on rotational motion, challenging Aristotelian notions. In the frame of the Network History of Scientific Objects a workshop was organized to explore and elaborate a historiographical approach to the role that a particular type of object played in a particular period for the development of a particular body of knowledge—the challenging objects of early modern mechanics.

→ Conference, p. 214



Expansion of Preclassical Mechanics in the Early Modern Period

The preclassical mechanics of the 16th and early 17th centuries was characterized by an elaboration of the available mechanical theories in view of challenging objects. Preclassical mechanics, defined in this way as a historical stage in its own right in the development of mechanics, was pursued by engineer-scientists who addressed the technical challenges by drawing on heterogeneous bodies of knowledge—the increasing number of available ancient scientific and technical texts. As a consequence, a multiplicity of pathways developed, sometimes leading to the same insights about a given problem, sometimes to diverging views. At the same time, intrinsic tensions within a given traditional body now emerged in fuller clarity due to the fact that it was no longer, as was typically the case in antiquity, a single author or a string of authors separated by generations who were involved in its elaboration. Alternatively, one and the same problem was now often addressed from distinctive perspectives, thus becoming a borderline problem of different knowledge traditions, catalyzing their conflictual integration. The heterogeneity as well as the fragmentary nature of the shared knowledge of early modern science, in particular with regard to the heritage of Archimedes' burning mirror. Fresco by Giulio Parigi, ca. 1600, 'Stanza delle Matematiche' Uffizi Gallery, Florence. ancient science and its subsequent transformation, has been investigated by analyzing the conflictual integration of Aristotelian and Archimedean knowledge resources on mechanics, as it can be traced in the works of Guidobaldo del Monte, Giovanni Battista Benedetti, Galileo Galilei, Francesco Maurolico, Bernardino Baldi, Henri de Monantheuil, Simon Stevin, and Isaack Beeckman. In particular, an in-depth study was dedicated to a copy of Benedetti's *Diversarum speculationum mathematicarum et physicarum liber* containing hand-written marginal notes by Guidobaldo, the leading expert on mechanics of the generation before Galileo and himself the author of the most influential early modern text on mechanics (Peter Damerow, Jürgen Renn). Guidobaldo's views on mechanics were also compared to those of Maurolico, Baldi, Stevin and others in light of the different roles that mathematics played in physical explanations (Maarten van Dyck).

Knowledge and Belief in Early Modern Science

The development of early modern practical and theoretical mechanics was also shaped by religious constraints. In the framework of collaboration supported by the German-Israeli Foundation, it is being investigated how such constraints left their mark on the large-scale structures of scientific development. This will add a further dimension to the understanding of the evolution of mechanics in the 17th century and enrich the account of the Scientific Revolution.

It has been claimed in the past for instance that due to dogmatic constraints the Jesuits did not essentially contribute to the development of the new mechanics in the 17th century. Against this view the study has been able to show that Jesuits did make substantial contributions to the emergence of classical mechanics. The Jesuits, for example, more than anyone else took on the role of providing a growing body of stu-



dents with new knowledge in astronomy and the science of motion and machines, and some even with a highly advanced level of physico-mathematical knowledge. Although Jesuit physicomathematicians were constrained by the Society's pro-Aristotelian and anti-novelty programmatic position, their teachings had unintended consequences that contributed to the dissolution of the Aristotelian worldview, as has been shown in a comprehensive survey (Rivka Feldhay).

Description of a new pneumatic device by Giovambattista Aleotti. From Federico Commandino, *Heronis Alexandrini Spiritalium Liber*, 1680. Courtesy of the library of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science.
In addition, it was shown how Jesuit teaching was interwoven with practices of transmission of scientific knowledge that concerned wider audiences among the urban elites of early modern Europe.

A special case study has addressed the theory of motion of the Jesuit scientist Honoré Fabri and its relation to the Eucharist doctrine (Michael Elazar). The section "Jesuit Sciences" in ECHO currently displays 85 rare books and several manuscripts by Jesuit scholars. Two workshops were held in the report period, one in February 2008, the other in March 2009, the proceedings of which are being prepared for publication.



Frontispiece of Athanasius Kircher's *Romani Collegii Societatus Jesu* showing Jesuit scholars of the Collegium Romanum in the Museum's 'Cabinet of Curiosities'. Courtesy of the library of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science.

Project 2

Reorganizing Knowledge in Developed Science: The History and Foundations of Quantum Physics

General Goals of the Project

The goal of the project is the study of the emergence and transformation of core groups of concepts that structure the vast knowledge embodied in the mechanical worldview as a result of processes of knowledge integration and disintegration. In the context of the project, the emergence of such a core group of foundational concepts is conceived as a restructuring of the cognitive organization of previously acquired knowledge. Core concepts of the mechanical worldview such as space, time, force, motion, and matter achieved their privileged position in the organization of knowledge only after a long process of knowledge integration in a material, social, and cognitive sense. Such concepts proved to be extremely stable in the face of an enormous growth of knowledge in the course of the further development of science. Nevertheless, physics, like many other scientific disciplines, has witnessed in the past century fundamental changes of precisely such core groups of foundational concepts. These fundamental changes were preceded by more or less extended periods of knowledge disintegration, in which the established cognitive organization of knowledge became problematic. Processes of integration and disintegration of knowledge are studied in close connection to each other within the project, since it has turned out that the essential mechanisms at work in periods of destabilization were of a similar nature as those in the original processes of the emergence of core concepts of a discipline.

The project is focusing on the history of the central mental models which shaped scientific thinking in the transitional period from classical mechanics to modern physics. The results already achieved for the emergence of the new concepts of space and time in the context of the two relativity theories are being complemented by similar research on the emergence of new notions of matter, field and causality established in the context of quantum theory.

The History and Foundations of Quantum Physics

The quantum revolution emerges from a series of crises of the classical mechanical worldview from the late 19th century to the 1920s. These crises were caused in part by conflicts between theoretical expectations and experimental results, but also importantly by the difficulty of integrating recently established physical theories such as electrodynamics and thermodynamics into the mechanical worldview. Similar to the

case of relativity theory, conflicts between theories necessitated a reorganization and re-evaluation of controversial concepts.

Central to this process of re-evaluation was not only a large amount of uncontroversial empirical knowledge accumulated over a long period of time but also the persistence of certain theoretical structures and methods. Theoretical physicists were therefore confronted with critical decisions about which concepts and theoretical structures could be maintained in the emerging theory and could thus serve as a guide for the development of the theory. As in the case of relativity, it turned out that it was often high-level and abstract structures that survived, although frequently with a new physical interpretation.

Differently from the case of relativity, a consensus about the physical reinterpretation of the abstract structures was not easily attained. Famous dissenters, such as Einstein and Schrödinger, while accepting the new theoretical structure, disagreed about its meaning and its connection to the traditional mechanical worldview. Later on, the establishment of quantum field theory, including the unification with the theory of relativity, has turned out to be at odds with the traditional demands on an interpreted physical theory. These disagreements have persisted up to this day, even though quantum mechanics by all counts is a highly successful predictive theory.

The research project on the history and foundations of quantum physics began work in October of 2006 (Christoph Lehner, Jürgen Renn). It is a joint initiative with the Theory Department of the Fritz Haber Institute and has been funded for five years by the Strategic Innovation Fund of the President of the MPG. The project attempts to arrive at a deeper understanding of the genesis and the development of quantum physics, using the tools of historical epistemology that have been developed in Department I over the last years. The project thus focuses on the long-term history of the process of theory change, stressing the continuity of methods and structures. The experience in writing the history of relativity has demonstrated



the strength of this method: It leads to results that have been outside the view of approaches limiting themselves to an account of historical developments narrower in a temporal and contextual sense.

Unlike the relativity revolution, the development of quantum physics was a communal effort whose nature cannot be captured by a biographical approach that focuses upon a few central figures: careful attention must be paid to the broader community of researchers and to the network that allowed them to achieve what no single researcher could do alone. Work in this direction draws upon extensive archival records of correspondence, manuscripts, and notebooks that are investigated and made accessible in an electronic form to other researchers worldwide.

Another important element of the project is the focus on mathematical arguments in the primary source material, a topic not much dealt with in the existing literature. For this aim, the project is conceived as a close collaboration of a large and varied group of historians and philosophers of science with working physicists exchanging ideas and viewpoints through frequent meetings (dedicated conferences, workshops and reading groups).

X-ray apparatus depicted on the cover of the popular science journal *Koralle*, 1932.

It is obvious that the history of quantum physics cannot be understood without an appreciation of the radical conceptual changes that it brought. Debates about interpretation played a central role in the development of quantum physics. Therefore, the project investigates the history of the interpretation of quantum mechanics not as a separate "philosophical" subject but as part of a wider debate in physics.

The project aims at fostering the study of the history of quantum physics by facilitating the exchanges between physicists and historians, but also by drawing new scholars into the field through graduate and postdoc fellowships. In addition, one of the main tasks of the project is the maintaining of an electronic infrastructure within the ECHO environment for the publication of primary sources, archival material as well as results of ongoing research by members of the network.

As the central publication of the project, a working group volume in preparation describes the development of quantum mechanics as a long-term process of theory change (Christoph Lehner, Christian Joas, and Jürgen Renn). It emphasizes the continuity of scientific methods and structures through the fundamental changes in the mechanical world picture since the 19th century. This book bundles the individual research programs of the members of the group into a coherent whole, at the same time achieving a legible survey of the development of quantum mechanics, and filling a void between thematically focused technical accounts and popular presentations that do not represent the current historical state of the art. It is being written in close collaboration by all the members of the project, who meet every week for presentations and discussions. In close connection with the working group volume, two edited volumes are also in preparation: One volume (Giuseppe Castagnetti, Michael Eckert, Hubert Goenner, Dieter Hoffmann, Alexei Kojevniknov, Jürgen Renn, Arne Schirrmacher) addresses the role of scientific institutions in the development of quantum theory and comprises, e.g., case studies on the Kaiser Wilhelm Institutes of Physics and Physical Chemistry and the Physikalisch-Technische Reichsanstalt in Berlin, the Sommerfeld school in Munich, Bohr's institute in Copenhagen, and Göttingen University. The second volume (Massimiliano Badino, Jaume Navarro) analyzes early textbooks of quantum theory and their role in establishing and promoting the theory. For both edited volumes, workshops with the external contributors were organized in 2009. Contributions to the textbook volume were presented in two special sessions at the 2009 HSS meeting in Phoenix, U.S.A..

Besides a biweekly reading group for physicists and historians from local institutions, and a colloquium with invited speakers, a series of conferences was launched by the project in 2007 to strengthen the international network of researchers working in the history of quantum physics. The second conference in this series took place in Utrecht in July 2008. Its proceedings were published as a special issue of *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* (2008, 40: 4). A satellite meeting of the project took place in May 2008 at the University of Sidney. The project also contributed a session entitled "Quantum Physics at the Crossroads" to the 2008 "Three Societies Meeting" in Oxford, and was featured in a special session "Eighty years of quantum mechanics. A new international project" at the April 2008 meeting of the American Physical Society.

The project contributed the texts for the exhibition "Max Planck: Revolutionär wider Willen" organized by the Max Planck Society at the Deutsches Technik Museum in

honor of the 150th birthday of Max Planck. These texts formed the basis for a special issue of *Spektrum der Wissenschaft* (Biographie). Planck's birthday was also the occasion for a symposium, organized by the project, of the History of Physics Division of the Deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft in February 2008 in Berlin. The proceedings of this meeting were published in an edited volume entitled "Max Planck und die moderne Physik" (Dieter Hoffmann).

Old Quantum Theory

The old quantum theory was a period of transition between classical and quantum mechanics. Successive crises led to a gradual disintegration of the mechanical worldview. At first, attempts were made to capture quantum phenomena by ad hoc modifications of the description in classical mechanics, such as quantum conditions. The problems of these attempts led to an increasing awareness that a more fundamental revision of mechanical concepts was necessary.

Research on the life and work of Max Planck as a pioneer of quantum physics concentrates on his institutional, social and personal environment (Dieter Hoffmann). It includes a comprehensive scientific biography of Planck and a new edition of his writings on thermodynamics. Further, a study of his role as an editor of the *Annalen der Physik*, the transcription of the correspondence between Planck and his co-editor at the *Annalen*, Wilhelm Wien, as well as an extensive annotated collection of Planck's Annalen papers, were published in 2008.

Another founding father of quantum theory was Albert Einstein whose papers on quantum physics are the subject of a study based on correspondence and manuscripts

available at the Einstein Papers Project (Tilman Sauer). A Cambridge Companion to Einstein, which studies all facets of Einstein's work and its impact on philosophy, is in preparation (Michel Janssen, Christoph Lehner).

A previous study of the project had pointed out the central role of optical dispersion in the genesis of matrix mechanics (Anthony Duncan, Michel Janssen). For a better understanding of the historical context, a long-term study is conducted on the history of theories and experiments of optical dispersion from 1870 to 1925, and especially on the challenge of reconciling the classical theories of dispersion with quantum theory (Marta Jordi).

A study of the interactions between statistical mechanics and old quantum theory from 1911 to 1925 (Massimiliano Badino) focuses on the way in which the quantum hypothesis changed the understanding and the application of the conceptual tools of statistical mechanics to the description of matter. Related is a study on Erwin Schrödinger's 1912 work on solid dielectrics, which reflects early signatures of Erwin Schrödinger's approach to physical theory and displays the wide range of possible conceptions about the structure of solids before it became accessible experimentally through X-ray diffraction (Christian Joas, Shaul Katzir). An interesting case of Reproduction from Robert Wood, *Physical Optics*, 1911 showing the optical dispersion by sodium vapour (fig.2).



Department I



Model of a hydrogen molecule ion according to the old quantum theory, built for the Deutsches Museum, Munich using calculations by Wolfgang Pauli, ca. 1923. transfer of knowledge from pure science to technology is the history of piezoelectricity, leading to such applications as the sonar and frequency control in electronic circuits (Shaul Katzir). Research on the history of radioactivity and early nuclear physics is devoted to the investigation of the relationships between persons and institutions in Germany, and their international connections; it also treats the correlations between experiment and theory in this area (Horst Kant). The investigation concentrates on the research groups at the Kaiser Wilhelm Institutes of Chemistry and Physics (Berlin) and Medical Research (Heidelberg).

Early atomic physics and the reception of quantum physics in Britain in the 1920s is the subject of a study on J. J. Thomson and G. P. Thomson (Jaume Navarro). The impact that drawings and three-dimensional models of the atom (originally conceived to make atoms and their structure accessible to a broad public) had on the development of atomic physics and its methods is the subject of a study on the emergence of modern physics in the public sphere (Arne Schirrmacher).

The Genesis of Quantum Mechanics

A second group of studies is concerned with the genesis of modern quantum mechanics, which was established in the mid-1920s as a foundational theory of modern physics involving substantial conceptual modifications compared to classical physics. The research program aims at analyzing how these conceptual changes emerged from a transformation of the knowledge of classical physics.

Research activities on the development of wave mechanics (Christian Joas, Christoph Lehner, Jürgen Renn) are dedicated to the historical roots of wave mechanics and in particular to a study of the research notebooks of Erwin Schrödinger. A detailed account of Schrödinger's formulation of wave mechanics, using the notebooks extensively for the first time, has been published. The study of Schrödinger's research notebooks continues with a focus on the further development of wave mechanics and Schrödinger's debates about the interpretation of quantum mechanics.

Walther Bothe studied the wave-particle dualism of light both from the experimental and from the theoretical side and contributed to the understanding of energy fluctuations of black-body radiation. His little-studied work is analyzed in a collaboration between a physicist and a historian (Dieter Fick, Horst Kant). Another study about the connection between experiment and theory in wave mechanics focuses on Charles G. Darwin's electron diffraction experiments and his work on a wave equation for the electron (Jaume Navarro).

An investigation into the early history of Bose-Einstein condensation and the emergence of quantum statistics has been carried out (Daniela Monaldi). It analyzes the emergence of new concepts related to the new quantum-mechanical formalism, e.g., the concepts of indistinguishable particles and of cooperative phenomena.

Pascual Jordan's 1927 transformation theory, an early unification of wave and matrix mechanics relevant both for the consolidation of quantum mechanics and for the development of quantum field theory is studied in another collaboration between a

physicist and a historian (Anthony Duncan, Michel Janssen). Pascual Jordan was the earliest visionary of the possibilities of quantum field theory as a "theory of everything." His role is examined in a study on the rather unknown early development of quantum field theory from its first appearance in the 1925 Heisenberg-Born-Jordan paper until its crisis in the 1930s because of the problem of infinities and rising skepticism about its fundamental character (Christoph Lehner, Michel Janssen).

Erwin Schrödinger and friends at the "baptism of the 'wave packet," June 21, 1931. Reprinted with permission of Ruth Braunizer

The redefinition of traditional mechanical notions, such as angular momentum, and the development of new types of symmetry arguments is the subject of a study on selection rules and symmetry arguments in quantum mechanics (Arianna Borrelli). From late 1926 onward, group-theoretical considerations were employed to interpret spectroscopical selection rules in terms of symmetries, which in turn came to be connected to a new, specifically quantum-theoretical notion of conservation law. Eventually, both in quantum mechanics and in quantum field theory, selection rules—i. e. the failure of specific events to take place—came to be regarded as the observable signature both of symmetries and of conserved quantities.



Consolidation, Extension, and Reception

A third group of studies deals with the consolidation, extension, and reception of quantum mechanics from the 1930s onwards, as well as the continuing debates continuing debates the debates about its interpretation. A study investigates how quantum physics developed in China during the 20th century, paying special attention to the relationship between scientists and institutions in China, and their international connections (Xiaodong Yin).

The conceptual and the institutional history of solid-state physics in connection with other emerging fields is the subject of another study (Christian Joas). A special focus is the transfer of quantum-field theoretic concepts and methods between theoretical high-energy physics and theoretical solid-state physics in the postwar era. A study on the history of computation in solid-state physics examines how solid-state theorists' research practices have evolved from the late 1920s to the present (Edward Jurkowitz, Volker Blum). It is particularly interested in the role that changing computational capacities may have played in the different focuses and standards that leading theorists brought to their research on solid-state topics in diverse institutional settings.

A monograph on the history of quantum chemistry was produced in collaboration and with the support of the quantum history project (Kostas Gavroglu, Ana Simões).

The problematic relationship between the two major fundamental theories of physics in the 20th century is the topic of a collaboration on the history of quantum field theory and quantum gravity (Jürgen Renn, Donald Salisbury, Matthias Schemmel, Kurt Sundermeyer). The current focus of this research endeavor is the historical study of efforts to incorporate gauge and coordinate freedom into quantum theory. One study concentrates on the emergence of the theory of decoherence and is based on numerous interviews with living physicists (Fabio Freitas). It places special emphasis on the local environments and how the work on decoherence and the foundations of physics affected the careers of the physicists involved. Another study on contemporary physics studies visions of nuclear breeder reactors, and inquires how these utopian images of future reactors interplayed with important decisions in the Swedish nuclear program (Maja Fjaestad).

Erwin Schrödinger playing chess with his daughter Ruth Braunizer, who is now the executor of his estate. Reprinted with permission of Ruth Braunizer.

A further study analyzes historically important positions and debates concerning the interpretation of quantum mechanics. As mentioned above, it attempts to understand



these debates as negotiations about which elements of the classical theory should be preserved in the new mechanics and which elements need to be jettisoned. Individual topics that have been treated so far are the debates about *Anschaulichkeit* between Heisenberg and Schrödinger (Martin Jähnert), Einstein's critique of quantum mechanics (Christoph Lehner), and the debates about "heterodox" interpretations of quantum mechanics after World War II (Fabio Freitas, Olival Freire). Another study deals with the tension between dialectical materialism and the interpretation of quantum mechanics (Christian Forstner, Olival Freire, Dieter Hoffmann, Anja Skaar Jacobsen, Martin Jähnert, Christian Joas, Christoph Lehner).

Institutions and Quantum Physics

Further studies were dedicated to the reorganization of physical research as a reaction to the emergence of quantum problems in the early 20th century. Of central interest was the extent to which such a reorganization took place as the result of an explicit program to transform the mechanical worldview. The research focused on the effect of contemporary scientists' recognition of quantum problems and how this related to the shifting of their research foci, the reallocation of their resources, and the reorganization of research structures and policies. Several studies were conducted on specific institutions such as the University of Göttingen (Arne Schirrmacher), the Sommerfeld school in Munich (Michael Eckert), and the Berlin physics institutes (Dieter Hoffmann). The results will be presented in the above-mentioned volume on the role of scientific institutions in the development of quantum theory.

In preparation for the 100th anniversary of the KWG/MPG, its history is being studied with the aim of a general overview (Jürgen Renn and Horst Kant). In cooperation with the Fritz Haber Institute (one of the two first Kaiser Wilhelm Institutes to be founded in 1911), a research endeavor on the history of this institute has been started and a colloquium series established with invited speakers addressing various aspects from its history (Dieter Hoffmann, Bretislav Friedrich, Jeremiah James, Thomas Steinhauser). A study of the history of physics at the Humboldt University is being underaken in collaboration with the university for the occasion of its 200th anniversary in 2010 (Dieter Hoffmann). In reaction to an international public discussion, research was conducted on Peter Debye and his role as a prominent physicist in Nazi Germany. One study concentrated on Peter Debye as director of the Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for physics in Berlin during the Third Reich (Horst Kant). Another study aimed for a more differentiated picture of Debye's role by comparing his situation with that of other foreign researchers in Nazi Germany (Dieter Hoffmann). A conference was held in Göttingen in 2008, "Fremde' Wissenschaftler unter Hitler. Die Debye-Affäre im Kontext," and a proceedings volume is forthcoming.



Digital Infrastructure

To support the individual researchers, a coordinated effort has been made in close cooperation with the IT group to collect, digitize, and make available a wide array of sources for the history of quantum physics in the ECHO environment (Carmen Hammer). Part of this endeavor is the digitization by the MPIWG library of the complete Archives for the History of Quantum Physics, an extensive collection of sources compiled and microfilmed at the American Philosophical Society. This work nears completion and the digitized material is accessible to cooperating researchers on the project's website. Another activity is the cataloging and digitization of Erwin Schrödinger's papers which are in the possession of his daughter, Ruth Braunizer.

Cooperative Venture: The Concept of Scientific Philosophy and the Revolutionary Developments in the Natural Sciences from 1870 to 1950

The Department continued its close cooperation with the Moritz Schlick Research Institute at the University of Rostock. The study investigates the relationship between the works of scientists-philosophers such as Hermann von Helmholtz, Ernst Mach, Alois Riehl, Wilhelm Wundt, Pierre Duhem, Henri Poincaré, Moritz Schlick, and Hans Reichenbach and the revolutionary developments in the natural sciences, especially in modern physics but also in experimental psychology and Gestalt psychology during the period from 1870 to 1950. Ongoing activities include the publication of selected parts of the literary estate of Moritz Schlick through the ECHO platform, and research on the relations between modern physics and scientific philosophy in the early 20th century, focusing on two central figures of scientific philosophy: Moritz Schlick and Hans Reichenbach (Olaf Engler).

Alexander McLean Nicolson in The Western Electric research department (AT&T) c. 1920. Nicolson observes crystal motion on the box in the table with a Fabre Perot interferometer. The white disc just over Nicolson's hands is the paper cone of a piezoelectric crystal driven load-speaker of his design. From AT&T archive.

Project 3

TOPOI—Historical Epistemology of Space: Experience and Theoretical Reflection in the Historical Development of Spatial Knowledge

General Goals of the Project

The project on Historical Epistemology of Space: Experience and Theoretical Reflection in the Historical Development of Spatial Knowledge is conducted by a TOPOI Junior Research Group jointly organized by the TOPOI Cluster and the MPI. The group is headed by Matthias Schemmel and integrated into the work of Department I. The project aims at a long-term history of basic structures of spatial thinking, ranging from prehistory to the most recent and ongoing scientific revolutions. It focuses on the question of how the emergence and the development of spatial concepts is shaped by experience and how, in turn, these concepts influence the acquisition of further experiential knowledge. In this project, experience is understood in a broad sense, ranging from the interaction of biological organisms with their environment to the systematic acquisition of knowledge by means of the complex experimental systems of modern science. The experiential spaces that one may thus distinguish have traditionally been investigated by different disciplines, such as developmental psychology, anthropology, ethnology and psycholinguistics, archeology, and the history of science and technology. In the framework of the project, these are set in relation to each other with respect to their research potentials and results concerning the historical development of spatial knowledge. In order to achieve an integration of research results from different disciplines pertinent to the understanding of the long-term development of spatial knowledge, the group has worked on a shared theoretical framework which shapes and correlates the concrete research activities. In this endeavor the project group built upon results of the project on Mental Models in the History of Knowledge.

One of the basic results of the group was that the development of spatial knowledge is closely linked to external knowledge representations such as coordinated actions, landmarks for orientation, lexical and grammatical properties of spoken and written language used to express spatial relations, instruments for measurement, navigation, and surveying, geographical maps, and geometrical formalisms from Euclid's *Elements* to the field equations of general relativity and quantum field theory. The investigation of the role of external representations allows for an understanding of the development of knowledge structures as a result of manipulating them and reflecting upon the outcome. This model of explanation pertains not only to individual human cognition. External representations also serve the communication of knowledge and its transmission from one generation to the next and also from one culture to another. Thus, in the project, the analysis of representations became the central method for reconstructing the social reproduction of knowledge. For understanding the long-term development of spatial knowledge from antiquity to the present this social dimension of external knowledge representation turned out to be of crucial importance. Results $\rightarrow p. XXX$ of the group's research will be integrated and published in a volume which is in preparation under the title Spatial Thinking and External Representation.

Spatial Concepts in Non-Literate Societies: Language and **Practices in Eipo and Dene Chipewyan**

The most basic forms of spatial knowledge that are studied in the project are those represented by spatial concepts in non-literate societies. Obviously, certain aspects of spatial cognition are universal owing to the shared biological constitution of the human body and mind and to universally shared experiences. Other aspects of spatial cognition are culturally specific, being shaped, for instance, by particular practices of spatial orientation and organization. The question of how to empirically verify this distinction is a matter of controversial debate. Taking into account the results of research pursued by the Max Planck Institute for Psycholinguistics at Nijmegen and based on discussions with the Language and Cognition Group at this institute the question has been taken up again by the present project under the specific perspective described above.

On the basis of the study of spatial practices in two non-literate cultures and (utterances in) their languages, certain aspects of spatial cognition that are candidates for universals (although they may find different expressions in different languages), and aspects that are truly culture specific in the sense that different cultures develop different cognitive structures have been identified (Wulf Schiefenhövel, Martin Thiering). The two cultures that have been thoroughly studied are the Eipo living in the highlands of Indonesian New Guinea and the Dene living in the North American plains. It has turned out that, while the peculiarities of the two cultures' environments did shape their spatial language and practices (importance of mountains vs. lakes; practices of gardening vs. hunting), similar practices of spatial orientation such as the use of landmarks can be discerned in both cultures. Although the semantic and grammatical resources provided by the two languages differ substantially, no differences in spatial abilities have been identified that could be attributed to language peculiari-

Seemingly chaotic construction (left) and finishing (right) of a sacral men's hut by the Eipo tribe in West New Guinea. From Gerd Koch, Malingdam, 1984.

ties. In the context of the longterm historical perspective of the project, the results will be evaluated with respect to what can be inferred from them concerning the spatial knowledge of prehistoric humans in order to complement what can be known through archeological finds.





The Impact of Notation Systems: From the Practical Knowledge of Surveyors to Babylonian Geometry

Mesopotamian proto-cuneiform and cuneiform clay tablets written in the time period from the invention of writing (around 3200 B. C.) to the development of Babylonian mathematics in the Old Babylonian period (around 1900–1600 B. C.) document the development from elementary spatial knowledge to an esoteric art of formulating complex geometrical problems and solving them using sophisticated arithmetical tools applied to geometrical intuition. It is evident that the spatial cognition under these circumstances differs considerably from what has been identified in non-literate cultures. The representation of this new form in the documents of surveyors, school texts, and the problem-texts of Babylonian mathematics have been studied (Peter Damerow). It turned out that the emergence of the new kind of spatial cognition



Pre-Euclidean geometry in Mesopotamia.

surveyor's document, 21st cent. B. C. (left), and of the area of a trapezoid in a geometri-

cal school text, ca. 17th cent. B. C. (right). Courtesy of the Schøyen Collection.

Calculation of the area of a field in a



documented in these sources was primarily based on the growing knowledge of surveyors and the scholarly reflection on their means and practices. The resulting mental constructions remained implicit but can be partly reconstructed from the arithmetical operations of Babylonian mathematics. They turn out to show "non-Euclidian" peculiarities such as the neglect of the role of angles, resulting from the practices of surveyors which they reflect.

Writing and Reflection on Elementary Actions and Professional Practices: The Chinese Mohist Canon and Its Counterparts in Greek Science

A new kind of spatial knowledge is characterized by explicit definitions and inferences in written form. This knowledge is documented, in particular, in philosophical and mathematical texts in ancient China and Greece. The work on these texts has focused on the analysis of a unique source of ancient Chinese thinking, the so-called *Mohist Canon*, written around 300 B. C. In a series of working meetings continuing earlier work in the context of the project on *Mental Models in the History of Knowledge* it was attempted to reinterpret the *Mohist Canon* from a comparative and contextual perspective (William G. Boltz, Matthias Schemmel). It turned out that the text can be understood as documenting the reflection on elementary and practical forms of knowledge, such as intuitive knowledge on spatial arrangements and natural processes, and knowledge obtained in the handling of mechanical and optical devices or instruments for measurement and astronomical observation. Theoretical reflection is documented in the text through the definition of general terms, the consistent use of terminology, and the resolution of apparent paradoxes or explanation of unexpected phenomena. Texts handed down from Greek antiquity, such as Aristotle's *Physics* or Euclid's *Elements* equally document a reflection on elementary and practical spatial knowledge. The comparison of the Chinese and the Greek cases suggests that the existence of a culture of disputation and the related emergence of argumentative text traditions is a general precondition for this kind of theoretical reflection. While the Mohist tradition ceased with the rise of the Qin Empire at the end of the third century B. C., the later tradition of the Greek texts reveals the different potential of theoretical reflections on elementary experiences, as exemplified by Aristotle, on one hand, and on the use of drawing instruments (compass and ruler), as exemplified by Euclid, on the other.

The Impact of Geographical Knowledge on the Generalization of Spatial Concepts: From Ancient to Modern Maps

A further step in the development of spatial knowledge was initiated by the growth of geographical knowledge due to the expansion of the spaces certain societies inhabited, controlled or explored. As a consequence, a new kind of representation of spatial knowledge occurred, i. e., the representation by geographical maps. The development of this new kind of representation was at the center of a further study (Peter Damerow, Jacqueline Jugl, Matthias Schemmel, Irina Tupikova). It turned out that the great variety of maps show a common developmental pattern. Maps of a basic type represent primarily the relation between landmarks such as major paths between named locations, rivers, mountains, coastal lines, lakes, etc. However, ancient sources such as Ptolemy's *Geography* show that there were early attempts to embed landmarks into context-independent frameworks such as coordinates constructed by projecting celestial coordinates to the spherical earth. The results of the analysis of such attempts suggests that this kind of representation is one of the roots of the Newtonian concept of space as a container.

The Ebstorf World Map, 13th century, shows a flat round world surrounded by water, representing a Medieval worldview. Knowledge about the edge of the world was poor; it was believed that the people who lived there had strange afflictions, such as sealed mouths (top), huge body sizes, no ears, four eyes, or extremely prominent lips to give shelter from the sun (bottom).



Ongoing work aims at developing an elaborate classification system for all kinds of plots, plans, and maps. In particular, in order to classify the great variety of geographical maps within the developmental scheme from the representation of relations between landmarks to coordinate systems, preliminary categories of their properties have been defined and applied to a representative selection of maps which reflect the change of the concepts of space involved.

Another particular focus of the research activities has been the relation of astronomical knowledge, cosmological theories and geographical knowledge in ancient times (Matthias Schemmel, Irina Tupikova). From the study of the prehistory of Ptolemy's *Geography*, the close connectedness between the cosmological hypotheses of a spherical earth and the transfer of celestial to terrestrial coordinates became obvious. The comparison with Chinese cosmology and cartography suggests that the absence of a concept of spherical earth explains, at least in part, the absence of similar uses of coordinates in ancient Chinese cartography in favor of plane coordinates.

The Transformation of Ancient Spatial Knowledge in its Intercultural Transfer: The Early Modern Translation of Euclid's *Elements* into Chinese.

A further research activity analyzed the intercultural transmission of geometrical knowledge and its impact on culturally-specific notions of space (Jens Braarvig, Peter Damerow, Matthias Schemmel, Tian Miao). This transversal study of knowledge transformation, which is closely related to the project on the *Globalization of Knowledge*, complements the more numerous longitudinal studies that exist on the transformation of ancient geometrical knowledge within the Western tradition. In 1607 the Jesuit Matteo Ricci and the Chinese scholar-official Xu Guangqi translated

<text><section-header><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text></section-header></text>	心明乙甲線與乙丙乙丁線亦等何者凡為圖自心至界各線 心明乙甲線與乙丙乙丁線亦等何者凡為圖自心至界各線 作直線即甲乙丙為平邊三角形 「圖两圓相交子丙子丁末自甲至丙丙至乙各 作直線即甲乙丙為平邊三角形	子有界直線上求立平邊三角形 子有界直線上求立平邊三角形 第一題 吳 澤 符 光 对 筆 受	幾何原本第一卷 本着論三角形 計四十八題 職同進士出身 記名總理各國事務衙門章京內閣中書省人加三級原創課題的	古今時學識書
---	---	--	--	--------

the first six books of Euclid's Elements into Chinese. Their endeavor demanded the transfer of ancient Western knowledge on geometry into a different mathematical tradition which inevitably implied the transformation of that knowledge. As a first step, a detailed comparative analysis of parts of the Chinese version of the Elements and its European source, Christopher Clavius' edition of the Elements, has been launched. Furthermore, different versions of the Chinese Elements have been compared and the reception of Euclid's Elements in 17th and 18th-century China has been studied (Tian Miao).

in the influential Christopher Clavius' edition (1607, first published in 1574) and the Chinese adaption and translation by the Jesuit Matteo Ricci and his Chinese collaborator Xu Guangqi (1865, first published in 1607).

First proposition of the first book of Euclid

The Impenetrability of Matter: Space and Matter in Early Modern Science

Besides the introduction of geographical coordinate systems, the epistemological problem of the relation between the concepts of matter and space had an impact on the Newtonian concept of space as a container. This problem had been intensively studied in the context of the project on *Mental Models in the History of Knowledge*. It has been taken up again here with a focus on alternative conceptualizations of the relation of space and matter in early modern science and philosophy (Peter Damerow, Jürgen Renn, Matthias Schemmel).

Aristotelian physics and the Peripatetic tradition negated the possibility of empty space and instead concentrated on the concept of place. In opposition to this tradition ancient atomism was based on the idea of atoms moving through empty space. In the Renaissance, a transformative development of spatial concepts was triggered by cosmological concerns, namely attempts to replace the Aristotelian world system by alternative systems which were often based on ancient atomistic ideas including the concept of empty space, which implicitly involves the notion of space as a container. The growing corpus of empirical knowledge on mechanics and astronomy eventually stabilized Newton's concept of a universal space. In Newton's conception, gravitation is decoupled from the structure of space, which allows for space to be homogeneous and isotropic. Nevertheless this conception was not altogether convincing, so that the debate about space and matter continued. An advanced version of the attempts to distinguish between space and matter resulted from Kant's criticism which tried to remove metaphysical presuppositions. As a consequence, Kant's solution to the problem departed from atomism altogether, proposing an early version of matter as an appearance of repulsive and attractive forces.

The Transformation of Cosmological Space in the Course of the 18th Century

A particular aspect of the development of the concept of space in early modern science is the influence of cosmological models, which is the subject of a dissertation project focusing on the change of the cosmological worldview between 1550 and 1800 in the context of the Copernican Revolution (Anna Holterhoff). Contrary to what the term "revolution" might imply, the change from a geocentric to a heliocentric worldview was not achieved in a short period of time. The establishment of Copernicanism reflects a complex interaction between different forms of knowledge within the contradictory epistemological contexts of science and religion. The ongoing investigation shows how and by which processes of knowledge transformation the heliocentric theory became more and more accepted and finally canonical.

Beyond the Myth of Universal Space and Impenetrable Matter: The Overlapping Worlds of General Relativity and Quantum Theory

A further research activity following-up on a specific aspect of research pursued in the context of the project *Reorganizing Knowledge in Developed Science* concerns the transformation of the Newtonian concept of space in the relativity and quantum revo-

Space warped by a galaxy cluster producing a mess of distorted inages of astronomical objects illustrating the falsification of the Newtonian concept of invariable, absolute space by modern cosmology. (Source: NASA, http://apod.nasa.gov/apod/ ap040627.html). lutions of the early 20th century (Jürgen Renn, Donald Salisbury, Matthias Schemmel, Kurt Sundermeyer).

A first survey of the current epistemological situation in physics has revealed the crucial role of the concept of space in the ongoing attempts to unify relativity theory and quantum mechanics. Many decades following Einstein's representation of gravity as geometry, and then the introduction of the counterintuitive notion of quantum superposition by Heisenberg and Schrödinger, we still do not possess a fully coherent notion either of space, or of the matter that we traditionally hold to occupy it. The concepts of space and of matter have co-evolved through the relativity and quantum revolutions. A dynamical spacetime is conventionally considered the centerpiece of general relativity, while matter is commonly understood to be the principal actor in quantum mechanics. Each area has developed its own highly successful experimental procedures and analytical tools, building on ostensibly contradictory understandings of the nature

of space and matter. But a closer look within each theory reveals that the pretensions of both are not fully justified. The ongoing work on the modern concept of space aims at outlining the fundamental changes in the concepts of space and matter that the two fundamental theories of 20th-century physics brought about, and at determining the overlapping realms of their applicability that hint at future developments.

Infrastructure: A Bibliographical Database on Sources and Literature on Spatial Knowledge and a Digital Collection of Sources on Spatial Knowledge

A database collecting references to sources and literature pertinent to spatial language and cognition and the history of spatial concepts has been set up and is continuously expanded (Sascha Freyberg, Matthias Schemmel, Martin Thiering, Irina Tupikova). The database, currently contains 800 items and is openly accessible on the internet under <http://echo.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/content/space>.

A digital collection of scanned images and transcriptions of sources pertinent to the history of spatial concepts has been prepared in the framework of the ECHO environment and will be further expanded (Sascha Freyberg, Simone Rieger, Matthias Schemmel). Presently, it contains around 250 texts. It is also openly accessible via the ECHO website at http://echo.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/content/space.

Project 4

The Globalization of Knowledge and its Consequences: The Transfer and Transformation Processes of Knowledge across Different Cultures

General Goals: Globalization Processes and the Role of Knowledge

The aim of this project is to focus on a hitherto neglected dimension of globalization processes, the globalization of knowledge. The much discussed globalization process of the present mainly refers to the economic processes of the globalization of the markets for goods, capital, and labor, whereas the global diffusion of technical innovations and bodies of knowledge is often merely considered as either a presupposition or a consequence of economic, political, and cultural processes. But globalization is not only a phenomenon of the present and it involves knowledge in more significant ways. In this project, the globalization of knowledge is being analyzed by integrating diverse studies of the conditions, pathways, and consequences of historical processes of the production, the transmission and the transformation of knowledge, relating them to present processes of globalization.

The main goal of the research project is to explain this geographic diffusion of knowledge throughout history in terms of historical-epistemological concepts. The project aims at a unified and systematic account of the globalization of knowledge by means of large-scale comparative research grounded in empirical detail. Individual investigations contribute the breadth of empirical detail that the research initiative requires. In order to gain the critical breadth, the project draws necessarily on contributions from visiting-scholars.

Bactrian camel being presented as a gift to the Achamenid king, as depicted on the Apadana staircase reliefs, Persepolis (Iran).

The theoretical framework developed in the course of the project comprises a core set of concepts which will necessarily be extended and revised in the course of further research. The basic concepts include a typology of knowledge forms, knowledge representation structures, and knowledge transfer processes.

The network established at a Dahlem Conference in 2007 has since been expanded. The participating scholars have collaborated in a variety of meetings and exchanges on producing a series of volumes dedicated to an integrated and coherent history of the globalization of knowledge.



The four research foci of the project are chosen such that theoretical claims can be validated with reference to outstanding historical phases in which knowledge production, transmission and transformation was critical for advancing processes of intercultural transmission.

Focus 1: From Technology Transfer to the Origin of Science

The first focus explores a series of processes in the very early phases of globalization from the transmission of practical knowledge to the emergence of science. These processes are layered, in the sense that the introduction of a new process does not lead



Assyrian celestial planisphere found in the library of the Assyrian king Ashurbanipal at Nineveh. Kuyunjik Collection K.8538, © Trustees of the British Museum. to the eclipse of earlier processes. The first process considered is the transfer of technology in prehistory such as metallurgy, ceramics, agriculture, and animal husbandry. Processes of technology transfer are also necessarily processes of knowledge transfer. With the rise in Mesopotamia of the technologies of writing and arithmetic, which have a shared origin, new means for the globalization of knowledge were created. Although writing was initially tied to local contexts, there was a general trend in the evolution of writing towards decreased context dependence. Ancient Near Eastern and Greek science produced a corpus of written texts documenting systematic higher-order knowledge in such domains as cosmology, astronomy, mathematics, and medicine. Since this knowledge was explicitly written down, it was in later phases able to travel and eventually exerted a worldwide influence that continues to the present day. One research venture pursued in this context studied technological

transfer and innovation in ancient Eurasia (Daniel T. Potts), and analyzed numerous instances—particularly in the realm of metallurgy, agriculture and technologies like wheeled transport—where knowledge probably did spread through human agency. The case of Near Eastern metallurgy in the Bronze Age and its possible influence on China has been examined in some detail. A second area of research on the development from technology transfer to the origin of science concerned the preconditions and the consequences of the invention and spread of writing (Peter Damerow, Manfred Krebernik). The invention of writing not only changed the conditions of the geographical transfer and historical transmission of knowledge, but in addition to these basic functions extended the human cognitive facilities by stimulating reflection processes and the creation and articulation of previously unknown mental constructions.

The relation of scientific activities and magic was investigated in two different fields. Recently accomplished work on Babylonian medicine in theory and practice (Mark Geller) challenges the usual notion that Babylonian medicine completely lacked theory. This can most clearly be seen in the close (but still distinct) relation between Babylonian medicine and magic, since magical texts often provided the theoretical assumptions upon which medicine operated. In a similar way it has been shown that the prominent distinction between scientific activities and speculative or mystical activities like divination, magic or meteorology is not tenable for the development of early astronomy in Mesopotamia (Gerd Grasshoff). The importance of political and social developments in creating the preconditions for the diffusion of knowledge was analyzed in a survey of the emergence of Greek and Hellenistic science as a result of transformation processes of earlier knowledge traditions within the Near East, the Mediterranean and neighboring regions (Mark Schiefsky).

Focus 2: Knowledge as a Fellow Traveller

The second focus deals with the dissemination of knowledge in the sequel of that of power and belief structures on the Eurasian continent. The focus here is on processes in which knowledge spreads across long distances or over vast areas as an incidental effect of other diffusion processes such as the expansion of empires or the spread of religions. These processes may be of transregional and cross-cultural character, but they may also be corridor-like, connecting distant regions by a thin and fragile chain of transmission, for instance, a trade route like the Silk Road or the Jesuit mission to China. As knowledge is but a fellow traveller in these processes, the results of transmission are often only of a transitory nature but have the possibility of the long-lasting sedimentation of at least some achievements, such as practices of writing and calculating that later became relevant to the appropriation of scientific knowledge. This kind of knowledge globalization began with the emergence of institutions bundling cultural activities such as centers of trade and production, states, and world religions. As a consequence, also transmission processes themselves became institutionalized. Commercial, military, and missionary activities provided new stimuli for knowledge transmission.

Within this focus the kinds of knowledge are communicated during the spread of Buddhism in the first millennium A. D. were investigated as well as the transformative processes involved (Jens Braarvig). An outcome is that the adoption of Buddhism had a great impact on some of the receiving societies. It created not only new knowledge and religious activities, but also important institutions, such as the monastic community, and stimulated further intellectual and educational activities in fields such as grammar, lexicography, logic, philosophy and psychology.

One investigation addressed the transmission by Jesuit missionaries of European scientific knowledge to China in the early modern period (Matthias Schemmel). It was confirmed that this transmission led to a partial integration of European knowledge into the Chinese tradition without however bringing about the revolutionary developmental dynamics European scientific knowledge experienced at the same time in its culture of origin.

A complementary research endeavor deals with educational journeys in Europe and Asia in early modern times taking the example of the travel diaries of the polyhistor Martinus Fogelius Hamburgensis (1634–1675), a correspondence partner of Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz (Simone Rieger). In preparation for the reconstruction of a worldwide network in the early modern period, 1500 pages of Fogel's travel diaries have been digitized in cooperation with the Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz-Bibliothek Hannover and the Niedersächische Landesbibliothek and made available via the ECHO environment.

→ Independent Research Group, p. 46



The Mongols cross the River Tigris and conquer Bagdad. From the Saray-Alben, 1258. © bpk-images.

Research concerned with the spread of early modern science in Europe has shown that the spread of advanced knowledge from the centers to lessdeveloped scholarly traditions at the European periphery was not a simple transfer (Kostas Gavroglu, Manolis Patiniotis). By exploring the case of the establishment of Newtonian science in the Greek-speaking regions of the Ottoman Empire it has been shown that new ideas introduced to the so-called periphery were not placed in a void; they rather interacted with and displaced other, usually strongly entrenched systems of knowledge closely associated with religion. Research on folk religion in South-Eastern Europe provided further insights into the socio-cultural background of knowledge diffusion at the turn of the 20th century (Florentina Geller). A further study of transmission from the center to the so-called periphery concerns the spread of French models of textbooks on mathematics to Spain in the 19th century (José M. Pacheco).

The production and dissemination of scientific knowledge as a fellow traveller of colonization, can, by active accommodation to new circumstances, become a powerful motor of decoloniza-

tion, as the example of 20th-century India illustrates (Dhruv Raina). The transmission of new technological and scientific knowledge under the conditions of external pressure often provoked an immune response mobilizing or newly inventing local knowledge traditions. In India such a mobilization led, for instance, to attempts to revive and reinterpret traditional Ayurvedic medicine in terms of Western medical and pharmaceutical knowledge.

Focus 3: The Place of Local Knowledge in the Global Community

Focus three concentrates on the encounters between culturally specific knowledge and globalized knowledge. All knowledge traditions are local traditions in the sense of depending, at least at their origin, on specific contexts, specific groups, specific ranges of knowledge, as well as on a specific history determining its architecture in an ultimately contingent way. The globalization of local knowledge traditions involves intrinsic as well as extrinsic developments, potentially enhancing their social dominance, their range of application, and their degree of reflexivity or, alternatively, destroying their autonomy and reducing their complexity. The globalization of local knowledge has thus to be conceptualized as a cross-over phenomenon, resulting from the integration of local knowledge traditions whose initial encounter primarily depends on a specific constellation of dominance, resources, and knowledge potentials, that is, on

an extrinsic dynamics, while their subsequent co-development is also shaped by an intrinsic dynamics. The globalization of local knowledge is typically accompanied by a localization of globalized knowledge in the sense of the recontextualization of an alleged universal system of knowledge that may trigger its restructuration.

First explorations of the fate of local knowledge under the influence of intruding globalized knowledge have made evident that such an encounter can have quite different consequences. In some cases, local knowledge systems have been irrecoverably extinguished in a rather short time. Alternatively there are cases in which local knowledge has been synthesized with or at least partly defended against the influences of the global community. A more detailed study has been pursued in order to clarify the mutual influences of local and global knowledge among two indigenous cultures in the state of Espírito Santo of Brazil, the Tupinikim and the Guarani. Due to the influence of the Brazilian constitution, a set of political and educational activities have been launched to investigate the changes that certain traditional knowledge of Tupinikim and Guarani cultures, as well as non-indigenous peoples, have undergone and what measures can make it possible to reconcile local and external knowledge and to compensate the social deprivation of indigenous people caused by the clash of local and global knowledge systems (Circe Silva da Silva, Ligia Sad).



A further case of confrontation of local knowledge with external influences is the situation of Mongolian culture and science at the crossroads between East and West. Several research trips were made to develop the cooperation between German and Mongolian researchers and to establish the working conditions for an extended research network (Jürgen Renn, Simone Rieger, Urs Schoepflin, Gerhard Wolf, Rüdiger Wolfrum).

Rare books collected by L. Damdinsuren, held at the Mongolian Academy of Science in Ulaanbatar, with detail photos (left) showing the spine titles (above) and the contents (below).

Focus 4: The Globalization of Knowledge and Modern Science

To assess the relevance of an investigation of historical processes of globalization for the present situation, a fourth focus of the globalization network is dedicated to the great challenges that humanity faces today when dealing with knowledge. These challenges are partly consequences of socio-cultural evolution, such as the climate and energy challenges, and in particular of the powerful knowledge that has accumulated during this evolution, such as the exploitation of fossil fuels. Dealing with the consequences of such unplanned, global experiments with our planetary system requires more knowledge than can be produced by the dominat modes of knowledge production of socio-economic evolution, such as state-supported basic research or market-driven applied research. We thus face an emergent process in which the global production of ever more and increasingly diversified knowledge about humanity's interaction with nature becomes crucial for human survival. Within the framework of the globalization project, this emergent process is analyzed as an epistemic evolution. In this process, political developments do not merely shape the conditions of knowledge diffusion, but policy-making regarding these global challenges critically depends on the generation of new knowledge and knowledge-based assessments. In this focus, a variety of modes of epistemic evolution are analyzed with regard to the coupling of social and political developments and the diffusion of knowledge.

A special investigation has been dedicated to the knowledge that is transmitted with the establishment of nuclear programs both at the national and international level. The associated transmission processes have been analyzed in relation to their transnational elements, their characteristics in various national contexts and the intervention of individual actors. A central outcome of this research has been that standard models for knowledge diffusion can hardly be applied in this case. The proliferation of nuclear programs often followed local patterns and was shaped by the interaction of specific political, economic and technical conditions which require case-specific adaptions of diffusion models (Angelo Baracca, Albert Presas i Puig).

Photo taken from an ATLAS collision event in which a microscopic-black-hole was produced in the collision of two protons. Reproduced by kind permission of CERN.



A further research endeavor dealt with CERN as an example for a particular mode of epistemic evolution by means of an unbiased international large-scale research organization (Hans Falk Hoffmann). CERN demonstrates the possibility of knowledge production under the boundary conditions of an absence of immediate political, military or economic implications. The results of the investigation have raised the question of whether the CERN model can be transferred to other areas, for instance, to the domain of energy supply and climate change, where—in contrast to high-energy physics—strong political and economic interests may condition or even constrain the necessary knowledge production.

Another area of research focused on current developments towards a global information infrastructure based on the new information technologies. In principle, for the first time in history, the Web enables a global, dynamic representation of human knowledge with a strong, self-organizing potential. The ways in which the Web can provide a completely new way of representing and disseminating knowledge have been investigated (Malcolm Hyman, Jürgen Renn). Additional research related to this focus ventured into the collaboration and transfer of knowledge on industrial management and the interface between humans and their technical environments. The investigation was centered on knowledge transmission within the USSR, between the USSR and other COMECON countries, and between the USSR and the West (Margareta Tillberg). Another study has investigated the transfer of economic knowledge to developing countries during the 20th century analyzing the reception, localization and appropriation of economic knowledge within the local context (Arie Krampf). A research endeavor undertaken in cooperation with the $\rightarrow p.212$ University of Havana focused on the history of the development of physics in Cuba from its origins until the present day. The study has investigated not only the influence of the USSR and the European Socialist countries on the development of physics, but also traced the active participation of several Western physicists and technicians during the 1960s (Angelo Baracca). A dissertation project is focusing on the role of linguae francae in experimental psychology (Anna Perlina).

Workshops and Conferences

A number of workshops and conferences were organized within the project's framework. The first follow-up conference to the Dahlem conference was devoted to a specific aspect of the globalization of knowledge: multilingualism and lingua francae. It was co-organized by the MPIWG and the Norwegian Research Council, and held in 2009 in Athens under the title "Multilingualism, Linguae Francae, and the Global History of Concepts." Contributions ranged from an investigation of Sumerian as a lingua franca in the ancient Near East to a study of contemporary multilingualism in the former Soviet republics of Central Asia. A second meeting was held at the beginning of 2009 in Einsiedeln, Switzerland on the writing and the transmission of $\rightarrow p.60$ knowledge. In 2010, a third conference on multilingualism, linguae francae and the globalization of knowledge will be held in Berlin.

Perspectives

Two directions of the globalization project will be strengthened in the future: the globalization of knowledge in the ancient world and in recent times. It is planned to establish a cross-sectional group within the Excellence Cluster TOPOI that should combine research results from various areas of the TOPOI project under the perspective of their contribution to understanding processes of knowledge migration in antiquity. The investigation of the globalization of knowledge in recent times will address the epistemic and political dimensions of scientific uncertainty and decisionmaking in regard to global challenges such as climate change and the energy crisis (Milena Wazeck).

History of Science in Action: Alternative Forms of Dissemination

General Goals

Based on the insights that scientific knowledge evolves as part of a comprehensive system of knowledge and that external and cognitive representations of knowledge are closely intertwined in this evolution, the Department explores alternative forms of dissemination in order to probe the potential of research-driven technology development for opening up new horizons for the humanities and their place in society, and in order to investigate the potential of the history of science as a mediator between science and society.

The Epistemic Web

New technologies and the Internet offer innovative forms of publications of scholarly data and results. Against this background, the idea of an Epistemic Web has emerged. Such a Web will enable the creation of dynamic representations of knowledge, integrate research and dissemination, accommodate recursive processes in knowledge formation, integrate both conceptual models and data, and build "intelligence" into scholars' working environments.

Department I in cooperation with the MPIWG library and the IT group initiated the creation of a research-driven infrastructure for the humanities, which is now the basic infrastructure for all Internet-based working environments and presentations of the research projects. Together with the IT group and the library researchers make digitized cultural heritage—the primary sources for the projects—publicly accessible and sustainable on the Internet and develop tools for an Internet-based scholarly analysis of the sources.

Traditional and Virtual Working Environments: working with sources in cooperation with the Stiftung Bibliothek Werner Oechslin, Einsiedeln

The Werner Oechslin Library in Einsiedeln/Switzerland chiefly assembles source texts on architectural theory and related areas in original editions extending from the 15th to the 20th century. Over 50,000 volumes document related developments in the context of humanities and science. The Department hosted three workshops at this location which offered a unique opportunity to access this wealth of rare books. Complemented by a digitization program, the workshops made a selection of these sources accessible to the scholarly community. More than 70 different volumes representing the major editions of Vitruvius' "Ten Books of Architecture" were digitized and made publicly available on the ECHO website. Furthermore, a database was developed to facilitate access to the holdings of the library.

→ p.62

→ Library, p. 224

The first workshop centered on case studies that elucidated the impact of practitioners' knowledge on the development of scientific theories. The second workshop was dedicated to "Writing and the Transmission of Knowledge". The third workshop investigated the interactions of the various editions of Vitruvius' "Ten Books of Architecture" with the specific social and scientific contexts of their publication.

Digital Edition of the Sources on Florence Cathedral: The Years of the Cupola

The work on *The Years of the Cupola*, a digital edition of the surviving administrative documentation in the historic archive of the Opera of Santa Maria del Fiore for the period 1417–36, has been completed. The inauguration of the digital edition, established in cooperation with a group of scholars at the Opera, was celebrated in June 2009 in Florence.

The edition now contains over 21,000 transcribed and analyzed documents and incorporates a modulated system of indices and guided research functions that facilitate navigation in the *mare magnum* of data with clear and scientific criteria. It offers various consultation tools: document summaries that provide convenient syntheses of the content of the acts, active links between records, reference to the 'shadow' archive whose composition is evoked by citations of other original sources, bibliography for the publication history of the known documents. Finally, it is possible to search the transcribed documentary texts directly, a function available in the online representation of the data through word indices for vernacular and Latin texts. *The Years of the Cupola* is therefore a proper edition in the classic sense, yet it exploits the capacity of digital systems to facilitate retrieval and comprehension of its contents (Jochen Büttner). It thus represents a powerful tool for a new approach to the study of a great construction site and the world of its contexts as it has been pursued in the project *The Epistemic History of Architecture* <http://www.operaduomo.firenze.it/ cupola/home_eng.html>.

Bringing Together Virtually Distributed Collections: The Cuneiform Digital Library Initiative (CDLI)

The CDLI is a common initiative of the Department of Near Eastern Languages and Cultures of the University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA) and the MPIWG (Jacob Dahl, Peter Damerow, Robert Englund, Jörg Kantel, Sarah Köhler, Manfred Krebernik, Imad Samir, Marcel Sigrist, Christina Tsouparopoulou). On the websites of these institutions, more than 230,000 of the estimated more than 500,000 excavated tablets distributed over museums and archives of the whole world have currently been cataloged. For most of them standardized transliterations are provided, complemented by about 75,000 images (scans, scanned copies, or photos). Considerable efforts are presently being made to improve the searching facilities for retrieving the data. In the period of the report the work of the project was influenced by some major organizational and personal changes. The CDLI acquired a major grant from the Andrew Mellon Foundation in the United States to fund the digitization of major collections in Europe and the US: University of Pennsylvania Museum, British Museum, as well as Syrian collections, and smaller collections in the US and Europe (i. e. Leiden). The Electronic Text Corpus of Sumerian Literature (ETCLS) provides an online

The Electronic Text Corpus of Sumerian Literature (ETCLS) provides an online searchable corpus of about 400 compositions of 'classical' Sumerian literature, with



Inauguration brochure of The Years of the Cupola.

→ Globalization of Knowledge, p. 53

CDLI dataset. In the report period, a database to complement the CDLI datasets with data about physical seals, seal impressions, and composite reconstructions of the complete seal motifs has been created. Work has also been undertaken on the Liagre Böhl collection, housed at The Netherlands Institute for the Near East (NINO) in Leiden. Furthermore, work in Syria in the context of the Syrian Digital Library of Cuneiform project (SDLC) has been carried out (Christina Tsouparopoulou).
In cooperation with the SCLC, an interactive Arabic/English/French presentation of a rich and indigenous cuneiform tradition dating back five millennia is in preparation.

bibliographies and English translations. The data is now being integrated into the

Members of the working group of CDLI inspecting cuneiform tablets to be scanned together with the curator of the collection of the Vorderasiatischen Museum Joachim Marzahn. Photo by Ernst Fesseler.



The cuneiform tablet collections kept in the museums of Damascus, Aleppo, Deir ez-Zor, Raqqa, Lattakia, Idlib and Homs, originate from close to 30 different archaeological sites. In the summer of 2009, about 800 cuneiform tablets were digitized and catalogued from the archaeological sites of Tuttul (Tell Bi, Äôa) and Tell Beydar, housed in the archaeological museums of Raqqa and Deir ez Zor respectively. These digitized images will shortly be freely available online.

In the frame of the CDLI project, research was carried out on year names in the period of the third dynasty of Ur (Marcel Sigrist) and on administrative documents of the excavated archive of the city of Ebla (Imad Samir).

Open Access Research Infrastructure: "European Cultural Heritage Online" (ECHO)

In 2002 the initiative "European Cultural Heritage Online" (ECHO) was established to create a research driven infrastructure for the humanities. It is coordinated by Simone Rieger. In cooperation with the MPIWG library, part of the ECHO infrastructure is dedicated to the installation and documentation of workflows for the digitization of cultural heritage.

In cooperation with the IT group developments of research driven tools and workflows for analysis and publication of scholarly data linked to primary sources were supervised and integrated in the common and expanding open access working environment. In addition, work focused on the development and documentation of XMLfull text production and its possibilities for linguistic analysis and comparison of large text corpora.

In the report period, the content of the ECHO environment has been greatly expanded and its technical infrastructure and accessibility improved. ECHO now features more than 150 collections from more than 20 countries worldwide. Its basic infrastructure has been adopted for all internet-based projects of the MPIWG and has also provided a model for the development of a common research infrastructure by the MPDL (Scholarly Workbench).

The ECHO initiative is characterized by its strict open access policy. It has been presented at many international forums, such as UNESCO, various Open Access conferences, advisory boards for funding organizations (DFG, Gerda-Henkel-Stiftung, NSF, Getty Foundation), as well as advisory boards for national and international initiatives for creating research infrastructures (DDB, Europeana, DFG, DARIAH) as a best practice example of an open access environment. It now includes more than 600,000 digitized images of historical source material in high-quality resolution, about 240 video sequences, and 57,000 full-texts in several languages, 70 seed collections in several disciplines and thematic fields, in particular in the history of science.

Working with Full-Texts in the History of Science: Development of XML-Workflow and Content-based Web Access

During the report period work has been undertaken on the implementation of some of the key Epistemic Web concepts. A group has been established on the basis of a cooperation with the MPDL in order to complement the generic infrastructure of the MPDL with an application layer and interface to serve the specific purposes of scholars working with sources in the humanities (Jochen Büttner, Falk Knauft, Malcolm Hyman, Wolfgang Schmidle, Klaus Thoden, Josef Willenborg). This application layer consists of a content-based access mechanism for texts that incorporates language technology and thus enables semantic access to their content. In order to prepare historical sources for ingestion into this infrastructure, a workflow is being developed to structure texts in an XML-format, a presupposition for the integration of texts with various tools. As a testbed for this development, sources from a variety of the Department's projects written in different languages-such as Chinese, Greek, Italian and Latin-have been used, opening up new approaches for computer-assisted analysis of their content. Upon completion of the project, the application layer will be freely accessible. It is conceived as a prototype that can be further generalized within the MPDL and made available to a broad scholarly community.

Virtual Spaces

In 2005, the MPIWG created the virtual Albert Einstein exhibition. This virtual exhibition made the content of the "real" 2005 Albert Einstein exhibition available



Virtual walk through the Garden of Pratolino comparing the historical garden with the modern park.

online. The software used to create the virtual Albert Einstein exhibition was redesigned in the context of a diploma thesis written in 2008 in cooperation with the MPIWG (Julia Damerow). Released as "Virtual Spaces 2008," this redesigned software has a broader range of possible applications. It is open source software implemented in Java and has an easy-to-use graphical user interface for creating 2D graphs that represent real, fictive or knowledge spaces. From 2D graphs, virtual tours through such virtual spaces can be generated. The current version of Virtual Spaces 2008 creates HTML pages, a PDF or RTF file of a virtual tour. Its modular architecture facilitates the export functionality by implementing new components that create other file formats. The technology used for the Internet representation of a Virtual Space can therefore kept up-to-date with modern Web standards. Virtual Spaces 2008 is freely available at <http://virtualspaces.sourceforge.net/>.

Public Dialogue about Science and its Historical Roots

Department I adopted various forms of disseminating insights from the history of science, often combining scholarly communication with public outreach. For example, in order to foster interest in the history of science in schools, lectures have



Entrance to the 2008 exhibition at the Deutsches Technikmuseum in Berlin "Max Planck:Revolutionär wider Willen". → p. 233 been given, as well as guided tours of the Institute and scholarly discussions involving classes and teachers on a variety of research topics, ranging from Renaissance studies to the history of quantum mechanics. Another example is the cooperation of the Institute with the 2008 exhibition "Max Planck: Revolutionär wider Willen" organized by the Max Planck Society in cooperation with the Deutsches Technikmuseum in Berlin. In addition to such outreach activities, the investigation of historical approaches and themes of the public understanding of science forms part of the research of Department I. The epistemological role of science communication is investigated in detail by looking at fundamental innovations in science and technology from the 20th century (Arne Schirrmacher). Specifically, the public presentation and

discussion of the scientific understanding of the structure of matter (atomic structure, chemical bonding, crystals, quantum models...) around the beginning of the 20th century has been analyzed, complementing insights of the project on the *History of Quantum Physics*. In this way it could be shown, for example, that the conception of the Rutherford-Bohr nuclear atom built on widely discussed public knowledge claims.

International Year of Astronomy 2009

In the International Year of Astronomy 2009, Department I joined forces with the Max Planck Institute for Astronomy in Heidelberg to explore how the invention of the telescope recast our view of the universe; the results were published in a special issue of the German astronomy journal *Sterne und Weltraum*, directed at both profes-

sional scientists and amateurs (circulation 14,500 copies). The research investigated astronomical knowledge existing before the invention of the telescope (Giorgio Strano, Matthias Schemmel) and the relation between the numerous antecedents of the telescope (Sven Dupré) to the available observational data and ancient sources, such as the works of Plutarch and the medieval reports on sunspots (Horst Bredekamp). The conflict between science and the dogmas of the Catholic Church (Rivka Feldhay, Elio Nenci) and the figure of Galileo as an engineer-scientist (Matteo Valleriani) were contextualized in the process of the transformation of ancient knowledge and the reorganization of its internal structure (Jürgen Renn). The work concluded with the analysis of how Galileo's physical ideas nevertheless remained anchored in Aristote-lian natural philosophy, constituting the starting point from which classical Newtonian mechanics emerged (Jochen Büttner).

Children as Researchers: "Wunderforschung" and the "Werkstatt des Wissens"

Ongoing scholarly cooperations since 2003 between the Comenius Garden Berlin-Neukölln and Department I are reflected in common endeavors with the "Werkstatt des Wissens" set up by the Comenius Garden. In collaboration with the Museum für Naturkunde in Berlin and the Monash University in Melbourne, children's perceptions of wondrous everyday phenomena were confronted with historical forms of scientific knowledge about these phenomena (Carmen Hammer, Katja Bödecker, Henning Vierck). An exhibition displayed in 2008 at the Museum für Naturkunde in Berlin and an accompanying book have concluded the initiative.



Young researcher at work in the Comenius Garden, Berlin.

Department II

Johann Bernhard Wilbrand, *Gemälde der organischen Natur in ihrer Verbreitung auf der Erde*, 1810, detail. 2 vol., Gießen/ Darmstadt 1809–10. Courtesy Leiden University Library

" Gemälde der organischen Natur in ihrer Verbreitung auf der Erde. " geneidmet ven B. Willhand und. 1. Ritgen Rief in Giefsen .

Department II

Ideals and Practices of Rationality

Director: Lorraine Daston

Introduction: Histories of the Self-Evident

The research projects of Department II (established 1995) chart the history of epistemic categories and practices that have become so fundamental to modern science and culture that they seem self-evident. Examples described in this report include "observation" (*History of Scientific Observation*), "self" (*The Cerebral Subject*), "gender" (*Gender Studies of Science*), and the division between the "natural" and "human" realms (*Between the Natural and Human Sciences*). A new project to start in 2010 will examine the histories of "data" and "information" in the sciences (*Sciences of the Archive*). Since the hidden histories of these taken-for-granted objects only become visible when contexts vary, most projects have a comparative dimension, spanning many centuries, several cultures, or both (*Science in Circulation*).

Research projects in Department II embrace one or more Working Groups, which aim toward a collective publication, as well as the projects of individual scholars who are writing doctoral dissertations, monographs, book chapters, and journal articles on topics related to the main theme. A bibliography of publications listed by researcher's name may be found at the end of this volume. Past Working Group publications of Department II include: *The Moral Authority of Nature* (2004), *Things that Talk: Object Lessons from Art and Science* (2004), and *Natural Laws and Laws of Nature in Early Modern Europe* (2008). *Histories of Scientific Observation* will appear in 2010. In addition to the several meetings of the Working Groups, conferences are organized each year in conjunction with departmental research projects. The organization of this report follows that of the Department's major research projects: Working Groups, conferences, and individual projects are listed under each project rubric, as well as information on institutional cooperation partners.

At any given time, there are approximately twenty-five resident scholars in Department II: pre- and postdoctoral fellows, visiting scholars, and research scholars. Their backgrounds are international and multi-disciplinary; their stays are funded by both MPIWG stipends and external sources (see individual entries for details). All resident scholars gather at the bimonthly departmental colloquium to discuss pre-circulated works-in-progress, starting with the all-day departmental workshop in September. Approximately three-quarters of the colloquium presentations are by resident scholars of the department; the remaining quarter are by invited guest speakers—both from within and outside the Institute—selected for the relevance of their work to departmental research projects. Informal seminars and reading groups also offer venues for discussion of shared research interests by resident scholars, often joined by colleagues of other departments and research groups.

The reporting period 2008–9 brought several welcome additions to Department II. Two new, externally-financed independent research groups, led by Nikolaus Bacht (*The Intellectual and Cultural History of Listening*) and Suparna Choudhury (*Constructions of the Brain: Critical Neuroscience and the Adolescent Brain*), widened the scope of the Department's research. Thanks to a major grant to McGill University, the generosity of the Staatsbibliothek Berlin, and the support of the MPIWG Library and IT Group, it has been possible to digitize and make available to scholars rare medieval astronomical manuscripts (*Islamic Scientific Manuscripts Initiative*). Finally, a new predoctoral fellowship program, *Writing-Up Fellowships*, advertised internationally to provide outstanding doctoral candidates with six months of support for the final stages of their dissertations, has enlivened the Department with new faces and new ideas.



Departmental Colloquium, September 2009 Photo: Kirsti Anderson

Project

History of Scientific Observation

DURATION 2005-2010

MPIWG ORGANIZERS Lorraine Daston, Andreas Mayer, Tania Munz, Kelley Wilder COOPERATION PARTNERS Freie Universität Berlin, Germany; Universiteit van Amsterdam, The Netherlands (additional external funding of individual scholars noted below).

Observation is the most pervasive and fundamental practice of all the modern sciences, both natural and human. It is also among the most refined and variegated of these practices. Observation educates the senses, calibrates judgment, picks out objects of scientific inquiry, and forges communities. Its instruments include not only the naked senses, but also tools such as the telescope and microscope, the questionnaire, the photographic plate, the glassed-in beehive, the Geiger counter, and a myriad of other ingenious inventions designed to make the invisible visible, the evanescent permanent, the abstract concrete. Where is society? How blue is the sky? Which way do X-rays scatter? Over the course of centuries, scientific observers have devised ways to answer these and many other riddles—and thereby redefined what is under investigation by the way in which it is investigated. Observation discovers the world anew.

Yet scientific observation lacks its own history: why? Countless studies in the history and philosophy of science treat one or another aspect of observation: observation through telescope and microscope, observation in the field or in the laboratory, observation versus experiment, theory-laden observation. But observation itself is rarely the focus of attention and almost never as an object of historical inquiry in its own right. Observation seems at once too ubiquitous, too basic, and altogether too obvious to merit a history. One might well wonder whether a history of observation wouldn't simply be the history of science in its vast entirety—or the still more vast history of experience.

This project challenges these assumptions by showing what a history of scientific observation might look like, at least in its broad outlines, from the fifth to the late-twentieth century: how a vernacular practice became an epistemic category. It is the history of how experience has been shaped and sharpened to scientific ends: how the senses have been schooled and extended; how practices for recording, correlating, and displaying data have been developed and refined; and how the private experiences of individuals have been made collective and turned into evidence.

→ see also: Knowledge in the Making, p. 136

MAX-PLANCK-INSTITUT FUR WISSENSCHAFTSGESCHICHTE

THE HISTORY OF SCIENTIFIC OBSERVATION

A WORKEHOP AT MAX PLANCK INSTITUTE FOR THE HISTORY OF SCIENCE 7-8 JULY 2008



Working Group on the History of Scientific Observation

June 27–29, 2006; July 3–6, 2007; July 7–9, 2008; November 5, 2008 ORGANIZERS Lorraine Daston (MPIWG), Kelley Wilder (MPIWG/ De Montfort University, Leicester, U.K.), Elizabeth Lunbeck (Vanderbilt University, U.S.A.)

The volume produced by this Working Group, *Histories of Scientific Observation*, edited by Lorraine Daston and Elizabeth Lunbeck, will be published by the University of Chicago Press in fall 2010. It features engaging episodes drawn from a wide variety of sciences, ranging from meteorology, medicine, and natural history to economics, astronomy, and psychology. The contributions spotlight how observers have scrutinized everything—from seaweed to X-ray radiation, household budgets to the emotions—with ingenuity, curiosity, and perseverance verging on obsession. This book makes a compelling case for the significance of the long, surprising, and epistemologically significant history of scientific observation, a history full of innovations that have enlarged the possibilities of perception, judgment, and reason.

Members

- Domenico Bertoloni-Meli* (University of Indiana at Bloomington, U.S.A.)
- Charlotte Bigg* (MPIWG/CRNS, Paris, France)
- Daniela Bleichmar (University of Southern California, Los Angeles, U.S.A)
- Jimena Canales* (Harvard University, U.S.A.)
- Lorraine Daston* (MPIWG)
- Otniel Dror* (Hebrew University, Israel)
- Michael Gordin* (Princeton University, U.S.A.)
- *Elizabeth Lunbeck* (Vanderbilt University, U.S.A.)
- Harro Maas^{*} (Universiteit van Amsterdam, The Netherlands)
- Andrew Mendelsohn* (Imperial College London, U.K.)
- Mary Morgan (London School of Economics, U.K.)
- Katharine Park* (Harvard University, U.S.A.)
- *Gianna Pomata*^{*} (Università di Bologna, Italy)
- Theodore M. Porter* (University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A.)
- Anne Secord* (University of Cambridge, U.K.)
- *Mary Terrall** (University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A.)
- Kelley Wilder* (MPIWG/De Montfort University, Leicester, U.K.)

(* members of Working Group also involved as resident scholars in the MPIWG research group on the History of Scientific Observation)

History of Scientific Observation **Conferences**

The Educated Eye: Photographic Evidence in Scientific Observation

February 21–24, 2008 ORGANIZERS Kelley Wilder (MPIWG), Gregg Mitman (University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A.)

Where do photography and film stand in the larger picture of scientific observation's history? And how exactly does their use in observation translate into evidence? Presentations on topics, ranging from the earliest photographs in 1839 to images from the Mars Rover mission in 2004, addressed these questions. The negotiation and renegotiation of documents made with photographic media stood at the center of discussion, bridging the methodological approaches of scholars from anthropology, film, and media studies, history of science, and the history of art and visual culture. The organizers have formed a working group on the archiving of photography and film, called "Documenting the World" (see below under section "Sciences of the Archive"), which aims to produce a collaborative book and website.

Participants

- Jordan Baer (Columbia University, U.S.A.)
- David Benin (University of California, San Diego, U.S.A.)
- Jimena Canales (Harvard University, U.S.A.)
- Lisa Cartwright (University of California, San Diego, U.S.A.)
- Scott Curtis (Northwestern University, U.S.A.)
- Elizabeth Edwards (University of the Arts, London, U.K.)
- Peter Geimer (ETH Zürich, Switzerland)
- Faye Ginsburg (New York University, U.S.A.)
- Tal Golan (University of California, San Diego, U.S.A.)
- Anna Grimshaw (Emory University, U.S.A.)
- Robin Kelsey (Harvard University, U.S.A.)
- Stefanie Klamm (MPIWG/Paul Getty Research Institute, Los Angeles, U.S.A.)
- Gregg Mitman (University of Wisconsin, U.S.A.)
- Amos Morris-Reich (University of Jerusalem, Israel)
- Tania Munz (MPIWG)
- Michael Pritchard (DeMont University, U.K.)
- Sarah de Rijcke (University of Groningen, The Netherlands)
- Gareth Syvret (DeMont University, U.K.)
- Fatimah Tobing Rony (University of California, Irvine, U.S.A.)
- Janet Vertesi (Cornell University, U.S.A.)
- Kelley Wilder (MPIWG/DeMont University, U.K.)


Animal Subjects Under Observation July 11–13, 2008

ORGANIZER Andreas Mayer (MPIWG)



The workshop traced the emergence of the notion of the "animal subject" in the latenineteenth century. In the discussion of various historical examples (ranging from ornithology to animal hypnosis), the participants discussed the problems of anthropomorphism and empathy by focusing on the interaction of humans and animals in practices of scientific observation.

Participants

- Jonathan Burt (Ferry House, Bottisham, U.K.)
- Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)
- Vinciane Despret (Université de Liège, Belgium)
- John Forrester (University of Cambridge, U.K.)
- Erica Fudge (Middlesex University, U.K.)
- Robert Kirk (Manchester University, U.K.)
- Dominique Lestel (CNRS, Ecole Normale Superieure Paris, France)
- Ruth Leys (Johns Hopkins University, U.S.A.)
- Lydia Marinelli (Sigmund Freud Museum, Austria)
- Andreas Mayer (MPIWG)
- Alexandre Métraux (Universität Mannheim, Germany)
- Erika Milam (MPIWG/University of Maryland, U.S.A.)
- Gregg Mitman (University of Wisconsin, U.S.A.)
- Tania Munz (MPIWG)
- Alison Winter (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)



Animal Cultures – Human Natures: Participant Observation in the History of the Natural and Social Sciences

November 13–15, 2008 ORGANIZER Erika Lorraine Milam (MPIWG)

This workshop brought together scholars from a variety of disciplinary backgrounds to reconsider the material and social interactions of animals and humans, expand our shared methodological toolbox, explore approaches for questioning our sources, and discuss techniques for analyzing the shifting relationships of human-animal, selfother, and domestic-wild. By investigating the intimate connections we share with non-human animals, we sought to move beyond the construction of human and animal as "nothing else but opposites."

Participants

- Pamela Asquith (Gabriola, Canada)
- Avigdor Edminster (University of Minnesota, U.S.A.)
- Jean-Baptiste Gouyon (MPIWG/University of York, U.K.)
- Maria Kronfeldner (MPIWG/Universität Bielefeld, Germany)
- Andreas Mayer (MPIWG)
- Erika Milam (MPIWG/University of Maryland, U.S.A.)
- Tania Munz (MPIWG)
- Christian Reiß (MPIWG)
- Harriet Ritvo (Massachusetts Institute of Technology, U.S.A.)
- Charlotte Sleigh (University of Kent, U.K.)
- Katrin Solhdju (Zentrum für Literaturforschung Berlin, Germany)
- Marianne Sommer (ETH Zürich, Switzerland)
- Brett Walker (Montana State University, U.S.A.)
- Markus Wild (Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany)

Observation, Evidence, and Reason in Early Modern England: The Arts Course from the Reformation to Newton, April 27–28, 2009

ORGANIZERS Daniel Andersson (MPIWG), Richard Serjeantson (Cambridge University, U.K.)

This workshop attempted to answer some fundamental questions in the study of the intellectual history of early modern England. What is the best and most academically responsible way of gaining "hermeneutic control" over the texts that we study? To what extent does the informal assumption of the unity of knowledge affect the notion of disciplinary formation and the scholarly career? How widely diffused were the practices of the arts course outside of the academy? What is the relation of university learning to the alternative, usually scientific, think-tanks of the period, such as the Royal Society of London? Individual texts in the Renaissance curriculum were examined against the background of the larger concepts that are the building blocks of the course: observation, analysis, evidence, reason, proof, persuasion.

Participants

- Daniel Andersson (MPIWG)
- Andreas Blank (Universität Paderborn, Germany)
- Michael Edwards (University of Cambridge, U.K.)
- Guido Giglioni (The Warburg Institute, U.K.)
- Doug Jesseph (North Carolina State University, U.S.A.)
- Jill Kraye (The Warburg Institute, U.K.)
- Rhodri Lewis (University of Oxford, U.K.)
- Peter Mack (Warwick University, U.K.)
- Edward Paleit (University of Exeter, U.K.)
- Jean-Louis Quantin (Sorbonne, Paris)
- Fred Schurink (University of Newcastle, U.K.)
- Richard W. Serjeanston (Cambridge University, U.K.)

MAR-PLANCE-INSTITUT FOR WISSENECHAFTEGERCHICHTE

OBSERVATION, EVIDENCE AND REASON IN EARLY MODERN ENGLAND:

THE ARTS COURSE FROM THE REFORMATION TO NEWTON



History of Scientific Observation Planned Conference

Sciences of Communication in the Twentieth Century March 18–20, 2010 ORGANIZERS Tania Munz (MPIWG), Veronika Lipphardt (MPIWG)

History of Scientific Observation Individual Projects



Daniel Andersson

Daniel Andersson (Postdoctoral Fellow, MPIWG)

Styles of Observation and Experience in Renaissance Aristotelianism

Scholars have too readily assimilated the concepts of "empiricism" and "observation," eliding the differences between the two. With a suitably expanded concept of observation, one may begin to arrive at a rather different and more variegated account of the cognitive styles that the forms of Renaissance natural philosophy enabled than has hitherto been possible. How might such a task be accomplished? Chiefly by looking at the appeals to an "intuitive observation," which is one of the many forms of analogical reasoning hallowed in and developed by Aristotelian natural philosophy. The concept of "experience" would also benefit from a more intensive historicization than it has received.



Domenico Bertoloni-Meli (Visiting Scholar, Indiana University Bloomington, U.S.A) **The Role of Vivisection in the Seventeenth Century** Unlike other forms of investigation, such as microscopy, vivisection was not new in the

seventeenth century. Nonetheless, it was developed in new ways and led to a number of strikingly original results. The study examines eight especially prominent cases ranging from William Harvey and Gasparo Aselli to Anton Nuck and Johann Jakob Wepfer. A special focus is on the relation to practices of scientific observation. These

Domenico Bertoloni-Meli



two forms of investigation may seem antithetic, since vivisection is the archetypal example of an interventionist technique, whereas observation is considered to be passive and non-interventionist; in many cases, however, the analysis has shown that vivisection co-existed with observation and with techniques drawn from natural history.

White milky veins, discovered through vivisection. Gasparo Aselli, *De lactibus*, Milan 1627

→ p. 197

Charlotte Bigg (MPIWG/Centre Alexandre Koyré, CNRS, Paris, France, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, DFG)

Observing Brownian Motion

The eruption of new microscales on scientific research agendas contributed to a profound transformation in scientific practices and social organization in the early-twentieth century. Focusing on Brownian motion research in early-twentieth century France, Charlotte Bigg examined the investigations carried out by the physical chemist Jean Perrin, the physicist Paul Langevin, and the mathematician Emile Borel, focusing on how theory and experiment were deployed in the study of Brownian motion to produce for the first time "visual" evidence of the existence of atoms and of the statis-

tical nature of the second law of thermodynamics. Through a close analysis of the relatively circumscribed field of Brownian motion research c. 1900, the momentous scientific, disciplinary, and social stakes at play in this period can thus be investigated for the French context and compared to the better known British and German cases.



Displacement of invidual particles. Jean Perrin, "Mouvement Brownien et réalité moléculaire", *Annales de Chimie et de Physique*, ser. 8, vol. 18, p. 81, 1909

Marie-Noëlle Bourguet (Visiting Scholar, Université de Paris VII, France) **The Scientific Traveler's Notebook**

Through a close scrutiny of a set of manuscript notebooks by naturalists and scientific travelers such as Aimé Bonpland, Leopold von Buch, L. J. Gay-Lussac, Alexander von Humboldt, André Michaux, Horace-Benedict de Saussure, and Dominique Villars, this study explored the gestures and cognitive practices at work in the routine writing of a scientific traveler's journal. Two main sets of questions were investigated: first, the recording process itself, which explored the relationship between paying attention ("taking note") and recording ("taking notes"); and second, the uses of notebooks and their role in the production and construction of scientific knowledge, which show the scientific observer using notes as a kind of *camera obscura*, at once a reduction and a substitute for the world.



Marie-Noëlle Bourguet

Marco Bresadola (Visiting Scholar, University of Ferrara, Italy)

The Virtues of Observational Practice in Italian Scientific Culture, ca. 1660–1700 During the second half of the seventeenth century, observation was often portrayed as a diligent, patient, and dispassionate investigation into natural particulars. The project



analyzes the meaning and use of these terms in the practice and discourse of Italian life sciences, focusing on Marcello Malpighi's work in microscopic anatomy and the debates in which he was involved. What was the relationship between epistemology and morals in the early history of



Marco Bresadola

Frog's lungs seen through the microscope. M. Malpighi, "De pulmonibus observationes anatomicae," 1661. In Opera omnia. Lugduni Batavorum: Apud Petrum Van der Aa, p. 330, 1687



Charlotte Bigg

scientific observation, as it was performed and discussed by the historical actors? To explore this question, the project takes up recent scholarly work on the "passions of inquiry" (e.g. curiosity and wonder) and on scientific "personae" in early modern history.



Lorraine Daston

Lorraine Daston (Director, MPIWG) **Collective Observation**

Natural philosopher Edmond Halley's 1686 map of the world winds is emblematic of a new scientific predicament that emerged in the mid-seventeenth century: how to coordinate, compile, and integrate the contributions of many different observers, scattered over time and space. Individual savants who routinely repeated their own observations of stellar positions or plant genera or human bronchia were confronted with the same dilemma: how to synthesize many views of the same object, each differing slightly or strikingly from the others, into a single observation? One solution was to edit numerous observations from hither and yon into a "synopsis," verbal or visual, as Halley did with the reports of mariners and travelers in his map. Another, often used in botany, was to try to calibrate the senses of the multiple observers beforehand,



so as to standardize assessments of color, texture, taste, and smell. Still another, increasingly frequent in astronomy, averaged the values of divergent observations of the same celestial object. All these techniques of collective observation posed problems of ontology and social organization: a general object had to be consolidated out of multiple observations; authority had to be exercised to consolidate a collective out of multiple observers. New kinds of visualization and community made collective empiricism possible.



Elizabeth Edwards

Elizabeth Edwards (Visiting Scholar, University of the Arts, London, U.K.) **The Photographic Survey Movement**

As part of a larger project on the photographic survey movement in England 1885– 1918, Elizabeth Edwards worked on how ideas of scientific "objectivity" the "systematic," and networks of amateur science, especially those of geology, anthropology, and archaeology, were understood and absorbed by amateur photographers making survey archives for the future. These values, at the blurred boundaries between amateurs and emerging disciplinary professionals, were used to both organize and legitimize their activities. The study explored in particular the ways in which amateur photographers engaged in "survey work" drew their values and structures from the British

A map of the world winds. Edmond Halley, "An Historical Account of the Trade Winds, and Monsoons, observable in the Seas between and near the Tropicks, with an attempt to assign the Phisical cause of said Winds," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* 16 (1686) Association for the Advancement of Science which, at the period, instigated a number of survey and visual projects largely dependent on amateur observers, including photographers.

Photographers of the Warwickshire Photographic Survey 1894 © Birmingham City Library

Erna Fiorentini (Visiting Scholar, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany, funded by SFB 626 "Aesthetic Experience and the Dissolution of Scientific Limits," Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, DFG)

Protomodern Observers and the Camera Lucida, 1806–1850

The project studied an early-nineteenth century visual habit, the use of the *camera lucida*, in relation to contemporary practices of observation and representation and corroborated the thesis that this new mode of seeing implied the conciliation of individual perception with the demands of images expected to convey "objective" observational data. In the fields of landscape sketching, natural history, and microscopy,

the relationship between sensory, cognitive, and emotional experience and their translation into images became the object of practical as well as theoretical reflections. The results will appear in *Prismatisches Sehen. Die Camera Lucida als Metapher des Visuellen im frühen 19. Jahrhundert* (Göttingen: Wallstein Verlag, 2010).



© Birmingham City Library



Erna Fiorentini

Reverend Calvert Jones (?) sketching with a Wollaston *camera lucida*. Pencil *camera lucida* drawing. The National Library of Wales, ca. 1830



Oliver Gaycken (Visiting Scholar, Temple University, Philadelphia, U.S.A., funded by Temple University, Philadelphia) Devices of Curiosity: Early Cinema and Popular Science

The book project uncovers a largely uncharted area of early cinema history: the popular science film. This genre developed out of the general efflorescence of popular science in the second half of the nineteenth century, so one aspect of understanding these films requires locating them in the contexts of previous practices of visualization. The recovery of this lost film genre also reframes better-known fictional genres by arguing for stylistic and thematic similarities that indicate the wider impact



Oliver Gaycken

Illustration of a promotional lantern slide for *The Unseen World* (F. Martin Duncan, 1903), Charles Urban papers, 10–1, National Media Museum, Bradford, England of the popular scientific aesthetic, which influenced the history of special effects, the creation of the non-theatrical film market, and the intersection of the avant-garde and the documentary. The book manuscript is currently under review at University of California Press.



Michael Gordin

Michael Gordin (Visiting Scholar, Princeton University, U.S.A., funded by Princeton Bicentennial Preceptorship)

International History of the Atomic Monopoly, 1945-1949

Michael Gordin finished a book on the practices of epistemology in the arena of atomic weapons—what one might call "nuclear observation." The book focuses on the period of the American atomic monopoly—the period between the atomic bombing of Hiroshima and Nagasaki in early August 1945, and the Soviet detonation of their own atomic device in late August 1949. Both the Soviets and the Americans invested tremendous resources in "detecting" aspects of the other side's nuclear program, and the level of attention, the high stakes, and the extreme efforts by both sides to maintain secrecy highlight the epistemological problems that historians of science have observed in many other, less geopolitically fraught situations. The project was published as *Red Cloud at Dawn: Truman, Stalin, and the End of the Atomic Monopoly* (New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 2009).



Nils Güttler

Nils Güttler (Predoctoral Fellow, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, funded by the Studienstiftung des Deutschen Volkes)

The Role of Maps in Nineteenth-Century Plant Geography

The dissertation deals with new strategies used to visualize spatial knowledge in lateeighteenth and nineteenth-century botany, especially "plant geography"—a discipline founded by Alexander von Humboldt and others around 1800 that aimed to investigate the distribution of plants (and plant communities) on the surface of the earth. Plant-geographical maps were among the earliest so-called "thematic maps," which represented the earth not as a politically, but naturally structured space with naturally



Pflanzengeographische Eintheilung der Erdoberfläche/Östliche Hemisphäre. Joakim Frederik Schouw, *Grundzüge einer allgemeinen Pflanzengeographie*, Atlas, Tafel XII, Berlin 1823 restricted regions. At the end of the nineteenth century, botanical maps again played a prominent role in contemporary discussions about the interaction between plants and their environment in the nascent science of ecology. They also revealed that the maps influenced the institutional organization of botanical knowledge, holding together a heterogeneous scientific community at the academic periphery, e. g., gardeners and cartographers at publishing companies.



Ludmila Hyman (Postdoctoral Fellow, MPIWG) Clinical Observation and the Making of Cultural-Historical Psychology

L.S. Vygostky, A.R. Luria, and A.N. Leontiev pioneered cultural-historical psychology—a research program that they developed during the radical social upheavals in Russia that followed the socialist revolution. They developed new methods of psychological research, includ-

ing observation of people in naturalistic contexts. This project explores how these psychologists' ideas flourished in the socio-cultural context of the new Soviet society and in connection with their personal experience. The study also adresses how they used language to represent their concrete experiences and observations, and how they reasoned from observations to conclusions. The ultimate goal of the study is to test the theories of the Soviet psychologists against their practice.



Ludmila Hyman

Image employed in studies of eidetic memory in children. L. S. Vygotsky and A. R. Luria, *Etyudy po istorii povedeniia: Obeziana. Primitiv. Rebenok.* Moscow, 1930

Theresa Kelley (University of Wisconsin, Madison, U.S.A., funded by the University of Wisconsin, Madison)

Color Beginnings

Color was long excluded from the "characters" or "differentiae" used to describe organic species and differentiate them. For late-eighteenth and early-nineteenth-century artists working in water-

color and related media, color looked like an instance of what Hans-Jörg Rheinberger describes as the "unstable," "strange and facile reality of scientific objects," something akin to an epistemic thing whose nature and usefulness European artists and theorists of this era repeatedly redefined, in the midst of debates about the relationship of prismatic color to so-called "natural" colors. In German, French, and English treatises, claims about color shift unsteadily from material pigments to accounts of prismatic colors. Across these works, the object-ness of color, its putative materiality, is consistently at issue in ways that specify a shifting, ongoing history of objects of knowledge.





Theresa Kelley

Matthias Klotz, *Gründliche Farbenlehre*, Munich (self published) 1816



Stefanie Klamm (Predoctoral Fellow, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany, funded by Gerda Henkel Stiftung, Germany, as of September 2009 Predoctoral Research Scholar, Paul Getty Research Institute, Los Angeles, U.S.A.) Strategies of Visualization in Nineteenth and Twentieth Century German Archaeology

In the mid-ninteenth century, when classical archaeology took shape as an academic discipline, the new photographic technology seemed a useful means for the repro-

Stefanie Klamm



duction of objects. But other instruments like drawings, prints, and plaster casts were at the same time both time-tested and available. The choice of illustrative techniques depended not only on the status of the technical development but also on epistemological reasons. Situated within a broader discussion of the historicity of scientific images and practices, the study explores these matters through different contexts of archaeological practice-especially Olympia and Pergamon-and follows the transformation of archaeological objects into images.

Mastercopy of a bronze foot on a stone basis in photography and drawing. Archive of the Antikensammlung, Berlin



Fabian Krämer

Manuscript note in Ulisse Aldrovandi's commonplace book on a case of hermaphroditism that was frequently related in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. Conrad Lycoshtenes, *Prodigiorum ac ostentorum chronicon etc.* Basel: Petri, 1557, p. 534. Biblioteca Universitaria di Bologna, MS. Aldrovandi 105, vol. H-HIRUN, fol. 504r, (1522–1605) *Fabian Krämer* (Predoctoral Fellow, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Germany)

Reference Structures in the Study of Nature, Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries

Building on detailed and scholarly *Quellenforschung* of sources both visual and textual from ca. 1550 to 1750 published in the Holy Roman Empire and the adjacent territories, the dissertation investigates what counted as knowledge in natural history

0 10/1 9 10/1/11 Hermophroditus mans prope public cum magnum crude carinis tumores It paulo inferius mulie lam Juo any Solito loco virile membrum bus Lyof ma choding satur Mercurio. Ausor

and medicine, and what internal gradations existed in this "knowledge." Focusing on accounts of monsters and building on Gianna Pomata's and Nancy G. Siraisi's concept of "less learned empiricism," the project aims at overcoming the dichotomy between early modern erudition and enlightened empiricism. The project argues that there was a distinctly early modern type of empiricism that had a strong learned component. This learned component can explain the presence of reports and visualizations of phenomena that appear unbelievable to the modern reader.

Daryn Lehoux (Visiting Scholar, Queen's University, Kingston, Canada) What Did the Romans Know?

The Roman world was a strange one. Human bodies were made up of humours that could shift around and unbalance themselves causing illness; distant lands were populated by strange races of people, some with no heads, some with giant feet that could block out the whole sun; the offal of animals foretold the future; garlic interfered with magnets, and goat's blood with both. The Romans really thought that they *knew* these things to be true. But why? How? On what evidence and with what standards for "knowledge"? Roman observations on the natural world—for all the care with which they were collected, for all the careful scrutiny to which they were put by some very diligent and intelligent Romans—still frequently look to be impossible or fanciful on our modern understanding (knowledge) of how nature works. By looking very closely at the Romans' standards for observation and their criteria for acceptance, we see how the multiple contexts in which those observations were happening *made sense* of particular ways of seeing the world.



Daryn Lehoux



Garlic: antipathy incarnate? From: Pietro Andrea Mattioli, *Kreutterbuch dess hochgelehrten unnd weitberuemten Herrn D. Petri Andreae Matthioli*, Frankfurt a. M. 1590



Andreas Mayer

Andreas Mayer (Research Scholar, MPIWG) Dream Watchers. A History of Modern Dream Research

Attempts at the systematic observation and control of the dreaming process emerged during the nineteenth century. Within a new scientific culture of objectivity, dreams posed a challenge: since they appear in the sleeper's mind as fleeting phenomena and can only be known after awakening, they could hardly be considered as observable objects; and more disturbingly, their irregular, immoral, and irrational aspects threatened the unity of the observing self. This two-fold uncertainty gave rise to a regime in which dreams and similar mental phenomena were being objectified, a process

LES RÉVES.



Tour Implications du frontinquice suir pages 381,421 pr422.

in which the use of epistemic vehicles such as photography and later film was of key importance. By reconstructing the genealogies of the practices by which dreams were objectified in the past one hundred and fifty years, the project aims not only to bring to the fore the specificities of a field which has received little interest within the history of the human sciences, but also to offer historical and epistemological elucidations of the current ambitions voiced by the exponents of new subdisciplines, most notably cognitive or neuroscientific approaches to psychoanalysis.

Hervey de Saint-Denys, Les rèves et les moyens de les diriger, Paris 1867. From: R. Rosenberg, M. Hollein, Turner, Hugo, Moreau. Entdeckung der Abstraktion, p. 171, Fig. 56, München 2007



Erika Milam

Erika Milam (Postdocotoral Fellow, MPIWG; as of January 2009 Assistant Professor, University of Maryland, U.S.A.)

Animal Models of Human Behavior: Anthropomorphism, Zoomorphism, and Cultures of Observation

This project explored two techniques by which natural and social scientists have generalized their knowledge across the animal-human boundary. The first is to anthropomorphize animal actions as simplified versions of human behavior. The second is to zoomorphize human behavior as animalistic or instinctual in basis. By analyzing scientists' uses of zoomorphism in twentieth-century



behavioral sciences (and both the acclaim and critical eye with which their peers received this research), this project seeked to understand how and why social and natural scientists turned to the study of non-human (often non-primate) behavior as a tool for understanding human social and cultural problems.



Irenäus Eibl-Eibesfeldt, Love and Hate: The Natural History of Behavior Patterns. Translated by Geoffrey Strachan. Aldine de Gruyter, New York 1970; Fig. 46. previous page: Balinese women: here: rhesus monkeys.

Gregg Mitman (Visiting Scholar, University of Wisconsin, Madison, U.S.A., funded by the Alexander von Humboldt Stiftung, Germany) America's Rubber Empire: Ecology, Disease, and Commerce in the Making of the Firestone Plantations Company



During the twentieth century, the United States developed a unique kind of empire, one bound together less by military conquest and direct political administration than by the expansion of Gregg Mitman markets, corporate influence, and cultural exchange. The political and economic ties between the United States and the Republic of Liberia, cemented in the 1920s when the Firestone Tire and Rubber Company successfully established a major rubber plantation in the country, exemplify this new imperial relationship. Yet the transformation of Liberia into the United States' rubber empire depended on new tools of seeing and new forms of scientific and medical expertise. Through a fo-

cus on the Harvard African Expedition to Liberia in 1926, the motion-picture record it gathered, and the place of rubber as a precious commodity in the global economy, this project explores the relationships among science, business, and the state in the economic transformation of nature and a nation. How the practices of seeing and valuation in the sciences of ecology, medicine, anthropology, and economics were instrumental in that transformation are questions at the center of this book-length project.

Tania Munz (Research Scholar, MPIWG)

Karl von Frisch, the Honeybee Dances, and Twentieth-Century Sciences of Communication

The Dancing Bees is a dual biography that explores the life and work of the experimental physiologist Karl von Frisch (1886-1982) vis à vis his favored research animal, the honeybee, in the context of twentieth-century studies of animal behavior and communication. Von Frisch's findings that the bees communicate the distance and direction of food sources by means of their dances earned him international attention and a shared Nobel Prize in Physiology and Medicine in 1973. The news that an animal as lowly as the honeybee would use symbolic communication challenged existing



Tania Munz



Rubber tree, Hevea braisiliensis, showing method of tapping at Firestone's Mt. Barclay plantation in Liberia, 1920s. Courtesy of Randal Whitman

notions of the animal-human boundary. From dolphin and whale song to signing chimpanzees, by the mid-1960s, a flurry of interdisciplinary activity surrounded animal communication. The project examines von Frisch's work and its reception and traces how the honeybee emerged during the twentieth century as one of the most fascinating and challenging problems of communication and behavior.



Elizabeth Neswald (Visiting Scholar, Brock University, St. Catherines, Canada, funded by the Canadian Institute of Health Research)

Thermodynamics, Social Technologies, and the Practice of Nutrition

In the 1850s, nutrition emerged as a special area of physiological study. Humans at work and at rest, female and male, of different ages and states of health were put in calorimeters, hooked up to respiration apparatus, and fed carefully planned and analyzed diets in order to determine the metabolism and nutritional needs of the human body. Surveys, household budgets, prisons, and poor houses provided information on dietary practices in different social, ethnic, and national groups. From its early years, nutritional physiology was closely intertwined with the interests of the state and of social reformers. At the same time, physiologists looked to the exact sciences, to physics, chemistry, engineering, and thermodynamics for their experimental methods and models. This project studies the history of nutritional physiology in the late-



Left: The round dance alerts hive mates to nearby foods. Right: The tail-waggle dance indicates the distance and direction of more distant food sources. Karl von Frisch, *Erinnerungen eines Biologen*, p. 126, Berlin 1957

Francis G. Benedict and Edward P. Cathcart, Muscular Work. A Metabolic Study with Special Reference to the Efficiency of the Human Body as a Machine, Fig. 1, Washington DC, 1913

nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries at the intersection of laboratory science and social concerns, focusing in particular on its experimental objects, practices, and apparatus.

Kärin Nickelsen (Visiting Scholar, Universität Bern, Switzerland, funded by the Universität Bern)

Modelling Photosynthesis 1840-1960

The project examines the discovery of the biochemical processes of photosynthesis in the years 1840 to 1960. Photosynthesis is fundamental to life on earth, and the process has intrigued scientists for a long time, with an enormous acceleration of success after 1945. By 1960, the basic model of photosynthesis, involving two photochemical



reactions and a light-independent series of dark reactions, was established. It required the collective effort of many research teams from all over the world, working in the most diverse fields of science. Tracing the step-by-step contributions by different actors to this model and explaining why and in which respect they advanced the collective goal are the key issues of this project.



Kärin Nickelsen

Eugene Rabinowitch, "The Mechanism of Photosynthesis". *Studies on Microalgae and Photosynthetic Bacteria* 373, p. 114, 1963

Gianna Pomata (Visiting Scholar, Johns Hopkins University, U.S.A.) **Practices of Observation of Early Modern Physicians**

This project examines the development of the genre of medical *observationes* (collections of case-histories), a new form of writing that emerged in the late Renaissance. The interest in case-writing and case-collecting, which was the primary motivation behind the publishing of the *observationes*, was related to the recovery of the ideas of the ancient Empiric physicians, which were part and parcel of the legacy of ancient Scepticism and newly influential in early modern Europe. During her stay at the MPI-WG, Gianna Pomata completed and submitted for publication the following articles on this topic: "Sharing Cases: the *Observationes* in Early Modern Medicine" (accepted for publication in *Early Science and Medicine*, forthcoming 2010); "Observation Rising: Birth of an Epistemic Genre," accepted for publication in Lorraine Daston and Elizabeth Lunbeck, eds., *Histories of Scientific Observation* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, forthcoming 2010); and "A Word of the Empirics: the ancient concept of observation and its recovery in early modern medicine," under review at *Annals of Science*.



Gianna Pomata

Theodore Porter (Visiting Scholar, University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A.) Scientific Observation as a Tool for Conservative Social Reform

This project examined the *méthode d'observation* of the mining engineer and prominent conservative Frédéric Le Play, who began his career emphasizing careful observation as a tool of economic planning and management, and later exalted it as an antidote to speculative, deracinated revolution. His monographs involved a remarkable



Theodore Porter

mix of bureaucratic investigation, exemplified by British parliamentary Blue Books, and the writing of fiction. By the time his observational project was flourishing as a collective enterprise, he had become convinced that France needed to be regenerated by the perspective of places far from European civilization, and that the wisdom of the sage, with lifelong experience of societies uncorrupted by modern customs and habits, was more valuable than any systematic empirical study. And yet he maintained to his dying day a program of investigation that was summed up in quantitative reports of family budgets.



Thomas Sturm

the Department of Philosophy at the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain) **Perceptual Illusions and their Role in Epistemology** The empirical sciences must constantly strive to distinguish reliable from unreli-

Thomas Sturm (Research Scholar; as of November 2009 Ramón y Cajal Researcher at

able observation. A concept that plays an important role here is that of a perceptual illusion. For philosophers, such illusions have often been a reason to mistrust the senses. They were also treated in optics, astronomy, and other disciplines. A division of scientific labor seems natural here: empirical sciences in general consider these illusions for methodological and theoretical reasons. In contrast, for philosophical



July 1962

epistemology and—in different ways—cognitive psychology, illusions have also been part of their very subject matter. They investigate them in order to understand and control the basis of empirical knowledge. The project deals with a complex philosophical and historical problem: How has the conceptual distinction between perception and judgment been used in conceptions and theories of perceptual illusions? How do these shifts affect the relation between philosophy and psychology, and the goal of these disciplines to safeguard empirical knowledge claims?

Cover Illustration of *Scientific American*, No. 207 1962



Mary Terrall

Mary Terrall (Visiting Scholar, University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A.) **Practices of Natural History in the Eighteenth Century**

This study examines the various practices that went into making natural historical knowledge in francophone eighteenth-century Europe. Through diverse manuscript letters, research notes, and drawings, as well as printed texts and engraved images, it reconstructs working relationships among naturalists, and looks especially at the ways people incorporated natural history observation into the daily routines of their households. The project challenges received views about classification as the defining feature of natural history in this period, and about the clear distinction of physical sciences from natural history. The central figure is René-Antoine Ferchault de Réaumur, author of many volumes on insects, among other things, and the definitive authority on natural history in France the middle decades of the eighteenth century.

While the project addresses many aspects of Réaumur's own work in detail, his papers and letters also make possible an exploration of a dispersed and diverse community of observers and collectors spread across Europe and around the world.

Kelley Wilder (Visiting Scholar, De Montfort University Leicester, U.K.) **The Nature of Photographic Evidence**

By the late-nineteenth century, the photochemical trace in addition to more modern photographic techniques provided scientists with innumerable insights into the natural world. Photography recorded things that were, to the human eye and human memory, too small, too fast, invisible, too far away and far too ephemeral. Kelley Wilder explored the perceived framework of photography in experimental and observational settings ever since Sir John Herschel first used a photograph to explain the result of



Kelley Wilder

an experiment in March 1839. Her project involved not only examining the ways in which photographs were seen to generate facts, but also how different types of photographs were used to generate different types of facts; how photographic methods were deployed; how photographic materials altered the way in which these methods were structured; and finally, but certainly not least, how photographic desiderata were treated, discussed, and disseminated to a public audience as evidence.



Arthur von Hippel, Lichtenberg Figure. Digital image made from a scanned glass plate negative (and reversed) 1936. Courtesy von Hippel family

Joseph Ziegler (Visiting Scholar, Haifa University, Israel, funded by the Yad Hanadid Foundation)

The Rise of Physiognomy, 1200-1500

During his six-month stay at MPIWG, J. Ziegler wrote two chapters of a forthcoming monograph on the rise of physiognomy, 1200–1500. Both chapters heavily rely on Bartolomeo della Rocca Cocles's *Chiromantie ac physionomie anastasis* (Bologna, 1504), the last medieval-style commentary of "Aristotelian" physiognomy. The first of these chapters analyses the physiognomic portraits in Cocles's *Anastasis* and suggests that in the long history of scientific observation, this eccentric physician provides us with one of the earliest examples of scientific observation in the Latin West. The second chapter, "Observing religious inclinations and behaviour: Physiognomy and Religion 1200–1500," traces the nexus physiognomy-religion.



Joseph Ziegler

Project

Between the Natural and the Human Sciences

MPIWG ORGANIZERS Lorraine Daston, Fernando Vidal COOPERATING ORGANIZERS Francisco Ortega (Universidade Do Estado Do Rio de Janeiro/UERJ, Brazil) COOPERATION PARTNERS Universidade Do Estado Do Rio de Janeiro/UERJ, Brazil; University of Chicago, U.S.A.; Centre Alexandre Koyré, Paris, France

The questions about what kinds of knowledge, evidence, and objects are common to all the sciences, from astronomy to psychology, from meteorology to sociology. Yet the natural sciences have received immeasurably more historical and philosophical scrutiny than the human sciences, with the result that conceptions of knowledgewhat it is, how to get it, what to do with it-are correspondingly lopsided. The division between the natural and human sciences and the resulting neglect of the latter by historians and philosophers of science are the products of late-nineteenth-century shifts in the classification of knowledge, which remapped the disciplines in order to sharpen the distinction between the human and the natural realms and therefore between the sciences dedicated to each. Although the methods and forms of explanation of, for example, evolutionary biology and historical sociology had more in common than either of them had with physics on the one hand, or demography on the other, the newly drawn boundary between what the natural and human sciences divided disciplines once linked by common histories and practices. The two projects conducted under this rubric investigate the historical and contemporary interactions between the human and natural sciences, as well their shared epistemic values, practices, and institutions.

Project One

The Cerebral Subject: Brain and Self in Contemporary Culture

DURATION 2004–2009; funded 2005–2008 by the DAAD (German Academic Exchange Service) MPIWG ORGANIZER *Fernando Vidal* COOPERATING ORGANIZER *Francisco Ortega* (Universidade Do Estado Do Rio de Janeiro/UERJ, Brazil) COOPERATION PARTNER Institute for Social Medicine, Universidade Do Estado Do Rio de Janeiro/UERJ, Brazil

The goal of this project is to study in history and contemporary culture the idea, epitomized by the expression "cerebral subject," that the human person is constituted essentially by the brain, or that the brain is the only part of the body one needs to have in order to be herself or himself. Since the 1990s, several disciplines, such as neurotheology, neuroeducation, neuroesthetics, neuropsychoanalysis, neuromarketing, or neuroeconomics have advanced bold plans to reform the human sciences on the basis of knowledge about the brain. Driven by the availability of brain imaging technologies, these fields tend to focus on the quest for neural correlates of behaviors and mental processes. The media has given much room to these emergent fields; it has also reported on new forms of sociability incarnate in the growing "neurodiversity" movement, and has decisively contributed to turn brain scans into modern icons of personhood. Parallel to academic approaches, but interacting with them, there is an expanding galaxy of beliefs and practices that go from learning how to draw or feel with one side of the brain, to various forms of neurohealthism, neuroascetics, neuroesotericism, and neuroeschatology. The project approaches these phenomena from different angles, and in reference not only to science and medicine, but also to extrascientific ideas and practices that ultimately concern the self and the definition of the human being.

Brain and Self in Contemporary Culture Conferences

Neurocultures,

February 20–22, 2009 ORGANIZERS *Nicolas Langlitz* (MPIWG/New School of Social Research, New York, U.S.A.), *Fernando* Vidal (MPIWG) COOPERATION PARTNERS BIOS Centre, London School of Economics, www.lse.ac.uk/collections/BIOS/

The workshop examined "neurocultures"—a term intended to emphasize the construction of norms, values, meanings, and identities through the new "neuro" discourses and practices, both scientific and popular. How has neuroscientific knowledge penetrated and fashioned neurocultures, and how have the neurosciences been affected by the latter? How substantial are the changes introduced by "neuro" methods and perspectives into areas traditionally covered by the human sciences? Have these areas as well as our conduct of life and views about the human undergone the major transfigurations announced by many "neuro" specialists? Is there a common denominator to the emerging "neuro" disciplines? Is it merely ideological or have the practices of these fields been transformed as well? What purposes does their alignment with the neurosciences serve?

Participants

- Suzanne Anker (School of Visual Arts, New York, U.S.A.)
- Ariane Bazan (Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium)
- Martijn van Beek (University of Arhus, Denmark)
- Uljana Feest (Technische Universität Berlin, Germany)
- Giovanni Frazzetto (London School of Economics, U.K.)
- Michael Hagner (ETH Zürich, Switzerland)
- Hauke Heekeren (MPI for Human Development Berlin, Germany)
- Sita Kotnis (University of Arhus, Denmark)
- Ludmila Hyman (MPIWG)
- Andrew Lakoff (Harvard University, U.S.A.)
- Nicolas Langlitz (MPIWG/New School of Social Research, New York, U.S.A.)
- Thomas Lemke (Universität Frankfurt/M., Germany)
- Sabine Maasen (Universität Basel, Switzerland)
- Hans Markowitsch (Universität Bielefeld, Germany)
- Emily Martin (New York University, U.S.A.)
- Andreas Mayer (MPIWG)
- Thomas Metzinger (Universität Mainz, Germany)
- Francisco Ortega (State University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil)
- Michael Pauen (Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany)
- Alain Prochiantz (Centre national des recherches scientifiques, Paris, France)
- Tobias Rees (McGill University, Canada)
- Andreas Roepstorff (University of Arhus, Denmark)
- Nikolas Rose (London School of Economics, U.K.)
- Ilina Singh (London School of Economics, U.K.)
- Thomas Sturm (MPIWG/Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain)
- Fernando Vidal (MPIWG)
- Scott Vrecko (London School of Economics, U.K.)
- Allan Young (McGill University, Canada)

Brain and Self in Contemporary Culture Individual Projects



Suparna Choudhury

Suparna Choudhury (Research Fellow, MPIWG, as of August 2009 MPG Minerva Junior Professor, funded by the MPG W-2 Minerva Program for the Advancement of Outstanding Female Scholars)

COOPERATING PARTNERS *Arno Villinger* and *Daniel Margulies* (Institute for Mind and Brain, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany)

COOPERATION PARTNER Institute for Mind and Brain, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany

Critical Neuroscience and the Adolescent Brain

The goal of this project is to develop meaningful interactions between the history of science, anthropology, and cognitive neuroscience. Using the framework of Critical Neuroscience (www.critical-neuroscience.org) and intersecting with the Cerebral

Subject project (all above), *Constructions of the Brain* seeks to examine the cultural contexts and social functions of recent research in the neurosciences, including questions about the social brain, cultural differences, and cognitive development. Currently, a particular focus of the project is the adolescent brain. The adolescence project studies how ideas and practices related to mental and moral development during adolescence



L. Ebensperger, Storm and Stress in the Adolescent Brain, 2009

developed from the late-nineteenth century to current frameworks in neuroscience and psychiatry. It also explores the ways in which brain-based explanations of adolescence are appropriated in clinical, educational, and popular domains, and among adolescents themselves in diverse cultural contexts. Firstly, therefore, the adolescent project will contribute to social studies of neuroscience. Through its collaborative structure, a second aim is to advance reflexive and interdisciplinary approaches to the study of behavior and development.

Nicolas Langlitz (Postdoctoral Fellow, MPIWG, as of January 2010 Assistant Professor at the New School of Social Research, New York, U.S.A.)

Neurophilosophers, Neuroscientists, and the Dreaming Brain

Philosophy was among the first disciplines in the humanities to adorn itself with the prefix of "neuro." Emerging as a branch of analytic philosophy during the 1980s, neurophilosophy has since then attempted to solve philosophical questions with the aid of empirical knowledge acquired in the field of brain research. At the intersection of dream research and neurophilosophy, this anthropological-historical study explores how philosophical questions scholars have wrestled with for centuries are addressed in novel ways through laboratory experiments. This field research in the anthropology of science examines, among other questions, how those working at the borders of science and philosophy respond to ignorance of their subject. What roles do "theoretical metaphors" play in an empirically oriented philosophy of the mind? How are science-fiction-like thought experiments used to overcome the limits of sci-

entific knowledge in philosophical arguments? And what happens to philosophical questions once the attempt has been made to "operationalize" them in experiments?





Nicolas Langlitz

Neuroimaging: How do physiological measurements of the dreaming brain inform the philosophy of mind? Photo: Courtesy Dr. Felix Hasler, Zurich



Fernando Vidal

Francisco Ortega

Francisco Ortega (Visiting Scholar, Universidade Do Estado Do Rio de Janeiro/UERJ, Brazil), *Fernando Vidal* (Research Scholar, MPIWG) **Being Brains**

Are we our brains? The leading American neuroscientist Michael Gazzaniga explicitly said so. More subtly, French philosopher Stéphane Ferret wrote that "Person P is identical with person P* if and only if P and P* have one and the same functional brain." Humans have been thus redescribed as cerebral subjects. How have we come to the point that such statements seem natural and obvious? What do their verbal and nonverbal forms and consequences imply for the individual and society? This

co-authored book project places these questions in historical and critical perspective. *Being Brains* will include chapters on the history of the cerebral subject from John Locke to brain scans; the development since the 1990s of various "neuro" fields (neuroethics, neuroeconomics, neuroesthetics, neurotheology, and several others); neuroethics and how it defines and deals with the challenges the neurosciences supposedly pose for society; the cerebralization of psychological distress; the growth of the neurodiversity movement; the emergence of discourses and practices of cerebral self-help; and the embodiments of the cerebral subject in literature and cinema.



Cover of Newsweek, January 1992

Project Two

The History of the Human Sciences

MPIWG ORGANIZERS Lorraine Daston, Andreas Mayer, Thomas Sturm COOPERATING ORGANIZERS Robert J. Richards (University of Chicago, U.S.A.), Alison Winter (University of Chicago, U.S.A.) COOPERATION PARTNERS University of Chicago, U.S.A.; Centre Alexandre Koyré, Paris, France

The History of the Human Sciences **Conferences**

Crisis Debates in Psychology: Causes, Contexts, and Consequences, October 10–12, 2008 ORGANIZERS John Carson (University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, U.S.A.), Uljana Feest (Technische Universität Berlin, Germany), Ludmila Hyman (MPIWG),

Annette Mülberger (Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain), Thomas Sturm (MPIWG/Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain)

Thomas Kuhn claimed that scientific revolutions are precipitated by a crisis of the dominant paradigm, and that every crisis is resolved by a revolution. He also claimed that states of crisis are hardly ever acknowledged by scientists themselves. However, there are cases in which a crisis was diagnosed by contemporary scientists and their commentators. Perhaps the strongest instance of this can be found in psychology from the late-nineteenth century until the 1930s. It began with a reaction against the expectations connected with the new psychological laboratories, institutes, journals, societies, and research practices established since the 1870s. Starting with Rudolf Willy in 1899, many came to doubt that these innovations would bring psychology onto the secure path of a science. The workshop addressed the causes of and reasons for the experience of a crisis in psychology as well as the effects on the subsequent development in this field. Sessions were also held at conferences in Dublin (ESHHS/ Cheiron meeting, July, 2007), Pittsburgh (HSS/PSA meeting, November, 2008), and Budapest (ESHHS, July 2009). The results will be published in a special issue of the *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science*.

- Christian Allesch (Universität Salzburg, Austria)
- Francesca Bordogna* (Northwestern University, U.S.A.)
- John Carson * (University of Michigan, U.S.A.)
- Jordi Cat (Indiana University, U.S.A.)
- Michael Cole (University of California, San Diego, U.S.A.)
- Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)
- Cathy Faye (York University, Canada)
- Uljana Feest (Technische Universität Berlin, Germany)
- Horst Gundlach (Universität Passau, Germany)
- Gary Hatfield * (University of Pennsylvania)
- Ludmila Hyman* (MPIWG)
- Malcolm Hyman † (MPIWG)
- Perrine Marthelot (Unversité Sorbonne, Paris, France)
- Annette Mülberger* (Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain)
- Thomas Sturm* (MPIWG/Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain)
- Fernando Vidal* (MPIWG)
- Ekaterina Zavershneva (Moscow State Medical University, Russia)
 - * Participants of this group also in residence at Department II



Origins: The Historical Sciences in the Age of Darwin,

Chicago, June 5–6, 2009 ORGANIZERS Lorraine Daston (MPIWG), Robert J. Richards (University of Chicago, U.S.A.) COOPERATION PARTNER University of Chicago, U.S.A.

In the late-eighteenth and early-nineteenth centuries a powerful new framework of inquiry and explanation swept the human and natural sciences: in cosmology and classics, in embryology and philology, in biology and theology, history gripped the imagination of scholars and scientists. The question of the origins and development of languages, species, peoples, and texts became central to the most advanced investigations conducted in the archives, the field, and the laboratory. Charles Darwin's *On the Origin of Species* (1859) erupted into an intellectual world primed to appreciate its questions, if not its answers: how did things come to be as they are now—and what will they become? As part of their ongoing cooperation in the History of the Human Sciences and in celebration of the Darwin Year 2009, the University of Chicago and the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science Berlin co-sponsored a workshop, held in Chicago, on all aspects of the historical sciences from circa 1789–1914. The aim of the workshop was to highlight a program of scientific inquiry that spanned the human and natural sciences as well as learned and lay cultures.

- Adam Baim (University of Chicago, U.S.A)
- Daniela Barberis (Ohio State University, U.S.A.)
- Naomi Beck (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Francesca Bordogna (Northwestern University, U.S.A.)
- Henry Cowles (Princeton University, U.S.A.)
- Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)
- Kasper Eskildsen (Roskilde Universitet, Danmark)
- Marcie Holmes (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Elizabeth Lunbeck (Vanderbilt University, U.S.A.)
- Judith Kaplan (University of Wisconsin, Madison, U.S.A.)
- Stefanie Klamm (MPIWG/Paul Getty Research Institute, Los Angeles, U.S.A.)
- Lynn Nyhart (University of Wisconsin, Madison, U.S.A.)
- Zoe Nyssa (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Trevor Pearce (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Rachel Ponce (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Marshall Sahlins (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Phil Sloan (University of Notre Dame, U.S.A.)
- Richard Staley (University of Wisconsin, Madison, U.S.A.)
- Beckett Sterner (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Thomas Sturm (MPIWG/Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain)
- Kathryn Tabb (University of Pittsburgh, U.S.A.)
- Fernando Vidal (MPIWG)
- Cecelia Watson (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Alison Winter (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)

Epistemic Vehicles in the Human Sciences: A Conference in Memory of Lydia Marinelli,

Vienna, July 23–25, 2009 ORGANIZER *Andreas Mayer* (MPIWG) Collaboration between Departments II and III COOPERATION PARTNER Institut für Wissenschaft und Kunst, Vienna, Austria

Lydia Marinelli (1965-2008) was one of the finest and most original Austrian historians and curators of her generation. Although scholars will remember mostly her inspiring attempts to renovate the historiography of psychoanalysis and her exhibitions, her work had also wider implications with regard to the ways knowledge is generated and transmitted in the human sciences. At a time when historiographical approaches were mostly discipline-bound and text-oriented, opening up the world of the book and of other media in relation to psychoanalysis involved a major reframing of the historical enterprise in this domain. Marinelli's analyses of the role of visual technologies and of the critical function of the archive and the museum in the transmission of psychoanalytic knowledge constitutes a challenge for traditional intellectual histories. This conference honored her memory by investigating the dynamics of the major knowledge vehicles in the human sciences: books, journals, and other print media, the role of the visual arts and technologies, and the multiple ways museum objects can spur epistemic processes. Special attention was given to those fleeting and recalcitrant objects that haunt especially the sciences dealing with mental phenomena. Studying the often paradoxical attempts to track the ephemeral can yield new ways to think about what seems most evident and familiar to us.



in the Human Sciences



A Conference in Memory of Lydia Marinelli

Vienna, 23-25 July 2009

- John Burnham (Ohio State University, U.S.A.)
- Jaqueline Carroy (Centre Koyré, EHESS Paris, France)
- James Chandler (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)
- John Forrester (University of Cambridge, U.K.)
- Thomas Hübel (Institut für Wissenschaft und Kunst, Vienna, Austria)
- Baudouin Jourdant (Université Paris 7, France)
- Ruth Leys (Johns Hopkins University, U.S.A.)
- Elizabeth Lunbeck (Vanderbilt University, U.S.A.)
- Andreas Mayer (MPIWG)
- Angela Mayer-Deutsch (Berlin)
- Alexandre Métraux (Universität Zürich, Switzerland)
- Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG)
- Hans-Walter Schmidt-Hannisa (National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland)
- Alison Winter (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Barbara Wittmann (MPIWG)

Performing Voices: Between Embodiment and Mediation,

Rome, December 4-6, 2009

ORGANIZERS *Martin Brody* (American Academy in Rome), *Julia Kursell* (MPIWG), *Andreas Mayer* (MPIWG). Collaboration between Departments II and III. COOPERATION PARTNER American Academy in Rome

This conference addressed the conundrum of vocal performance in past and present musical practices, providing a platform of confrontation and discussion by bringing together an international group of historians and philosophers of science, musicologists, and stage directors. Central to the conference was a concert by Anna Caterina Antonacci, one of today's most prominent and versatile sopranos, accompanied by pianist Donald Sulzen, followed by a biographical interview on her training and career. The combination of performances and scholarly debate allowed the participants to shed new light on the various forms of embodiment and mediation of singing voices in different historical periods, and to discuss the role of the observational and experimental techniques developed for the study of singing (see http://www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/workshops/en/Performing-Voices.html)

Participants

- Anna-Caterina Antonacci (Soprano Opera Singer, Paris, France)
- Martin Brody (American Academy, Rome, Italy)
- Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)
- Juliette Deschamps (Compagnie La Scène du Crime, Paris, France)
- Martha Feldman (University of Pennsylvania, U.S.A.)
- Bonnie Gordon (University of Virginia, U.S.A.)
- Philip Gossett (University of Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Sebastian Klotz (Universität Leipzig, Germany)
- Julia Kursell (MPIWG)
- Macha Makeïeff (Compagnie Deschamps&Makeïeff, France)
- Andreas Mayer (MPIWG)
- Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG)
- Benjamin Steege (State University of New York at Stony Brook, U.S.A.)
- Donald Sulzen (Pianist, Konservatorium München, Germany)

→ see also: Historical Epistemology of Hearing, p. 121

The History of the Human Sciences **Planned Conferences**

The Ur Science: Philology since the Renaissance,

January 29–30, 2010 ORGANIZERS Lorraine Daston (MPIWG), Glenn Most (Scuola Normale Pisa, Italy/ University of Chicago, U.S.A.)

Strangelovean Sciences,

March 15–16, 2010 ORGANIZERS *Michael Gordin* (Princeton University, U.S.A.), *Lorraine Daston* (MPIWG)

The Human Subject in the Human Sciences,

April 2–3, 2010 (MPIWG-University of Chicago Cooperation in the History of the Human Sciences) ORGANIZERS Alison Winter (University of Chicago, U.S.A.), Robert J. Richards (University of Chicago, U.S.A.), Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)

What Are the Human Sciences? Traditions, Histories, Reflections,

Paris, June 2011 ORGANIZERS *Jacqueline Carroy* (Centre Alexandre Koyré, Paris, France), *Lorraine Daston* (MPIWG), *Jan Goldstein* (University of Chicago, U.S.A.), *Andreas Mayer* (MPIWG)

The History of the Human Sciences Individual Projects

John Carson (Visiting Scholar, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, U.S.A.) Mental Ability and the Birth of Medical Jurisprudence

During the first decades of the nineteenth century, an extraordinary transformation took place in Anglo-American adjudications around the issue of mental competency. Challenging strict common law standards minimizing occasions where an actor's ability to make a will, enter into a contract, get married, or the like could be placed in question, physicians and jurists in both nations sought, often successfully, to introduce more capacious understandings of impairments that might render an individual unable to manage his or her affairs. For all the similarity in goals, however, the relations between doctors and lawyers—and more broadly between medicine and the law—were anything but easy, as each profession jealously guarded its own prerogatives and proved suspicious of expertise drawn from other quarters. The goal is to understand the process by which individuals were categorized according to their mental ability, the meaning of such categorizations when applied to specific situations, and the means by which knowledge generated and expertise validated in one context could, or could not, become persuasive within the other.



John Carson



Philip Kitcher

Philip Kitcher (Visting Scholar, Columbia University, New York, U.S.A., funded by Columbia University)

Naturalistic Ethics

This naturalistic approach to ethics elaborates a very general philosophical stance, pragmatic naturalism, which fuses ideas from the classical pragmatists (particularly James and Dewey) with the opposition to mysterious entities and processes that is the hallmark of naturalism. Central to this approach is the thought that we can understand human practices—the sciences, religion, mathematics, and ethics—by analyzing the historical processes that have produced them in their current forms. Following themes from Dewey, the task is conceived not as developing any complete system of ethics, but of going on from where we are. The current version of the book (about 750 pages) has been sent to Harvard University Press. An article on altruism will appear in *Economics and Philosophy*.



Lydia Marinelli †

Lydia Marinelli † (Visiting Scholar, Sigmund Freud Gesellschaft, Austria) The Couch. From A Living Room Furnishing to a Site of Observation of the Unconscious

From the beginning of Freud's medical practice, his office featured a piece of furniture for reclining. In the post-Freudian era this treatment bed took on the appellation *couch*, and up to the present day it has remained the professional calling card of the psychoanalyst. This project aimed to investigate the historical context within which this upholstered furnishing developed into a site of observation and treatment of the unsconcious. It considered the therapeutic debates surrounding the more or less relaxed position of repose and their involvement in establishing the sofa's role in treatment. These medical and psychological discussions were analyzed in the light of the furnishing's carreer as an everyday object in the living room.



Annette Mülberger

Annette Mülberger (Visiting Scholar, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain, funded by the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona)

Crisis Declarations in German Psychology

What happens if scientists declare a crisis in their field? This was the case several times in the history of psychology. The first crisis declaration came from empiriocriticist Rudolf Willy, only twenty years after the first psychological laboratory was founded, and was followed by many others. A systematic comparison of crisis declarations and refutations reveals that, first, the texts dealing with crisis usually imply a question about what kind of science psychology should be and, second, that one of the main issues at stake, at that time, was Wilhelm Wundt's legacy. The paper, to be published in the *Studies in the History and Philosophy of Science* under the title "Constructing Histories—Detecting Crises: Wundt's Contested Legacy in Germany (1897/1932)," deals with the contemporary appraisal and historical evaluation of Wundt's contribution in these crisis declarations.

Project

Gender Studies of Science

MPIWG ORGANIZERS Christine von Oertzen, Annette Vogt

Research on the history of women and gender in science, technology, and medicine has expanded considerably in the recent past years and has, at the same time, become more and more diverse. On an ongoing basis, Department II supports projects using the category of gender to historicize scientific knowledge production—within and beyond academic confines.

Gender Studies of Science Conference

Women and Gender in the History of Science, Technology, and Medicine: State of the Arts and Future Perspectives, August 29, 2008

ORGANIZERS *Christine von Oertzen* (MPIWG), *Helga Satzinger* (Wellcome Trust for the History of Medicine, University College London, U.K.)

The workshop aimed to evaluate and synthesize the research on women and gender in the history of science, medicine, and technology of the past decade, and to identify promising avenues for future research. The lively one-day discussion led to the conclusion that the category of gender might be most fruitfully employed in the history of science by adapting an approach that gender historians of technology have successfully used to show how technology, culture, and society are closely intertwined. As in the history of technology, gender could serve as a category to challenge distinctions between the realms of (knowledge) production and (knowledge) consumption, and in some instances erase these boundaries altogether. A workshop in 2010 (see below) will develop this approach.

- Mineke Bosch (University of Groningen, The Netherlands)
- Joan Cadden (University of California, Davis, U.S.A.)
- Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)
- Delphine Gardey (Université de Genève, Switzerland)
- Sally Kohlstedt (University of Minnesota, U.S.A.)
- Erika Milam (MPIWG/University of Maryland, U.S.A.)
- Christine von Oertzen (MPIWG)
- Maria Rentetzi (Technical University of Athens, Greece)
- *Helga Satzinger* (Wellcome Trust Centre for the History of Medicine, University College London, U.K.)
- Annette Vogt (MPIWG)
- Karin Zachmann (Technische Universität München, Germany)

Gender Studies of Science Planned Conference

Gender Studies of Science: Using and Producing Sciences Beyond the Academy, June 18–19, 2010 ORGANIZER Christine von Oertzen (MPIWG)

Gender Studies of Science Individual Projects



Aude Fauvel

Aude Fauvel (Postdoctoral Fellow, MPIWG) Women, Madness, and Psychiatry in France

The aim of this project is to take a fresh look at the French history of psychiatry by exploring how the evolution of theories on gender differentiation have altered the management of the insane in the modern period. Psychiatry mainly targeted women. However, asylum statistics indicate thatat least in France-more men than women were in fact locked up in psychiatric institutions. It is only at the beginning of the twentieth century that the ratio of men and women started to reverse, so that the asylum female population was sometimes 30% larger than the male one in the interwar period. The study seeks to explain this major shift in the psychiatric treatment of men and women in France by following the medical discourse on madness, as well as the treatment of female criminality. Furthermore it takes into account a "female invasion" in the psychiatric profession. In tracing the scientific legacies of the first female French psychiatrists, the study proposes to examine whether female psychiatrists developed new ways of seeing madness, whether women doctors changed the functioning of the asylum institution, and what patients themselves thought of their presence.



A mad woman at the Salpétrière, 1892. P. Strauss, Paris ignoré. 550 dessins inédits d'après nature, Paris, Ancienne Maison Quantin, p. 441, 1892



Christine von Oertzen

Christine von Oertzen (Research Scholar, MPIWG)

Gender, Science, and Transnational Academic Networking

This book project is an account of the formation and course of a new, international academic community of women, the International Federation of University Women (IFUW). It depicts how the IFUW took shape, and tracks the Federation's activities across five decades, examining the shifting political, social, and intellectual contexts in which the organization sought to implement its ambitious goals. The study



draws special attention to what the IFUW meant for female academics and scholars across Europe, and particularly for those from Germany. The entangled past of the IFUW and Germany reveals a history of national and international politics through academic networks across borders and academic cultures, scientific disciplines, and generations. The manuscript was accepted as a "Habilitationsschrift" by the Technical University Braunschweig in November 2009 and will be published by Wallstein in Göttingen in 2010.

Helga Satzinger (Wellcome Trust Centre for the History of Medicine, University College London, U.K.)

History of Genetics and Research into Sex Hormones

Three examples from Germany in the years between the 1890s and 1950s show how gender participated in the making of scientific knowledge. The book project investigated the research groups of Theodor and Marcella Boveri, Richard Goldschmidt, and Adolf and Erika Butenandt. The Boveris and Goldschmidt concentrated on the chromosomes and genes as genetic material, while the Butenandts crystallised sex hormones as crucial agents in the development of an organism, and turned to genetics in the 1940s. Women's work was decisive in these endeavours. One crucial question

of the three research groups was how gender difference is inherited and developed in organisms. Not only were sex and gender difference a scientific problem in the research, but they were also deeply intertwined with the contemporary political debates on the social order of society. The book, entitled *Differenz und Vererbung: Geschlechterordnung in der Genetik und Hormonforschung*, *1890–1950*, was published by Böhlau Publishers in 2009.



International Convention of the IFUW 1932 in Edinburgh. Marching to the opening ceremonies, with the Mayor of Edinburgh and the President of the University of Edinburgh. Courtesy International Federation of University Women, Geneva

Technical assistants working with Adolf Butenandt on the crystallisation of the "female" sex hormone. University of Göttingen, late 1920s. Butenandt Papers,

Archive of the Max Planck Society, Berlin



Helga Satzinger



lda Stamhuis

Ida Stamhuis (Visiting Scholar, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, The Netherlands), *Annette Vogt* (MPIWG)

Women Investigators at the Institute for Heredity Research in Berlin (1912–1928/ 1933–1945)

The Berlin Institute for Heredity Research serves as an example of a research unit where women scientists were employed earlier than in most others, and where they played a greater role than in other institutions. The study seeks to examine why this was so and what factors facilitated women's inclusion in the research. It sheds light on the gendered division of labor within the laboratories and analyzes how men and women worked together within the two main branches of the institute's research: in genetics, a field that was regarded as "pure science," as well as in heredity research which was defined as applied science.



Microscopical class at the Botanical Institute of the Agricultural College Berlin. Die Königliche Landwirtschaftliche Hochschule in Berlin, Festschrift zur Feier des 25jährigen Bestehens, Fig. 32, Berlin 1906



Annette Vogt

Annette Vogt (Research Scholar, MPIWG) Women Scientists in the Kaiser Wilhelm Society and at the Berlin University

New findings on many of the female scientists listed in the dictionary "Women Scientists in Kaiser Wilhelm Institutes, from A to Z" (published in 2008) necessitated a revised and expanded edition. About fifty of the two-hundred and fifty entries needed to be changed, especially to complete entries of such lesser known and "forgotten" women scientists as Lydia Pasternak and Marie Wreschner, as well as of the first female scientific members of the Max Planck Society, Elisabeth Schiemann and Anneliese Maier. The new edition of the dictionary now also includes women scientists at different scientific institutions, especially the Agricultural College in Berlin and the Berlin University. The third edition of the dictionary covers the period from 1900 to 1961. It includes comparisons between male and female scientists, and draws special attention to women scientists who opposed the Nazi Regime.

Project

Science in Circulation: The Exchange of Knowledge among Islam, Judaism, and Christianity, 9th–17th Centuries

MPIWG ORGANIZER Lorraine Daston

COOPERATING ORGANIZERS *Rivka Feldhay* (Tel Aviv University, Israel), *Jamil Ragep* (McGill University, Canada), *Sally Ragep* (McGill University, Canada) COOPERATION PARTNERS McGill University, Canada; American Council of Learned Societies; Member Institutions of ISMI Board (see below)

Working Group

Before Copernicus: The Cultures and Context of Scientific Learning in the Fifteenth Century

ORGANIZERS *Rivka Feldhay* (Tel Aviv University, Israel), *Jamil Ragep* (McGill University, Canada)

This Working Group examines encounter and cross-fertilization among a variety of Eastern and Western learning traditions that constituted astronomical knowledge in the century before Copernicus and had an impact on his work. The investigation combines perspectives from the history of science, intellectual history, and cultural history of the Islamic, Byzantine-Greek, Jewish, and Western-European traditions, and stretches geographically from Samarkand and Istanbul in the East, to Eastern,



Figures used by Regiomontanus and 'Ali Qushjī illustrating how to convert the epicyclic models of Venus and Mercury into eccentric ones. The underlying proposition, a key element in the mathematical transformation from a geocentric to heliocentric cosmology, most likely was first developed in Samarqand around 1430 and then made its way to Constantinople and central Europe. (Left: J. Regiomontanus and G. Peurbach, Epytoma Joannis de monte regio In almagestum ptolemaei (Venice, 1496), n4r, Courtesy of the History of Science Collections, University of Oklahoma, Norman, U.S.A.; Right: 'Ali Qushjī, Fī anna aşl al-khārij ..., Carullah MS 2060, f. 137a. Courtesy of the Süleymaniye Library, Istanbul, Turkey

→ see also: Knowledge and Belief in Early Modern Science , p. 136 Central and Western European countries. The first two meetings of the group took place at the MPIWG in December 2006 and August 2007, and the third and final meeting at McGill University, Montreal, Canada, in August 2009. The Working Group will produce a collective volume (submission by December 2010) that re-evaluates the rich conversation between different traditions and disciplines that constitutes the relevant context for interpreting Copernicus' contribution. The interdisciplinary work of the group will be integrated through thematic chapters, often written by more than one person.

Members

- Nancy Bisaha (Vassar College, U.S.A.)
- Christopher S. Celenza (Johns Hopkins University, U.S.A.)
- Raz Chen-Morris (Bar Ilan University, Israel)
- *Ihsan Fazlioglu* (Istanbul University, Turkey)
- Rivka Feldhay (Tel Aviv University, Israel)
- Maria Mavroudi (Princeton University, U.S.A.)
- Robert Morrison (Whitman College, U.S.A.)
- Jamil Ragep (McGill University, Canada)
- Sally Ragep (McGill University, Canada)
- Michael Shank (University of Wisconsin, Madison, U.S.A.)
- Edith Sylla (North Carolina University, U.S.A.)

Science in Circulation The Islamic Scientific Manuscripts Initiative (ISMI)

MPIWG ORGANIZER Lorraine Daston COOPERATING ORGANIZERS Jamil Ragep (McGill University, Canada), Sally Ragep (McGill University, Canada) COOPERATION PARTNERS McGill University, Canada; American Council of Learned Societies

Member Institutions of the ISMI Board: Institute for the Study of Muslim Civilizations, Aga Khan University, London, U.K.; Archimedes Project, Harvard University, U.S.A.; Filología Semítica, Universitat de Barcelona, Spain; Encyclopaedia Islamica Foundation, Tehran, Iran; Institute for the History of Arabic Science, Aleppo University, Syria; Institute for the History of Science and Technology, Moscow, Russia; Institute of Ismaili Studies, London, U.K.; Warburg Institute, London, U.K.; The Written Heritage Research Center, Tehran, Iran

The ISMI project aims to make available a vast array of information about the exact sciences in the premodern Islamic world. This material will be accessible via the Internet without charge both to researchers and experts in the field and to the educated public worldwide. It will be an online database that contains the works of some 2,000 authors who span the entire Islamic world from Islamic Spain to India and the

borders of China, beginning in the eighth century and continuing until the nineteenth. These works in astronomy, mathematics, physics, geography, mechanics, and related disciplines number in the thousands and are represented, conservatively speaking, by tens of thousands of manuscript copies spread throughout the world.

In 2008, J. Ragep was awarded a Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI) grant worth approximately 950,000 CAD, for work on the ISMI and related projects. (This is in addition to 1.4 million CAD awarded in 2007 for a Canada Research Chair, which has a sizeable research component that is being used for the ISMI project.) This CFI grant has been combined with another CFI grant awarded to Ragep's McGill colleague, Robert Wisnovsky, for work on an Islamic philosophy database. The two projects and databases are now seamlessly integrated, which has allowed for economies of scale and also for considerable synergy between the related fields of Islamic philosophy and Islamic science.

In 2009, ISMI, as a component of the Rational Sciences in Islam project (RaSI), entered into an agreement with the Staatsbibliothek zu Berlin to digitize a substantial number of Islamic codices (500 to 1000) related to scientific, philosophical, and theological subjects. The images will be put online, as part of the MPIWG's ECHO website. Thanks to equipment provided by McGill and funding for personnel by the MPIWG, work has moved forward and the first batch of sixty-eight codices is currently being digitized, of which eight are already online. Metadata to accompany the online manuscript images is being provided by Adam Gacek of McGill.

→ see also: Workshop to establish a new Partner Group with India, p. 178



The system of orbs for the planet Mercury, model produced by Islamic astronomers to reform the Ptolemaic system. Anonymus [Qutb al-Dīn al-Shīrāzī (d.710/1311)], *Nihayat al-idrak fi dirayat al-aflak* (The utmost achievement in comprehending the orbs), Staatsbibliothek Berlin [*SBB: Ahlw. 5682 = Petermann I 674*], ca. 1600, available through MPIWG ECHO Website

New Project

The Sciences of the Archive

DURATION 2010-2015

MPIWG ORGANIZERS Grégoire Chamayou, Lorraine Daston, Fernando Vidal, Christine von Oertzen

"Data" (literally, "the givens") is perhaps the most taken-for-granted word in all the sciences: short and unpretentious, it expresses the simplest and apparently most straightforward elements of empirical research. Whether inscribed as jottings on note-cards, traces on photographic emulsions, entries in lab notebooks, or digital information, data supply the essential raw materials for all further scientific activity, from observing to theorizing. It is a category considered too basic to merit a history, too innocent to deserve a philosophy.

Yet no other aspect of science has commanded a greater commitment of ingenuity, resources, and sheer tenacity than the taking, making, and keeping of data. Since ancient times, cultures dispersed across the globe have launched monumental data-centered projects: the massive collections of astronomical observations in ancient China and Mesopotamia, the great libraries from Alexandria to Google Book Search, the vast networks of scientific surveillance of the world's oceans and atmosphere, the mapping of every nook and cranny of heaven and earth. These projects are typically superhuman in scale, spanning continents (sometimes even galaxies), and centuries.

The sciences of the archive embrace both the human and natural sciences: history and astronomy, meteorology, and archaeology. All sciences make some use of data, but the sciences of the archive are defined by it—and their practices in turn define what data means. The history of the sciences of the archives raises questions about the evolution of categories like "data," "information," and "knowledge;" the cultural preconditions for titanic undertakings that project themselves in imagination far into the future; the modalities of classification, from the physical arrangement of books on library shelves to the digital indexing of the data sent by space probes; the fantasy of completeness, whether expressed in a photograph or a museum collection; the techniques for registering and manipulation of information, from the table to the data base.

The Sciences of the Archive **Working Groups**

Documenting the World: Photographic Media and the Scientific Record ORGANIZERS *Kelley Wilder* (DeMontfort University, Leicester, U.K.), *Gregg Mitman* (University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A.)

Archives composed of photographs or film span the scope of human history: these are archives as intimate as the family shoebox and as vast as the world's microfilm holdings. They form the backbone for visually based disciplines like art history, and alter the way we collect information and learn from it. Photographic and filmic documents in archives do not speak for themselves. They only have life in relationship to something else: to the context of their production, to other documents in the archive, to a person's life history, to a historical narrative. These documents are always on the verge of becoming documentaries—otherwise they would be dead to the world. This Working Group will investigate the impulses behind much of the archiving activity that utilized the two mediums. We will investigate how these photographic and filmic

documents, through their creation and circulation, are continually shaping and reformulating the status of the archive. We want to know how photographic documents are made, how they circulate, and how they become documentaries.

Documenting the World attends to both the material and cultural histories of the photographic, filmic, or digital scientific record. It aims to reflect on, and work toward, a set of common methodologies that can reach across the divides of film and photographic history. The first meeting of the Working Group will take place in January 2010.



Greenland's Icy Mountains—A small Artic specimen. Library Photographic Archive Ventor, Isle of Wright, The Museum, Courtesy University of St. Andrews, ca. 1890

→ see also conference "The Educated Eye", p.71

Members

- Paula Amad (University of Iowa, Iowa City, U.S.A.)
- Estelle Blaschke* (MPIWG)
- Elizabeth Edwards* (University of the Arts London, U.K.)
- Peter Geimer (ETH Zürich, Switzerland)
- Faye Ginsburg (New York University, New York City, U.S.A.)
- Jean-Baptiste Gouyon* (MPIWG)
- Stefanie Klamm* (MPIWG/Paul Getty Research Institute, Los Angeles, U.S.A.)
- Gregg Mitman* (University of Wisconsin, Madison, U.S.A.)
- Jennifer Tucker (Wesleyan University, Middletown, U.S.A.)
- Janet Vertesi (University of California, Irvine, U.S.A.)
- Kelley Wilder* (De Montfort University, Leicester, U.K.)

*Members of working group also involved as scholars in residence at Department II.


Machines of Memory. The Archival Technologies and the Genealogy of Datapower (Seventeenth-Twentieth Centuries)

Le serre-papier, a bureaucratic machine invented by Guillauté (1749), from: M. Guillauté, *Mémoire sur la réformation de la police de France*, reprint Paris 1974, p. 65 Archives are apparatuses of socialized memory, organizational tools of memorizing and remembering. The aim of this project is to study the history of their machinery, including the history of the card-filing systems or traceability devices in heterogeneous fields of practices, from the archives of cattle management to the use of archiving devices within the arts of governance. Machineries embrace not only concrete systems of material apparatuses, but also whole sets of social relationships, rationalities, and desires that embrace the technical devices. Archiving technologies have encountered an unprecedented global extension today. The hypothesis is that we are experiencing the deployment of an archival kind of power—"datapower"—that operates through the recording, storing, and retrieving of data on a gigantic and ubiquitous scale. The goal of this Working Group is to link the history of techniques of archiving and the formation of new ways of managing men, animals, and things: to sketch a genealogy of datapower by means of its technological history. The first meeting of this Working Group will take place in October 2010.

Endangerment and Its Consequences (to begin in 2011)

MPIWG ORGANIZER Fernando Vidal See description on the MPIWG website: http://www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/en/research/projects/DEPT1_Loza-Quipu/ projects/DeptII_VidalFernando-EndangermentAndItsConsequences/index_htm

The Archives of Deep-Time Sciences (to begin 2012) MPIWG ORGANIZER Lorraine Daston See description on the MPIWG website: http://www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/en/research/projects/DEPT1_Loza-Quipu/ projects/DeptII_DastonLorraine-SciencesOfDeepTime/index_html

Grégoire Chamayou (Research Scholar, MPIWG)

History and Philosophy of Traceability, Seventeenth to Twentieth Centuries

Traceability is "the ability to find the history, the use, or the location of an entity by means of registered identifications." It implies an ensemble of notation and archiving techniques, in other words, an ensemble of "mnemotechnics," elaborated on the one hand in the management of livestock, herds, and libraries (inventory, classification, indexing, bookkeeping, and monitoring), and, on the other hand, in the administrative sphere of the government of populations (census reporting, postal addressing, card-filing systems, identification). The project is to write a genealogy of the contemporary techniques of traceability that draw on a heterogeneous corpus, in studying for example the installation of the first centralized judiciary records in the context of the



Grégoire Chamayou

birth of criminal anthropology as well as the introduction of the techniques of identification and of monitoring cattle in the process of husbandry. The study aims at revealing the link between the emergence of highly effective techniques of archiving and identification and the formation of a way of managing men, animals, and things as founded on a principle of individualization.



Photo: Hakan Dahlström

Jean-Baptiste Gouyon (Postdoctoral Fellow, University of York, U.K./MPIWG) Archiving the Doomed. Fashioning a Public Science of Conservation

This project studies ARKive, an Internet database of images and recordings of animals, and its claims to knowledge (www.arkive.org). This collection of audio-visual material is presented as an "electronic Noah's Ark," a central repository whose civic usefulness is justified by the threat of extinction looming over several, if not all animal species in the catalog. ARKive also seems to foster the notion that natural history



films, as well as the animals they document, are precious objects of knowledge in need of preservation. The research will therefore examine the role that such an "ecology of doom" plays in bring- ing cognitive legitimacy to natural history film-making, most notably through the role ascribed to the archival potential of this set of material practices.



Jean-Baptiste Gouyon

Screenshot of the ARKive Website, 2010

Project

Emmy-Noether Research Group

The Intellectual and Cultural History of Listening from the Enlightenment to the Present Day

DURATION 2008-2011

MPIWG ORGANIZER *Nikolaus Bacht* (Emmy Noether Research Group Director, Funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft)

This project focuses on a phenomenon that has persistently eluded historical description: the history of music listening, a subject only recently (re-)introduced into the canon of the humanities. The aim is to overcome both the traditional psychometric approach and recently developed social- and cultural-historical approaches to listening. Ultimately, the project strives to find a "third way:" a way that goes beyond the irreconcilable extremes of total universalisation on the one hand and total historicisation on the other. This interdisciplinary method should considerably enhance our understanding of the divergent rational and ontological forms that listening assumed from the Enlightenment to the present.

→ See also Julia Kursell, Historical Epistemology of Hearing, p. XXX



Nikolaus Bacht

Individual Projects

Nikolaus Bacht

(Emmy-Noether Research Group Director, funded by the Deutsche Forschungs-gemeinschaft) **An Intellectual and Cultural History of Listening**

Actual listening experience, as far as it can be reconstructed, is considered alongside music theorists' and philosophers' ideas about listening, and tested against one another. Starting in the late-eighteenth century, the project works all the way up to the present, analysing the vast array of different sources dialectically in order to make comparisons possible.



Binaural localization and masking. Winston E. Kock, Journal of Acoustical Research Vol. 22 No. 6, Nov. 1950

William Lockhart (Predoctoral Fellow, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany) Compositional Listening: Musical Arrangement in the Nineteeth and Twentieth Centuries

The piano arrangement—an adaptation of a larger musical work for easy performance at the piano—was central to both the performing and listening habits of the nineteenth century amateur musician. Vital to the lived reality of musical individuals, and serving a pivotal role as the means by which music was circulated, the piano arrangement was one of the most important socio-musical phenomena of the nineteenth century. As such, it deserves far more academic interest than it has thus far received. By writing a comprehensive history of this maligned and forgotten genre, the project not only resurrects a near-forgotten body of music, but also exhumes its centurieslong history and associated aesthetic of reception, and thus illuminates an integral element of the social reality of music in the nineteenth century.



William Lockhart



Paul Cézanne, *Girl at the Piano (The Overture to Tannhause)*. Oil on canvas. 57.8 x 92.5 cm, State Hermitage Museum, St. Petersburg, Russia, circa 1868

Short-Term

Visiting Pre- and Postdoctoral Fellows

- *Estelle Blaschke* (E.H.E.S.S./Université Paris I, Sorbonne): From the Picture Archive to the Image Bank. Commercializing the Visual Through Photography. The Bettmann Archive and CORBIS, 1933–present
- *Bernhard Bolech* (University of Vienna, Austria, funded by the University of Austria): Brain Research and the Human Sciences in Vienna around 1800
- *Mirjam Brusius* (University of Cambridge, United Kingdom, funded by the Gerda-Henkel-Stiftung, the Arts and Humanities Research Council, and the Cambridge Trust): Preserving the Forgotten: William Henry Fox Talbot, Photography and the Antique
- *Frederico D'Onofrio* (Universiteit van Amsterdam, The Netherlands, funded by the Universiteit van Amsterdam): Political Economy in Eighteenth-Century Naples
- *Emmanuel Didier* (Centre national de la recherche scientifique, Gouyancourt, France): US-Survey Statistics During the Interwar Period
- *Andrew Fearnley* (Cambridge University, U.K., as of February 2010 predoctoral fellow in Veronika Lipphardt's Junior Research Group): Methods to Madness: Race, Knowledge and American Psychiatry
- *Angela Grünberg* (University of Sheffield, U.K.): Virtues as Sensibilities: The Tone of the German Language
- *Katja Guenther* (Princeton University, U.S.A.): A Body Made of Nerves: Reflexes, Body Maps, and the Limits of the Self in Modern German Medicine)
- *Daniela Helbig* (Harvard University): Turbulence in Flight and Fluid Dynamics Between the World Wars
- *José Ramon Marcaida* (CISC Madrid, funded by the Spanish National Research Council): Nature, Art, and Knowledge in Seventeenth-Century Spain
- *Maurizio Meloni* (University of Rome, Italy): Molecular Dasein: Living and Thinking in a Neurobiological Era
- *Kathrin Müller* (Kunsthistorisches Institut Florence, Italy, funded by the Kunsthistorisches Institut Florence): Diagram and Ornament in Boethius' "De institutione arithmetica"
- *Winifred Newman* (Harvard University, U.S.A.): History and Philosohpy of Aesthetics, Psychology and Perception
- *Trevor Pearce* (University of Chicago, U.S.A.): Nature as Technology: A Philosophical Investigation of Biomechanics
- *Christopher Plumb* (University of Manchester, U.K.): Exotic Animals in Eighteenth-Century Britain
- Valentina Pugliano (University of Oxford, U.K.): Practical Botanisers and Experienced Observers: Apothecaries and the Study of Nature in Venice and London, 1550–1630
- *Claudia Linhares Sanz* (Universidade Federal Fluminese, Rio de Janeiro, funded by Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst, DAAD): The History of Scientific Photograhpy and Current Historical and Sociological Research on Neuroimages

- *Max Stadler* (Imperial College, London, U.K., as of January 2010 Postdoctoral Fellow in Department III): Assembling Life. Models, the Cell, and the Reformations of Biological Sience, 1920–1960
- *Andrej Svorencik* (Universiteit van Amsterdam, The Netherlands, funded by the VIDI Grant from the Universiteit van Amsterdam): History of Observational Practices in Economics, particularly experimental economics
- *Cecelia Watson* (University of Chicago, U.S.A.): A Historical Treatment of the Artist and Art Critic John La Farge's Impact on William James's Intellectual Development, Considered in the Context of Late-Nineteenth and Early-Twentieth Century Exchanges Between Arts and Sciences
- Anne Ziemke (Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Rostock, Germany, funded by the Max Planck International Research Network on Aging): Aging Research in Nineteenth-Century Biology
- *Rafaela Zorzanelli* (Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, funded by The Brazilian Agency for the Advanced Training of University Personnel, CAPES): The Impact of Neursciences in the Psychosomatic Field

Short-Term Visiting Scholars

- *Gadi Algazi* (Tel Aviv University, Israel): Households of Knowledge: Reshaping the Scholarly Habitus, 1300–1600
- *Kirsti Andersen* (Aarhus University, Denmark, funded by Aarhus University, Denmark): The Early History of Logarithms
- *Mitchell Ash* (University of Vienna, Austria, funded by the University of Vienna): Scientific and Political Changes in Twentieth-Century Germany and Austria, 1918–1933/38, 1945, 1989/90
- *Francesca Bordogna* (Northwestern University, U.S.A.): Magic Pragmatism. Inner Observation and the Quest for Inner Perfection
- *Henk Bos* (Aarhus University, Denmark, and University of Utrecht, The Netherlands): The Early Modern Tradition of Geometrical Problem Solving
- *Robert Brain* (University of British Columbia, Canada): The Pulse of Modernism: Experimental Phonetics and the Invention of Free Verse and All-Sound Performance
- *Jimena Canales* (Harvard University, U.S.A.): Individual Differences in Observation and Reaction
- *Alix Cooper* (Visiting Scholar, State University of New York at Stony Brook, U.S.A., funded by the State University of New York at Stony Brook): Domestic Matters: Family, Household, and the Labors of Observation in Early Modern Europe
- *Elisabeth Decultot* (Centre national de la recherche scientifique, Paris, France, funded by the Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung): Aesthetics and History of Art in the Eighteenth Century (particularly Winckelmann and Sulzer)
- Otniel Dror (The Hebrew University Jerusalem, Israel): The Adrenaline Century

- *Stéphanie Dupouy* (Université Paris I, Institut d'histoire et de philosophie des sciences et des techniques, Paris, France): History of Experimentation in Psychology, Nineteenth and Twentieth Centuries
- *Martha Fleming* (Natural History Museum, London/King's College, London, U.K.): Intermittance and Inspiration: Flicker, Pulse, Scintillate
- *Hannah Ginsborg* (University of California at Berkeley, U.S.A.): Primitive Normativity and Rule-Following
- *Gary Hatfield* (University of Pennsylvania, U.S.A.): Crisis in Psychology; Internal Senses in Descartes; Diagram from Descartes' Dioptrique
- *Harry Liebersohn* (University of Illinois, U.S.A.) Observing the Gift: The Making of a Social Scientific Category
- *Silvia Manzo* (Universidad Nacional de La Plata, Argentina, funded by the National Research Foundation of Argentina, CONICET): Probability and Certainty in Francis Bacon
- *Gordon McOuat* (University of King's College/Dalhousie University, Canada): Rewriting the History of Essentialism: Logic, Kinds, and Place
- *Amos Morris-Reich* (University of Jerusalem, Israel, funded by the Van Leer Foundation, Israel): Race and Humanism: The Epistemology of Arthur Ruppin
- *Kathryn Olesko* (Georgetown University, Washington D.C., U.S.A., funded by Georgetown University): Prussian Precision, 1648–1947
- *Claudia Passos Ferreira* (Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, funded by Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst, DAAD): Moral Psychology. The Impact of the Discovery of Mirror Neurons in Developmental Psychology
- *Dario Perinetti* (Université du Québec, Canada): Moral Certainty and Empirical Knowledge in Early Modern Philosophy
- Sophie Roux (Université Grenoble II, France): Edition of Galileo's Mechaniche
- *Wolfgang Schivelbusch* (Funded by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, DFG): Historicizing Concepts of Air
- *Zur Shalev* (University of Haifa, Israel, funded by the University of Haifa): Learned Travel in the Early Modern Period
- Otto Sibum (Uppsala University, Sweden): Developmental History, Theoretical Cinematographs, and Physicists' Practices of Theorizing Around 1900
- *John Tresch* (University of Pennsylvania, U.S.A.): The Romantic Machine: Technology and Metamorphosis in France, 1820–1851
- *Harriet Ritvo* (Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Boston, U.S.A.): Making Animals Wild
- Roy Wagner (Tel Aviv University, Israel): Semiotics of Mathematical Language
- *Karin Zachmann* (Technische Universität München, Germany): Atomic Food for Peace? Materializing a Radiant Idea in a Transnational Network of Research and Development

Department III

The Axolotl (Ambystoma Axolotl). Alfred Edmund Brehm, *Ilustrirtes Thierleben. Eine allgemeine Kunde des Thierreichs. Fünfter Band. Dritte Abtheilung: Kriechtiere*, Hildburghausen: Bibliographisches Institut, 1869, p. 426.



Department III

Experimental Systems and Spaces of

Knowledge

Director: Hans-Jörg Rheinberger

Introductory Remarks

Department III is headed by Hans-Jörg Rheinberger. Having begun in January 1997, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger's leadership of the department will come to an end in January 2011. During this period a wide range of departmental projects has been accomplished. The disciplinary background of the department's researchers has ranged from the life sciences to psychology, sociology, philosophy, literary history, art history, history of science past and contemporary, technology studies, cultural studies, historical musicology, and history. Projects have covered widely different topics in the history of science, with a focus on the life sciences, stretching from the Early Modern period to the present, and addressing one of four main research topics: first, the history and epistemology of experimentation, more broadly speaking, the material constitution of the research process, including its objects, its instruments, and the spaces in which it is carried out; second, the ways and forms of scientific concept formation, both at the micro level and in the longue durée; third, writing and drawing as basic cultural techniques underlying all scientific activity and assuming different forms throughout history; and fourth, an ongoing reflection of historicity itself. The three current joint projects described below-"Experimentalization of Life," "Cultural History of Heredity," and "Drawing and Writing as Research Techniques"-can be seen as exemplary for the first three sets of research issues respectively; the fourth plays into all of them.

This is the last research report of Department III in its present form. For this reason, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger would like to report briefly below about his own activities with respect to these four research horizons in recent years.

Experimentation

My fascination with the phenomenon of *experimentation* stretches back to my apprenticeship in a molecular biology laboratory. After having explored the historiographical and epistemological potential of the concept of the "experimental system" in a previous account, I have continued to explore the forms of experimentation in the life sciences from the end of the nineteenth to the late-twentieth century. Different



Hans-Jörg Rheinberger



Schematic illustration of the germ line of *Ascaris nigrovenosa* by August Weismann, 1892.

aspects of this work concerned the role of model organisms as research tools, the role new instruments play in shaping experimental systems, and the forms biological research objects assume in relation to these tools and instruments. These investigations appeared in a book published under the title *Epistemologie des Konkreten* (Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp) in 2006. An English version of this volume is forthcoming with Duke University Press.

Concepts

The idea to write a longue durée history of the biological concept of heredity was born in the context of the project entitled "Cultural History of Heredity." This project was initiated by Staffan Müller-Wille. He and I decided to write this study together, proceeding from our shared belief that concepts remain good candidates to organize long-term histories of knowledge. The resulting book-Vererbung. Geschichte und Kultur eines biologischen Konzepts (Frankfurt am Main: Fischer, 2009)-canvasses four centuries, from the early Modern period of European history to the present. It traces how the concept of heredity, originally situated in the legal realm, assumed biological meanings in different areas of knowledge-such as colonial anthropology, medicine, and breeding-toward the end of the eighteenth century; how the concept became a dominant biological category defining a new epistemic space in the context of the rise of evolutionary theories in the course of the nineteenth century; how it condensed into an epistemic object-the gene-that formed the core of the discipline of genetics-first classical, then molecular genetics-during the twentieth century; and finally how the concept is again on the verge of becoming linked to spatial patterns in present-day genomics. The goal of the book is to represent both an epistemic history and the cultural embedding of a scientific concept. An Englishlanguage version of the book will be published by the University of Chicago Press. As an offshoot of this book project, Staffan Müller-Wille and I have also published an essay entitled Das Gen im Zeitalter der Postgenomik: Eine wissenschaftshistorische Bestandsaufnahme (Frankfurt am Main: Fischer, 2009).

Writing

Writing, in the broad sense Jacques Derrida conveyed to this notion, has been a permanent motif in my studies on the history of laboratory life. Starting from the notion of "trace," my aim has been to understand better the generative—not only the representative—power of the primary inscriptions and marks resulting from experimentation, and to follow their subsequent transformations. I think it is here, in the medium of the trace, that histories of science, art, and literature may enter into fruitful interaction. In 2005, I published a number of essays on this topic entitled *Iterationen* (Berlin: Merve). More recently, other essays on the topic have appeared in various exhibition contexts.

Historicity

As regards the history of science, *historicity* comes in two main forms. First, studies such as on heredity and on the gene make clear that even basic concepts—or, more to the point, precisely basic concepts—of any science undergo constant historical change. In other words, they are central because they are "open," i. e., generative, research-enabling concepts. Second, in its engagement with objects, the history of science itself is constantly reshaping its own conceptual and narrative arsenal. Both insights are not completely new, but they call for ongoing reflection. In *Historische Epistemologie zur Einführung* (Hamburg: Junius, 2007), I have sketched the stages of this reflection from the late-nineteenth to the late-twentieth century. Here, I have tried to show that the ways of knowing the sciences are never independent of the changing ways the sciences know their objects. In early 2010, an English-language version of this book appeared with Stanford University Press entitled *On Historicizing Epistemology—An Essay*. With this short digression, let us return to the description of the projects within Department III as a whole.

Detail of the anotated chromosome map of the mouse of 2002.



Chromosome 4

Research Projects

Experimentalization of Life

RESEARCH SCHOLARS Julia Kursell, Henning Schmidgen PREDOCTORAL FELLOWS Christian Reiß, Sandra Pravica, Viola van Beek SHORT-TERM GUEST RESEARCHERS Rand B. Evans, Florian Hoelscher (Pianist in Residence at the MPIWG), Maria Rentetzi, Dimitris Papayannakos, Costas Mannouris

COLLABORATIONS Bauhaus Universität Weimar (Fakultät Medien); Hermann von Helmholtz-Zentrum für Kulturtechnik (Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin); Zentrum für Literatur- und Kulturforschung, Berlin; Freie Universität Berlin (Institut für Deutsche und Niederländische Philologie)

FUNDING VolkswagenStiftung, "Focus on the Humanities" of the Fritz Thyssen Stiftung and the VolkswagenStiftung, German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), IKY State Scholarship Foundation (Greece), and MPIWG

General Description of the Project

"Experimentalization of life" refers to a process that began in Europe around 1800 involving a series of efforts to reconfigure science, art, and technology. After experimental physiology had established itself as one of the leading disciplines of the nineteenth century, psychology, linguistics, and many other disciplines became laboratory-based enterprises. Experimental cultures emerged in a variety of places, as for example in literary movements relying on automatism, procedures of chance, and montage. At the same time, philosophers began to reflect upon the broader implications of this renewed turn to experimentation. In addition, experimental media, such as photography and film, transformed the fine arts *and* the sciences. Entire cities became fields of experience in which people undertook all sorts of experiments in living.

Through a set of interrelated projects we investigate this experimentalization process by focusing on the material culture of instruments, buildings, and supply technologies. By the same token we show that experimentalization is not a one-dimensional process that can be easily equated to "mechanization," "rationalization," or "modernization." Rather, it is a complex and highly distributed development that integrates and differentiates, i. e., configures various aspects of scientific, artistic, and technological activities in ways that allow phenomena of mechanization or modernization to occur.

Experimentalization of Life Individual Projects

Julia Kursell (Research Scholar)

Historical Epistemology of Hearing (1850-2000)

This project investigates key concepts and practices that have contributed to our present understanding of sound, hearing, and music. After 1850, knowledge of acoustics, which had been guided by the symbolic code of music well into the nineteenth century, began to be transformed into an experimental science of hearing. Through research on the history of media and the material culture of experimentation, the aim of this project is to show the understanding of hearing as historically changing, and thereby to contribute to the current reorientation of research in the human sciences that deal with sound, hearing, and music.



The second part of the project, "Experimentalization of Hearing: Moscow 1920–1930," deals with attempts to reconcile the diverging disciplines of aesthetics and scientific investigation into hearing in the early Soviet Union. Part three, "Music and Media After 1945," explores the history of composition from the perspective of media studies. In musical composition of this time, knowledge of the mechanisms of hearing came to be a prerequisite for the creation of music.



Vowel Experiments II: Highest recording speed, May 1916. Cover of a box for a wax cylinder with phonographic recordings made by Carl Stumpf. Ethnologisches Museum Berlin SPK, Phonogramm Archiv.



Julia Kursell



Henning Schmidgen

Henning Schmidgen (Research Scholar) Chronos and Psyche: The History of Physiological and Psychological Time Experiments

In 1850, Hermann von Helmholtz, then based in Königsberg, conducted path-breaking precision measurements on the propagation speed of the nervous impulse in animals and human beings. Following Helmholtz, a considerable number of nineteenthcentury scholars began to study the time individual organisms required to respond to stimuli of all kinds (optical, acoustical, tactile, etc.). Around 1865, two main strands of research were established. While the investigations of scholars such as Albert von Bezold, Gabriel Valentin, Julius Bernstein, and Etienne Jules Marey contributed to defining and demarcating, within physiology, the field of "nerve and muscle physics," time experiments conducted by Franciscus Donders, Wilhelm Wundt, Edward Scripture, Hugo Münsterberg, and Alfred Binet prompted the establishment of "experimental psychology."



Autographic curve of a muscle. Recording of muscle contractions in the frog, made by Hermann Helmholtz in the context of his time experiments. © Académie des Sciences—Institut de

France, Paris. Session of September 1, 1851.

Instead of merely accepting these disciplinary and/or institutional labels, this project argues that these developments can be studied as the history of one experiment, or "research machine," that emerged and evolved over time, while being retooled in sometimes surprising ways. As a consequence, the concrete materiality of experimental set-ups is emphasized, as are the interactions among scientists, model organisms, and instruments that the set-ups entailed, and the technological as well as architectural surroundings that framed these practices. This approach provides the basis for demonstrating that physiological and psychological time experiments formed a network of "research machines" that constituted the backbone of theoretical debates and institutional developments.



Sandra Pravica

Sandra Pravica (Predoctoral Fellow)

Tentative Transgressions. Gaston Bachelard's Experimental Epistemology

This project is concerned with "tentativity" as a philosophical concept. Exploring the works of Gaston Bachelard, it aims at determining an epistemology that is "tentative" or "experimental." During the 1930s, Gaston Bachelard chose experimentation as the key topic for epistemological reflection. It will be demonstrated that he focused on experimentation in a way that renders epistemology "experimental" in itself. Inspired by the upheavals of quantum physics and the theories of relativity in the early-twentieth century, Bachelard relocates traditional problems in the philosophy of science to the

realm of means and instruments of scientific research. In so doing, he accentuates a concept of transgression to which the project will especially attend. His definition will be compared with similar concepts in art, literature, and science of that time. As Bachelard also adopted a broad range of notions from biology, evolutionary theory, experimental psychology, musicology, further conceptual implications in discourse besides philosophy of science will be examined. It will be argued that



Gaston Bachelard. Portrait by Albert Flocon. From André Parinaud, *Gaston Bachelard*, Paris 1996, p. 280 [B. N.-Edimédia.]

Bachelard's approach enables a philosophy that is flexible and "tentative" in the sense that its principles, concepts, and vocabulary are deeply engaged in, and inspired by, the particularities of its objects of reflection. The result is an epistemology that—in comparison to other philosophical approaches of that time—does not offer a fixed and normative corpus of concepts and formalities, but rather admits uncertainties and regional characteristics of the respective domain of scientific knowledge. For this reason, a consideration of the connections between Gaston Bachelard's work and the movement of Logical Empiricism will be of particular interest to this study. Moreover, an historical examination of the epistemological discourse of the 1930s will show that the common view of the formation of a "continental" strand of philosophy on the one hand—and an "analytical" strand on the other—must be reconsidered.



Christian Reiß

(Predoctoral Fellow) The Way into the Laboratory: The Origins and Role of Model Organisms in the Experimental Life Sciences

Beginning in the mid-nineteenth century, experimentation increasingly became the method of choice in physiology and zoology. However, for successful experiments to be conducted, organisms had to be chosen, brought into the laboratory, stabilized, and finally integrated into the experimental setup.

This project argues that this process can neither be considered linear nor entirely driven by scientific rationality. One of the project's key examples is the Mexican axolotl (*Amblystoma mexicanum*), an amphibian nearly extinct in



Christian Reiß

Uses of the Axolotl in Zoology and Experimental Biology. From Hans Przibram, Experimental-Zoologie, Bd. 6: Zoonomie. Eine Zusammenfassung der durch Versuche ermittelten Gesetzmässigkeiten tierischer Formbildung (experimentelle, theoretische und literarische Übersicht bis einschliesslich 1928). Leipzig, Wien: Franz Deuticke, 1929, Table IX. its natural habitat, although it populates aquariums in laboratories, households, and zoos all over the world. Initially brought to Paris in the course of France's colonial activities during the 1860s, curiosity soon turned this organism into a scientific object for studies concerning evolution, ontogeny, and physiology. At about the same time, aquarium fanciers started to adopt the axolotl as one of their most popular "pets." As this project shows, both developments went hand in hand, influencing each other by transfer of knowledge and technology. As a result, the axolotl was turned into a paradigmatic laboratory animal in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Among others, August Weismann and his assistant Marie von Chauvin played an important role in turning the axolotl into a laboratory animal. Taking axolotl's case as a model, the project emphasizes the history of animals in their specificity, tracing their trajectories across disciplines, across the border between science and the public as well as across the great divide between "civilized" and "colonized" countries.



Viola van Beek

Collection of instruments for the playful study of science. From *Haupt-Katalog der Leipziger Lehrmittel-Anstalt von Dr. Oskar Schneider*, ca. 1902, p. 227.

Viola van Beek (Predoctoral Fellow) Codes of Experimenting and Experimental Spaces Around 1900

This project investigated natural science experimentation kits and instruction manuals between 1870 and 1930. During this period, the "experimentalization" of everyday life manifested itself in the revitalization of genres such as the experiment book, the popularization of hands-on experiments in educational institutions (as in the Urania in Berlin), and, above all, the wide-spread use of experimentation kits. These kits, such as physical



cabinets, chemistry sets, and electricity boxes designed for amateurs (and especially for children), began to gain huge popularity in Germany starting in the last third of the nineteenth century. Teaching aid producers and precision mechanics workshops offered mass-produced devices as well as customized kits through teaching materials catalogs and early forms of "mail-order" catalogs. Portable experimentation kits were designed to serve as extensions of classrooms and lecture halls. They illustrate the increased attention granted to experimental practices in general education between 1870 and 1930.

An examination of these objects shows how the miniature laboratories contributed to the creation of experimental spaces beyond the laboratory, in particular by providing specific "codes of experimenting." Through archival material from the Deutsches Museum in Munich and the Kosmos Verlag in Stuttgart, together with evidence in the form of biographies, advertisements, teaching materials, catalogs, reviews, and introductions, this project depicted the ways in which experiments—and especially successful experiments—were supposed to take place around 1900.

Experimentalization of Life Projects of the Short-term Guest Researchers

- *Rand B. Evans* (East Carolina University, Greenville): "Wilhelm Wundt and the Astronomers: Stellar Transits and the Measurement of Prior Entry in the Beginning of Experimental Psychology"
- *Florian Hoelscher* (Hochschule Luzern): "Electro-acoustic Expansions of Piano Sound"
- *Maria Rentetzi* (National Technical University of Athens): "Gender Science and Politics: Queen Frederika and Nuclear Research in Post-war Greece."
- *Dimitris Papayannakos* (University of Athens and National Technical University of Athens): "An Antiskeptical Reconsideration and Defence of Experimental Realism."
- Costas Mannouris (National Technical University of Athens): "Darwin's Eight-Year Study of Barnacles: Rethinking the 'Long Wait."

Experimentalization of Life **The Virtual Laboratory**

(http://vlp.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de)

Department III's Experimentalization project created and continues to use and develop a Virtual Laboratory (VL). Online since 2002, the VL has come to function as a unique archive and research tool for the history of the experimental life sciences during the nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries. Currently, it offers more than 32,000 complete bibliographical references and displays some 10,000 scanned items consisting of about 9,000 journal articles, 520 book chapters, 320 monographs and textbooks, as well as 180 trade catalogues of scientific instruments. In addition, it offers access to some 380 items that were digitized in cooperation with archives and museums, including laboratory notebooks, article manuscripts, letters, graphical recordings, and photographs.

Recently, the VL extended its scope by integrating scientific films and phonographic recordings. In cooperation with institutions such as the Bundesarchiv-Filmarchiv, Berlin, and the Berliner Phonogramm-Archiv, a collection of physiological and medical films covering the span from the 1920s to the 1950s has been included in the collections of the VL, as were numerous wax-cylinder recordings of acoustic experiments from the period 1900 to 1920. Similar projects are underway with the Staatsinstitut für Musikforschung PK, Berlin (library collection on acoustics and instrument making), and the Museum für Naturkunde, Berlin (photograph collection).

The project group continues to enhance the VL's search options. In addition to simple and advanced searches on bibliographical records, the VL offers similar exploration tools for the image database containing some 20,000 fully referenced and captioned drawings, curves, and photographs. The VL also boasts embedded search tools for specific purposes, e.g., the "trend-scout" for statistical analyses of bibliographical references over time. Most recently, the VL has implemented a full-text search tool based on automatic optical character recognition (OCR). This tool allows researchers to search



Main page of the Virtual Laboratory. http://vlp.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/index_html. all scanned text documents by using Boolean operators and term modifiers, i. e., with respect to single words, combined expressions, entire sentences, etc.

Since 2006, the VL has provided users with a new work environment called myLab. The myLab environment allows users to build, manage, and share personal sub-sets of annotated objects found in the VL (bibliographical references, scans of published and/or unpublished texts, short biographies, sites) and beyond. myLab has proven to be an excellent teaching tool, which project members regularly employ in their teaching.

The VL also offers a highly attractive platform for scholarly publication. The VL's essay section enables scholars to publish short articles about the ongoing research work of the Experimentalization project. Articles are linked to other holdings, including short biographies, laboratory descriptions, and instruments in the digital

library and other sections of the VL. External scholars working on related topics and sources have begun to use the publication site, which we intend to develop into a refereed online journal in the near future.

Experimentalization of Life Activities Related to the Project

Workshops and Events

- "ZwischenRäume: Disorders." Workshop organized together with the Media Faculty at Bauhaus University, Weimar, the Helmholtz-Zentrum für Kulturtechnik (HU), the Zentrum für Literatur- und Kulturforschung, and the Institut für Deutsche und Niederländische Philologie (FU). Weimar, July 17, 2009.
- "Physiologie des Klaviers." Concerts and talks, organized by Julia Kursell together with the Musikinstrumenten-Museum SIMPK (2007/2008). Berlin, January 23, March 6, April 9, June 11, 2008, and May 13 and June 10, 2009.
- "Performing Voices: Between Embodiment and Mediation," a conference organized by Julia Kursell (Dept. III) and Andreas Mayer (Dept. II) in collaboration with Martin Brody (American Academy in Rome), Rome, December 3–6, 2009.

Books

- Bernhard J. Dotzler, Henning Schmidgen (eds.), *Parasiten und Sirenen. Zwischenräume als Orte der materiellen Wissensproduktion*, Bielefeld: Transcript Verlag, 2008.
- Henning Schmidgen, *Die Helmholtz-Kurven. Auf der Spur der verlorenen Zeit*, Berlin: Merve, 2009.

Upcoming events

• "The Place of Experiment in Science and Technology Studies—Part II", Berlin, July 2–4, 2010.

→ p. 96

Project

A Cultural History of Heredity

RESEARCH SCHOLARS Christina Brandt, Bernd Gausemeier, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWS Stefan Borchers, Maria Kronfeldner, Vincent Ramillon VISITING SCHOLARS Luis Campos, Edna Suárez

SHORT TERM GUEST RESEARCHERS Adam Bostanci, Jonathan Harwood, Brad Hume, Manfred Laubichler, Pablo Lorenzano, Brendan Matz, Staffan Müller-Wille, Alexander von Schwerin, Sophia Vackimes

COLLABORATIONS ESRC Centre for Genomics in Society, University of Exeter (Staffan Müller-Wille, Christine Hauskeller); Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México—UNAM (Ana Barahona, Carlos López Beltrán); School of Life Sciences at Arizona State University, Tempe (Manfred Laubichler); Center for Literary and Cultural Research, Berlin

FUNDING Government of Liechtenstein, DFG, German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), British Council, British Academy, CONACYT (Mexico), and the MPIWG

General Description of the Project

This project centers on the history of the scientific and technological practices in which knowledge of biological heredity became materially entrenched. The project also seeks to define cultural contexts in which this knowledge unfolded, as well as to trace its effects. Knowledge of heredity is taken here as encompassing much more than the scientific discipline of genetics. Rather, it circumscribes a much broader knowledge regime in which a naturalistic conception of inheritance gradually formed, one that in fact came to influence all areas of modern society, including medical, legal, political, and ethical discourses. The aim of the project is to explore the changing practices, standards, and architectures of this regime, as well as their particular historical conjunctions.

Collaborative and interdisciplinary in nature, the project aims to draw together expertise, besides from the history of science, from other historical disciplines such as the history of medicine, law, economics, art and literature, as well as political history and anthropology. The research group is exploring a variety of case studies, ranging from the history of generation and reproduction from the eighteenth to the twentieth century to developments in molecular biology and biomedicine at the turn of the twenty-first century.

During the last years, a series of four workshops was held, each concentrating on a specific epoch in the cultural history of heredity. Covering the period from the seventeenth through the early-twentieth century, these workshops facilitated a lively and growing cooperation of international scholars who constantly contributed to the joint

project of writing a cultural history of heredity from a long-term perspective. Results of the first two of these workshops were presented in the essay collection entitled *Heredity Produced. At the Crossroads of Biology, Politics, and Culture, 1500–1870* (Cambridge, MIT Press, 2007). A second volume, based on the last two workshops, is currently in preparation (*Heredity Explored: Between Public Domain and Experimental Science, 1850–1930*). The project will be concluded in the fall of 2010 with a workshop on the history of human heredity in the twentieth century.

A Cultural History of Heredity Individual Projects



Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG, Director) and Staffan Müller-Wille (Senior Lecturer, Exeter)
Heredity. History and Culture of a Biological Concept and
The Gene in the Age of Postgenomics. An Essay
Both book projects have been concluded in 2009. A brief description has been provided in the introductory remarks of the Department's report.

Staffan Müller-Wille



Christina Brandt

Christina Brandt (Research Scholar)

Reproduction in Biology. Configurations between Science and Culture, 1900–2000 Biomedical research on reproduction and research on related topics such as stem cell research are rapidly developing scientific fields with controversial impacts on society and culture. In this project, Christina Brandt explores the fundamental role reproduction played, both as a subject of study as well as an experimental technique, in the life sciences of the twentieth century. The study addresses the emergence and changing techniques of reproduction as well as their uses in different fields of the life sciences. "Reproduction" relates to different ways of propagation and multiplication, and it also refers to ways of making things similar or identical. In the latter sense, reproduction means "replication" and has a bearing on molecular copying and cloning techniques. This historical investigation is concerned with research fields in which reproduction



Photographic representation of one of the first cloning experiments (via transplantation of cell nuclei) with frogs in the 1950s (T. King, R. Briggs: Serial transplantation of embryonic nuclei, *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology* 21 (1956), p. 271–290). techniques (from artificial propagation to copying) were developed on the level of molecules, cells, and organisms. By exploring a number of case studies, the focus is on (1) the origin of cloning as a technical tool at the beginning of the twentieth century; (2) the history of cell biology (the emergence and reproduction of cell lines); (3) molecular biology and genetic engineering (the notion of replication and molecular copying techniques); and (4) cloning research in developmental biology and embryo research. A particular line of research concentrates on the public debates on human cloning and artificial reproduction beginning in the 1960s.

Bernd Gausemeier (Research Scholar)

Genealogy and Human Heredity from the Eighteenth to the Early-Twentieth Century

Knowledge about heredity is dependent on genealogical practices. The methodical investigation of heredity in a biological sense began with reports on families transmitting remarkable diseases or peculiarities, hospitals collecting patients' histories, and herd books kept by animal breeders. The project aims to investigate how these practices evolved, how they influenced each other, and, in particular, how they shaped concepts of heredity. Genealogy, however, does not merely consist of the application of techniques to record familial relations. In a wider sense, it forms a discursive field in which ideas about kinship, descent, reproduction, and social order are formulated



and disputed. By taking into account both the material and the discursive aspect of genealogy, it is possible to view the history of human heredity in the broader context of social, intellectual, and institutional changes.

The project follows the interrelated histories of genealogy and human heredity. It begins in the eighteenth century, when genealogy was developing from a



Bernd Gausemeier

"Familienkarte" für den ärztlichen Gebrauch, nach: Arthur Crzellitzer, Wie vererben sich Augenleiden? Mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Frage einer Verschiedenheit zwischen Erstgeburt und folgenden Kindern, Medizinische Reform 18 (1910), 120–124, 134–139, p. 121.

way of representing social status to a method for illustrating vital phenomena. During the nineteenth century, systematic attempts emerged to investigate the regularities of human heredity and reproduction. In the early-twentieth century, a science of heredity took shape. This science was based on new forms of genealogical practice. In the end, it also profoundly changed our understanding of genealogical relations.

Stefan Borchers (Karl Schädler Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

Propagation of the Soul—Inheritance of the Sin

Stefan Borchers explores the influence of religious confession in shaping theories of generation and inheritance in eighteenth-century Lutheran Germany. Although the importance of theological thought is widely neglected in the historiography of biology, religious confession has to be considered as a central reference point for early

modern thought on generation and heredity. In regard to the question of how the embryo is formed, the emerging life sciences were accompanied by a parallel discourse on the soul's origin. Due to the fact that this discourse related the origination of body and soul with one another, physiological and metaphysical investigations were intertwined, sometimes limiting one another.



In the course of the seventeenth century, the problem of the soul's origin had become a subject of controversy between Lutheran and Catholic and Reformed theologians. The Lutheran doctrine amalgamated both physiology and the metaphysics of generation, teaching that parents engender both the body and the soul of their offspring. This doctrine made it problematic, if

not impossible, for Lutheran physicians and philosophers at the turn of the century to adopt preformation as enthusiastically as their Catholic and Reformed contemporaries. They, by way of contrast, embraced the dogma that parents only engender the body of their offspring, whereas ensoulment was to be regarded as God's own business (creationism). Yet orthodox Lutheran theologians opposed creationism, holding that the assumption of a continuous propagation of human souls since the times of Adam and Eve (traducianism) was the only possible way in which the inheritance of original sin could be properly understood. As God could not be accused of creating sinful souls, they argued that the offspring's soul was an offshoot (tradux) of the sinful parental soul (or souls). The Lutheran model of traducianism formed part of a non-dualistic anthropology that remained influential until at least the end of the eighteenth century. In this sense, religious confession reveals itself as a factor of longue durée for any cultural history of biology.



Maria Kronfeldner

Maria Kronfeldner (Karl Schädler Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

The Anthropological Concept of Culture in the Context of Evolutionary Debates After an analysis of the conceptual landscape surrounding culture and evolution in the nineteenth century, the project concentrated on the emergence of the modern anthropological concept of culture between 1883 and 1917. This concept relies heavily on a sharp distinction between cultural and biological heredity. The establishment of this distinction depended on the denial of the Lamarckian idea of inheritance of acquired characteristics. August Weismann and Alfred Kroeber were two central figures in this conceptual "segregation" of culture from nature. The historical material was also used for the analysis of contemporary debates on evolutionary psychology, theories of cultural evolution, and the nature/nurture distinction.

Res cogitans or res extensa? In Johann Amos Comenius's famous "Orbis sensualium pictus" (1658), the human soul is depicted as being spread throughout the whole body. "Anima hominis/Die Seele des Menschen." Woodcut by Paul Creutzberger in Johann Amos Comenius: Orbis sensualium pictus/ Die sichtbare Welt. Nürnberg: Endter, 1658 (Reprint ed. by Johannes Kühnel, Leipzig: Klinkhardt, 1910).

Vincent Ramillon (Postdoctoral Research Fellow) Norms and Practices in Genomic Research, ca. 1985–2003

This project seeks a better understanding of genomics from a historical perspective. Focusing on the material practices of this field of research, it attempts to articulate their evolution with reference to the transformations of the social and epistemic norms regulating biomedical activities during the late-twentieth century.

The history of genomics is characterized by the progressive differentiation of a managerial rationality and associated governmental practices in the institutions involved in genome mapping and sequencing or related technological and resource developments. The introduction of these managerial practices into the laboratories has led to various negotiations affecting the social, technical, and epistemic dimensions of sequencing. The use of Expressed Sequencing Tags to create gene indexes, one of



the most important applications of sequencing techniques in the 1990s, originated in the use of automata and the subsequent re-organization of sequencing procedures. The same concerns led to the emergence of factory-like production centers and to networks of laboratories as the two archetypal organizational models in genomic projects. Moreover, this managerial rationality constituted a shared language between scientific and non-scientific institutions that proved instrumental in fostering the development of companies whose business model was based primarily on the mass production of sequences. Finally, the transfer of mass production practices from sequencing to

other experimental procedures has played a critical role in the experimental and theoretical reconfigurations of molecular genetics during the second half of the 1990s, known first as the "post-genomic" and "functional genomic" turn, later theorized under the unifying label of "systems biology."



Vincent Ramillon

Cover Nature, 15 February 2001



Luis Campos (Visiting Scholar, Drew University) Synthetic Biology

Luis Campos worked on the history of the newlyemerging field of synthetic biology, an epistemologically provocative disciplinary mixture of engineering, computer science, molecular biology, and artificial life that seeks to redesign living systems to accomplish human-desired functions. This attempt at a "plug-and-play" biology, characterized by an "open source" ethos as regards matters of intellectual property, has been claimed by some to be based on standardized biological parts with the goal of "making biology easier to engineer" and in ways that far supersede the



Luis Campos

"Extreme Genetic Engineering": Front cover of a January 2007 report on synthetic biology issued by the ETC Group, a civil society organization based in Canada. The full report is available online at http://www.etcgroup.org/en/node/602



A leaflet distributed by a synthetic biology group at Cambridge University, with a phrase attributed to MIT's Tom Knight, a founding figure in synthetic biology (2007)

so-called genetic engineering of earlier generations.

In the first part of his project, Campos explored the "prehistory" of synthetic biology, relating the claims and aims of this newest of fields to institutional and disciplinary forebears and to deeper, longer-lasting themes in the history of biology in the early-twentieth century. These

include: using synthesis as an experimental tool; the idea of control as proof of understanding; and the application of principles of design and modularity to biological phenomena. In the second part of his project, he traced the evolution of synthetic biology as it has appeared in scientific publications, popular science news articles, public talks, and conferences and workshops from 2002 to the present, including both bibliographic and ethnographic data. Finally, Campos seeked to characterize the development of newly emerging competing "schools of thought" within the field of synthetic biology, particularly following its internationalization. During his time at the institute, he observed the novel formation of a distinctively "European" interpretation of synthetic biology. Campos' project not only uncovered important historical connections, but also revealed the contemporary ways in which natural, engineered, and social orders are being co-produced.



Edna Suárez

Edna Suárez (Visiting Scholar, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México) **Representation and the Construction of Knowledge in Molecular Evolution**

The aim of this project was to cover the production and representation of knowledge in the field of molecular evolution, from its beginnings in the early 1960s to the rise of bioinformatics and comparative genomics in the 1990s. The analysis took place at three different levels.

At the micro-level, molecular evolution offers a place to investigate the role of experiments and techniques in different scientific traditions and the ways in which they are connected with specific practices of representation. The goal was to extend a previous study on the uses of nucleic acid hybridization, to cover the role of electrophoresis in theoretical population genetics, and the effects of protein and DNA sequencing on the construction of phylogenies and comparative genomics.

At the disciplinary level, the project aimed to offer an account of how the idea of informational molecules came to provide a powerful rhetoric for a new style of evolutionary studies. By developing a new vocabulary, scientists such as Emile Zuckerkandl, Walter Fitch, Roy Britten, and others helped to create a technical, social, and political frontier between the new molecular evolutionists and the "old" organismal evolutionists.

At a transdisciplinary level, as molecular evolution has been constitutive in the development of the bioinformatics revolution, the historiography of genomics must be broadened to include the role of evolutionary approaches and tools. The elaboration of the first computer programs as early as 1966 for the construction of trees based on molecular data and the first databases on proteins as early as the mid-1960s illustrate this point. The project included a study of the symbiosis between computer technology, bioinformatics, and genomics as a result of the Human Genome Project.

At all three levels, Suárez has detected important historical continuities. Such continuities arise around the study of human evolution and variation across the twentieth century. This insight has opened a wide range of collaborations with other scholars at the MPIWG and abroad.



Catalytic control of an enzyme by the last product of its activity. MON.Bio. 18, Dossier 9.2, Lectures on physiology and bacteria genetics, 1957, Humorous illustration of these lectures by a series of drawings by F. Lavallé, Legends by Georges Cohen (Institut Pasteur, Paris, France)

A Cultural History of Heredity Projects of the Short-term Guest Researchers

- *Adam Bostanci* (Hughes Hall, University of Cambridge): "The Human Genome: A Study of Something We All Partake in."
- *Jonathan Harwood* (Centre for the History of Science, Technology & Medicine, University of Manchester): "History of Plant-Breeding."
- Brad Hume (Independent Scholar): "Heredity and the Temporality of the Body."
- *Brendan Matz* (Yale University, New Haven): "Animal Breeding and the Study of Heredity in Germany and the United States, 1850–1929."
- *Staffan Müller-Wille* (ESRC Centre for Genomics in Society at the University of Exeter): "The Dark Side of Evolution: Caprice, Deceit, Redundancy."
- *Manfred Laubichler* (School of Life Sciences, Arizona State University, Tempe): "Regulation and the Origin of Theoretical Biology."
- *Pablo Lorenzano* (National University of Quilmes/Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas): "Theoretical Incommensurability and Empirical Comparability in the History of Genetics."
- *Alexander von Schwerin* (Technical University of Braunschweig): "Making Mutations: Objects, Practices, Contexts."
- *Sophia Vackimes* (Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México): "Genetic Engineering in Cinema."

A Cultural History of Heredity Activities Related to the Project

Research Collaborations

The project has engaged in research collaborations with the ESRC Center for Genomics in Society (Egenis), Exeter, and the National University of Mexico City (UNAM). Three organizations funded these research collaborations: the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), the British Council, and the Mexican CONACYT.

1 Reproducing Organisms: A Comparative Analysis of Historical, Social, and Philosophical Aspects in Twentieth Century Biomedicine

(DAAD/British Council, July 2008–June 2010)

This ongoing joint project aims at a historical and philosophical investigation of central concepts in biomedicine and their cultural embeddedness. Taking the concept of "reproduction" as its focal point, the project explores different dimensions of the scientific, medical, and cultural practices connected to reproduction across the twentieth century. The goal is a better understanding of both the complex history as well as present developments in artificial reproductive technologies (ART) in the fields of agriculture and medicine. It also explores the ethical dilemmas surrounding this subject.

The collaboration allowed visiting scholars and PhD students from the MPIWG to stay in Exeter (Christina Brandt, Bernd Gausemeier, Mathias Grote, Maria Kronfeldner, and Florence Vienne from the Technical University of Braunschweig). It also made possible short stays of scholars from Exeter at the MPIWG (Christine Hauskeller, Jean Harrington, Sabina Leonelli, Marco Liverani, and Staffan Müller-Wille), as well as a one-day workshop in Exeter in April 2009. A second workshop was held in Berlin in May 2010.

2 Evolution and Heredity: Genetics and Epigenetics

(DAAD/CONACYT, January 2007-December 2009).

This project's objective was to forge a close cooperation between the two research groups at the MPIWG and UNAM concerned with the history, philosophy, and sociology of heredity and evolutionary thinking from the second half of the nineteenth century up to the present time. The project aimed at a collective analysis of modern naturalistic thinking about nature, man, and society and at a study of cultural, national, and local differences.

The project enabled a group of highly motivated doctoral and postdoctoral students to participate in the exchange program. From 2007 to 2009, a number of German scholars (Maria Kronfeldner, Christina Brandt, Christian Reiß, and Mathias Grote from the MPIWG, Stefan Willer and Ulrike Vedder from the Berlin Zentrum für Literatur- und Kulturforschung) traveled to Mexico City for research stays of three to four weeks at the UNAM campus. Mexican scholars (Ana Barahona, Sergio Martínez, Edna Suárez) and three Mexican PhD students (Erika Torrens, Vivette García, and Fabrizzio Guerrero) traveled to Berlin for research on their dissertation topics. As a result of this collaborative research, an international workshop on "The Hereditary Hourglass" took place at the UNAM in October 2008. An international conference on the bicentenary of Charles Darwin was organized jointly with the Colegio Nacional de Mexico in November 2009 in Mexico City.

Workshops

- "History of Plant-Breeding Since 1880," March 28–29, 2008, organized by Jonathan Harwood and Staffan Müller-Wille.
- "Graphing Genes, Cells, and Embryos: Cultures of Seeing 3D and Beyond," June 12–15, 2008, organized by Sabine Brauckmann, Tartu University; Christina Brandt, MPIWG; Denis Thieffry, University of Marseille; and Gerd B. Müller, Konrad Lorenz Institute, Altenberg.
- "The Hereditary Hourglass. Narrowing and Expanding the Domain of Heredity," National University of Mexico City (UNAM), October, 1–2, 2008, organized by Ana Barahona, Edna Suárez, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger.
- "Writing the History of Genomics," October 29 November 1, 2008, organized by Edna Suárez and Vincent Ramillon.
- "Making Mutations: Objects, Practices, Contexts," January 13–15, 2009, organized by Luis Campos and Alexander von Schwerin.
- "The Tenacity of the Nature/Nurture Divide," March 20–21, 2009, organized by Maria Kronfeldner and Carlos López Beltrán.
- "Darwin in Latin America" and "Darwin: The Art of Doing Science," National University of Mexico City (UNAM) and El Colegio Nacional de México, November, 12–19, 2009, organized by José Sarukhán, Rodolfo Dirzo, Ana Barahona, Edna Suárez, Carlos López Beltrán, Sergio Martínez, and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger.

Books

- Staffan Müller-Wille and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (eds.), *Heredity Produced: At the Crossroads of Biology, Politics, and Culture, 1500–1870, Cambridge: MIT Press, 2007.*
- Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, Staffan Müller-Wille: Vererbung. Geschichte und Kultur eines biologischen Konzepts, Frankfurt: Fischer Verlag, 2009.
- Staffan Müller-Wille, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, *Das Gen im Zeitalter der Postgenomik. Eine wissenschaftshistorische Bestandsaufnahme*, Frankfurt: Suhrkamp, 2009.
- Florence Vienne, Christina Brandt (eds.), Wissensobjekt Mensch. Humanwissenschaftliche Praktiken im 20. Jahrhundert, Berlin: Kadmos Verlag, 2008.

Upcoming events

• "Human Heredity in the Twentieth Century," Workshop, Exeter, September 2–4, 2010, organized by Staffan Müller-Wille, Bernd Gausemeier, Ed Ramsden.

Project

Knowledge in the Making.

Drawing and Writing as Research Techniques

RESEARCH SCHOLARS Christoph Hoffmann, Barbara Wittmann POSTDOCTORAL RESEARCH FELLOWS Karin Krauthausen, Christof Windgätter, Stephan Kammer (associated; funded by the DFG) SHORT-TERM GUEST RESEARCHERS Claudia Mareis, Nina Samuel, Barbara Wurm COLLABORATION Research Group at the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florenz: Omar W. Nasim, Jutta Voorhoeve RESEARCH NETWORK Yale University (Rüdiger Campe); Freie Universität Berlin (Werner Kogge); Technische Universität Berlin (Cornelia Ortlieb); Universität Wien (Wolfram Pichler and Wolfgang Pircher). FUNDING Fritz Thyssen Stiftung, Max Planck Society (Strategic Innovation Fund),

and the MPIWG

General Description of the Project

"Knowledge in the Making" is an inter-institutional research initiative of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science in Berlin and the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florence (Max Planck Institute). The research project started in the fall of 2006 and will conclude in 2010. The two working groups in Berlin and Florence comprise seven individual research projects. The main focus of the Florentine group is on the aesthetic and epistemic aspects of drawing in the modern arts and sciences (1850 – 2000). Exemplary studies deal with "Constructing the Heavens. Drawings of Nebulae in Victorian Science" (Omar W. Nasim; he was a member of the Berlin group until March 2008) and "Drawing in Contemporary Art: Notation, Expression, and Experiment" (Jutta Voorhoeve). For further details, see the report of the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florence.

Like the Florentine part of the project, the Berlin working group takes as a starting point the manifold forms of "paper work" in the arts and sciences. Apparently unsophisticated, though ubiquitous, drawing and writing techniques play a constitutive role in the creation and reworking of knowledge. The interaction of hand, paper, and pen involves much more than simply recording what was previously thought, observed, or imagined. Writing and drawing both have the power to *translate* ideas and observations into two-dimensional, manageable, and reproducible objects. That is, they *concretize* cognitive processes, and in this way open up an interaction between the securing of phenomena and the formation of theses—between conception and realization. In fact, the activities of writing and drawing constitute one of the most critical steps in epistemic and aesthetic processes: the step from (potentially) ambiguous data to stable facts, and from preliminary, provisional ideas to materialized products.

Following the recent discussion on representational practices, the research initiative analyzes the potential of drawing and writing techniques in three main respects. First, they rely on a certain *setting* in which materials, human bodies, and sign systems become interrelated. In such settings, every element is dependent on the other, and all become effective as specific constraints, limiting and shaping the final result. Critical for evaluating the productive effects of drawing and writing processes is, second, the order of operations, which organize drawing and writing activities. Such *procedures* lead to some characteristic formation of the processed object. Finally the members of the research group are interested in the *languages* of inscription, i. e., sign systems which come into play in aesthetic and epistemic processes. In particular, the different projects focus on the creative power of representational modes which subvert and transcend the divide between drawing and writing, either by syntactically combining them or by blurring the differences as for instance in doodles and scribbles.

In addition to an internal perspective on the settings, procedures, and languages of drawing and writing, the research initiative follows the specific function of these tools of knowledge within the technologically advanced, abstract cultures of modern science and art. The target period (1800 to 2000) witnessed an intense competition between "old" and "new" media. The project therefore examines the tension between handwriting and drawing on the one hand and mechanical, photographic, and digital recording technologies on the other. An analysis of the various forms of their interaction opens up new perspectives on the relative potential of writing and drawing under the shifting technological conditions of modernity. Moreover, with the reconstruction of epistemic and aesthetic processes, the focus of the project highlights the underlying "techniques of creativity" which the cultures of scientific research and artistic practice share.

Knowledge in the Making Individual Projects

Christoph Hoffmann (Research Scholar)

Epistemic Writings

Writing practices in science implement procedures, i.e., an order of operations, which in a temporal sequence translates into a spatial arrangement of traces. The specific procedures can vary in their degree of complexity. They may be highly idio-syncratic or entirely standardized. They may follow implicit rules or can become the subject of explicit exercise. In any event, procedures are dependent on the context and flexible in their use. Paying attention to the procedures can allow one to identify and characterize ways in which writing processes unfold instrumentality. For example, autopsy reports in pathology result from a highly regulated practice. The writing of the record structures both the course of dissection and the observations of the dissector. The right way of describing was (and still is) part of the regular academic training.



Christoph Hoffmann



Scheme proposed for recording the findings of the dissection of the brain (1888). Sigmund Exner: Schablone des menschlichen Gehirns zur Eintragung von Sectionsbefunden, Wien: W. Braumüller, 1888.

The settings for recording—note taking by hand, dictation, voice recording, usage of forms—is a matter of constant attention and innovation.

The recording regime in pathology is clearly due to the fact that the "paper body" of the autopsy report serves as a working document and genuine basis of knowledge production. A very similar function can be attributed to the observational notes of the biologist Karl von Frisch. In his research on the communication of honey bees, the records of field experiments represent only one step in a chain of operations. Underlinings and additional numberings point to the fact that von Frisch systematically archived his notes. Yearly compilations served both as an index for the records and as an overview of completed research. Frisch organized his reading notes in a similar manner. Series of booklets, each dedicated to a single theme, were filled with excerpts and sometimes comments. A separate index permitted a search for particular authors.

The physicist and philosopher of science, Ernst Mach, adhered to the opposite habit. Mach kept only one notebook, which covered almost every facet of his scientific life (and sometimes as well of his private affairs)—with one notable exception: primary recordings of experimental data and reading notes are almost absent. Mach's notebooks represent less of a recording aid than a tool for management and, in the context of research, a space of reworking. Mach's favorite means for ordering and relating phenomena and ideas were lists and combinations of writing and drawing. In addition, the notebooks provide an example for the instrumentality of the temporal sequence of writing in itself: sometimes, in early stages of concept formation, Mach jotted down series of notes exploring a certain problem. It appears in this respect that his train of thought developed from note to note, so that each time the preceding note became the starting point for his subsequent thoughts.

Barbara Wittmann (Research Scholar) Meaningful Scribbles. Children's Drawings as Psychological Instruments, 1880–1950

The institutionalization of child psychology around 1900 was accompanied by techniques of observation and experiment that separated scientific attention from the education and everyday care of children. The experimental application and interpretation of children's drawings became one of those techniques. Prior to 1880, children's drawings were seen as mere scribbles, and not considered to be of any aesthetic or heuristic value. Psychologists and psychoanalysts such as James Mark Baldwin, James Sully, William Stern, Karl Bühler, Melanie Klein, and Jean Piaget changed this, considering drawings to be a major diagnostic device in the investigation of children. Like children's play and their stories, the "artistic production" was (and still is) believed to reveal sensomotoric functions and spatial perceptions, to give proof of children's intelligence and social development, and to document or even change their psychic disposition and etiology.

The emergence of children's drawings as psychological tools was supported by different kinds of methods, techniques, and tests that were developed to interpret what previously had been considered "meaningless." These interpretative practices had to control the dynamics of drawing and the transference between the child and the scientist. The experimental set-ups and tests framed and stabilized the scribbles: certain qualities of children's drawings were isolated; single gestures and motifs were repeated again and again. In this way, psychology began to conceive children's drawings as a more or less orderly process through which the visualization of irregular psychic symptoms and dysfunctions was enabled. Children's drawings were embedded and

transformed into a calculated procedure that allowed the scientist to be surprised by unexpected phenomena.

The operationalization of children's drawings in psychology is certainly a special case in the history of drawing as a scientific instrument. Whereas all other kinds of scientific inscriptions are produced by scientists or commissioned artists, children's drawings can only be made by the scientific object itself. Still, the drawings produced in experimental and diagnostic contexts should not be considered as immediate "self-portraits" as they do not contribute to the constitution of subjectivity directly, but rather to its mediation and objectification. Thus,





Barbara Wittmann

"Die Olle ist wütend". Drawing from the analysis of a six year old child ("Erna") with explanations of Melanie Klein, 1925. Wellcome Trust, London, Melanie Klein papers, file PP/KLE/B.25. the historical reconstruction of the experimentalization of children's drawings around 1900 promises to illuminate the practices and methods through which an everyday activity was transformed into a research technique and how it shifted between these functions.



Karin Krauthausen

Karin Krauthausen (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

Valéry's Cahiers (1894–1945)—Drawing and Writing as a Practice of Thought. The influence of the French author and poet Paul Valéry extends far beyond literature. His writings concern issues and discoveries in the arts and natural sciences and reflect on political developments and historical events. Valéry's intellectual agility is most apparent, however, in the 261 notebooks that he left behind, the *Cahiers*, in which he ceaselessly fashioned new connections between different spheres of knowledge. As one leafs through these notebooks, one is astounded by the dense and varied interweaving of text fragments, drawings, and formulas. The writing is not ordered on the page in a purely sequential way, but is rather inserted all at once and with overlaps; it is distinguished by different "formats," such as lists, philosophical or scientific aperçus, analytical passages, literary fragments, and comments on the drawings. Explanatory sketches alternate with associative, draftsmanlike designs and geometric diagrams. And amidst all this are doodles—stickmen, spirals, and fields of lines.

The interweaving does not result in disorder, and thus Valéry's notebooks reveal themselves again and again as a place for the appropriation of knowledge from the sciences (mainly mathematics and physics). The formulas and scientific drawings evince an imitation of, and a self-immersion in, conventions of thought and illustration from the sciences, and this especially in the first years of the *Cahiers*. But, bit by bit, what was appropriated is transformed, becoming a writing and drawing practice of its own. My research focuses on this practice, which oscillates between conventional application and personal appropriation, thereby unfolding a productive potential.

de horhail be Monsian un tel of took acqu'il paroit Tallecon & I have ag li, por chios her gate Vienin De L class to al be m a barrent

Valéry's writing and drawing practice generates a technique of innovation and creation that undermines the disciplinary or epistemological sorting in science and art.

Page of Paul Valéry's Cahier 'Journal de bord'. Madame Boivin-Champeaux, Bibliothèque nationale de France. *Stephan Kammer* (Postdoctoral Research Fellow; associate, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft)

Strokes and Expressions. The History of Graphological Knowledge (1750–1950) The basic idea of graphological knowledge is a rather simple one: by the strokes of his pen, man records significant evidence revealing the secrets of his character and true nature. Thus, reliable anthropological knowledge results not from written utterances and their propositions—subjects of manifold skills of manipulation—, but instead from the unmistakable traces of one's hand.

Writing was first designed to be a self-recording system of human individuality in the context of Johann Caspar Lavater's sensational Essays on Physiognomy (Physiognomische Fragmente, zur Beförderung der Menschenkenntnis und Menschenliebe, 4 vol., 1775–1778). The evaluation of these traces obtains its methodical routine as well as its name (i. e. graphology) in the second half of nineteenth century. Despite its connections to *fin-de-siècle* psychology, psychiatry, and criminology (which focuses on writing beyond these physiognomic pretensions), graphology remains a controversial, if not dubious part of anthropology. Even its supporters soon split into at least two parties disputing the scope of graphological knowledge. Whereas "minimalists" were inclined to limit it to the identification of individuals from the strokes of their pen (e. g. in forensic graphology), "maximalists" tended to claim a complete interpretation of individual personality, considering the traces of writing as expressions of character.



Psyche's writing. Illustration Louis Moe, from Karl Gjellerup's novel Das Briefcouvert. Studie eines Graphologen, Berlin: S. Fischer 1898, p. 85.

Nonetheless, or perhaps precisely because of this discord, the history of graphological knowledge can be regarded as a model of the genealogy of modern anthropology. Oscillating between the concepts of individuality and subjectivity, between the competences of physical/psychological and cultural anthropology, between the effects of the *dispositif* of literacy and those of corporeality, graphology covers the complete area in which scientific and cultural knowledge of man has been produced across the past three centuries.



Stephan Kammer



Christof Windgätter

Christof Windgätter (Postdoctoral Research Fellow) **Typography of Knowledge. The Layout Policy of the Internationaler Psychoanalytischer Verlag (1919–1938)**

In our culture, the production, distribution and evaluation of printed texts remain a central aspect of science. Despite new technologies, a major part of our scientific memory is managed, reworked, and handed down in the form of printed matter. Against this background, the project focused on layout strategies as a missing subject in the history of science. Its aim was to examine the epistemic function of the design tools of print. The basic assumption is that books are neither merely reading objects nor just the expression of an author's intentions. Rather, the graphic reality of printed texts influences and guides what can be understood through the act of reading.

The particular perspective of this project was directed toward the Internationaler Psychoanalytischer Verlag (IPV). Founded in 1919 in Vienna by a group around Sigmund Freud, the IPV was shut down in 1938 by the Nazis. The IPV published all the titles of the contemporary psychoanalytical movement—Freud's books starting in 1920, the first psychoanalytical dictionaries, the *Almanach*, the four leading journals, as well as the first edition of Freud's collected writings.

To investigate the IPV layout strategies, six areas of study were considered, which together aimed at an *epistemology of the IPV* and demonstrate that it introduced the practice of *corporate design* in the field of scientific publishing. The areas of study included the following: (1) The chronology of the IPV's business affairs. (2) The naming politics of the IPV. (3) The logo of the IPV, the Oedipus Vignette. (4) The color of the IPV books and journals, which, starting in 1924/25, were produced in yellow bindings or covers. (5) The typography of the books, for which the "Cochin" font was often conspicuously used. (6) The appearance of the shop windows for which the IPV books and journals were produced, ultimately represented the fundamental changes in product display around 1900.



Ödipus Vignette of the Internationaler Psychoanalytischer Verlag. Collection Philippe Helaers.
Knowledge in the Making Projects of Short-Term Guest Researchers

- *Claudia Mareis* (Kunsthochschule Bern): "Interferences between Discourses of Design and Knowledge."
- Nina Samuel (NCCR Iconic Criticism, Basel/Humboldt University Berlin): "Shaping Chaos. Otto Rössler's Drawings."
- Barbara Wurm (Internationales Forschungszentrum Kulturwissenschaften (IFK) Wien): "Beyond the Film Strip. Numerical-graphical Notation Procedures of the Medium Film."

Knowledge in the Making Activities Related to the Project

Workshops

- *"Logik des Verfahrens*," Wissenschaftskolleg zu Berlin, March 19, 2008.
- *Nachlese/Afterthoughts* 2: "Schreibszenen"/"Writing Scenes" (with Rüdiger Campe, Yale University), MPIWG Berlin, June 10, 2008.
- *Nachlese/Afterthoughts* 3: "Kritzel und Schnipsel"/"Scrips and Scribbles" (with Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, MPIWG, Berlin), Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florenz — Max Planck Institute, Florence, July 17, 2008.
- Materialprobe 3: "Notes Sketches Scribbles: Writing and Drawing as Creative Tools," Yale University, New Haven, November 13–15, 2008.
- *"Wissen im Druck. Zur Epistemologie der Buchgestaltung zwischen 1850 und 1950,"* MPIWG Berlin, December 12, 2008.
- *Nachlese/Afterthoughts* 4: "Erschriebene Denkräume" (with Werner Kogge, Freie Universität, Berlin), MPIWG Berlin, June 19, 2009.
- Materialprobe 4: "Die Materialität der Konstruktion. Graphische Verfahren der Welterzeugung," Universität Wien, November 12–13, 2009.

Books

- Christoph Hoffmann (ed.), *Daten sichern. Schreiben und Zeichnen als Verfahren der Aufzeichnung* (= Wissen im Entwurf 1), Zürich/Berlin: Diaphanes, 2008.
- Barbara Wittmann (ed.), Spuren erzeugen. Schreiben und Zeichnen als Verfahren der Selbstaufzeichnung (= Wissen im Entwurf 2), Zürich/Berlin: Diaphanes, 2009.

Upcoming events

• Workshop "Paperwork: Writing (in) Books, 1650–1850," MPIWG Berlin, June 17, 2010.





Additional Departmental Projects

Senior Researchers



Hans Erich Bödeker

Hans Erich Bödeker (Research Scholar)

The Emergence of the Modern Social and Human Sciences

Hans Erich Bödeker's research on the emergence of the modern social and human sciences focuses on the analysis of the Enlightenment epistemic culture. He inquires into the Enlightenment concept of science (*Gelehrsamkeit, Wissenschaft*). In terms of ideal types, science in the eighteenth century gradually became transformed from compilation to research. For this investigation, Bödeker consciously chose a conceptual history approach, intending to demonstrate its significance in the history of science. At the same time, he explores both relations between the history of metaphors and the history of concepts, as well as the feasibility of a comparative history of concepts. His exploration of the Enlightenment epistemic culture also considers the reciprocity between the concept of science and related scholarly practices such as reading, taking notes, authorization, as well as the varying modes of getting scholarly results published. The interrelations between natural history, anthropology, and history, a crucial issue of eighteenth century human sciences, is at the heart of his research.



Ursula Klein

Ursula Klein (Research Scholar)

Technoscience avant la lettre – Science and Technology in Prussia

The systematic and stable interconnection of both scientific and technological inquiry into a "technoscience" is usually considered to be the outcome of the twentieth century, with forerunners in the second half of the nineteenth century. This project studies comparatively stable intersections of learned inquiries into nature and technological innovation in a much earlier period, namely from the eighteenth to the mid-nineteenth century. In laboratories, innovative workshops, and specialist market places of that period, artisanal skill and technical competence were combined with learned



The large laboratory of the Berlin Royal "Hofapotheke" (18th century). knowledge about nature derived from experience. Numerous university chairs, professional schools, economic and philosophical societies, academies, and journals were founded that fostered technological innovation while simultaneously contributing to scientific understandings of nature. Central to this project are forms of such advanced expertise, developed between the early eighteenth and mid nineteenth century at sites where trade, manufacture, and learned natural knowledge intersected.

The specific focus of this project is the interconnection of scientific and technological expertise in Prussia. There is a host of new archival material that provides excellent insight in this issue. During the eighteenth century the Prussian state undertook numerous efforts to improve the balance of trade, innovate manufacture, and reform state administration. One element of this cameralist policy was intervention into commerce, for example, by founding state manufactories. Another was the promotion of so-called useful sciences along with experts willing to combine analysis of natural objects with technological ventures. Among the Prussian men of science, many were mining officials, artillery officers, pharmacists, and other "hybrid experts," that is, individuals at home in the worlds of science, engineering, and among cameralist state officials. These men possessed advanced useful knowledge and skills and were acknowledged as authorities for solving technical problems. They engaged in commercial production or in technological projects supported by the Prussian state administration, the Prussian military, or the Berlin Academy of Sciences. At the same time, they were highly respected Naturforscher familiar with the literature of their field, publishing essays and books, enjoying memberships in academies and other learned societies. In their laboratories these men analyzed material substances regarded both as objects of nature and useful materials. The material culture of the eighteenth-century laboratory enabled them to shift with ease from natural inquiry to technological investigation and back again.



Silvia Caianiello

(Visiting Scholar, Istituto per la Storia del Pensiero Filosofico e Scientifico Moderno (ISPF), Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Napoli) **History and Philosophy of the Notion of Modularity in the**

Life Sciences Silvia Caianiello's research project on modularity in the life sciences offers a critical analysis of one of the key-notions of evolutionary developmental biology. This concept is particularly relevant as it marks the departure from the notion of organism still supported in the Modern Syn-



Silvia Caianiello

William C. Wimsatt, Complexity and Organization, SA: Proceedings of the Biennial Meeting of the Philosophy of Science Association, Vol. 1972, (1972), pp. 67–86. thesis to a new representation of 'decomposability' of living systems. The unquestionable appeal of the notion is connected to a new paradigm for naturalization, capable of encompassing several ontological levels, up to minds and societies, and therefore requires historical as well as philosophical investigation. Crossing several disciplinary borders, Caianiello's analysis seeks to capture the overall relevance of a new metaphoric field connecting the life sciences, bio-computing, and the social sciences.



Tobias Cheuna

Tobias Cheung (Visiting Scholar, Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft—Heisenberg Programm)

Stimulus-Reaction-Schemes in Psychologies, Anthropologies, Urban Systems, and the Life Sciences, 1830–1950

Organism-milieu-interfaces and stimulus-reaction-schemes are central to Henri de Blainville's *Cours de physiologie générale et comparée (1833)* and Auguste Comte's *Cours de philosophie positive* (1830–42). Théophile de Bordeu and the so-called Montpellier school had already explained gland activities and the sensibility of organs according to stimulus-reaction-schemes. Blainville and Comte refer to such schemes, combining instinct economies and Franz Joseph Gall's organology of the brain. For both, the regulation of processes of the inner body and of the organism-milieu-interface were highly important. After Blainville and Comte, stimulus-reaction-schemes (related to organism-milieu-interfaces) appear throughout the nineteenth century and the first half of the twentieth century in various scientific domains (physiology, medicine, evolutionary theories, ecology, psychology, sociology, economy, and city planning).



Didier Debaise

Didier Debaise (Visiting Scholar, Humboldt Fellow)

Pragmatism and the Life Sciences. The Emergence of an Evolutionary Philosophy This research project centers on Charles Sanders Peirce and Alfred Whitehead (philosophy of nature), John Dewey and George Herbert Mead (social sciences), and William James (psychology). It proceeds along three axes: first and foremost, it aims at a rereading of the pragmatist enterprise from the point of view of its evolutionary inheritance (Lamarck, Darwin, and Spencer). The major questions that constitute pragmatist philosophy (the theory of knowledge, the "functionalist" method, and the theory of experimentation) can then be relocated in the context of an evolutionary approach. Second, it seeks to analyze the manner in which an ensemble of scientific theories circulates in philosophy and how they are transformed. Finally the ambition of the project is to unfold certain epistemological implications of evolutionary theories. The pragmatists did not stop to insist on the fact that our theories of knowledge had been constructed in taking the physical world as their model and that they were thus inadequate for the interpretation of an evolutionary reality. This question of a transformation of models of knowledge towards biological realities is of vital importance today.

Sybilla Nikolow (Research Scholar, Institute for Science and Technology Studies, University of Bielefeld)

"Words Divide, Pictures Unite." Otto Neurath's Pictorial Statistics in Historical Context

Otto Neurath's (1882–1945) famous slogan that words divide and pictures unite is frequently quoted in visual communication and media studies to support the apparent superiority of pictures over verbal languages. His Vienna method of pictorial statistics serves as evidence in proving that this assumption is correct. Looking at the contexts of its devel-





Sybilla Nikolow

Otto Neurath at the opening of the "World of Plenty" exhibition at the Food Conference in New York, circa 1944 (Isotype Collection, University of Reading).

opment, meaning and use, actually reveals that the situation is more complex. Such a perspective also conveys an impression of the changes in society and media that occurred during the first half of the twentieth century, changes which not only produced innovations in visual culture, but which were also driven by them. Neurath's method can be seen as a typical project of democratization and modernization of a period in which concepts of society and science were interrelated in a peculiar manner. The project illustrates how Neurath developed his communicative understanding of pictures along the methodological premises of the Vienna Circle to a counter-piece of artificial languages, while, at the same time, distancing himself from propagandistic methods and artistic forms of expression. It also shows how the method was systematically transformed from a product of Red Vienna to an International System of Typographic Picture Education (Isotype).

Peter Schöttler (Visiting Scholar, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Paris) Marc Bloch and Scientism



The French medievalist Marc Bloch, born in 1886 and killed by the Gestapo in 1944, is probably one of the most frequently cited authors among historians. But one of the effects of this transformation into an icon is that the real author and his writings have faded in importance, as his work has been transformed, at best, into a stone quarry. While most of the literature on Bloch tends to present him as an historian of our time, a *toujours actuel*, Peter Schöttler attempts to situate the scholar and his work in his own time, marked, at least in France, by intellectual tendencies that are now depreciated as "positivism" and "scientism." Schöttler's work involves a wide-ranging empirical investigation of Bloch's lifelong relationship with philosophy and



Peter Schöttler

Marcel Boll, La mécanique du visible et de l'invisible. Mouvements, mécanismes, moteurs, Paris, Larousse, 1948, 403 pp. the natural sciences, which Bloch sought to expand to the historical disciplines, and the discursive formation Bloch described as "scientism."

While the phenomenon emerged during the nineteenth century, the word "scientism" appeared only around 1900. With a few exceptions (like the late Casper Hakfoort), historians have taken for granted that it stood for a widely supported and influential movement. But as Schöttler's study of French authors who described themselves as "scientists" reveals, this kind of radical scientific optimism concerns mostly outsiders, even if highly qualified and productive. One example is the chemist-physicist Marcel Boll, a student of Georges Urbain und Paul Langevin, who, in the late 1920s, became the decisive transmitter of the "Vienna Circle" to France, a movement that for Boll represented a novel and ideal form of "positivism," e.g., "scientism."

Mai Wegener (Independent Research Scholar)

Three Undiscovered Epistemologists: Paul Valéry, Kurt Goldstein, Jacques Lacan The well-known poet Paul Valéry (1871-1945), the neuroscientist Kurt Goldstein (1878-1965), and the psychoanalyst Jacques Lacan (1901-1981) are less known as thinkers who also elaborated on epistemological questions. Each established his (respectively) poetic, neurological or psychoanalytic practice at a certain distance from their traditional disciplines (if poetry can also be called a discipline). Each felt encouraged to explore the conditions of these disciplines and highlight their place in the field between the modern sciences. Their epistemological reflections exceeded self-reflection; they examined the constitution of modern science as a whole. Each tended to focus on the life sciences, which had undergone radical changes in the nineteenth and at the beginning of the twentieth century. Paul Valéry was interested in the rules and structures common to both science and art, specifically the emergence of new objects prior to their definition as epistemic or artistic objects. Kurt Goldstein developed his experimental examinations by renouncing isolation as the basis of the scientific approach. In opposition to the traditional neurosciences, he posited a holistic understanding of the organism. Jacques Lacan's epistemic interests were closely linked with his reformulation of psychoanalysis. Common to these three disparate approaches is the interest in language and the psyche's relation to its bodily support. In their epistemic reflections, however, they assumed different positions. This project focuses specifically on the interaction between practice and epistemic considerations in the works of the three authors.



Additional Departmental Projects Postdoctoral Fellows

Safia Azzouni (Karl Schädler Postdoctoral Research Fellow) The Popular Science Book: The Orientation of Knowledge Around 1900 Between Science and Popular Science

This project explores the emergence of popular science books in Europe during the second half of the nineteenth century and the role that these books played in the transfer—and the production—of knowledge. Popular science was written not only

Safia Azzouni



Mai Wegener

by scientists, but also by professional popularizers. These authors—journalists, poets, or former scientists—often had their background in two fields: science *and* literature.

Over the course of the nineteenth century, the interest poets took in scientific experimentation and innovation continuously increased. Scientific topics and methods influenced positivist literary theory and the naturalistic movement in France and Germany. Accordingly, the research project addresses the question of the extent to which



Rasmos, Sesellschaft der Naturfreunde Franchische Berlagshandlung-Stuttgart

the genesis of the popular science book was linked to the literary developments of the time.

Azzouni's project focuses on exemplary case studies from the realm of German popular science writings. Among the writers dealt with are the theorist of naturalism Wilhelm Bölsche, one of the most famous German popularizers up to the 1930s, and the mathematician, physicist, and philosopher Kurd Laßwitz, one of the first German science-fiction writers. In addition, Azzouni is investigating the role popularizers took in the philosophical debate over *Geisteswissenschaften* or *Kulturwissenschaften*. Furthermore, she treats the question of whether and if so, how, popular science influenced the production of new specialized knowledge.

The first volume of the German popular science series 'Kosmosbändchen' from 1904. Private.

Tamás Demeter (Postdoctoral Research Fellow) **Hume and the Ideology of the Scientific Revolution**

Tamás Demeter's project has a double focus within a single framework. The framework is eighteenth-century science in the context of which Hume's epistemology and his "science of man" are studied. The first focus is on Hume's *Enquiry Concerning Human Understanding*. In this work Hume reflects on methodological and epistemological problems that arose in the context of the knowledge-making practices of contemporary natural and moral philosophy, and arguably, his solutions reflect the newly emerging worldview of Romanticism. From this perspective, the coherence of his work can be shown in a way that significantly differs previous interpretations. This part of the project combines the methods of historical epistemology and ideology-



Tamás Demeter

critique. The second focus is on Hume's *Treatise* on *Human Nature*. Here, Hume's anthropology is developed in the context of contemporary natural philosophy. The assumption is that Hume's account of human nature is fundamentally vitalistic, and belongs to the early phase of "Enlightenment vitalism," a movement that came to dominance during the second half of the eighteenth century and boasted intimate connections to early Romanticism. The project thus aims to recontex-



Hume statue in Edinburgh (private photo).

tualize Hume, detaching him from the traditional historiographic reading in the context of the history of philosophy and of the Enlightenment, offering as an alternative framework an interpretation situated in the context of the history of science and early Romanticism.



Mathias Grote

Molecular models. Slide displaying calotte models of retinal, the photoactive component within a bacteriorhodopsin molecule. The cellular membrane as a spatial object was tied to experimental interventions and representations on the molecular, compartmental, and cellular level.

Mathias Grote (Postdoctoral Research Fellow) Transformations of Scientific Objects: Cells, Membranes, and Molecules (1970–1990)

Around 1970, scientists in San Francisco made a startling discovery. In the cellular membrane of a salt-loving microbe, they discovered a protein similar to rhodopsin, the visual pigment in the retina of vertebrate eyes. Mathias Grote uses the case of research on microbial rhodopsins to pose the general question of how the objects of laboratory science and technology come into being and how they change in time. Within only five years, bacteriorhodopsin was transformed from a "labile object" at

the intersection of different experimental effects to a substance prepared from cells and a thinglike macromolecule modeled in three dimensions. And yet, the story was all but settled after the boundaries of bacteriorhodopsin were drawn by the mid-1970s. The substance moved quickly into the focus of technologies, e.g., the production of photographic media or optical data storage. The



story of microbiology and rhodopsin research, straddling as it does the worlds of fishery, trade, mundane scientific activities to membrane research, and molecular biophysics, offers a fresh perspective on the twentieth-century life sciences. Grote's case study also makes explicit how the spatiality of cells, membranes, and molecules was explored and modeled. His work will provide a starting point for an epistemology of surfaces.



Materials. Centrifuge tubes with fractions of cell membranes prepared as material for experimentation. Left, the purple membrane isolated from Halobacterium; centre, membrane depleted of pigment; right, a synthetically reassembled purple membrane.

Both figures ca. 1975. By courtesy of D. Osterhelt, Martinsried.

Hyo Yoon Kang (Postdoctoral Research Fellow) **Patent Classification and Scientific Taxonomies**

The project explored relations between modern life science and intellectual property, a relatively unexplored field of research within the history of science, particularly from the viewpoint of patents as objects of the history of science. With the aim to trace the translation and representation of scientific and technological artifacts into the legal knowledge framework, Kang examined the emergence of scientific and technological artifacts as patentable inventions and their representation in patent classification. The guiding research questions were: what is the role of patents in scientific and technological practice? How are novel inventions understood and represented in the legal realm? Is the translation from the scientific realm to the legal one "truthful?" At the center of her study is a specific case study involving the creation of the latest patent class for "combinatorial synthesis," a technology closely linked to developments in the fields of molecular biology, computer science, robotics, and instrumentation during the early 1980s.



Hyo Yoon Kang

Jeffrey Schwegman (Postdoctoral Research Fellow) Metaphysics for an Enlightened Age: Condillac and the Construction of the Eighteenth-Century Human Sciences





Jeffrey Schwegman

Session at Madame Geoffrin's salon attended by Condillac (Musée du château de Malmaison).

Historians of the eighteenth century often speak of the birth of the human sciences during this period, even going so far as to portray "psychology," "anthropology," or "linguistics" as quintessential Enlightenment preoccupations. Yet there is much that is anachronistic about this view. In France, contemporaries often referred to these kinds of inquiries as "metaphysics," viewing them as extensions of the problems that had motivated seventeenth-century philosophers like Malebranche and Descartes. Taking this perception seriously forces us to revise our understanding of this Enlightenment science in important ways. Eighteenth-century metaphysicians often had to struggle to assert the legitimacy of their enterprise, and they invested considerable

effort in constructing new kinds of identities for themselves. My project analyzes these struggles and the role they played in remaking this branch of knowledge. Its central protagonist is the influential Parisian *philosophe* Étienne Bonnot de Condillac (1714–1780), who did perhaps more than anyone else in France to redefine metaphysics. Yet throughout, Condillac's place within larger scholarly networks and traditions and his interactions with readers and critics is emphasized. The project aims to move beyond accounts of the pre-history of social scientific ideas and offers a broader, cultural history of this important Enlightenment science.



Robyn Smith-Braun

Robyn Smith-Braun (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

Encountering Hermes in the Unknown: Exploring Experimental Vitamin Research during World War I.

Robyn Smith-Braun's project examines the second of three historical periods in the history of the vitamins. The context for her study is collaborative research carried out by British scientists on behalf of the British government during the First World War. Vitamin research was taken up by the U.K. in 1914 when the British government granted high political priority to questions of food supply and the quality of military and civilian diet.

Robyn Smith-Braun suggests that within the context of government-sponsored war research, British scientists witnessed the problem of vitamins shift suddenly from a problem of their physiological function in individual animals and humans to a problem of population health and food supply as means to meet various international and national nutritional needs. With this shift, vitamins were stabilized and developed as genuine bio-political objects even before they were isolated as biochemical objects.



Christina Wessely

left: Cosmology as 'Cosmotechnic' right: Gigantensternexplosion: The birth of the glacial-cosmological universe. Courtesy of Technisches Museum Wien, Hanns-Hörbiger-Archiv.



The project deals with cosmological *Weltanschauungen* around 1900 from both a cultural-historical and an epistemological perspective. Christina Wessely investigates



the social and political conditions that explain the careers of theories like the Theory of the Hollow Earth, the New Theory of Geocentricity, or the Cosmic Ice Theory. Wessely seeks to map the specific circumstances that led to the renaissance of esoteric cosmologies during the first three decades of the twentieth century—a period of time that is generally regarded as *the* age of modern science, a period in which all forms of irrational *Weltanschauungen* appeared to be marginalized. Taking as her first example the Cosmic Ice Theory, developed in 1894 by the Austrian engineer Hanns Hörbiger, Wessely argues that these cosmologies were not anachronistic, marginal ideas brought forward by some obscurantists but that these forms of "scientific esotericism" were in fact an integral part of the discourse of modern science. While on the one hand their authors explicitly disapproved of the development of modern science, sharing a popular fear that a purely materialistic, abstract science would lead to cultural decline, they were at the same time emphatically committed to the scientific discourse they sought to revolutionize in the direction of a New Science: a universal, holistic perception of the world.

Monika Wulz (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

Collective Theories of Knowledge Around 1930: Edgar Zilsel's Epistemology of Mass Phenomena

The project focuses on Edgar Zilsel's (1891 Vienna–1944 Oakland, CA) epistemology, which underlies his philosophical, natural-scientific and sociological works in the course from the 1910s to the 1930s. This epistemology also underpins Wulz's collective and procedural perspective on the production of knowledge. The project emphasizes the mutual relation of Zilsel's conception of a variable reality on the one hand and his epistemological account of a procedural knowledge on the other. Based on this fundamental instability and diversification of reality and knowledge, Zilsel aimed to establish a unified methodological foundation for the natural sciences, history, humanistic studies, and everyday experience.

The project examines conceptions of collectivity in Zilsel's epistemology in three dimensions: first, the understanding of epistemic objects as mass phenomena; second, internal collective conditions for scientific rationality based on procedural rules; third, the collaborative organization of scientific practices such as, e.g., data collection.



Monika Wulz

Short-Term Visitors and Their Projects

- *Marcel Beyer* (Writer in Residence, Dresden): "Explorations and the Nature of Language: Research as a Process."
- *David Bloor* (Science Studies Unit, University of Edinburgh): "Rival Theories of Aerofoil, 1904–1926."
- *Katharina Brandenberger* (University of Zürich): "Psychotropic Drugs in Clinics and Society."
- *Thomas Brandstetter* (Institute for Philosophy, University of Vienna): "Knowledge and Imitation. Mimetic Experiments in the Natural Sciences around 1900."
- *Jean-François Braunstein* (University of Paris I, Sorbonne and Institut d'histoire et de philosophie des sciences et des techniques): "History of Historical Epistemology."
- *Charlotte Brives* (University Victor Segalen Bordeaux II): "Yeast Saccharomyces Cerevisiae as a Model Organism: Co-Emergence of a Natural Entity and an Epistemic Community."
- *Vera Ehrenstein* (Ecole Polytechnique, Paris): "A Comparative Study (France/ Germany) of the Participation of Lay People in the Scientific Debate about Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs)."
- *Johannes Fehr* (Collegium Helveticum, Zürich): "On Ludwik Fleck's Uses of Language as a Vehicle of Thought."
- *Ragnar Fjelland* (University of Bergen): "On the Lifeworld Foundation of Science: Einstein and the Special Theory of Relativity;" "Newton and Goethe on Reality and Scientific Method."
- *Rodolphe Gasché* (Program in Comparative Literature, Arts and Letters, State University of New York at Buffalo): "The Concept of Process in Alfred N. Whitehead and Hannah Arendt."
- *Amanda Goldstein* (University of California at Berkeley): "Tender Empiricism and Improper Bildung: Goethe's Counter-Disciplinary Morphology."
- *David Gugerli* (Institute for History, Federal Institute of Technology, Zürich): "Dealing with Human Capital."
- *Ximo Guillem Llobat* (University of Valencia): New Concepts of Food Quality and Safety in the Late-Nineteenth and Early-Twentieth Century. Artificial Sweeteners, Municipal Laboratories, and the Search for International Standards."
- *Michael Hagner* (Chair for Science Research, Federal Institute of Technology, Zürich): "What is Dippoldism? On Sexuality, Criminality and Media Around 1900."
- Ina Heumann (International Research Center for Cultural Studies (IFK), Vienna): "Styles of Science Communication. German-American Transfer Histories, 1945/1964."
- *Philipp von Hilgers* (Humboldt University Berlin): "Mapping the Field of Vision. From Experimental Research of Reading to Pattern Recognition, 1860–1960."
- *Giora Hon* (Department of Philosophy, University of Haifa): "On Magnification" and "Dissymmetry and Polarization in Biot and Pasteur. A Tale of Conceptual Analysis."
- *Thierry Hoquet* (University Paris Ouest/Nanterre La Défense): "Sexual Selection: The Long Century of Absence, 1871–1972."

- Doris Kaufmann (Institute for Historical Science, University of Bremen): "Extending Understanding Beyond Existing Borders': The Discourse on Primitivism in the Cultural Sciences 1880–1930."
- Andreas Killen (City College of New York/CUNY.): "The History of Early Cinema as a Discourse of Hypnosis and Suggestion."
- *Marietta Meier* (University of Zürich and Collegium Helveticum, Zürich) "The Emotional Sting'—Psychosurgery after the Second World War."
- *Jan Müggenburg* (Initiativkolleg "The Sciences in Historical Context"/University of Vienna): "Living Prototypes. A Media History of the Biological Computer Laboratory at the University of Illinois."
- *Laura Otis* (Emory University, Atlanta): "Thinking with Images, Thinking with Words."
- *Trevor Pinch* (Department of Science and Technology Studies and Department of Sociology, Cornell University): "Sound Studies and the Digitization of Audio."
- Irina Podgorny (National University of La Plata): "America's Mighty Skeletons."
- *Jutta Schickore* (Department of History and Philosophy of Science, Indiana University): "Vipers, Venom, and the Vagaries of Experimentation."
- *Oliver Schlaudt* (Philosophical Seminar, University of Heidelberg): "Measurement as Concrete Activity. Investigations on the Formation of Quantitative Concepts in the Natural Sciences."
- Thomas Schlich (Department of Social Studies of Medicine, McGill University, Montréal): "The Perfect Machine: The Body and Modernist Surgery in Early-Twentieth Century Vienna."



Glyptodon (from Woodbine Parish, Buenos Ayres and the Provinces of the Rio de la Plata: their present state, trade, and debt; with some account from original documents of the progress of geographical discovery in those parts of South America during the last sixty years, London: John Murray, 1839).



Standardized treatment of thigh fractures in Lorenz Böhler's field hospital during WWI, ca. 1917. Source: Böhler papers, Department and Collections for History of Medicine, Medical University Vienna.

- Zimmer für Oberschenkelbrüche mit Y Etalle u Oberschenkelklämmer
- *Max Stadler* (Imperial College, London): "Assembling Life. Models, the Cell, and the Reformations of Biological Science, 1920–1960."
- Georg Christoph Tholen (Institute for Media Science, University of Basel):
 "Imagination and the Imaginary. Epistemological Studies on Concepts of Aesthetics and Mediality."

- *Magaly Tornay* (University of Zürich): "History of Psychoactive Drugs: Psychoactive Drugs and Personality Concepts in Switzerland (1950–1990)."
- *Bettina Wahrig* (Technical University Braunschweig): "Poisons, Toxicologies, and the Figurations of the Abject, 1700–1900."
- Sonja Walch (University of Vienna): "Sex Hormones in Laboratory Practice: Eugen Steinach's Development of a Sex Hormone Theory, his Experimental Methodology and his Cooperation with Schering (1910–1938)."
- *Silvia Waisse Priven* (History of Science Graduate Program/CESIMA, Pontifical Catholic University of São Paulo): "From Signs to Remedies: Medical Ways of Knowing in the Eighteenth Century."
- *Kelly J. Whitmer* (Fellow of the Max Planck International Research Network "History of Scientific Objects"): "Models of Solomon's Temple as Objects of Scientific Inquiry—Models and the Middle Way: Performing Philanthropy in the Early Enlightenment."



Halle's model of Solomon's Temple as a scene painting (skenographia), 1718, copperplate engraving.

- *Lambert Williams* (Harvard University, Cambridge, MA): "Historical and Philosophical Issues in Complex Systems: Models and Simulations."
- *Charles T. Wolfe* (Unit for History and Philosophy of Science, University of Sydney): "History and Philosophy of the Concept of Organism, 1650–1950."
- *Gábor Áron Zemplén* (Budapest University of Technology and Economics): "Scientific Debates Around the Modificationist Theories of Color."

→ p. XXX

Other Departmental Activities

- "Living Properties: Making Knowledge and Controlling Ownership in the History of Biology." Workshop, May 29-31, 2008. Organizers: Jean-Paul Gaudillière (INSERM, Paris), Daniel Kevles (Yale University), Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG, Berlin).
- "Müller's Vision. Das wissenschaftliche Vermächtnis des Naturforschers Johannes Müller." Symposium, October 9–11, 2008. Organizers: Philipp v. Hilgers (Hermannvon-Helmholtz-Zentrum für Kulturtechnik), Laura Otis (MPIWG, Berlin/Emory University), Thomas Schnalke (Medizinhistorisches Museum, Charité).
- 11th Ischia Summer School on the History of Life Sciences: "From Generation to Reproduction. Knowledge and Techniques from the Renaissance to the Present Day." June 28 – July 5, 2009, Villa Dohrn, Ischia. Organizers: Zoological Station Anton Dohrn, Naples (Christiane Groeben); Department of History and Philosophy of Science, Cambridge University (Nick Hopwood); Max Planck Institute for the History of Science, Berlin (Hans-Jörg Rheinberger); Department of History of Science, Harvard University (Janet Browne).



Independent Research Group I + III

Ben Parry (2002) "TV World Order & The Technological Military Machine."



Independent Research Group I

Concepts and Modalities: Practical Knowledge Transmission

Director: Dagmar Schäfer

The Independent Research Group established by Dagmar Schäfer in October 2006 focuses on how technical knowledge was perceived, transmitted and evaluated to form distinct, yet changing, "cultures of knowledge" in Pre-modern China in the period from the Song to the mid-Qing Dynasty (tenth to eighteenth century). Our holistic approach recognizes the complex institutional, cultural, social, economic and technical factors involved in the perception of technical knowledge and its transmission.

The first phase of the project, 2006–2009, concentrated on how historiography shapes our view to technology. Copious reflections on invention and innovation and their manifestations were examined to see how novelty was historicized in the culture of Pre-modern China. The products and processes of this research lead to reflection on the actual meaning of innovation and invention, and this lead in turn to a re-examination of the concepts and modalities with which they were expressed and the effect this had on their (possibly non-) implementation. The result was twofold: (1) a rigorous examination of the methodological base of the history of technology that aims at finding new cross-disciplinary approaches to technology and innovation cultures, and (2) a new collection of individual projects that pursue different aspects of the concepts and modalities in the transmission of technology. These new projects encompass: the development of an expertise culture; various discursive practices circling around practical and theoretical knowledge; the role of normative frameworks; the analysis of rhetorics of knowing; and issues of authentification, standards and standardization in material production.

In addition the group's collective experience in researching Pre-modern China has been mined to provide the basis for the development of a variety of universally applicable digital tools, such as a GIS-Platform China Historical GIS and a Text-Database on Chinese ancient technological texts. These tools are intended to be of use to scholars studying any temporal period or geographic locality. The Group has also been involved in the ongoing Globalisation project initiated by Department I and the cooperation with the Comenius-Garden Berlin-Neukölln.

Dagmar Schäfer's intent focus on the cultural context of technology came to fruition with her book about a seventeenth-century Chinese intellectual's approach to natural processes and material inventiveness, *The Crafting of the 10,000 Things: Knowledge and*

→ p. 53, p. 65

technology in 17th-Century China, University of Chicago Press, in press. The purpose of writings on crafts and technologies, its effects on and role in Pre-modern Chinese culture; the forms and fabrics of labor, the relationship of artisanal knowledge and scholarly knowing; and the place of nature, man and heaven, are all interwoven into a complex knot of issues tackled and addressed in this book.

Individual Projects



Dagmar Schäfer (Head of Group)

Systems, Tools and Artifacts: technology transmission in historical China The motivation for Dagmar Schäfer's latest project came from a desire to examine how and when technology became an 'object of knowledge' in Chinese Culture. This lead to an enquiry into methodological concerns on how the history of technology is pursued and a search for what the Chinese perspective can contribute by adding a non-European perspective. A lacquer box (i. e. a product), a hammer (i. e. an instrument), a bridge across the Changjiang River (i. e. a technological system), and a forger

Dagmar Schäfer



(the craftsman) form the heart of this project. They are the avatars used to analyze and selectively depict the historical development and conceptualization of technological evolution, in particular (1) the social, political, institutional, normative etc. mechanisms of controlling practical knowledge flow; (2) the various means of knowledge dissemination, texts, sketches, instruments, the products, man's skills, professionalism and expertise; (3) the locality or universality of technology; (4) the relation between use and production. The analysis of inscriptions on objects as a mode of knowledge appropriation and a mechanism of control is a crucial element of this research.

Inscription on a brick from the walls of Yingtianfu 應天府, modern Nanjing, circa 1373. Officials denoted the official hierarchy by inscribing the rank and name of officials involved in the production on one oblong side (right). On the reverse side (left) they recorded the foreman, craftsmen, and laborers by name and profession.

Grace Shen (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, York University, Canada) The Relation between the Market and the Making: Song to mid-Qing coal culture, (tenth – eighteenth century)

Although coal use was not unknown in Europe at the time, Marco Polo's thirteenthcentury description of "the Black Stones that are Dug in Cathay, and Are Burnt for Fuel" (*The Travels of Marco Polo*, Book 2, Ch. 30) is famous for the sense of novelty and wonder that it conveys. In contrast, contemporaneous Chinese writings on coal often treat it as prosaic, even incidental. And yet, a closer look at these records of coal production and usage reveals changing relations between geographical areas, shifting



Grace Shen

patterns of economic circulation, and emerging anxieties about class, gender, environment, and power. The project investigates this complex "coal culture" with a view to understanding its technical specifications and its social and cultural landscapes. Based on preliminary findings, the main issues are organized into three themes: Spatiality:



Workers at the mouth of a coal mine, Late Qing

Coal production for household consumption was an extremely local activity, frequently conducted on a small scale by surplus agricultural labor for sale within the immediate market community. The quality and availability of coal products was therefore shaped by geological inconsistencies, and it is critical to understand how the spatiality of traditional coalmines embodied the limits of skill, the physicality of the earth, and a culturally conditioned understanding of market demand. Examination of transport mechanisms and flows of information about mining in literati texts then allow us to link discrete mining sites into networks of material and intellectual exchange that traversed both class distinctions and political boundaries. During the Ming (1368–1644) and Qing (1644–1911), these regional variations in local production and household use were increasingly distorted by urbanization, environmental pressures, and large-scale craft manufacture, but did not undermine existing mining or prospecting technologies.

Management:

State records show few attempts to monitor coal production, but a wide variety of controls on coal usage. These controls focused on making sense of the many grades of coal and coal by-products available, and suggest many of the state's main energy consumption issues. Regulations also used specific quantity-quality combinations to regulate the cost-efficiency of craft industries and help redistribute available resources as environmental and economic patterns shifted.

Innovation:

The project approaches innovation in terms of the perception and valuation of emerging alternatives and uses literature, gazetteers, and mercantile records to illustrate the background of options and desires that influenced developments in both coal production and coal use. Chinese coal mines expanded production in ways that were sensitive to the local environment, labor force, and market rather than to any anachronistic ideas of industrial efficiency. The goal of the second half of this project is to try and redefine what the standards of effective prospecting, mining, and consumption were and to trace changes in methods and scale as a function of contextual demands. This will then allow a more nuanced analysis of how traditional coal culture encompassing technology, markets, and discourse—engaged with outside notions of coal as the driver of imperialism and industry in the nineteenth century.



Bruce Rusk

Bruce Rusk (Visiting Scholar, Cornell University, U.S.A.) Making Things in Ming (1368–1644) and Qing (1644–1911) China

The uses and connotations of the word *zhen* \underline{A} (authentic, genuine, true) in Late Imperial scholarly discourse were broad. This is clear from frequent appeals to zhen as an ideal in philosophical, literary, economic, and aesthetic works. Just as significant is the profusion of its opposites: words for scams, lies, insincerity, falsehood, untruth, adulteration, and even adulthood. Though not interchangeable, these antonyms point to a common if often absent value at the center.





This project explores authentication and the detection of fakes as an important function of technical knowledge in China during the Ming (1368-1644) and Qing (1644-1911) periods. It examines the construction of categories of genuine and false by seeking connections among documents and objects in a process that constantly pitted new forms of fakery against new methods of authentication. Devices meant to ensure authenticity repeatedly became the medium of its downfall. For example, the stamp-like

marks on porcelain from imperial kilns, meant to identify pieces for official use, became known to collectors as the sign of a quality piece. This gave makers of forgeries an easy-to-imitate target and helped create a market for knockoffs, which led in turn to new authentication practices.

Knowing how things were made was one way to avoid being duped. Many Ming and Qing descriptions of techniques of production seem incomplete as instructions for producers themselves; one reason is that the intended audience for at least some of these texts was users of the things rather than those who made them. Knowledge of how an artifact was or should be made could appear useful even to a consumer who would never apply that knowledge to production, and knowing how fakes were made helped potential buyers to identify them. For example, merchants could purchase pamphlets that described techniques for manufacturing debased silver ingots, with the expectation that through familiarity with the counterfeiter's art one could avoid

Illustration of a gold-flecked bronze vessel and its reign-mark from the early twentieth century book *Xuande yiqi tupu* 宣德彝器圖 譜 [Illustrated register of vessels from the Xuande period].

becoming his victim. This knowledge about things was, however, as manipulable as things themselves. The information by which a consumer judged a product also had to be scrutinized, since texts could be invented to supply a forged provenance and describe an illusory production process. Thus an important source for this project is a work of "technology fiction," an account of the casting of hundreds of bronze vessels in the 1420s. Although supposedly consisting of documents contemporary with the project, the book was in fact forged in the late seventeenth or early eighteenth century, when such vessels were widely available for sale. Its detailed, if fantastical, descriptions of the casting process suggest how important technical knowledge could be in a consumer's encounter with the market.

This focus on the rhetoric of technical knowledge is equally useful for approaching materials that are not suspect or deceptive. Information about production techniques was useful to many parties, not only those directly engaged in manufacturing; indeed most artisans neither needed nor had access to these written sources. Such documents are often a by-product not of the process of making things but of the circulation of those things in the marketplace and through society.

Rui Magone (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

The Emergence of Expertise: professional cultures and the development of occupations

Rui Magone's project examines the role of the civil service examination system as a feature relevant to the creation and identification of expertise including the fields of practical knowledge in late imperial China, focusing mainly on the Ming period (1368–1644) while including for comparative purposes the two dynastic cataclysms Yuan (1279–1368) and Qing (1644–1911) on its fringes. Open to the entire male population of the empire, both in terms of accessibility and frequency, the civil service examinations had dauntingly low quotas of success at all competition levels. As a main consequence, it became inevitable for repeatedly failed candidates, by far the



Rui Magone

large majority among the examinee population, to offer, expand, diversify, adapt or even radically alter their professional expertise in order for them to be able to make a living (and possibly finance further examinations).

In addition, the study also investigates the impact of social privileges granted to examination graduates, specifically tax exemption and impunity, which merchant and artisan lineages tried to access by strategically infiltrating the examination system with their own offspring. Protected by examination suc-



The examination halls of Beijing, erected in the Ming dynasty and expanded through the end of the nineteenth century. Drawing by Zhao Hong 趙宏. In: *Shuntian fuzhi* 順 天府志 [Shuntian prefectural gazetteer]. 1885 edition. *Juan shou* 卷首, illustration no. 4.

cess and its obvious benefits, including access to specific networks, lineages were able to expand their professional expertise, both in terms of quantity and quality. On a theoretical level, the project shows that the two contrasting views of Chinese society (i. e., a mobile meritocracy vs. a rigidly defined social structure) was a direct result of the so-called 'modernization narrative,' which was first elaborated by Max Weber, later fleshed out in different versions by May Fourth, Marxist and Harvard School historians and finally radically revised.



Cathleen Paethe

Cathleen Paethe (Predoctoral Fellow) The Bibliophile Qi Chenghan: book consumption and commercialization in late Ming China (1550–1644)

This project deals with one of the largest private libraries of the Late Ming period (ca. 1550–1644), the Dansheng tang 澹生堂 of Qi Chenghan 祁承熯 (1565–1628) in Shanyin. Private bibliophiles had become a common phenomenon in the Late Ming era's commercialized world and its significant expansion in the supply of books, both in terms of quantity and quality. Representative collections were built up, with some of them projecting general knowledge ideals and others counting on individuality. Exemplifying by way of one book collector, this project delineates the changes of a library's contents and organization within a period of great political, cultural and intellectual transformation. The bibliophile is examined in his schizophrenic role as the



Three book seals (*cangshuyin* 藏書印) of the bibliophile Qi Chenghan (1565–1628).

consumer and producer of books as well as in his function for the transmission and circulation of knowledge in China's late sixteenth and early seventeenth century. Particular emphasis is placed on the collector's social, intellectual and material environment. Keywords of interest are networks of knowledge and the purpose of knowledge for identity construction and social status. The representation of the library in the catalogue, its public face, gives view to the social function of knowledge assignments. The fact that Qi Chenghan established and enlarged the library of his father invites an examination of the issue of identity in its generational dimension and as regards the continuation or rupture of traditions. Within all that, intellectual and material networks were necessary to built up and maintain the library. In addition to the explicit, established or legitimated network patterns that are already widely known, this study will uncover implicit intellectual and political networks and analyze their forms and functions.

Falk Juri Knauft (Research Scholar), Dagmar Schäfer Geographies of Knowing: China historical GIS In collaboration with the IT Group and Department I

Historical objects, be they artifacts, persons, events or sources, carry beside their specific characteristics spatial and temporal relations. When representing these objects in a database these relations need to be included in the object's data model. Geographical Information Systems (GIS) are software systems specifically designed to process the spatial relations of objects. This information can be stored and displayed graphically in tables and maps, neighboring relations and structural indices can thus be analyzed and quantified.



Falk Juri Knauft

→ Projects for Innovative Research, p. 221

The project aims at the development of a user-oriented webbased tool for mapping historical information by combining research results with data from other specialized online-databases. Scholars of the humanities, especially historians, will be able to store their own data within relational tables. These tables, as well as specific information from external databases, can be queried, combined and visualized in interactive thematic maps.

In a first step we implemented a prototype to investigate available and useful information technologies, scholarly workflows and the human-machine-interaction.



Map of the journeys of Song Yingxing 宋應星 (1587–1666?). Red lines indicate his likely route while the icons indicate manufactures like silk production, pottery, armory and ship building. The web version of the map is dynamic.

According to the policies of the Max Planck Society we favored Open Source Software. The prototype web server and its integrated database are based on Postgres/ PostGIS and Zope. In addition to the basic spatial information, political borders, rivers and coordinates of cities and villages, the user-specific datasets are stored. The prototype integrates the GoogleMaps-service for its mapping server.

After initial implementation the system became online available. Selected scholars utilized the system in various applications. The illustration shows travel routes taken by the Chinese scholar of the sixteenth century, Song Yingxing, and the locations of known centers of manufacture, as he was to become a famous narrator of crafts and technologies of his time. The map indicates what kind of technologies Song Yingxing may have experienced first hand during his travels.

The applications generated a vast amount of feedback, which served as starting point for the redesign of the systems configuration. For example, the next will include a mapping server to reduce the web traffic to GoogleMaps, which proved to be a bottleneck in the system. In addition a RESTful service was introduced in the server access, thereby increasing data safety and creating a flexible interface to provide access to other applications like the Scholarly Workbench project. To extend the range of data entryways we are implementing an automated identification of location names within digitized documents. The scholar will be able to link locations within thematic maps bi-directionally to location names within text documents. A newly designed web portal will enable an intuitive use of databases and GIS-technology even without indepth IT knowledge.

Martina Siebert (Research Scholar)

Historicized Innovation: re-using and re-shaping the past

Based on the evaluation of content and intent of the encyclopedias on the "Origin of Things" (*wuyuan* 物原) accomplished in the first phase on the group, the project explored the means and ways in which the material of these encyclopedias was re-used and re-shaped in other monographic works. Furthermore new sets of "origins" or "inventions" came into view.

When, in the late Ming (1550–1644), the standard set of "origins" presented by one of the fathers of the genre, Gao Cheng's 高承 *Shiwu jiyuan* 事物紀原 (twelfth century), had become a solid layer of cultural sediment, more marginal or more specific innovations and changes in the technological processes, or in what they produced, attracted the attention of elite authors. They investigated the origins and technological changes of the artificial hatching of livestock such as ducks and chickens, and of entertaining animals such as goldfish and grasshoppers; they discussed where local expertise first emerged in the production of special kinds of tea, sugar or tobacco and they sought unique and irreproducible things. These interests could lead to enthusiasms for "fictional" objects such as walking sticks that glowed in the dark or tea cups that keep their contents hot for days. Here is where the line between origin and originality, respectively between reproducible and exceptional unique things, gets blurred. While some of the exceptional things depend on the expertise and skill of a mortal individual, the origin of others is hidden and mysterious and only one exemplar will ever exist. Another issue which authors of the Ming (1550–1644) and early Qing



Martina Siebert

(1644–1735) addressed as they wrote on origins, was the mention of lost knowledge or things. One prominent example is the so-called translucent mirrors (*touguang jing* 透光鏡), which seemed to project the engravings on the back onto a wall when hit by light. A technology well known in Han times (206 BC–220 AD), these objects were miracles to scholars of Song (960–1279) and subsequent dynasties.

At the International Conference for the History of East Asian Science, Technology and Medicine (ICHSEA) held in 2008 in Baltimore, a panel organized by Professor Karine Chemla (CNRS) and myself on "Concepts and Uses of Origin and Source in Chinese Knowledge Traditions" brought together scholars approaching the issue of "origin" from their specific expertise. The differences and overlapping of the role of "origins" in the areas of mathematics, historiography, cosmology and religion became apparent and further investigation on this broader perspective was launched.

In the process of my and other group member's research projects, a number of historical texts relevant to the group projects were sent to China and typed as full text. In collaboration with the Max Planck Digital Library project affiliated to Department I, a detailed guideline for typing traditional Chinese texts, the *Data Entry Specifications for Chinese Text*, were designed. These *DE Specs* present a cutting-edge of in-depth capturing of layout and text features of Chinese traditional text and are without parallel even in Chinese speaking countries.

As of November 2009, Martina Siebert took up a senior position at the Staatsbibliothek in Berlin, in the Cross-Asia Virtual Library South and South East Asia Division she helped to develop.

Feng Jiren (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

Chinese Architectural Writings and Traditions of Building Technology

This project looks into the distinctive cultural connotations reflected in the technical contents of pre-modern Chinese architectural treatises, reconstructing the intellectual setting for preserving tradition and engaging in innovation in the building profession. Since the tenth century, master craftsmen, scholars, imperial architects and officials summarized practical building technology and methods in the form of technical manuals or scholarly writings. Two social groups, craftsmen and literati, are identified as the interplaying forces for formulating the knowledge field of architecture.

This claim is based on a philological inquiry into the semantic meanings of the professional terminology in the twelfth-century official building manual *Yingzao fashi* 營 造法式 (*Building Standards*, 1103). Further investigations of the possible interactions between these social groups and their ways of perceiving the constructed knowledge of architecture have been conducted along with several case studies of these architectural writings, including the tenth-century unofficial manual *Mujing* 木經 (*Classic of Timberwork*) attributed to the master craftsman Yu Hao 喻皓 (fl. 965–989), the seventeenth-century scholar Ji Cheng's 計成 (b. 1582) treatise on landscape architecture *Yuanye* 原野 (*Craft of Garden*, 1635) and scholar Li Yu's 李漁 (1611–1680) notes on architecture *Xianqing ouji* 閒情偶寄 (*Occasional Remarks Jotted down while at Leisure*, 1671). It appears that scholars and craftsmen had been working towards shared architectural vocabularies and knowledge since the Song period; moreover, Ming



Feng Jiren

→ XML-Workflow, p. 63

(1368–1644) and Qing (1644–1911) scholars who built on the legacy of the Song, actively engaged in the making of practical building methods and in instructing craftsmen. This interaction between professionals and literati in Song times is evidenced not only by the specific approach employed by Li Jie 李誡 (1035–1110), the writer of the *Yingzao fashi*, in his acquisition of building knowledge from the mouths of craftsmen, but also by other Song scholars who wrote about architecture using the same terminology as that used by those in the building profession. Contemporary accounts suggesting that Yu Hao, the tenth-century master craftsman, consulted scholars in his design of wooden pagodas also support this.

The architectural knowledge presented in writings is often claimed to be a guide to and for contemporary building practice; constructed architectural knowledge in writings was sometimes venerated fanatically as an ideal by both professionals and the learned society. A fine example is the *Mujing*, which Song accounts suggest served as guidance for building practices for almost one hundred years, prior to the official building standard *Yingzao fashi*. Yet artifactual evidence proves that a more comprehensive modular system had long been in use. The *Mujing's* impact on building practice lies in the fact that it ended the long-term silence of technical building manuals in history and thus was perceived as a rare classic by the professional and learned classes. Thus the importance assigned to it in Chinese architecture is largely a literary construct, and not an effect of its actual usage.

Since November 2008, Feng Jiren has been Lecturer in Chinese Studies at the Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand.



Martin Hofmann

Martin Hofmann (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

A Philological Archaeology of Master Craftsmen

Concentrating on biographical writings, this project inquires into the perception of craftsmen in Chinese historical writing. The core text of the project is the *Zhejianglu* 哲匠錄 (*Collected Biographies of Master Craftsmen*) by the eminent Chinese scholar, art collector and politician Zhu Qiqian 朱啓鈐 (1872–1964). This compilation of short biographies attempted to provide a comprehensive overview of the major historical representatives of all traditional Chinese crafts from remote antiquity until the Republican era. Introducing a unique set of specializations for the categorization of craftsmen, Zhu set out to reposition extracts from traditional historiography to form a novel perspective on the history of Chinese crafts, and moved the hitherto unstudied 'minor' practitioners into the foreground of historical research.

The research at the MPIWG has led to significant results concerning the importance attached to craftsmanship by pre-modern scholars. The analysis of biographical accounts in various Chinese literary genres has shown that even though craftsmen are not singled out as a category, accounts including craftsman skills frequently occur and play significant roles in the characterization of the persons.

In order to further clarify what role craftsman skills played in the portrayal of in individuals in comparison to, for example, military achievements or skills as practitioners, the international workshop "Status and Skills—the portrayal of individuals in Chinese historiography, 10th–18th century" was held. Whereas philosophical research has given much emphasis to the conceptualization of skills, talents and capabilities on an abstract level, this workshop approached the issue from the perspective of historio-social and -political contextualization. Probing into various text genres, the various contributions to this workshop looked into the interplay of social recognition and the veneration of skills in traditional China.

In a second step, this project investigates the historiographic approach and scope of Zhu Qiqian's *Zhejianglu*. Based on a hand-written manuscript by Zhu found in the National Library in Beijing, it has been possible to reconstruct the original structure and the coverage well beyond the information in the various fragmented editions of the *Zhejianglu* hitherto published. Moreover, the hand-manuscript revealed how Zhu Qiqian distinguished his approach from other, less comprehensive collections of craftsmen biographies, and in what ways he attempted to synthesize traditional Chinese historiography and Western concepts of science and technology. Zhu Qiqian's interest in the history of Chinese crafts and his idiosyncratic epistemological agenda provide an illustrative example of how traditionally educated Chinese appraised and re-invented their own cultural heritage in relation to a Western conceptual framework and under the pressing need to reconstitute their cultural pride and establish national identity. The investigation into this topic is continued in my current research at the Cluster of Excellence "Asia and Europe in Global Context" at Heidelberg University.

Martin Hofmann is Research Scholar in East Asian Intellectual History at Heidelberg University.



Complete map of the central axis from the Daqing gate to the Kunning Palace of the imperial palace, Beijing (ink on paper, no date)

Partner Groups and Cooperations

Cooperation Project with The Palace Museum (Gugong bowuyuan), Beijing

In collaboration with the MPG, and the First Historical Archive of China, Beijing Dagmar Schäfer, Guo Fuxiang, Luo Wenhua, Zhang Qiong, Zhang Shuxian, Xu Xiaodong, Wang Guangyao

History of Exchange of Craft Techniques between the Imperial Court and the Local: from the early Qing Dynasty until the Qianlong era (1735–1796)

Book Publication

Courting the Crafts in Qing China: Technology Diffusion and Communication through Media in 17th-Century China Chinese Language Version, Palace Museum Press, Beijing 2010 English Language Version, to be published 2011 EDITOR Dagmar Schäfer CONTRIBUTORS Guo Fuxiang, Luo Wenhua, Zhang Qiong, Zhang Shuxian, Xu Xiaodong, Wang Guangyao

To a modern mind it is the Internet rather than the ancient Chinese court in which theories of technology diffusion and media effects can be fruitfully tested, because of its unique integration of modes of communication and forms of content. What then, can an inquiry into ancient traditions of knowledge circulation, in particular in the sector of practical know-how, offer to the modern world? It is safe to assume that Qing means and methods of communication cannot compete with modern technologies in velocity and volume. They are, however, compatible in their demand for accuracy, and in that their design that is geared towards global gathering rather than selective distinction.

In the variance of media and methods employed by the Qing the inextricable intertwining between communication techniques and patterns of human behavior come to the fore, revealing the complex dynamics of socio-political and technological endeavor within human history.

The Qing scholars subtly collated oral, textual and visual documentation, institutionalizing some parts while leaving others to the individual. The combination reveals Qing views to efficacy and standards, labor and expertise. Records on the management of men, and materials as well as the remaining artifacts display the tension between the ideals and realities in the production of material culture and their categories of arts, or crafts, practice and theory. In the historical view, negotiation and compromise characterize practical knowledge transmission, not the willful exertion of power or the enforcement of imperial rights. Manchu rulers acknowledged the political potential and social implications of technological knowledge transfer, and acted knowledgeably and thoughtfully about the technological side of practical knowledge transmission. Localities were equal partners, with individual craftsmen and artisans parleying their abilities to the central state and court rather than adjusting to pressure. This book analyzes the details of practical knowledge transmission and actual production—what information was conveyed by sketches, by three-dimensional models, in texts or through the dispatching of experts, when, where and how—to expose how this era's ideals clashed with the realities of knowledge circulation. Juxtaposing textual documentation with artifactual evidence, examples from porcelain, silk, jade, enamel and bronze production as well as interior design, illustrate the conditions under which locally produced knowledge moved into the court and was "universalized" (made universal); or vice versa, the role imperial knowing played for the construction and maintenance of standards of validity on the local level within fields of practical knowledge. The articles group around three themes: (I) Knowledge circulation within expanded technological systems, (II) Transplantation of new technologies and (III) Piggybacked knowledge transfer within consumption processes.

I. Knowledge Circulation within Expanded Technological Systems

Zhang Qiong (Visiting Scholar, The Palace Museum, PR China) Imperial Power and Skills: survey of *Nei zhiran ju* in Qing Dynasty

As shown in the expression "clothes make the man," the dress code is a crucial part of a country's rite system; the Emperor's clothes carried the meaning of supreme power and prestige: The acquisition of materials and products that represent imperial privilege became the imperative and fundamental issue for each emperor upon inauguration. Building manufactories and ensuring a supply of raw materials and skilled labor were immediate and graspable priorities, the transfer and importation of knowledge and the maintenance of existing wisdom were less tangible targets. The teaching and transmitting of traditional material techniques found its own channels, unlike the circulation of knowledge, including the modern broader sense of the circulation of

Zhang Qiong

techniques. The circulation of traditional crafts occurs mainly through practice and accumulation of experience passed down from generation to generation through the form of *koujue* 口訣 (rhymes to aid memory). The transmitting process is creative, individual and interactive. It is not transmitted through words and symbols but through the migration of the craftsmen who own the techniques. Through the analysis of success and failure of the Nei zhiran ju 內織染局 in the Ming and Qing Dynasties, we can see that the influence and control of power and social elements over techniques is limited.



Portrait of the Qianlong Emperor (reg. 1736–1796) in his enthronement robe at the age of 25. Oil painting by G. Castiglione (1688–1766).



Wang Guangyao

Wang Guangyao (Visiting Scholar, The Palace Museum, PR China) Imperial Kiln Factory's Management System and Official Sample System in Emperor Qianlong's Period

The Imperial Kiln, called "the Imperial Porcelain Factory" in the Ming Dynasty and "the Imperial Kiln Factory" in the Qing Dynasty was established for the firing of imperial court porcelain in Jingdezhen, Fuliang County, Raozhou prefecture in Jiangxi province. Research into the archives on this kiln show that the official craft work industry in ancient China involved two specific elements that decided product quality: management technology and production technology.

The management technology was a standard used to guide and standardize production. The establishment and implementation of each part of the system no doubt promoted the development of production and vice versa. The production technology involved two major parts: the pure handicraft technology of the producers and knowledge gained from outside by the handicraft producers. The system whereby production followed samples limited folk kilns as they could not imitate and produce official sample porcelain which greatly reduced the positive development function that the official government could have played in the whole porcelain producing industry. Of-



ficial samples also limited the craftsmen's self-motivation and creation. After Chenghua's period, the Imperial Kiln Factory became more formularized and rigid. Its basis on "specialized craftsmanship and workrooms" meant it gradually lost its creativity and flexibility in porcelain production.

II. Transplantation of New Technologies

Luo Wenhua (Visiting Scholar, The Palace Museum, PR China) **Technical Exchange between Qing Court and Tibet**



Research on bronze Buddhist sculptures and ritual instruments in the available sources, literature and archives, shows the active role of the Qing court as it assimilated Tibetan technology into the Imperial Workshop System. However, these advantageous foreign techniques had their own fates: some of them replaced traditional imperial methods, or were utilized in parallel; some were ultimately discarded. When exploring the historical reasons behind technical exchanges, we realized that they were not only driven by political, economic, religious and cultural factors as well as ne-

Map of the Imperial Kiln location. In: Fuliangxian zhi 浮梁縣志 [Fuliang district gazetteer].

Shakyamuni, gold, 85 cm high. 13th year of

Qianlong reign (1746).

cessities of production, but were also dependent upon the impulse of accident elements, such as the individual taste and character of the current Emperor. Furthermore, there is no single determined fate for every technique in the Imperial Workshop, a multitude of factors could lead to complex and comprehensive possibilities.

Xu Xiaodong (Visiting Scholar, The Palace Museum, PR China) Technical Interaction between the Court and the Local: painted enamel in the Kangxi and Yongzheng periods

Due to the absence of both literature and material objects, the introduction, production and utilization of cloisonné in the Yuan Dynasty (1271-1368) cannot be reconstructed. In the Ming Dynasty (1368-1644), the production and utilization of cloisonné was mainly restricted to the royal family, but there are no records. In contrast, with painted enamels there are abundant archives in the imperial palace, missionaries' letters, literature of western churches, and material objects. All of these records give relatively clear clues to the introduction and spread of painted enamel. In many ways, the firing of the painted enamel and the spread of the technique either within the imperial palace or in localities is fundamentally different to those of other Chinese traditional crafts such as porcelain, jade and silk, but there are some similar features. Therefore, examining the introduction and practice of the western painted enamel technique in Kangxi and Yongzheng period of the early Qing Dynasty shows how a foreign technique was developed with the direct promotion of the Emperor; and what functions the missionaries, the Emperor, supervisors of different ranks at the Palace Workshops, and the craftsmen performed in this process; how the Emperor's requirements were conveyed to specific craftsmen via officials and how the craftsmen met the Emperor's requirements; and how the technical exploration and practice of painted enamel were communicated between the Palace Workshops, Guangdong and Jingdezhen, and accordingly influenced the local technical development.



Xu Xiaodong



Water color illustration of the *Taoye tuce* 陶冶圖冊 [Illustrated Book of Enamel], sheet 18, firing kiln (bright kiln), glaze kiln (dark kiln). In his third year of reign 1738, the Qianlong emperor ordered the documentation of enamel production in the imperial kilns. The series is divided into 20 working processes. This section illustrates the glazing (lower right), transportation (middle right), assembling the oven for first glazing (upper right), and final firing (upper left).

III. Piggybacked Knowledge Transfer within Consumption Processes



Zhang Shuxian

Zhang Shuxian (Visiting Scholar, The Palace Museum, PR China) The Technological Interaction of Architectural Interior Decoration during the Reign of the Qianlong Emperor

The skills and technology of architectural interior decoration reached its highest level in the reign of Qianlong emperor. But the building standards and styles of interior decoration in the Forbidden City were strictly in accordance with the regulations of the "Building Regulations" (*Gongcheng zuofa* 工程做法) and the "Regulations of Craft" (*Jiangzuo zeli* 匠做則例). Thus creativity and innovation were formally restricted. Nevertheless, technologies and products from specialist localities throughout China were accessed to enrich the interiors and enhance the decorations in the imperial palace. One prime source was Yangzhou, famed for its richly detailed inlay and carving technologies. Emperor Qianlong went to the Jiangnan area six times and stayed in Yangzhou every time. On his orders, designers in the palace mapped out the dimensions, designed the form and motifs, drew out sketches, and made models (*tangyang* 烫样) of Ningshou-gong architectural interior decoration. Then officers in the household department in Qing court (*neiwufu* 內務府) sent drawings and models to local



officers in Yangzhou. The local officer in Yangzhou prepared the decoration materials and organized the craftsmen. Local craftsmen in Yangzhou then made the interior decorations according to the drawings and models. This article analyses the centralized power of the Emperor Qianlong, the control of local technologies and how the technological interaction limited the dissemination of court technologies.

Interior room decoration of the Ningshou palace of the Beijing imperial palace. Red sandalwood with inlays made from jade, double sided embroidery, lacquer and bamboo in South-eastern Chinese style.



Guo Fuxiang

Guo Fuxiang (Visiting Scholar, The Palace Museum, PR China) The court and Suzhou: Suzhou jade craftsmen at the court during the reign of Qianlong

During the reign of Qianlong in the Qing Dynasty, jade carving reached one of its peaks in China. One cause of this was the fact that the Qing government controlled Xinjiang where jade was produced and this ensured a sufficient supply. The construction of palaces and royal gardens increased the demand for luxury furnishings and decorative objects. As skilled practitioners, craftsman from Suzhou played a significant role in the craft communication of jade carving between the court and the local. This article investigates the modes and methods through which the outstanding craft skills of the craftsmen from Suzhou were harmonized with the royal taste represented by Emperor Qianlong in the process of jade carving. Questioning the reasons behind the selection of the craftsmen reveals Suzhou's important position in jade-carving in

China at that time and the close relationship between Suzhou and the court. Further research into the craftsmen employed by the court demonstrates recruiting procedures, supervision practices and technical demands made on craftsmen. Finally the commu-

nication and knowledge transmission between the court and the local can be seen in the utilization of various models and sketches. In this case, communication media affected art and entertainment, as a model could make the transition and become an art object in itself.



Jade carving made from the remains of cutting a bowl for the amusement of the Qianlong emperor (reigned 1736–1796), depicting the scene of a woman in the shade of a Tong-tree (dated to 1773).

MPG/CAS Partner Group with the Independent Research Group at the MPIWG, Berlin at the Institute for the History of Natural Science (IHNS), Beijing

In collaboration with the MPG, the CAS and Department I

→ Approach and Achievements, p. 17

Research Projects

Sun Xiaochun and Han Yi (IHNS, CAS, PR China)

The Northern Song State's Financial Support of Astronomy

This project investigates how the state actually supported astronomical research from the tenth to twelfth centuries. Astronomy was politically relevant to the imperial state as competence in this field supported the legitimacy of rule and symbolized good governance. The purpose of this study is to see to what degree the state supported astronomical research financially. Based on sources such as the Collected Administrative Documents from the Song (*Song huiyao* 宋會要), we estimate the Song government's financial input in astronomy. This input constituted a considerable percentage of the state's total fiscal income. Compared with that of previous and later dynasties, this figure was remarkably high. A paper summing up findings was presented at the 12th International Conference of the History of East Asian Science, ICHSEA, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, U.S.A., 14–18 July 2008.

Li Geng and Sun Xiaochun (IHNS, CAS, PR China)

Gnomon Shadow Measurement and Cosmological Theories

The purpose of this case study is to see how practical gnomon shadow measurement was inextricably related to cosmological theories. The resulting paper, "Cosmos and Measurement: Gnomon Shadow Measurement in Ancient China" concentrated on the knowledge interactions between ancient Chinese astronomy and people's minds and was presented at the ICHSEA 2008 in Baltimore. A further development, the paper "Gnomon Measurement and State Culture," was presented at the workshop of Max-Planck partner group "Artisanal Practice and Popular Culture in Late Imperial China." In 2009, the work focus shifted to ancient star observations and archaeoastronomy. 2009 also marked an important discovery about gnomon observation as a calibrated stick was discovered in Taosi, which was probably the template of a gnomon. It is dated about 2200 BC.



Sun Xiaochun



Suzhou Stele Planisphere drawn around (1190 AD) of the Southern Song Dynasty by Huang Shang 黃裳 and engraved in stone in 1247. (*Suzhou shike*) *Tianwentu* (蘇州石刻) 天文圖 [Suzhou Stele Planisphere]. Huang made use of the results obtained from five large-scale surveys carried out between 1010 and 1106, Song period.

Zeng Xiongsheng (IHNS, CAS, PR China)

Divination for Farmers: a study of the Tianjia wuxing (Five Phases for Farmers)

This project investigates how astrology and divination were incorporated into books on agriculture to formulate a sort of "useful knowledge" for farmers. The paper, "Divination for Farmers: based on the *Tianjia wuxing*" was presented at our workshop, "Artisanal Practice and Popular Culture in Late Imperial China," in 2008. Another related issue is its application in real life. As a book about long- term weather prediction, *Tianjia wuxing* put its focus on the forecast of flood and drought disaster. Taking the great floods in Jiangnan area of 1608 as an example, and combining *Tianjia wuxing* with other agricultural books and historical records, research has examined people's flood awareness and agricultural response in the history of Jiangnan. Another paper, also related with rainfall, "The Invention and Development of the Rain Gauge in Ancient China," was published in Taiwan.

Philip Cho (IHNS, CAS, PR China)

Sericulture and Popular Culture in Late Imperial China

Philip Cho's focus is sericulture and popular culture in late Imperial China and the transformation of Chinese religious society from the sixteenth to nineteenth centuries and its impact on specific technical arts in China, including medicine, sericulture, porcelain and agriculture. He presented his paper "Sericulture Songs and the Urbanization of Silkworm Temples in eighteenth century Jiangnan" at the 12th ICH-EASTM, John Hopkins University, July 18, 2008. He is contributing to the edited volume on Artisanal Practice and Popular Culture in Late Imperial China based on

the papers presented at the workshop of the same name, organized by the Partner Group in June 2008. This volume will be published in August 2010. Philip Cho has moved to Singapore to take up a postdoctorate position.

Visiting Scholars from the MPG/CAS Partner Group with the Independent Research Group at the MPIWG, Berlin at the IHNS, Beijing

Sun Xiaochun (IHNS, CAS, PR China)

Study of Shen Kua's Three Astronomical Treatises

Sun Xiaochun and Dagmar Schäfer's project on Shen Kua's On Armillary Spheres (Huntian yi 準天儀) studies the relations between Cosmos, Computation and Measurement in Chinese astronomy. Nathan Sivin from University of Pennsylvania joined in 2009 to produce an annotated translation of the treatise on astronomical instrument, compiled by Shen Kua 沈括 to request financial support from the emperor. After discussions in Beijing in April 2009 it was agreed to expand the project to cover the other two treatises by Shen Kua, namely On Water Clock and On Gnomon. A monograph on these treatises will include annotated translations and two or three research papers on the subject. It will be published as a preprint at the Max Planck Institute.

Liao Yuqun, Li Xiaojuan and Sun Xiaochun

Digitization Project

The Partner Group initiated collaboration between the two Institutes on digitizing primary sources on Chinese sciences. In May 2008, the Director of the IHNS, CAS, Beijing, Liao Yuqun accompanied, Li Xiaojuan and Sun Xiaochun on a fact finding trip to investigate and be trained in digital scanning technology. In April 2009, the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science sent two digital experts to the Institute for the History of Natural Science to help establish its digital group.

Han Yi (IHNS, CAS, PR CHINA)

The Technological Landscape across Space and Time in the Song Dynasty

Han Yi visited the institute to focus on two themes: The first was a focus on the development and change of technology of the Song tapestry, embroidery, printing and dyeing in Song Dynasty. This culminated in the paper, "Silk production, geographical distribution and Technology Transfer of the Song Dynasty," currently being prepared for publication in English with the assistance of Dagmar Schäfer. The second focus was the China GIS Project database. He participated in data collection, ancient and modern place names, and the seat of local government on the *Northern Song 24 Roads* and its changes. The database was displayed in Beijing on October 11–16, 2009. The project has become a successful example of the study on Historical Research and GIS system.

→ p. 229


He Juan

He Juan (IHNS, CAS, PR CHINA)

Between External and Internal: alchemy and fire in Song China

He Juan examined descriptions of Chinese elixir masters to trace developments in fire technologies and heat control. An important issue is how such practices were made compatible with Chinese cosmological ideas. The research project "The Manipulation of Fire in Chinese Alchemy" inquired into how Chinese alchemists manipulated fire practically and dealt with it within the epistemological tradition of the Yin Yang theory, the Five Phases, the trigram and hexagram systems of *Book of Changes (Yijing 易 经)*. Several text readings within the Independent Research Group aided analysis. One introductory reading was on the 'fire times' part of *Shenxian liandan dianzhu sanyuan baozhaofa* 神仙炼丹点铸三元宝照法 (*Method of the divine immortals for refining the elixir and casting by projection the precious mirrors of the three originals*, preface dated 902). Another was on the 'fire times' and the preface of *Zhiguiji* 指归集 (*Collection of Basic Explanations*, circa 1163). The new focus on this latter text opened perspectives which lead to the paper "The Alchemy of Wu Wu in the Southern Song Dynasty", presented at the 23rd Conference for the History of Science and Technology held in Budapest, Summer 2009.

Proposed Partner Group with India

In collaboration with MPG India, Department I and Department II

Travelling Cultures of Knowledge in a Global Context Workshop to establish a new Partner Group with India Planned for November 2010

Addressing the pressing need for the formation of a Partner Group between the MPIWG and India, Dagmar Schäfer initiated negotiations between the MPIWG, the Max Planck Society in India and concerned Indian Scholars. The application for funds for a start-up workshop has been approved. To define the research agenda for the projected Partner Group two workshops will re-evaluate the state of the field from a global perspective in order to identify and demarcate the most promising areas for joint inquiries. The first will focus on the historiography of knowledge in different cultural contexts and reflect on the changing status of science and technology in the societies under scrutiny. Part Two will examine practices of knowledge production, diffusion, and appropriation, as well as the multifaceted processes of their globalisation, with special emphasis on a critical assessment of concepts such as modernisation, domestication, etc. The concluding session of this meeting will be devoted to delineating the focus and scope of the work to be conducted by the projected Partner Group.

Michael Puett (Harvard University, U.S.A.)

worked on a research project entitled, "Changing Conceptions of Knowledge and Expertise in Early Medieval China," part of a larger research group organized by Dagmar Schäfer on Experts and Expertise in Chinese Culture which culminated in a conference on the topic in March 2009. The focus was on the period covering the first few centuries of the common era in China. This was a distinctive period in Chinese history, when empire was declining and new organizational forms were being innovated. During this period, a complex debate developed over conceptions of knowledge and expertise: how is knowledge defined, who possesses such knowledge, who has access to it, is it rooted in the past or can it be achieved through personal discovery, etc. The goal of the research was to study this debate, trace its development, and explore the significance of the positions taken.



Michael Puett

Chu Pingyi (Academia Sinica, Taiwan)

focused on how people dealt with the disease, sha 痧, which was thought contagious in Qing China. Thanks to the extremely efficient interlibrary loan provided by the institute, access was gained to the Unschuld collection of over 500 medical manuscripts. The knowledge gained from this material has lead to reflection on how classificatory model of thinking in the Chinese medical field is formulated through visual aids. He feels that "medical reasoning in Chinese medicine" will be an interesting line for future study. Another unique and interesting text is a verse about *sha* and its treatments. Like many other Chinese medical knowledge, sha also went through a process of popularization. Its symptoms and prescriptions were written in the style of songs to make it easy to memorize. Although we do not know who read such versions, it will be very useful to compare it with other theoretical texts of sha to see how medical knowledge was popularized.

Chu Pinavi

Dhruv Raina (Jawaharlal Nehru University, India)

prepared a proposal with colleagues from the MPIWG to organize a workshop in India in 2010, as a prelude to the establishment of a partner group. In addition, he wrote and presented a paper on the reception of the work of Robert K. Merton in India at a workshop on the future of the sociology of science in Budapest. But most important was the opportunity to access and work in the MPIWG library reading up on the histories of astronomy and mathematics produced in Europe in the late eighteenth and early half of the nineteenth century as part of his larger study on representations of non-Western sciences in nineteenth-century histories of science.



Dhruy Raina





Francesca Bray

Francesca Bray (University of Edinburgh, U.K.)

The project, "Significant Technologies: rethinking technology as a heuristic in Chinese history" reflects a recognized need within the broader discipline of the history of technology for innovative approaches aimed towards overcoming Eurocentrism. It also addresses the post-Needham distaste for technology as an object or tool of analysis among historians of imperial China. As a first step towards identifying productive new directions, together with Dagmar Schäfer, Francesca Bray proposed a critique of anthropology as a keyword, inspired by a more comparative, anthropological approach to technology both as concept and as object. A sequence of reading groups which compared the assumptions, methods, and interpretive frameworks of critical essays on technology by feminist historians of technology, legal historians, historians of technology in non-Western societies, phenomenologists, anthropologists, sociologists, and STS scholars across a range of disciplines introduced the concept. Then, key critical historians of technology were invited to the MPIWG for sustained discussions within the IRG. The resulting colloquium series, Technological Cultures: Themes and Methods in the History of Technology, is currently under way. Invited speakers include two historians of China, two of Japan, one of the nineteenth-century United States, one of Cold War Europe, and one of industrializing Indonesia. Among the themes structuring our discussions with the speakers are: how and why technology became important to them as historians and its place in their broader historical analysis; how they employ the term technology and why; how they select and read relevant primary sources; how they might recreate the technological culture of the society they study; and how they locate themselves and their perspectives on technology in broader historical debates.



Song Lingping

Song Lingping (The Palace Museum, PR China)

As director of the joint research project "History of Exchange of Craft Techniques between the Imperial Court and the Local" organized with the Palace Museum, China and the Max Planck Institute of History of Science, Song Lingping took the opportunity to discuss the developments and directions of the research with Dagmar Schäfer. She also gave a lecture on her recent study of the *Jinzhuan* of the Qing Dynasty and pursued research on the ritual objects and vessels of the Qing Dynasty.

→ Palace Musuem Cooperation, p. 170

Events

Status and Skills Workshop

The Portrayal of Individuals in Chinese Historiography, 10th–18th Century September 4 & 5, 2009

PARTICIPANTS Chu Pingyi, Joseph R. Dennis, Martin Hofmann, Dorothy Ko, Peter Lorge, Angelika C. Messner, Dagmar Schäfer, Zuo Ya

Colloquium Series: Technological Cultures

A series of colloquia and discussions explored the potential of emerging approaches on "technology" and "technological cultures" to generate productive new methods and themes. Invited participants gave informal presentations of their work as a point of entry into a broader debate.

• January 19, 2010

Technological Culture in Meiji Japan Morris Low (University of Queensland)

• January 26, 2010

Roundtable About Rules and Standards: Defining the Validity of Work and its Products *Christian Lamouroux* (EHESS, France/CNRS, Beijing), *Christine Moll-Murata* (University of Bochum), *Bruce Rusk* (MPIWG/Cornell University)

• February 16, 2010

Technology: Defined by Exclusion? Nina Lerman (Whitman College)

• March 16, 2010

A Strong Multiculturalism: De-centering the Themes in the History of Technology *Suzanne Moon* (University of Oklahoma)

• April 6, 2010

Perspectives on Technology: Towards a History of Emergency *Gregory K. Clancey* (National University of Singapore)

• June 1, 2010

(Cold War) Technologies: Political Constructs, Material Practices, Cultural Meanings *Karin Zachmann* (TU München, Zentralinstitut für Geschichte der Technik)

to be continued



Short-term Visitors

Peter Bol (Harvard University, U.S.A.)

Peter Bol's visit was aimed at improving our mutual understanding of digital humanities projects generally and finding possible collaborations between Harvard's Center for Geographic Analysis and the Institute. In addition and more specifically the intention was to explore possibilities for creating semantic interoperability between projects relating to the geography and prosopography of Chinese history. That line of development was temporarily suspended by the untimely passing of Dr. Malcolm Hyman. Nevertheless, meeting with colleagues at the Institute, learning about their research, and spending time in Berlin were greatly rewarding.

Anthony Barbieri-Low (University of California, U.S.A.)

studies the role of artisan inscriptions on manufactured products during the Ming and earlier periods. Extensive discussions within the reading group threw a new light on the inscriptions he had been studying for years. His presentation and seminar on artisan literacy in early imperial China led to ideas for a potential future workshop on literacy, writing, and control of labor in early state-level societies. The potential benefits for further research was made clear by exposure to and training in the digital projects at the MPIWG, the China Historical GIS and the Database.

Timothy Brook (Oxford University, U.K.)

presented a colloquium on "Forgery and the Production of Luxury Commodities in Late-Ming China." The last century of the Ming dynasty, and even more the last halfcentury, was a period when expensive commodities manufactured not for the imperial household but for the open market were produced and consumed on an unprecedented scale in China. The talk explored what can be learned about manufacturing from the writings of late-Ming diarists who engaged in conspicuous consumption. A focus on forgery was used to understand the methods manufacturers used to respond to commercial demand.

Andreas Janousch (Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Spain)

studied the changes in salt production methods at Hedong salt lake, Shanxi province, in late imperial China with a special emphasis on the ways in which technological change and innovation interacted with and were reflected in local religious practices. Local temple spaces, cults and myths associated directly with the salt resources and its technological exploitation became a contested arena during late sixteenth century in which the imperial state, through its local representatives, and local society, under the leadership of salt merchants, negotiated their stakes in the production of monopoly salt and in the control of technological innovation. Thus, the study is conceived as a first inquiry into the broader area of the relationships between technology, religion/rituality and the State in China. Frequent and thorough discussions with members of the Independent Research Group have helped direct the investigations towards a more fundamental inquiry into the organization of space and the aspect of spatiality in workshops and in worship, i. e., to explore spatial arrangements of work processes and of ritual space in temples.

"The Languages of Europe and Asia." Representations of linguistic diversity also found their way into accounts of human biological diversity; see also image "Sprachenkarte" on page 192. Source: W. Schmidt: Die Sprachfamilien und Sprachenkreise der Erde. Atlas von 14 Karten, Hamburg: Helmut Buske Verlag 1977 (Reprint von 1926), Karte I



Independent Research Group III

Historicizing Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity in the 20th century

Director: Veronika Lipphardt

This research project seeks to contribute to a cultural history of biological knowledge by investigating both the professional and societal dimensions of exploring human biological variation. It explores the places, social contexts, and historical moments that defined the production of knowledge about human biological diversity. It adopts a transnational approach and focuses primarily on colonial and post-colonial case studies. The conceptual novelty of the project is that it understands "Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity" to mean knowledge not just about 'race', but also, more generally, about human variation that was considered to be 'biological' or 'caused by nature.' This allows the research team of this project to trace continuities and connections that historians have largely neglected. The project's methodological innovation lies in its combination of historical and STS methods, reflecting the relevance of both practices and narratives in knowledge production. It also enables the group to approach a highly controversial field of biological inquiry that has not come to its historical endpoint yet.

The research group addresses the following questions: How did life scientists and anthropologists imagine, research, and describe human variation during the twentieth century? How did they narrate the formation of diversity? Which classifications, practices, concepts, and tools did they employ in order to assess human biological diversity? What kind of human variation did they consider to be 'biological', and how did they conceive of 'nature' as the cause of human variation? How, if at all, did they bring those supposedly 'biological' aspects of diversity in relation with those they perceived as 'cultural?' Was human biological diversity their primary epistemic object, or rather an indispensable epistemic instrument? And how were contemporary social and political valuations of diversity or unity of mankind reflected in their work?

At another level, the group also addresses historiographical issues, i. e. restraints and blind spots in the common understanding of the so-called 'history of race science.' Historians have often reduced notions of human biological diversity simply to the concept of 'race.' However, scientists used the term 'race' to represent human biological diversity only in the first half of the 20th century. After WWII, geneticists and physical anthropologists researched human biological diversity through the lens of 'population.' They supposed that this concept would bring about a more dynamic understanding of a biologically evolving group of humans. The expression 'human biological diversity' was first used in the 1960s and has since come to cover genetic diversity (in a Neo-Darwinian sense) mainly. The project thus also takes into account understandings of human biological variation that do not draw solely on the concept of (Neo-Darwinian) genetic variation.

Furthermore, each of those disciplines involved in the investigation of human biological variation has its own narrative of the discipline's engagement with this contested issue. Physical anthropologists, population geneticists, and human geneticists tell very different stories in this respect; the narratives of historians, historians of medicine and/or science, social scientists, and cultural anthropologists, likewise, differ from the former and from each other. In addition, Western historiography has concentrated on two notorious examples of 'scientific racism': Germany under the National Socialist Regime and the racial divide in the United States. Not enough attention has yet been paid to investigations of human biological diversity in colonial and postcolonial contexts.

Beginning with an intensive two-week-workshop in September followed by numerous subsequent reading and discussion meetings, the group has already formulated a shared theoretical framework and developed mutual interests and aims. A number of joint follow-up projects are emerging from these discussions, as well as a shared understanding of whom we would like to invite.

The five-year research project is part of the cooperation between the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science and the three main universities in the German capital, the Free University of Berlin, the Humboldt University of Berlin, and the Technical University of Berlin.

Project

From Field Surveys to Biobanks. A History of Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity

Veronika Lipphardt (Research Group Director) Susanne Bauer (Research Scholar) Alexandra Widmer (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

This subproject approaches the knowledge production about human biological diversity in the 20th century from the broad perspective outlined above. It draws on three case studies from different regional contexts and different time periods (see individual projects below). These case studies make it possible to address epistemological questions and at the same time to reveal the political and social dimensions of research into human biological diversity. The project traces tacit cultural assumptions as well as visual representations on their travels through research, discourses, and practices of diversity. It also considers the role played by different concepts of evolution, migration histories, and origins, and further raises the question how knowledge about diversity intersected with understandings of heredity, reproduction, and health.



The wave of colonial expansion at the end of the 19th century provided new opportunities for life scientists and physical anthropologists to assess 'races' of people based on body measurements and other biological markers. Researchers strove to map a chasm between themselves and colonized peoples. At the same time, knowledge about

Map of Migrations in Europe by Ales Hrdlička. This sketch of Ales Hrdlička is emblematic of a common way of perceiving and representing human biological diversity in its formation and geographical conditions. Source: Ales Hrdlička Papers, box 138

(Folder Maps), National Anthropological Archives, Smithsonian Institution human biological diversity played a more instrumental, but nevertheless significant role in other scientific endeavours, as for example in demographic, anthropological, and medical investigations of the process of de-population in the New Hebrides in the first decades of the 20th century.

To avoid the legacy of racial biology after the Second World War, scientists drew on the concept of 'population' not only in human genetics, but also in the emerging field of applied biomedical sciences. They assumed that this concept would bring about a more dynamic understanding of a biologically evolving group of humans, in contrast to static and typological notions of 'race.' However, the notion of 'population' produced new epistemological challenges that human geneticists tried to meet by pursuing empirical studies that warrant close scrutiny by historians of science. In order to acquire a sample population that would represent a biologically evolving group of humans, geneticists began to conceive of minorities as 'isolated populations.'

With the advent of molecular genetics in the late 20th century, human geneticists turned to the now available molecular methods to investigate human biological differences as an epistemic object. This is an ongoing process which has already prompted many controversies in the fields of medicine, genetics, the humanities, and in public discourse. However, human biological differences also played an instrumental role in new biomedical fields. For instance, epidemiological risk modeling at the end of the 20th century draws on a host of novel molecular variables—"biomarkers" of disease, susceptibility, or exposure—which are often used in conjunction with social categories such as gender or ethnicity. The project explores the historical continuities, as well as the effects of ever further differentiation into subpopulations, as these "biomarkers" circulate in biomedicine and society.

In all three case studies, the historical sources account for notions of 'unique populations' as a source of information on diversity. Actors draw on assumptions of 'quasinatural experiments' that operate either on an evolutionary or on an environmental scale. Initial results of this fruitful team-work will be presented in a co-authored paper at the Institute's colloquium on May, 5th 2010.

From Field Surveys to Biobanks Individual Projects



Veronika Lipphardt

Veronika Lipphardt (Research Group Director)

Tread Warily. Human geneticists in the field of 'human variation' between the paradigms of 'race' and 'population'

In the early 1950s, geneticists and physical anthropologists recognized a professional dilemma. On the one hand, they still found it important to study human biological variation empirically, and even more so in the light of the new evolutionary synthesis. On the other hand, the term 'race', that until then had prevailed in political and scientific debates, now provoked nothing but suspicion and criticism from other scholars and the public. Scientists responded to this challenge by engaging in political lobby-

ing activities, discussing the issues at stake within the scientific community, and redoubling their empirical research. In the last decade or so, historians have already taken notice of the first two kinds of activities. In several UNESCO initiatives and statements—accompanied by a number of popular publications, scientists from a variety of disciplines took a decidedly antiracist stance. At the same time, they initiated internal debates on methodological and conceptual issues. This project concentrates on the empirical work of the same geneticists and physical anthropologists in the 1950s and 1960s.

In general, historians have noted a conceptual shift from notions of 'race' to notions of 'population' after World War II, along with methodological shifts from anthropometric to serological and later to molecular methods. But these shifts did not take place all at once; it was instead a very complex process that led to conceptual inconsistencies on the part of the scientists. Lisa Gannett has argued that 'race' was by no means replaced by 'population', but that the typological race concept was transformed into a concept of population that was supposed to be grounded in statistics. Other accounts show that it was not until 1962 that scientists began to conceive of human diversity as being structured into clines (instead of a few, easily distinguishable races). In the previous decade, physical anthropologists, human geneticists, and serologists had attempted to argue that their respective disciplines and methods were the best way to explore human diversity. Following the establishment of racial anthropology and human genetics in the 1920s up until the time of the 1960s, scientists considered serology an objective means of studying human races, though it could be employed for very different purposes as well.

Thus, contrary to what some historians have suggested, physical anthropologists and geneticists did not abandon racial concepts in the postwar period. Yet the attention of geneticists like Dobzhansky and Dunn shifted to problems of human evolution (selection, isolation, mixing, migration, drift and so forth). The question of what their empirical work reveals about scientific practices and understandings of human diversity at the time lies at the center of this project. So far their notions of 'isolated' and 'mixing' populations have proven to be crucial in this respect: By establishing a sample population with the intention to represent a biologically evolving human group, they drew on cultural, political, and historical narratives of social isolation. At the same time, narratives of isolation and mixing accounted for continuities between the 'old race science' and 'the new populational approach': They were, so to speak, cornerstones of all approaches towards human genetic diversity.

As mentioned above, research on human biological diversity was not limited to the US, Germany, or other Western countries. To a large extent, human diversity research has been pursued in the form of transnational investigations in colonial and post-colonial contexts and in other politically explosive circumstances, where scientists hoped to find 'isolated' or 'mixed' groups that could be studied under clearly defined conditions. For example, in 1954 geneticist Leslie C. Dunn examined the "Jewish community" of Rome as an example of an inbreeding population. At the same time, colleagues viewed the caste system in India as "the largest biological experiment ever" ready to be studied by human geneticists. Other researchers investigated Bantu speaking people in Africa, or other allegedly 'isolated', 'homogeneous' groups. It is noteworthy that human population geneticists in the postwar period regularly drew on the assistance of translators, linguists, demographers, economists and anthropologists with specific regional expertise to study populations. Thus knowledge stemming



Hand-drawn map of the Roman Ghetto by Leslie Clarence Dunn Source: untitled map of Rome Jewish Community, Dunn Papers, series 5, box 31, Rome Jewish Community – Population Statistics, Italy, American Philosophical Society, Philadelphia

from other disciplines also informed the construction of a sample population, as well as the data processing in the course of the examinations.

Geneticists frequently noted that the conditions they studied were to be seen as the results of 'natural experiments;' that is, as results of isolation and mixing experiments that nature (or evolution) had imposed onto humans. Reconstructing their research design also means to reconstruct the conceptual consequences of this metaphor that have been imposed onto a somewhat messy social world. Investigating human biological diversity was not a laboratory endeavor; it required social interactions that saw scientists confronted with tensions between different ethnic groups. The project will therefore situate their work within contemporary political contexts and analyze the bio-historical narratives that the respective actors employed in situ. It is my aim to compare several cases with regard to exactly those narratives or myths of origin and diversity that constituted the core of both identity-building of human groups and population genetics in the 1950s and 1960s.

This project is concerned with myths of 'isolation' and 'mixing,' 'descent' and 'identity' in human genetics and physical anthropology in the mid-twentieth century. It will illuminate the crucial role that cultural narratives of human groups play in scientific accounts of human evolution and diversity. The Project will also be contextualized within a broader history of diversity studies, racial serology, and human genetics in the 20th century that has recently gained attention in the wake of the Human Genome Diversity Project.

So far, the major historical actors have been identified and numerous sources collected. An article with a case study of the Dunn's research in Rome is currently under review. A second manuscript, dealing with German research on human biological diversity and its international contextualization, is under consideration. The analytic framework of this project has been further developed and discussed in several other presentations and manuscripts as well. The work done so far has initiated several forthcoming collaborations with other researchers, including among others invited presentations at Cambridge (Department for History and Philosophy of Science, Jan. 2010) and Brazil (Wenner-Gren-Symposium, March 2010). Dialogues with physical anthropologists and human geneticists are emerging from these research trips.

Lively and fruitful discussions with colleagues and international associates from Department III during the first phase of the project have helped to refine the concept of this study, especially during a research trip to Mexico, where the research group director contributed to the Department's conference "Darwin: The Art of Doing Science" (Nov. 2009).

Similarly strong links were established with Department II. The research group leader had the pleasure to co-organize a conference together with Tania Munz on the "Sciences of Communication" (March 2010). The broad thematic scope of this event helped to highlight the connections between notions of human biological diversity and notions of other perceived human differences, such as cultural or linguistic ones. This will result in a new perspective on interconnections across the disciplines in the human sciences that are concerned with human variation.

Susanne Bauer (Research Scholar)

Micropolitics of difference: Soviet/Russian biomedical sciences from the atomic age to genomics

The study of "biomedical problems"—especially the effects of "extreme conditions" such as outer space, arctic climate or radiation exposures on human biology—has been a key research area in Soviet/Russian sciences during and after the cold war era. This project explores the production and negotiation of difference in Soviet/Russian biomedical research, in particular in the investigation of "exposed populations". The research disciplines involved in the study of "medico-biological extremes" in the Soviet Union ranged from experimental medicine to population genetics and medical geography: Soviet biological anthropologists mapped human variation according to molecular markers, and public health scientists designed comprehensive monitoring systems; biophysicists and epidemiologists "took advantage" of exposure situations as "quasi-experimental opportunities" to study biological responses to extreme conditions, in particular radiation.

Throughout the atomic age, molecular biologists made use of radionuclides as experimental tools, such as tracers and mutagenic agents. Outside the confines of the life sciences laboratory, epidemiologists investigated radiation effects on the health of environmentally or occupationally exposed populations. Late 20th century radiation epidemiologists investigated the nuclear legacies worldwide in order to quantify health risks. These studies operated in a quasi-experimental space—conceiving of the population (and society) as extended laboratories. The study of "medico-ecological problems" was not necessarily framed only in terms of exposure; on the contrary, this research also involved mapping differences between subgroups, for example in terms of environmental response and genetic susceptibility to exposure. After the cold war, western scientists viewed the databases and biobanks of the former Soviet Union as resources from which insights could be gained into the effects of previously unstudied exposures and into complex "gene-radiation interaction."



Susanne Bauer

Soviet human genetics was marked by tremendous changes in its frameworks and conditions during the 20th century—from early studies in radiation cytogenetics and the age of Lysenkoism, via radiation biology at nuclear facilities during the cold war, to "geno-geography" and international studies in radiation epidemiology that were framed in biomedical terms at the end of the cold war.

Early Soviet population sciences operated in a paradoxical tension between unifying concepts of the "new Soviet man" on the one hand, and a politically promoted ethnic particularism on the other. While most Soviet ethnologists of the 1970s viewed "ethnos" as an entity located in the realm of the social, hybrid concepts of "ethno-ecology" as well as "neo-Eurasianisms" gained prominence around 1990. Along with the gradual dissolution of the Soviet system, a re-negotiation of identities and citizenship— along the lines of languages, cultural traditions, ethnic groups and, at times, environmental exposures—took place in the New Independent States.







"Geno-geography:" Numerical and visual modeling of gene frequencies using three different mathematical approaches. Source: Rychkov, Iu. G., et al.: Genogeografiia narodonaseleniia; Genetika 26(2), 1990, pp. 332-340, pp. 335, 337, 338. By following selected medico-ecological research programs into exposed populations, this project seeks to contribute to an understanding of (post)Soviet biopolitics as it meets globalized biomedicine. Radiation genetics and the emerging broader field of environmental genomics in particular constitute a site at which—through the trope of gene-environment-interaction—human variation is being (re)produced, performed, and negotiated. The methodological points of departure in this project are the "materials and methods" by which physical exposures are reconfigured into quasi-experiments. The project investigates selected cases, techniques, and practices including population data-basing and bio-banking, the spatialization of genetic markers by egions and ethnic groups in Soviet "genogeography" (геногеография), the role of "somatic mutations" used as cytogenetic indicators of radiation dose and, more broadly, scientific programs researching "medico-ecological problems" which gained momentum in the 1990s. Relevant published material and archives in the Russian Federation and Central Asia have been located; archival research and interviews are planned for 2010 and 2011.

While epidemiological databases, bio-banking, and modeling projects were aimed at the study of exposure effects and disease aetiologies, they were at the same time constitutive of (and performative for) a multivalent notion of 'human diversity'. In this context, the project also aims to develop a theoretical approach to the study of diversity that is focusing on the micropolitics of difference and multiplicity.

Alexandra Widmer (Postdoctoral Research Fellow)

Colonial Entanglements with Racial Thought and Depopulation in the South Western Pacific

Oceania's biological, cultural, and linguistic diversity has fascinated European scientists for centuries. In the late 19th and early 20th centuries, the isolated islands seemed to promise lab-like conditions for the study of human biological diversity in the contested theoretical frameworks of biological evolution seen in inherited biomarkers and cultural adaption seen in material objects and psychological predilections.

There were also catastrophic population declines throughout the region at this time. The high death rate and low birth rate were not merely demographic questions, but implicated in debates about 'racial' and 'cultural decadence.' In the New Hebrides, now Vanuatu, the decline was especially devastating. This project begins with an examination of the racial concepts in research about human variation and depopulation from 1900–1930 in the New Hebrides.

Anthropologists Felix Speiser and W.H.R. Rivers, biologist John Randall Baker, and medical doctors Patrick Buxton and Sylvester Lambert at times mobilized and at times implicitly critiqued racial concepts in their fieldwork practices, representations of history, and recommendations for fixing depopulation. Henry Lane Pitt-Rivers and Stephen Roberts worked within the biological concepts of race as they debated the significance of unbalanced sex-ratios in depopulation or whether miscegenation was part of demographic growth or racial extinction. Roberts believed that miscegenation was important to study, and might possibly improve population growth. Pitt-Rivers, on the other hand, emphasized a separation in the concepts of population and race. 'Race' referred to 'pure stock,' while 'population' referred to the group of people in a given territory. He was convinced that the racial decadence was inevitable, even if, through racial mixing, the population would rise.

As a field method, W.H.R. Rivers collected genealogies, not as a method commonly used by Galton to show inherited biological traits or as Rivers himself had done earlier in his medical practice, but as a method to prove his "belief that in systems of relationship we have, like fossils, the hidden indications of ancient social institutions." Rivers' resulting work, "The History of Melanesian Society" documents a wide variety





Alexandra Widmer

Genealogy given as illustration by W.H.R. Rivers to his paper "A Genealogical Method of Collecting Social and Vital Statistics," presented April 24th. Source: W. H. R. Rivers: A Genealogical Method of Collecting Social and Vital Statistics, in: Journal of the Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland,

Vol. 30 (1900), pp. 74-82, p. 84 (plate III)

of social practices and kinship systems. It stands in contrast to the more common biohistorical narratives of the other researchers who attempted to represent, through the 'racial hybrids' they encountered, the history of Vanuatu as a narrative of racialized encounters between the 'copper skinned Polynesians,' 'woolly haired Melanesians,' and in the case of Speiser, 'pygmies.'

This project is also concerned with how the biological concepts of race were entangled with social concepts of race and forms of colonial governmentality in a culturally diverse and geographically dispersed archipelago with no prior centralization. All of the researchers complained about the lack of census data and most made policy suggestions to the British-French Condominium on how to solve the depopulation issue. For the colonial authorities, the depopulation problem co-existed with another problem: the lack of labor for European settlers. With this in mind, on the subject of imported Vietnamese workers, Buxton suggested that "Men as well as women should be brought, so as to avoid, as far as may be possible, the hybridization which might otherwise occur between the imported race and the natives". From the limited history written about the Vietnamese laborers, it is thought that they associated very little with indigenous people or Europeans. This project investigates how Buxton's suggestion and scientific concerns about miscegenation were implicated in how the Condominium attempted to manage the importation and working conditions of Vietnamese indentured laborers.

The project uses a wide variety of textual and ethnographic sources. In terms of published work, it analyzes scientific journal articles and anthropological monographs about depopulation and human biological variation in the New Hebrides from 1900-1930. With respect to archival materials, it examines narrative reports of medical tours of Native Medical Practitioners and correspondence between Colonial officials of the New Hebrides British Service and their superiors in Fiji and London. Post-colonial scholars of science like Warwick Anderson show the importance of situating the production of scientific knowledge in networks of material practices and knowledge exchange that include indigenous knowledge and politics. Likewise, this project is particularly preoccupied with expanding explanatory frameworks about demographic change to include indigenous women's knowledge and experience. To this end, this project entails oral histories with elderly women in Vanuatu on whether and how colonial measures implemented in the 1950-1960s affected their experience of birth, reproductive expectations, or child nurturing. These grandmothers and greatgrandmothers have lived to see contemporary demographers and other experts grow concerned with social and economic issues associated with high population growth. Thus far, published sources have been located and analyzed in terms of the major figures' field methods, representations of history, and policy recommendations. The initial findings of this work have been presented at the conference "Race and Encounters in the Constitution of Human Difference." In developing an analytical framework for the translation of archival material to academic text, work is proceeding in conjunction with a transdisciplinary colloquium for archivists, historians, and anthropologists of science and medicine of the Pacific. The holdings of the Western Pacific Archives in Auckland have been examined, oral histories conducted in Vanuatu, and cooperative links established with a project called, "Transnational Pacific Health through the Lens of TB" at the University of Auckland.

Guests

Mike Laufenberg (Predoctoral Research Fellow)

"Aus der Art geschlagen"—Interdependencies of Gender, Race and Sexuality in the Biology of 'Sexual Orientation' during the 19th and 20th Century

This project is part of an ongoing research on the "Government of Sexuality: Subjectivity, Truth, and Power in the Age of Biology." From a Foucauldian perspective, the government of sexuality contains a twofold genitive: As a genitivus objectivus sexuality becomes a matter of governmental technologies, i. e. techniques which aim at the extension of control over sexual practices and identities. At the same time-as a genitivus subjectivus—sexuality itself can be seen as a technique through which individuals and populations become governable. The project examines the constitution of particular forms of sexual subjectivities in the 19th and 20th centuries as a vital mode of operation of such governmental technologies. Based on the general assumption of a co-production of societal and scientific knowledge about sexuality, biology is regarded as a specific regime of truth-productions that has played an important role in both, the history of sexual subjectivities and the numerous attempts to make those subjectivities governable. In the age of biopolitics, genetic, neurochemical, or evolutionary-biological knowledge interacts with governmental knowledge. Hence, the shape and content of biological knowledge have become the object and medium of conflicts over the question of which bodies and ways of being are regarded as intelligible and life-sustaining.

As a part of the Independent Research Group, this project is concerned with a historiographical, theoretical, and conceptual framing of 'race' and 'human diversity' as interdependent and intersectional categories that exist only in their intimate, constitutive interrelations with other markers of difference such as sex or gender.

Eric J. Engstrom (Visiting Scholar, Humboldt University Berlin, Germany) Emil Kraepelin's Research on Native and African American Psychiatric Patients and his Trip to the United States in 1925

The aim of the project is to explore the rise of proto-epidemiological thought and practice in early 20th century German psychiatry. The project is situated against the backdrop of historical research that, to date, has focused chiefly on nosological systems and the influence of racial hygiene. The project examines the trip of the German psychiatrist and putative 'father' of DSM, Emil Kraepelin (1856–1926) to the United States in 1925. That trip was part not only of a larger fund-raising drive in support of the Deutsche Forschungsanstalt für Psychiatrie (DFA) in Munich, but also a scientific expedition designed to study the signs of general paralysis in black and native American populations. The project explores the question of how Kraepelin transformed his clinically oriented strategies of data collection into an epidemiological research endeavor. This 'epidemiological turn' in Kraepelin's work can be interpreted as the culmination of a research trajectory that saw him successively expanding the horizon of his research agenda, beginning from a laboratory based experimental psychology in the tradition of Wilhelm Wundt, then evolving into a clinically oriented psychopa-



Mike Laufenberg



Eric J. Engstrom

thology that provided him with the empirical foundations for his influential textbook, before finally expanding into a epidemiological project that was designed not so much to advance a racial hygiene agenda, but to sharpen, correct, and verify his own clinically derived nosological categories. Perhaps paradoxically given Kraepelin's strong support for the work of Ernst Rüdin and racial hygiene, Kraepelin's epidemiological turn seems to have had less to do with identifying racially specific disease entities than with honing his own diagnostic techniques.



Manuela Bauche

Manuela Bauche (Predoctoral Research Fellow) Science, Metropole and Colony: The Medical Discourse on Malaria Between Germany and Africa, ca. 1880–1920

This PhD project investigates the ways in which medical knowledge and medical discourses were generated and shaped within the interactions between colonies and their metropolitan hubs. The project examines the medical work directed at malaria from the 1880s to 1920, both in Germany itself and in its African colonies, i.e. Cameroon, German East-Africa, German-Southwest-Africa, and Togo. Malaria was a concern not only for physicians and officials in the colonies. In Germany, too, until well into the 1920s, physicians struggled to control outbreaks of the disease, especially in the north-western parts of the country. Grounded on archival material documenting this case study, the dissertation shows that the generation and establishment of medical assumptions cannot be understood as the simple outcome of a gradual accumulation of information and knowledge, but that it was substantially shaped by the social, political, and infrastructural contexts and spaces in which medical work was practised from European metropolitan centres to their colonies. At the same time, the dissertation aims to complement research on the history of biomedicine by adding a perspective that integrates both biomedicine's European and extra-European dimensions and that demonstrates that extra-European experiences of biomedical practice were not only relevant in the sense that medical knowledge was diffused from an alleged European centre towards non-European peripheries, but insofar as non-European contexts were of constitutive importance-for the production of medical assumptions.

Events

Discussion series "Historicizing Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity"

Beginning in January 2010, the group has held biweekly discussion sessions with talks, pre-circulated papers, or reading group meetings. The group has invited scholars from a wide range of disciplines and at different phases in their academic career to discuss their work. The focus has been on historical and current examples of notions of human biological diversity in various disciplines, such as ethnology, psychiatry, and other medical fields, as well as in biomedical institutions such as fertility clinics.

Organization of a Workshop

(Veronika Lipphardt together with Tania Munz, Dept. II) Sciences of Communication in the 20th Century

Planned for March 18-20, 2010

Scholars have long looked at language for insights into what it means to be human. From Franz Boas at the beginning to Noam Chomsky near the end, the twentieth century saw fundamental changes in the sciences of communication. This workshop aims to examine the range of disciplinary approaches to language (including anthropology/ethnology, linguistics, psychology, sociology, philosophy, and ethology) and the objects of their study. This is a cooperative project between Dept. II of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science and the Independent Research Group "Historicizing Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity."

Workshop Series: Concepts of Population

The biological concept of population has proven to be a productive and functional tool for 20th-century-life-scientists to approach the phenomenon of human diversity. But what is a population supposed to be? How have biologists and anthropologists defined a population and on the basis of what assumptions have they drawn the line between one population and another? And finally, how did scientists in their every-day practice deal with the fact that 'population' denotes a statistical parameter rather than a given entity?

In December of 2009 a workshop brought together scholars from different disciplines to clarify these questions. Evolutionary biologist Ralph Tiedemann (University of Potsdam), human geneticist Katrin Hoffmann (Charité Berlin), and demographer Alyson van Raalte (MPI for Demographic Research, Rostock) were asked to each give a talk on their disciplines' interpretation of the concept of population and why this concept plays a crucial role for their own research.

The workshop is envisioned as a starting point for an ongoing transdisciplinary dialogue between scientists and historians/anthropologists of science about key concepts such as 'population' within human biological diversity research. A sequel workshop is already in planning for 2010.

Database Project: Visualization of Diversity

The Database aims to collect visualizations of human diversity throughout the 20th century. It collects images mainly from published work: textbooks (especially biological and medical), scientific journals such as Nature and Science, scientific monographs and popularized science publications, and in addition also from archival documents, scratch papers, and from the internet, e.g. from ancestry testing home-pages.

Thus far, the images are sorted under four different categories: representations of human genealogies (e. g. trees), maps, visualizations of human bodies, and more abstract graphical representations of diversity (e. g. based on genetic research). The collection thus serves as a visual archive that can be used to trace the changes in different visual practices and types of representation, e. g. from the classic 19th century tree image of human origins to visualizations of human genealogy as a complex network at the close of the 20th century.



"Hamitic:" Draft Map of Human Migrations by Ales Hrdlička Source: Ales Hrdlička Papers, box 138 (Folder Whites), National Anthropological Archives, Smithsonian Institution



"Übersichtskarte der Sprachen des Erdkreises." Linguistic Diversity has been a crucial aspect of representations of human diversity throughout the 20th century. Source: W. Schmidt: Die Sprachfamilien und Sprachenkreise der Erde. Atlas von 14 Karten, Hamburg: Helmut Buske Verlag 1977 (Reprint von 1926), Karte I/Karte VII.



"Sprachenkarte. Gegenwärtige Verbreitung der Sprachstämme."

As mentioned above, linguistic diversity was also taken up by 'race scientists', e.g. Egon v. Eickstedt as a further proof of the biological diversity of humankind. Source: v. Eickstedt: Rassenkunde und Rassengeschichte der Menschheit. Stuttgart: Ferdinand Enke 1934.

Joint Activities

Overviews

Publications

Index

Samples from the Curiosity Cabinet, Courtesy of the Berlin Medical History Museum. Photo: Jan Kaminski



Joint Activities

Research Network

History of Scientific Objects

MPIWG ORGANIZERS Lorraine Daston, Jürgen Renn, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger Website: http://scientificobjects.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de

The Max Planck International Research Network "History of Scientific Objects" was established in September 2005 with the participation of twelve leading institutions for the history of science in Europe and the U.S.A. The aim of this five-year collaboration is to explore scientific objects: as things, images, and as concepts. The research network concept goes back to an initiative by the Max Planck Society to fund co-operations between Max Planck Institutes and other research institutions on an ad-hoc basis with the aim of accelerating development in new and exceptionally promising areas of investigation. Exploring the material culture of the history of science, the network is pursuing an integrated interdisciplinary approach to the topic, involving junior and senior academics worldwide.

Network projects not only deal with the character of individual objects, but also with questions concerning the preservation, collection and representation of objects. To this end, the Network aims at inspiring collaboration between scholars based at museums and academic historians of science. The Network welcomes and supports different kinds of publications, such as joint articles, mini-exhibitions or object-galleries in websites.

The MPIWG continues to provide the organizational base of the Network. All three departments as well as the library and the it-group are supporting the various projects. As part of its input into the Network the MPIWG funds two post-doc fellowships every two years. Additionally the Institute hosts Network workshops, meetings of working groups. The Network supports visiting scholars at different 'stations' of the Network. For example, Carsten Reinhardt worked in Paris on "Boundary Values," and Francesco de Ceglia pursued his research on the "Signs of Death" at the MPIWG. The input of the Network Members varies and includes privileged access to collections as well as co-organization of events.

2008 saw the second General Meeting of Network Members in Berlin, which provided an intra-network forum for retrospection as well as the discussion of future projects and on which the agenda for the second half of the Research Network was set. Given the two main purposes of a research network—to facilitate exchange between scientific personnel and try out new formats of scientific exchange—it was generally agreed the network has been quite successful in experimenting with and creating new formats. The Wandering Seminar in particular created, and profited from, considerable synergy between its members and easily attracted co-operation-partners. As a follow-up, if on a much smaller scale, the Invisible Seminar was set up to bring junior and senior scholars together in experimenting with the concept of object-biography (s. below). Other successful formats such as the Research Colloquium on Epistemic Objects and the Hands-on Workshop on Microscope Slides were continued; collective publications are planned.

One of the members' resolutions was for the projects and the network to be made more visible as a whole. Consequently, the network website witnessed a complete relaunch in 2009 to bridge the diverse Network projects and provide scholars with privileged access to material such as specified bibliographies. 2010 will see a final event in co-operation with the Berlin Science Year.

Cooperation with project partners, especially scholars based at museums, intensified over the last two years. New partners, such as the Institute Pasteur, were won for individual projects.

Network Members

- Prof. Günter Abel, Technical University, Berlin
- Prof. Jochen Brüning, Humboldt University Berlin
- Prof. Lorraine Daston, MPIWG
- Prof. John Forrester*, University of Cambridge
- Prof. Peter Galison, Harvard University, Cambridge
- Prof. Paolo Galluzzi, Institute and Museum of the History of Science, Florence
- Prof. Michael Hagner, ETH Zurich
- Dr. Nick Hopwood, University of Cambridge
- Prof. Friedrich Kittler, Humboldt University Berlin
- Prof. Eberhard Knobloch, Technical University, Berlin
- Prof. Wolfgang Krohn**, University of Bielefeld
- Prof. Thomas Macho, Humboldt University Berlin
- Prof. Everett Mendelsohn, Harvard University, Cambridge
- Prof. Dominique Pestre, Ecole des Hautes Etudes en Sciences Sociales, Paris
- Prof. Claudio Pogliano, University of Pisa
- Prof. Carsten Reinhardt**, University of Bielefeld
- Prof. Jürgen Renn, MPIWG
- Prof. Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, MPIWG
- Prof. Simon Schaffer, University of Cambridge
- Dr. Christian Sichau, Deutsches Museum, Munich
- Prof. Jacob Tanner, University of Zurich
- Prof. Helmuth Trischler, Deutsches Museum, Munich
- Prof. Peter Weingart, University of Bielefeld

* Professor John Forrester kindly took up the position after the death of Professor Peter Lipton in 2007. ** Professor Wolfgang Krohn having been awarded emeritus status, Professor Carsten Reinhardt was elected new network member in May 2008. History of Scientific Objects Working Groups

The Past of Science's Present and Future

MEMBERS Peter Galison (Harvard University), Wolfgang Krohn (University of Bielefeld), Carsten Reinhardt (University of Bielefeld) Dominique Pestre (EHESS, Paris), Simon Schaffer (University of Cambridge), Peter Weingart (University of Bielefeld)

Right after the foundation of the Network Dominique Pestre was invited by the Science, Economy and Society Directorate of the European Commission's Research DG to organize an exploratory workshop "to tackle the questions of the interrelationships of sciences and politics through various historical situations." The aim of the workshop and its report to the Directorate was to give some input into policy making at EU level about science and/in society. Other Network Members involved in this workshop were Simon Schaffer, Peter Galison, Peter Weingart and Helmut Trischler. In the context of the Network the Working Group set up a series of workshops on the interface of science and governmentality, with one subgroup (mainly Dominique Pestre and Peter Weingart) focusing on neo-liberal forms of government today, and the other (Simon Schaffer, Peter Galison) taking a more historical approach. The first activity was an intense, international one-day discussion at the Centre Alexandre Koyré in Paris in June 2007, on the relation of politics to the history of science. In May 2008 an open discussion workshop was set up to document the forms of Governance of and through Science that recently developed (s. below). The working group aimed at building political and social genealogies of these concepts and tools, to consider where they come from, who promoted them, how they are/were concretely put into use, how they transform/ed social practices.

The group proposed to re-do this workshop in diverse settings and for different historical moments.

Images as Scientific Objects

MEMBERS Lorraine Daston (MPIWG), Michael Hagner (ETH Zurich), Claudio Pogliano (University of Pisa), Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG), Renato Mazzolini (University of Trento)

Though scientific discourse on images is widely spread over several disciplines, with reference to images as scientific objects the working group found two areas of research still underdeveloped: the conditions of material production of images and the mode of visual thinking.

After an initial meeting with intense theoretical discussions the group decided to go on with two projects, one applying the biographical approach to the history of individual images and the other one putting visual thinking to the test by having the same image interpreted by scholars from different disciplines

The *Invisible Seminar* brought together ten junior scholars from various disciplines, chosen by Network members, who each develop and present the biography of a cho-

sen image. Between two meetings with members of the working group in Berlin and Pisa, the seminarians discussed their approaches virtually.

The Workshop on Visual Thinking as a mode of scientific reasoning is planned to take place in Castasegna in September 2010.

Epistemic Objects

MEMBERS *Günter Abel* (Technical University, Berlin), *Uljana Feest* (Technical University, Berlin), *Thomas Macho* (Humboldt University Berlin), *Jürgen Renn* (MPWIG), *Hans-Jörg Rheinberger* (MPIWG), *Claudio Roller* (Technical University, Berlin)

When something attracts our epistemic curiosity, we may refer to it as an epistemic object. In the sciences, epistemic objects are the fundamental objects of research. But what is the relationship between epistemic objects in the sciences and our prescientific notions of them? What is the difference between an epistemic and a scientific object, between an object and a thing? In order to provide a common discussion ground for historians of science as well as historians of art and philosophers, the group started by admitting and discussing several notions of "epistemic objects." A series of research colloquia has been set up, the first of which dealt a. o. with the dynamics of *Epistemic Objects* as well as their relations to signs and modeling (s. below). A second colloquium on the concept of *Challenging Objects* is being planned for January 2010. The concluding event in autumn 2010 will focus the *On the Concept of the Thing*. A selection of lectures given at these workshops will be published in the series "Berlin Studies in Knowledge Research."



Wallcharts in the Teaching Collention of the Zoological Institute, Humboldt University of Berlin. Photo: Jan Kaminski

Collections and Collecting

MEMBERS Paolo Galluzzi, Helmuth Trischler (Deutsches Museum, München), Christian Sichau (Deutsches Museum, München), Friedrich Kittler (Humboldt University, Berlin).

As a central project of the Network, an international conference on the topic *The Exhibition as Product and Generator of Scholarship* was set up in Munich November 2008, co-financed and co-organized by the Deutsches Museum. The basic hypothesis of the group was that exhibitions do more than merely visualize the results of research. They have the potential of stimulating scholarship and generating knowledge by posing new research questions. The conference investigated the exhibition not only as publication medium for a wider audience, but as forum to exchange scientific expertise. Organizationally, the group identified integrating scholars working at the museum as a major task of the Network, therefore one of the main aims of the conference was to get different communities, historians of art and science, curators and exhibitions makers, involved.



"Backstage", Courtesy of the Natural History Museum, Berlin. Photo: Jan Kaminski

Projects 2008-09

Microscope Slides: Reassessing a neglected historical resource II

Website: http://scientificobjects.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/scientificobjects/Slides Joint Workshop, 19–21 March 2009, Paris, Institut Pasteur ORGANIZER *Ilana Loewy* (CERMES, Paris) and *Annick Opinel* (Institut Pasteur, Paris)

NETWORK MEMBERS INVOLVED Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG)

The first Workshop in Berlin in 2007 had established microscope slides not only as a neglected resource in the history of science, but also as fascinating epistemic problem, due to their intermediary status: Slides are at the same time "things in themselves" (samples of biological material), "preparations" (artifacts), and "representations" (stabilized images of the studied objects). Similarly, collections play a key role in the uses of slides as depositories of existing scientific knowledge and as tools for the production of new knowledge. The second slide workshop was therefore dedicated to the collection, classification, conservation and circulation of slides. It discussed the origins of microscope slide collections, their architecture, material organization and links with other collections of biological materials, including the ethical questions that are raised by these collections. Participants also examined how slide collections connect numerous communities of practitioners and multiple social worlds. Collections of slides may be likened to Foucault's 'dispositif:' a network that links a heterogeneous assembly of discourses, practices, institutions, concepts and policies. These 'dispositifs' produced and continue to produce new ways to understand and modify living organisms, including humans.

The workshop was based on pre-circulated papers, and included discussion of papers by invited chairs, but also some 'hands on' activities such as visits to collections at the Pasteur Institute. A collective publication, intended to present slides and collections of slides as a resource for the study of the history of science, is planned; a preprint is in the making. As a first publication, a website for the project, Slides in Context, has been set up to present microscope slides as epistemic and aesthetically challenging objects and to provide a forum for collective material such as essays and links to collections.

MPIWG-Preprint in Preparation

Ilana Loewy (ed.): Microscope Slides—Reassessing a Neglected Historical Ressource

- *Brownyn C. Parry*: The Afterlife of the Slide—Exploring emotional attachment to artefactualised bodily traces
- *Flavio Braulin*: Variations of the Epistemic Status of "what is seen" in the Microscopic Preparation of Syphilis before and after the Invention of the Ultramicroscope of Reichert.
- *Oliver Gaycken*: "The Unseen World"—On the Circulation of Microscopic Slide Knowledge in 1903
- *Ilana Loewy*: Sex on a slide—Antoine Lacassagne and the Search for a Microscopic Definition of Masculinity and Femininity.

- *Maria Theresia Mayrhofer*: Biobanks in Practice—The Contingent Meaning of Collected Bodily Material
- Naomi Pfeffer: R slides us?
- *María Jesús Santesmases*: Samples, Cultures and Plates—Early Human Chromosomes
- *Jean-Paul Gaudillière*: Changing Scale—Slides and electron Microscopy at the Pasteur Institute Virus Laboratory
- *Paul Weindling*: From Scientific Object to Commemorated Victim— The Children of the Spiegelgrund

Governance of and through Science and Numbers: Notions, Categories and Tools A project of the working group *The Past of Science's Present and Future* Workshop, 26–27 May 2008, Paris, EHESS, Maison des Sciences de l'Homme ORGANIZERS *Dominque Pestre* (EHESS, Paris), *Peter Weingart* (University of Bielefeld)

The idea for the workshop was two-fold. To be considered were both the forms of government—the new 'dispositifs' and discursive regimes in common use in today's neoliberal 'governance' for which scientific knowledge of all kinds plays a decisive role—and the way universities and academics are 'managed' within that new order? This included considering theoretical works on 'liberal governmentality', starting with Foucault amongst others; considering examples of particular forms of government through types of 'dispositifs,' of 'technologies' that are developed—benchmarking, the Open Method of Coordination, the redefinition of quality for (statistical) data or the 'dispositifs' that are elaborated to include 'stakeholders' or 'civil society' in decision processes; considering the way 'ethics' and 'risk' are made central for innovation and the government of people and markets around techno-products; considering the new meaning given to certain notions and categories; and in particular how this all functions today in the management of higher education and research.

The central questions were defined as follows: how can we think about and describe today's neo-liberal form of government—that is to say, the intricacy and the hierarchy of devices, tools and categories through which various agents try to govern, regulate and administrate (i) scientific institutions, knowledge or innovation, (ii) products and technologies made available through markets or public authorities, and (iii) the management of effects and consequences of all kinds that result from such innovations (in terms of public health or the environment, for example). The aim of the workshop was to study this regime by placing these questions in theoretical, historical, sociological and anthropological perspectives, and by presenting relevant cases from various fields.

Epistemic Objects

A project of the working group *Epistemic Objects* Research Colloquium, 16–17 May 2008, Berlin, Technical University ORGANIZERS *Hans-Jörg Rheinberger* (MPIWG), *Günter Abel, Uljana Feest and Claudio Roller* (TU Berlin)

What are the dynamics by which epistemic objects come into being? How are epistemic objects articulated linguistically? What role do empirical methods play in the constitution of epistemic objects? What is the relationship between the shifting status of epistemic objects and the supposedly a-temporal character of scientific results? epistemic objects are the fundamental subjects of scientific research. They attract the attention and interest of scientists as well as of historians and philosophers of science and knowledge. The first research colloquium aimed to place a particular emphasis on the following four aspects

1 The internal relations between linguistic as well as non-linguistic signs and epistemic objects:

Both the constitution of scientific objects and the communication of the results of scientific research are conditionally bound to description and articulation by means of signs and interpretation. There are no epistemic objects without signs and interpretation. This relationship has to be elucidated.

2 The relationship between modelling and epistemic objects:

Many—but not all—epistemic objects can be construed as models. In elaborating on this point, one has to distinguish between the objects of the history and philosophy of science and the objects of the sciences themselves as well as the objects in everyday life. One also has to stress the differences between the epistemic objects in the various sciences and in the arts and humanities. The character and detail of these differences have to be assessed.

3 The dynamics of epistemic objects:

In theory as well as in practice, epistemic objects are subject to changes, modifications, revisions, broadenings and restraints, in short: they have their own dynamics and temporal character. Both have to be elucidated and analyzed accompanied by a close analysis of historical cases.

4 The relationships between epistemic objects and scientific experience:

The notion of an epistemic object is internally linked to questions about scientific experience and epistemic justification. Issues surrounding the nature and status of the empirical in the constitution of epistemic objects need to be addressed. Likewise objects' convincing character and our 'adaptation' of judgment according to the properties and features of the epistemic objects calls for close analysis.

MPIWG-Preprint 374

Uljana Feest, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, Günter Abel (eds.): Epistemic Objects

- Michael Esfeld & Vincent Lam: Structures as the objects of fundamental physics
- *Carl F. Craver:* Experiments, Instruments, and Activity Realism: Reflections on Early 20th Century Electrophysiology
- Günter Abel: "Epistemische Objekte als Zeichen- und Interpretationskonstrukte"
- Claudio Roller: Colors as epistemic Objects
- Jim Bogen: Worldly Objects and Epistemic Things
- Uljana Feest: Phenomena as Explananda and Phenomena as Epistemic Objects
- Hans-Jörg Rheinberger: Epistemic Objects/Technical Objects

The Biography of Ten Scientific Images: An Invisible Seminar

A project of the working group: Images as Scientific Objects/Visuality, Co-financed by the University of Pisa Invisible Seminar, 7 March 2008, MPIWG and 16–17 October 2008, University of Pisa ORGANIZERS Claudio Pogliano (University of Pisa), Michael Hagner (ETH Zurich), Renato Mazzolini (University of Trento) FURTHER NETWORK MEMBERS INVOLVED Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)

In the last few decades academics from very diverse disciplinary backgrounds have taken a growing interest in the complex issue of visual representation within science, exploring a broad range of types, aspects, and uses. The mass of studies produced has become increasingly wide and heterogeneous, now forming an impressive body of knowledge scattered throughout various journals and books. However there is no consensus about which questions and methods historians of science should apply to the investigation of visual records.

In the Invisible Seminar ten junior academics (PhD students or Post-docs) selected by network colleagues, were asked to write a paper on the 'biography' of a single meaningful scientific image, conforming to certain general guidelines. By following the 'career' of an individual image, the concept of object biography was put to the test. The network organized and financed two meetings as occasions for shared discussion with the senior academics involved, in between which the seminar participants work and discussed their projects 'invisibly' via mailing lists and file servers. The results of their work will be published in a special issue of Nuncius 2010.

Special Issue of Nuncius, 2010

Claudio Pogliano, Michael Hagner, Renato Mazzolini (eds.) The Invisible Seminar

- Lorenzo Beltrame & Silvia Giovanetti: Extraction of stem cells from the inner cell mass of a human embryo? Biography and social life of an uncertain origin image
- Andrea Bernardoni: Biringuccio's De la Pirotechnia
- *Jan von Brevern:* An erratic boulder in the Swiss Alps photographed by Aimé Civiale

- *Mirjam Sarah Brusius*: A fundamental photograph by Fox Talbot for Assyriological research
- Elena Canadelli: Schiaparelli Canals on Mars and the Martians Controversy
- Fabian Krämer: The Two-Legged Centaur by Aldrovandi
- *Stefano Gattei*: Kepler's "School of Athens" for Astronomy: the frontispiece of *Tabulae Rudolphinae* (1627)
- Omar W. Nasim: An Image of a Nebula: Victorian Stellar Astronomy
- Katrin Solhdju: Lateral view of the hand taken by Henry Head in 1904

Scientific Objects and Seriality

II Seriality and scientific objects 1780-1848

Workshop, 16–17 June 2008, University of Cambridge

ORGANIZERS *Nick Hopwood, Simon Schaffer, Jim Secord* (University of Cambridge, U.K.)

Co-sponsored by the Network

For a workshop on seriality and scientific objects in Europe and beyond between 1780 and 1848, historians of science and others were invited to discuss the relationships between the practical construction of series as objects of scientific study and the technologies through which such objects were made visible and public.

The two-day workshop consisted of very brief presentations by authors and brief commentaries, followed by substantial discussion.

Our provisional hypothesis was that there is a fundamental connection between the communicative modes in which scientists convey their accounts of the world, and the pictures of the world they produce. It is often noted that the transformation of accounts of nature and society in the decades around 1800 coincided with the emergence of new forms of material production. One way of exploring this issue is through the category of the 'series', as seriality can describe both an organization of communication and an account of the contents of nature. The notion of seriality seems especially apt in the age of revolution, when it became a central category in fields ranging from zoology and political economy to periodical publication and newspaper journalism.

Three serial registers would seem, prima facie, related in this period: serial objects, serial images and serial publics.

Scientific Objects and Seriality

III Seriality and Scientific Objects 1848–1919

Workshop, 15–16 April 2009, University of Cambridge ORGANIZERS *Simon Schaffer, Nick Hopwood* (Cambridge University, U.K.) Co-sponsored by the Network

Papers for this final workshop on Seriality and scientific objects, 1848–1919 were invited on subjects related to the principal historiographic focus of the project: the relationships between the organization of communication and accounts of nature's

contents in serial form. This project juxtaposes the emergence and subsequent history of serial and developmental models of natural systems; the sequencing of images, artifacts and traces of scientific objects in organized and deliberately serial form; and the significance of the periodical and journalized forms of publishing and communication in this period. The conjuncture of the second industrial revolution, high imperialism and the ascent of the evolutionary sciences proved highly apposite for an examination of the relationship between the communication, performance and knowledge of scientific objects.

Papers from the three workshops (January 2007, June 2008 and April 2009) will be selected for joint publication in 2010. This will result in a major edited publication on the history of seriality and scientific objects between the eighteenth and twentieth centuries in fields drawn from across the sciences, to be accompanied by systematic historiographic and methodological reflection on the models of sequence and seriality at work in the formation of scientific objects as units of knowledge and analysis.

The Exhibition as a Product and Generator of Scholarship

A project by the working group *Collections and Collecting*, Co-financed by the Research Network and the Deutsches Museum Conference, 27–28 November 2008, München, Deutsches Museum ORGANIZERS *Helmuth Trischler, Christian Sichau and Susanne Pickert* (Deutsches Museum München) FURTHER NETWORK MEMBERS INVOLVED *Lorraine Daston, Jürgen Renn, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger* (MPIWG), *Jochen Brüning* (HU Berlin)

This conference aimed at providing a forum to reflect on delicate task to balance research activities with exhibition works. Recently, museums in Europe have witnessed a growing interest of political and scientific stakeholders in museums as places of research. It has been claimed: No exhibition without scholarship; object-based studies and the exploration of the cultural context of the object are prerequisites for an intelligible presentation. But exhibitions do more than merely visualize the results of research. They have the potential of stimulating scholarship by posing new research questions. How can researchers take advantage of this opportunity? In which way can scholarly arguments be translated into spatial arrangement and at the same time kept serviceable for reading and citing by later recipients? Unlike for printed texts, the traditional publication media of scholarship, common standards of terminology and argumentation for exhibitions have yet to emerge. What exactly is the role of the objects on display? How do the objects unfold their epistemic properties in being staged for exhibition purposes?

The conference brought together curators, museum experts, designers, artists, experts in cultural studies and historians of science and technology to engage in a discussion about their experiences and expectations of the exhibition as product and generator of scholarship. A collective publication is planned; a preprint is in the making.

MPIWG-Preprint in Preparation

Susanne Lehmann-Brauns, Christian Sichau, Helmuth Trischler (eds.): The Exhibition as Product and Generator of Scholarship

- Susanne Lehmann-Brauns, Christian Sichau, Helmuth Trischler: The Exhibition as Product and Generator of Scholarship—An Introduction
- *Hans-Jörg Rheinberger:* Making Visible. Visualization in the Sciences—and in Exhibitions?
- *Jochen Brüning:* Exhibitions vs. Publications. On Scientific Achievements and their Evaluation
- *Robert Bud: Power,* Belief and Trust. A Context for Scholarly Priorities in the History of Science
- Martha Fleming: Thinking Through Objects
- *Walter Hauser:* Exhibition Making as Knowledge Production, or: Struggling with Artefacts, Visuals and Topographies
- Ad Maas: The Storyteller and the Altar. Museum Boerhave and its Objects.
- *Ulrich Raulff*: Old Answers, new Questions: What do Exhibitions really generate?
- Uwe Brückner: Scenography—Opera as Model for Integrative Design
- Thomas Söderqvist and Adam Bencard: Do things talk?
- *Thomas Schnalke:* Arguing with Objects. The Exhibitions as a Scientific Format of Publication

Network Fellows 2008-10

With her project on models, Kelly Whitmer is working with Dept. II and III; Arie Krampf's investigation of the central bank is part of the globalization project of Dept. I.

Arie Krampf

Central Banking as Scientific Object—Transfer and localization of economic knowledge in the Twentieth century

The twentieth century was a period during which the logic of the nation state was extended and a large number of new states joined the community of nations. This process was accompanied by diffusion of knowledge and practices and convergences of state structure. In recent years a growing body of knowledge has attempted to capture the way by which transfer of knowledge has also brought about divergences and emergence of differences between states in the international system. This approach emphasizes the fact that when knowledge is transferred it is also translated and localized.

In his work Arie Krampf combines approaches of political economy with those of science studies to study the encounter between "deterritorialized," "universal" and theoretical economic knowledge, on the one hand, and differences between countries in the context of policy making. It is shown that this encounter brings to existence local economic rationalities and packages of knowledge, which are bounded in local contexts of policy making.
The project focuses on two key areas in which such local economic rationalities are manifested: practices of central banking and categories of econometric (statistical) systems. The study examines how central banks, and the discourse surrounding them, have produced epistemic scientific objects, which mediate between transnational knowledge and domestic political-economic conditions, thereby contributing to processes of state-formation. The aim of the research is to map central banking practices and econometric technologies of representation within time and space throughout the 20th century. The outcome of the research would be an epistemological map that would enhance the understanding of the dynamic of transfer and localization of economic knowledge in a non-homogenous world.

Kelly J. Whitmer

Models of Solomon's Temple as Objects of Scientific Inquiry-

Models and the Middle Way: Performing Philanthropy in the Early Enlightenment Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz linked philanthropy to the cultivation of ethical techniques for producing knowledge about the world. Leibniz participated in an ambitious philanthropic program articulated in many Central European cities between 1700 and 1750, one involving the most eminent philosophers, theologians, mathematicians and physicians of the era. In the early years of the eighteenth century, Halle's orphanage commune, founded by a minister and Berlin Academy of Sciences member, became a key site for making philanthropy visible. Largely inside of this space and others modeled after it, practitioners worked to improve the intensive regimens of moral education and mission for which their institutions became famous. They forged links between spiritual exercises, observation, instruments for measuring and improving "inclination," and the characteristics of a divinely sanctioned, princely authority.

The project explores the status of models, and the techniques of model building, for early practitioners of philanthropy. It concentrates on the very large wooden model of Solomon's Temple that was innovatively used in the city of Halle as a visual encyclopedia by 1718. The Temple model became a tool for facilitating an intuitive, assimilatory grasping of relationships between parts and wholes, even competing points of view, through sustained and collective observation.

The first phase of this project involved studying the arrangement of the space of the Halle Temple model—a very large wooden model of Solomon's Temple that was innovatively used in the city of Halle as a visual encyclopedia by 1718—, including how it was built, relative to other Temple models exhibited at the time. The second phase has involved comparative analysis of the pedagogical uses of models, especially of machines, in several eighteenth-century German cities.

Upcoming Projects for 2010

Challenging Objects in the History of Science

A project by the working group *Epistemic Objects, in co-operation with the TU Berlin* Workshop, 21–23 January 2010, MPIWG organizers *Jochen Büttner, Jürgen Renn* (MPIWG) further network members involved Günter Abel

Recent history of science has paid increasing attention to the role of objects in the formation of scientific knowledge. It is acknowledged that prior to any theoretical reflections objects bear knowledge, likewise it is understood that objects, as bearers of knowledge, tend to play an important role in the transmission of knowledge, both diachronically and synchronically. Objects are preserved over time and can travel in space. When in this kind of transmission the context of an object changes, the knowledge associated with it is often transformed. Likewise the objects themselves as epistemic entities are altered when the knowledge connected to them evolves. Drawing on the wealth of insights that has originated from recent object-centered approaches in the history of science, the workshop aims to explore and elaborate a historiographical approach to the role that a particular type of object played in a particular period for the development of a particular body of knowledge-the challenging objects of early modern mechanics. This approach to the challenging objects of early modern mechanics has provided the basis for two recent case studies, one concerning the role of the pendulum, the other the role of fly-wheels for the development of early modern mechanical thinking. The aim of the workshop is twofold: On the one hand it aims to refine and extend the approach developed so far; on the other hand it aims to probe this approach by contrasting it with alternative explanatory schemes and by comparing it with the insights that have been gained in other object-center studies in the history of science.

Scientific Images as Objects of Research

A project of the working group *Images as Objects/Visuality*, co-financed by the Research Network and the ETH Zurich Workshop, 17–20 September 2010, Villa Garbald, Castasegna, Bergell ORGANIZER *Michael Hagner* (ETH Zurich)

The remarkable increase in studying scientific images has led to a fascinating Babylonic charivari, and this is not restricted to those situations when image producers from science and technology meet image interpreters from the humanities. If we consider those disciplines which are active in the business of understanding images after the iconic turn—art history, media studies, cultural studies, history and sociology of science, philosophy, literary theory etcetera—it seems that they look at images in very different ways. The idea for the workshop is to approach this diversity in the way images are understood by putting the rule to the test. What happens if an art historian, a philosopher and a historian of science all interpret the same image? What are their respective interests, their respective strategies when determining the meaning of the

→ see also p. 34

image? What kind of visual thinking is behind such an interpretation? What kind of experience, judgement and intuition are at play? Do we apply the same criteria used to talk about an eighteenth century botanical image to the visualisation of an e-cell? The meeting will bring together between twelve and fifteen participants including members of the network, those who attended the first meeting as well as colleagues coming from fields not yet represented within the group. The aim of the meeting within the MPI Network is to gain some clarity on the issue of what we are doing when we focus on images as objects of research.

On the Concept of "Thing:" Philosophical, Historical, Social, and Cultural Investigations

A project of the working group *Epistemic Objects* Workshop, MPIWG/TU Berlin, Autumn 2010 ORGANIZERS *Günter Abel* (TU Berlin), *Hans-Jörg Rheinberger* (MPIWG), *Friedrich Steinle* (TU Berlin)

Since Michel Foucault's Les mots et les choses (1966), the concept of "thing" (Ding, chose) has gained new currency in philosophical, historical, social, and cultural studies of science and of knowledge. The turn to the material side of science, the "scientific real" (Bachelard), in its many guises, is the focus of this workshop. Specifically, it asks for and intends to analyze the peculiar role of the concept of "thing" as compared to the more common notion of scientific, or knowledge, "object". To this end, it tries to bring together philosophers, historians, sociologists, and literary and cultural critics in a common reflection on past and present uses of the concept of "thing" for the study of knowledge phenomena.

Ways of Voyaging Through the Human Body.

A project by the working Group *Images as Scientific Objects/Visuality* Multimedia Seminar, January and November 2010, MPIWG and University of Pisa ORGANIZERS *Claudio Pogliano* (University of Pisa), *Francesco de Ceglia* (University of Bari)

FURTHER NETWORK MEMBERS INVOLVED Hans-Jörg Rheinberger

The Seminar will focus on the leitmotiv of the *Voyage through the human body*, which has often been played in the last few decades from different viewpoints, with various aims and outcomes. As for the beginning—although a 'prehistory' should be traced in medical writings and in generale literature—1966 is apparently the crucial year. A science fiction film (*Fantastic Voyage*) was then directed by Richard Fleischer; the movie holds the distinction of being the first to deal with the concept of "inner space:" in doing so, it created a new sub-genre. It inspired, among other things, parodies, an animated TV series, a painting by Salvador Dalí, and a double novelization made by Isaac Asimov, up to 1987. The frequent and growing exploitation of the leitmotiv by literature, art, cinema, television, museums, advertising, has been going along with the various attempts made by technoscience to scan interior body regions and to give

a visual rendering of them. It is likely that a circular process, involving various kinds of actors, has been producing a series of scientific and cultural artifacts which might be collected, compared, and studied. Within the MPI Network a number of young scholars will be selected, willing to approach the topic of the *Voyage through the Human Body* as a scientific object, entangled in webs of material practices, cultural significance, theoretical and social implications.

The World Knowledge-of Things. Scientific Objects in Dialogue

Final Symposion, 4–5 October 2010, Berlin, Martin Gropius Bau, in co-operation with the Berlin Science Year 2010 and the Exhibition "Weltwissen"

The planned symposion will make use of the opportunity of the setting of the celebration and discuss the role of objects in the production of "World knowledge," on the example of Science in Berlin, in the context of the Exhibition. Objects of the exhibition will be singled out for closer attention in form of a scientific dialogue between the disciplines: the perspective of an art historian meeting the perspective of a scientist, an exhibition maker talking to a historian of science ...

The discussants will ask not only for the objects' widespread uses and the hi/stories inscribed in an object, but also analyse the history of its preservation, its role in collections and exhibitions. They will ask for the objects' specific historical moments, how and when they became charged with significance, and what they meant to Science in Berlin.

Drawing on the work of the Research Network, which over the last five years has researched not only the concepts and qualities of various kinds of (forgotten) objects, but also the interrelations between object and text, object and collection, and on the expertise of the MPIWG in the history of science and exhibition making, the planned conference will create an extra room for scientific comments on the "Weltwissen"—of Things.



Historical Instruments for Eye Surgery, Courtesy of the Berlin Medical History Museum. Photo: Jan Kaminski

Workshop

Scholarly Publishing and the Issues of Cultural Heritage, Fair Use, Reproduction Fees, and Copyrights

Berlin, Januar 11, 2008 organizers *Christine von Oertzen* (MPIWG), *Kelley Wilder* (MPIWG, De Montfort University, Leicester, U.K.)

The purpose of this workshop was to bring together leading representatives from key universities, research institutes, libraries, museums, government agencies, commercial image providers and academic publishing houses to provide an opportunity to discuss experiences in working with and publishing visual images and cultural heritage items in academic contexts, especially in the humanities.

As science publishing moves forward into an increasingly fluid, international e-publishing model, the humanities scholars, especially those studying visual images, are being left farther and farther behind. They are constrained not only by restrictions to print and web publishing of images, but also by the confusion arising from conflicts of national, regional, and institutional policies concerning picture reproduction and cultural heritage citation. This is not only a question of copyright, but also a question of access, whether open or free, and to uncopyrighted information, as well as a question of reproduction fees and the politics of cultural heritage.

The Max Planck Institute for the History of Science saw an urgent need to address these problems and to communicate them, in order to find ways to ensure the continued quality of research and scholarship. More and more scholars, especially in the history of science, are using images for their work, but frequently their choice of subject matter is unduly influenced by availability or affordability of key sources. As an internationally renowned institution that devotes its funds and energy to fostering innovative research in the humanities, the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science initiated this dialogue to yield a better understanding of and a broader subscription to fair practices of access that are acceptable to scholars, museums, libraries, publishers and research institutes alike.

Participants at the workshop agreed that access to unique historic objects, images, or texts—cultural heritage—is only rarely a copyright issue. Access to cultural heritage is first and foremost a contractual matter. As such, access to cultural heritage is inherently negotiable. When repositories impose excessive fees on scholars, with reference to copyright they may not be operating within the boundaries of the law. In any event, by restricting access and use they are limiting in unforeseen ways the scholarly

potential of digital cultural media. The curators at the workshop emphasized that financial and legal considerations are not the only reasons museums and collections restrict access to digitized cultural heritage. Fear of abuse and theft also factor in how they make decisions about access and use. Digitalization simplifies the distribution of reproductions, opening the floodgates to forgery and incorrect attribution, a potential threat to the painstaking work of image curators. If an object can no longer be identified, it loses its value – not only to cultural organizations, but to scholars as well. As the trustees of cultural heritage, curators in museums and collections must guard against such abuse.

The particpants also discussed that some museums and libraries are demonstrating a renewed willingness to take into account the particular needs of scholars, exploring new ways to reconcile scholarship with stewardship. Several institutions presented at the workshop have recently begun to provide researchers free-of-charge access to some of their digitized collections. The Victoria and Albert Museum in London, for example, offers scholars this service from the museum's home page, while the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York is cooperating with scholars through ARTstor, a non-commercial digital library. Via the database Images for Academic Publishing (IAP), high-resolution images from the Metropolitan Museum of Art's collections are made available for scholarly use. These initiatives were seen as encouraging signs that other repositories will follow such important examples.



Rembrandt van Rijn (1606–1669), Aristotle with a bust of Homer, 1653. Image displayed free of charge with the kind permission of the Metropolitan Museum of New York (MET)

Following the January 2008 gathering of experts, our Institute, with input from all participants, drew up a set of recommendations to improve scholars' access to digital media. This document calls upon curators and scholars to enter into a new relationship to promote mutual trust and common interests. The aim of this compact is to address the pressing challenges raised by our digital present and future. We request that curators refrain from arbitrarily restricting the public domain. We further ask our colleagues in libraries, museums, and other repositories to accommodate the needs of scholars for freely accessible, high-resolution digital images. This request concerns not only print publications, but also new forms of electronic publishing. We exhort scholars in the humanities to respect the special custodial responsibility of museums, libraries, and other image repositories. In particular, we insist that careful attention to attribution must become part of each scholar's contribution to a relationship based on trust and mutual benefit.

The Best Practices Recommendations as well as a detailed report of the workshop can be found on our website

http://www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/PDF/MPIWGBestPracticesRecommendations.pdf; http://www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/PDF/MPIWGWorkshop1-2008Report.pdf

Participants

- Mitchell Ash (University of Vienna)
- Susan Bielstein (University of Chicago Press, Chicago, U.S.A.)
- Lorraine Daston (MPIWG)
- Carole Ann Fabian (ARTstor, New York, U.S.A.)
- Annette Godefroid (Bridgeman Art Library, Berlin Office, Germany)
- Hans Rupprecht Goette (German Archaeological Institute Berlin, Germany)
- André Gunthert (EHESS Paris, France)
- Kenneth Hamma (J. Paul Getty Trust, Los Angeles, U.S.A.)
- Frank James (The Royal Institution, London)
- *Volker Kitz* (Max Planck Institute for Intellectual Property, Competition and Tax Law, Munich, Germany)
- Norbert Lossau (State and University Library Göttingen, Germany)
- Catriona MacCallum (Public Library of the Sciences)
- Christine von Oertzen (MPIWG)
- Doralynn Pines (Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, U.S.A.)
- Jürgen Renn (MPIWG)
- Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG)
- Simone Rieger (MPIWG)
- Urs Schoepflin (MPIWG)
- Alan Seal (Victoria & Albert Museum, London, U.K.)
- Wolfgang Schieder (University of Cologne, Germany)
- Cristina Steingräber (Hatje Cantz Publishers, Berlin, Germany)
- Thedel von Wallmoden (Wallstein Publishers, Göttingen, Germany)
- Kelley Wilder (MPIWG/De Montfort University, Leicester, U.K.)

Information Technology

Overview

The *Information Technology Group* at the MPIWG aims to provide an optimal infrastructure for operating digital resources, tools, and publication channels. The specific task is to develop instruments adapted to exploit the promising potential of the digital world both for research and for academic publishing.

The IT group develops software solutions according to the needs of the institute's projects and maintains an infrastructure for publishing primary and secondary sources on the web. Hence the focus is on new innovative solutions based on open source software but also on stabilizing the existing infrastructure to provide access to Internet sources as part of an increasing demand from inside and outside the institute. Web presentations have become an integral part of research in all departments and independent research groups. These research web sites are jointly maintained by the researchers and the IT group; the sites give access to material relevant to their research interests and are part of their dissemination strategies of research results. Currently, 11 research sites are available online: European Cultural Heritage Online (ECHO), The Virtual Laboratory (VLP), History and Foundation of Quantum Physics, Virtual Einstein Exhibition, Cuneiform Digital Library Initiative (CDLI), The Archimedes Project, Database of Mechanical Drawings, Islamic Scientific Manuscript Initiative (ISMI), Drawing with Optical Instruments (Vision), Research Network "history of



scientific objects," Knowledge in the Making, The Virtual Einstein Exhibition in Pavia, "Wunderforschung," Planck Exhibition, and History of Science in a Garden (Pratolino). Thus the institute's web representation is one of the largest in the Max Planck Society.

The IT group also provides a comprehensive computing service, i. e. providing the most current IT infrastructure, desktop computers, conference technologies, data backup and printing services. The email service and high-speed internet connection is provided in cooperation with *the Joint Network Center (GNZ) of the Berlin-Brandenburg Max-Planck Institutions at the Fritz-Haber-Institut der MPG.*

IT Projects for innovative research

The basic infrastructure-developed originally in the context of the European Cultural Heritage Online Project (ECHO)-is constantly improved to face the challenges of a perpetually increasing demand. The current infrastructure is based on a highly modular set of extensions of the content management system and applications server ZOPE. All developments are, whereever possible, based on existing open source solutions, so that they can be adopted by other institutions.

In 2008 and 2009 new elements of this infrastructure have been developed; on the basis of an open source optical recognition software (OCR) software package, all scanned books of the library have been OCR-ed (totaling 2,500,000 pages). Experimental fulltext search is available on these texts and can be accessed over the ECHO,VLP and Quantum History websites. Internally, the digital collection of the institute's library can now be searched online. Search results are displayed utilizing the marking functionality of the institute's image display server Digilib. Although the OCR texts have only been processed with low recognition rates and still need improvement, these full text searches already make it possible to find quickly occurrences of concepts and terms in documents of well defined corpora, which was not possible before. In the future, it is planned to improve the search results through data-mining and natural language technologies, and using the self-learning abilities of the OCR software to improve the accuracy of the results.

This work complements the endeavors of the XML group to develop a workflow for $\rightarrow p.63$ the transcription of books into an semantically structured format. While the OCR project aims to give a rough overview over a corpus, the XML project makes it possible to analyze and annotate documents which are relevant to a specific research question in full detail. In the further development of both projects, the detailed analysis of selected documents, carefully transcribed and annotated in XML, will help to improve the search functionalities in the corpus treated by OCR by identifying important concepts and terms, which then can be specially searched in the OCR-ed text corpus. The IT group also closely cooperates with the GIS project of Dagmar Schäfer's independent research group. The goal is to make tools for spatial annotation useful to the researchers at the institute, e. g. to investigate the transmission of knowledge over time and space. Further applications will be developed for the globalization project and the ISMI project. All these projects are planned as starting points for building working ontologies that will help to structure and organize electronically accessible knowledge. These work tools will be made accessible to researchers in the context of a collaborative working environment.

Another focus of the development work of the group was the improvement of publication tools for databases. In particular, a web interface of the database of the Kant project was created, allowing searching and concept browsing. Systematizing the experiences made by designing the web presentation and backend for the different database projects (CDLI, DMD, Kant) a prototype of a new database system, Open-Mind, has been developed and finds its first application in the database of the ISMI project. It will be extended for use by the GIS projects. The leading idea for the new system is that a database as research tool has to be as flexible as possible; one reason why software such as FileMaker is successful as a research tool at the institute. In par-

→ p. 226

ticular, if new properties have to be added to an object or existing objects have to be re-combined into new objects, it should be possible to change easily the underlying data models without re-entering data and re-designing interfaces. Existing relational databases like *MySql* and *Postgres* allow this only by programming scripts and need the intervention of a programmer, other solutions like *FileMaker* run into difficulties if they have to deal with large datasets.

Another challenge in particular for electronic publications on the history of modern physics and early modern science is the historically adequate representation of mathematical formulas on the web. To tackle this problem the IT group has started to evaluate different publication strategies of formulas based on established tools for the transformation from *FrameMaker* or *LaTeX* in XML. Extensions and adaptations of XML standards as well as existing transformation tools to the needs of historical formulas will be explored in cooperation with *The Newton Project* at the University of Sussex.

Since 2008 the institute has acquired state-of-the-art 3D scanning equipment. This is part of its endeavor to provide digital representations of artifacts. A model work-flow showing how to scan and present 3D sources as part of academic publication is currently under development as part of the CDLI project. The Institute cooperates with other institutions working in the humanities within and outside the Max Planck Society , e. g. the **KHI Florence** and the *Istituto di Scienza e Tecnologie dell' Informazione "A. Faedo," Pisa* in order to open up a broad field of applications.

Preparing for the future

The existing infrastructure has reached the limits which can be maintained by a relatively small IT group. Moreover, there is the need to extend the use of existing resources for multiple purposes, such as viewing text and images not only in an web browser but also with more interactive tools such as Arboreal or data-mining software, or software for the spatial connection of objects, as developed in Department I (VirtualSpaces). In addition, the amount of openly accessible sources in the internet useful for research in the history of science has increased significantly in the last few years. Therefore a new infrastructure has to make these resources accessible to researchers at the institute. This challenge is two-fold: both social and technological. Socially the content providers and users have to agree on an interchangeable repository structure; technically such an infrastructure has to be developed and maintained. A stricter division between content and presentation is needed than the current infrastructure can provide. Therefore major efforts were put into preparing the migration of the existing infrastructure of the MPIWG into an infrastructure based on the eSciDoc project. eSciDoc is a basic infrastructure for storing and managing digital objects in shared repositories developed jointly by the Max Planck Digital Library and FIZ Karlsruhe. The IT group organized a workshop in December 2009 bringing together five Max Planck Institutes in the GSHS and the MPDL to consolidate the modules needed for the humanities, and to define priorities for the development of this infrastructure. The aim is to migrate all digital objects provided by the institute into the new system to render them more interoperable and easier to maintain. The involvement of the IT

group in the formation of a Digital HPS consortium is also part of this strategy. The IT cooperates here with institutions in the US, such as the Marine Biological Laboratory in Woods Hole, Arizona State University and Harvard University.

The IT group is actively involved in evaluating and adapting the existing *eSciDoc* solution for the needs of the institute, therefore the institute is running its own *eScidoc*server and an adopted *PubMan* server, where *PubMan* is an application based on *eScidoc* for managing digital publications. Currently the migration of the institute's bibliography is under preparation. As a test case for the use of the new system as research tool, the shared bibliography of the quantum history project is provided by the institute's *PubMan* server.

Services for cooperation and dissemination

As part of its standard services, the IT group offers Webmail, VPN, experimental Jabber and WLAN to all researchers at the institute. The IT supports up to 150 scholarly users, i. e. research scholars, guests, post-docs and pre-docs, in using the IT infrastructure at the institute, which includes the help with standard problems in electronic work but also the maintenance of web sites and the creation of research databases. The preparation of print publications is also growing in importance since publishers increasingly request the submission of camera-ready copy.

On the institute's web-site, multimedia content can be published using a standardized *Mediathek* which also can be included into project specific websites. IT provides support and a standard workflow for creating these content. In addition, the IT supports the documentation of workshops by audio and video recording. The group supports the creation of websites for workshops and projects. In close cooperation with Hansjakob Ziemer (Public Outreach and Cooperation) the IT group maintains and develops the Institute's website with up-to-date information about the research projects of the institute.







Library

by Urs Schoepflin, Library Head

Introduction

The Library's mission is to provide the best possible information services to the research groups of the Institute and to create optimal access to both print and electronic resources. It aims to develop effective services and infrastructures for research in history of science by exploiting the potential of traditional and new media for scholarly work and for disseminating research results.

To meet the evolving needs of the existing research groups at the Institute and to integrate new groups, particular attention was given to the following key areas: 1) further development of the collections, content provision, and services; 2) enhanced acquisition of and access to digital content and sources; 3) support of scholarly publication and dissemination activities by copyright clearing services and additional publication aids including the implementation of the Max Planck Society's open access policy; and 4) extension of the collaborative network of the Library.

Thus, the Library continues to develop into a universal information instrument covering the widespread needs of a multidisciplinary research area and is prepared to flexibly master new bodies of knowledge as new research directions and themes appear.

The Library's collections and services

The Library collections currently hold 65,000 volumes in print in addition to over 25,000 historic works and materials in microform. Besides the systematic collection building policy in line with scholarly needs, the print collection has also benefitted from special book collections entrusted to the Library, in particular, the Erwin Hiebert collection, the Max Born collection, the Assyrological collection of Blahoslav Hruška, the books donated by the Chinese Academy of Science commemorating the 30th anniversary of cooperation with the MPG, and, most recently, the offprints collected by the late Laszlo Tiszan. These unique collections are all of particular interest since they reflect the special approach of the collector or the collecting body to specific thematic areas relevant to the Institute's research.

In addition, original archival resources contain some 10,000 items mainly including papers of physicists of the first half of the 20th century (Gehrke collection, Rupp correspondence, Einstein letters), the majority of which have been made available in digital form.

Access to electronic resources has again been substantially enhanced to include over 30,000 electronic journals, more than 200 full-text and reference databases, as well as a number of e-book collections, largely as a result of the basic information provision of the Max Planck Digital Library (MPDL) and of the ongoing National Licensing Program of the German Research Foundation (DFG).

Complementing these holdings and resources, the interlibrary loan service has been in high demand and has maintained a level between 10,000 and 12,000 loans p. a. This particular service priority of the Library allows for rapid document delivery providing books and articles from a wide network of national and international research libraries within days of a scholar's request and responding flexibly to new thematic user needs. Thus, the Library represents a central node of an information network—which currently extends to the holdings of 451 individual libraries worldwide—, bringing together information from a wide range of relevant sources and making them available to the scholars at the Institute and at its collaborative research centers.



Digital Research Library and enhanced acquisition of digital content and sources

Access to digital sources and other materials has become crucial for research in history of science. To address this issue, the Library has unfolded a multi-layer strategy to enhance acquisition and access to digital content and sources. The strategy includes several elements.

The special program for digitizing and presenting sources in history of science in high quality color facsimiles from the Library's rare books collection and in greyscale images from the microform archive has been further developed. All digitized materials are accessible via a web-based Digital Research Library. The program includes the establishment of a special digitization group within the Library which is equipped and qualified to digitize material at a high professional standard at a rate of 500,000 pages p. a. The workflow comprises procedures to upload the resulting images to the online presentation environment of the Digital Research Library and to securely archive the master files. The service is designed to react flexibly to new demands in the short term. The program is working closely with the research groups at the Institute who present their research on the Internet and who can immediately integrate the digitized sources into their presentations (ECHO Project, Archimedes Project, Virtual Laboratory, Epistemic History of Architecture, History of Mechanical Knowledge in China, Jesuit Sciences, Early Modern Engineering Drawings, Vision Project, History of Quantum Mechanics Project, Pratolino Project). The ECHO open access infrastructure (European Cultural Heritage Online) is a key instrument for uploading and openly presenting sources on the Internet and at the same time for providing scholars with appropriate tools to work with the digital sources.

The Library has invested in professional mobile digitization equipment and expertise for systematically digitizing also on remote sites. As a further element, dedicated digitization campaigns have been conducted to acquire source materials in institutions or in private collections, for example: the Giusti collection of rare mathematical books in Florence (in cooperation with the Art History Institute); the Vitruvius collection at the Werner Oechslin Library Foundation in Einsiedeln, Switzerland; the Hilprecht Archive and Cuneiform collection at Jena University (using also 3D scanning, in cooperation with Jena University and Dept. I); the collection of Arabic manuscripts at the Berlin State Library (in cooperation with the ISMI project at McGill University, Montreal).

To expand the scope of the available digital sources even further, the Libary has negotiated several cooperation contracts with institutions holding relevant material and commissioned its digitization. A key issue in the negociations is to obtain permission to use the digitized materials freely and openly on the Internet for scholarly purposes. Digitization contracts for the following source corpora have been concluded and digitization is ongoing: Adanson Botanical Illustrations, Hunt Institute for Botanical Documentation, Pittsburgh; Humboldt-Herbaria, Botanical Museum, Berlin; Francis G. Benedict Papers, Harvard University Library; and Harriot Manuscripts, British Library.

- → ECHO Project, p. 62
- → Virtual Laboratory, p. 125
- → Epistemic History of Architecture, p. 20
- → History of Mechanical Knowledge in China, p. 159
- → Jesuit Sciences, p. 36
- → Early Modern Engineering Drawings p. 33
- → History of Quantum Mechanics Project p. 38
- → Pratolino Project p. 32
- → Werner Oechslin Library Foundation, p. 60
- → Hilprecht Archive, p. 27
- → ISMI Project, p. 104

The Library has continued to acquire and make available archival materials as major research resources and thus represents an innovative model on how to make archival materials immediately accessible to the research groups at the Institute and to their international cooperation partners. The ongoing digitization of the complete microfilms of the Archive for the History of Quantum Physics has for the first time enabled web-based finding aids and full electronic access to the materials of the archive. It constitutes a decisive scholarly resource for the international project group on the History of Quantum Mechanics and has been presented on a visit to the American Institute of Physics by the head of the Library.

The expansion of the scope of the Digital Research Library is continued by the Library's involvement with establishing the workflow of primary text acquisition and XML structuring to support XML annotations and lexical analyses performed on historical texts, e.g. on mechanics. This work is performed in cooperation with the IT-group and the XML-Workflow project, a group funded by the MPDL and hosted at the MPIWG. The Library has commissioned transcriptions of texts to two Chinese companies specializing in converting texts both from old western prints as well as classic Chinese.



Ryff, Walther Hermann [ed.], Vitruuius Teutsch. Erstmals verteutscht, vnd in Truck verordnet Durch D. Gualtherum H. Riuium Medi. & Math. 1548

→ p. 63

Support of the scholarly publication and alternative dissemination process

The research results of MPIWG members are disseminated in print as well as in electronic form.

To give our authors adequate support in dealing with copyright issues, transfer agreements and publishing contracts, the Library has established a copyright clearing service and offers advice to authors on contracts and copyright transfer agreements.

From opening up new fields of research to covering topics from a comparative perspective—challenges that invite collective rather than individual scholarship—, many MPIWG research projects publish their principal results in form of a collaborative Working Group Book.

The limitations and rising costs of the traditional channels of disseminating results with commercial pubishers are felt more and more, and novel ways that are more adequate to research needs are sought. The Max Planck Society is committed to the principle that the results of fundamental research should be accessible to all. The Society has publicly demonstrated its commitment to Open Access by initiating "The Berlin Declaration on Open Access to Knowledge in the Sciences and the Humanities" in 2003 (see <http://oa.mpg.de/openaccess-berlin/berlindeclaration.html>). Recently, the Harvard Faculty of Arts and Sciences adopted a similar open access requirement. Following up on this policy to make available as many research results as possible on the Internet, the Library took responsibility for uploading the Institute's bibliography and publication output (metadata and documents) to the MPG's central electronic repository for the documented research output of all institutes, the eDoc server. On this server, the searchable bibliographic data and—depending on the individual authors' agreements—the full text of the research results, presentations etc. are made

available for either internal or open use. To foster the awareness and the acceptance of open access publishing, the Library is preparing guidelines for MPWIG scholars with information about the open access process, electronic publishing in repositories, legal issues, copyright transfer agreements, and recommendations of what rights to retain. Alternative publication possibilities involving the combination of a technical platform to publish on the Internet with a book-on-demand service are under consideration.

The head of the Library follows up closely on the international implementation of open access and is actively involved in the annual "Berlin Process" conferences of the signatories of the Berlin Declaration.



Number of Publications of the Scholars at MPIWG

Outreach

The Library was involved in several collaborative projects. The two main aims of cooperating with research and cultural institutions is on the one hand the sharing of rare and manuscript materials to enhance access to these resources for research purposes and on the other hand the transfer of skills by sharing the expertise in maintaining digital projects to make these resources available on the internet. At the MPG level, the ongoing cooperation with both the Bibliotheca Hertziana—MPI for Art History in Rome and with the Art History Institute—MPI in Florence is particularly relevant in these respects.

In a number of international cooperations the Library's expertise was involved in digitizing and making available cultural heritage materials on the Internet. The Library is working intensively with the MPIWG's partner group at the Institute for the History Natural Sciences at the Chinese Academy of the Sciences in Beijing to digitize a collection of historic Chinese mathematical texts and to bring them to the Internet. The cooperation includes advisory meetings and training sessions in Beijing as well as in Berlin.

In the framework of several delegation visits to Mongolia on behalf of the MPG, the Library has further explored and prepared the creation of a Competence Center for Digitizing Cultural Heritage in Ulaabaatar. The necessary infrastructure was determined and a selection of materials to be digitized in the pilot phase was made. The Library will offer advisory meetings and training sessions for the Mongolian scholars in Ulaanbaatar and in Berlin.

Together with "The Collegium for the Advanced Study of Picture Act and Embodiment" at Humboldt University the head of the Library was involved in consulting the digitization of the Edgar Wind papers at Oxford University.

The Library's key concepts are advertised in several ways. In particular, the basic ideas could be conveyed during several expert visits from Germany and from abroad, and at a conference of the Max Planck librarians of the Humanities' section held at the MPIWG.



Digitization campaign in Beijing

Also in library education the Library assumes a special responsibility: it succesfully offers internships for students in library and information science to prepare for a career in modern library management. This has proved to be an efficient means of transfering the concepts into library education, a fact which is reflected in subsequent master and diploma theses. In addition, the head of the Library regularly gives lectures at the Humboldt University, the University of Applied Sciences in Potsdam, and at the Berlin State Library.

Most recently, the head of the Libary was appointed to the expert advisory task force of the planned German Digital Library.

Finally, the Library is actively involved in discussions on the concept of the Max Planck Digital Library (MPDL), which has now consolidated the central information management services of the MPG and hosts the eSciDoc infrastructure project, to which the MPIWG information services provided by the Library form a model counterpart at the level of the MPG Institutes. The strategic cooperation with the MPDL will provide the necessary support for further generalizing and maintaining the services developed at the Institute, integrate new services and secure the longterm availability and archiving of scholarly results in a reliable environment.

Library Team. Left to right: Sabine Bertram, Ralf Hinrichsen, Ellen Garske, Matthias Schwerdt, Urte Brauckmann, Urs Schoepflin, Beate MacPhail, Monika Sommerer, Anke Pietzke. Absent: Ruth Kessentini





→ Other projects participating in the Network, p. 110, p. 121

Cooperation and Outreach

Dr. Hansjakob Ziemer has been a new research fellow at the MPIWG since January 2008. As detailed below, he manages the MPIWG's cooperation with the Berlin universities and coordinates the general outreach activities of the MPIWG. Ziemer's own research focuses on two main projects: one on the cultural history of journalistic knowledge and a second on the cultural history of music. In 2008 he published a book-length study on the cultural history of concert life in the beginning of the 20th century in Frankfurt am Main (Die Moderne hören: Das Konzert als urbanes Forum, 1890-1940, Campus Verlag). The book shows how the concert hall of the last century served as a site where society struggled to come to terms with the cultural and social consequences of modernity. From a microhistorical perspective, the study connects listening practices in the concert hall, the contemporary discourse on the social meaning of music and the institutional organization of performances. In connection with this research, Hansjakob Ziemer is a founding participant in the Berlin Network for the History of Listening which was created in 2009 as a forum for scholars from the MPIWG, HU, FU and other universities working on the history of listening to discuss their work from different disciplinary and methodological perspectives. His current research on journalistic knowledge in the 19th and 20th centuries further develops his interest in phenomena of the public sphere. In that project he studies the establishment of journalistic practices as cognitive tools to describe, reflect and transform social and cultural knowledge of the everyday.

1. Toward an International Center for the History of Knowledge in Berlin: Present State and Future Perspectives

In 2007, the MPIWG entered a formal cooperation agreement involving the Max Planck Society, the Humboldt University, and the Free University, with the aim of establishing an international center for the history of knowledge. This new center strengthens the history of science in Berlin's universities and research institutions. Specifically, as a forum for historians of science, it pursues three interrelated objectives: interdisciplinary dialogue toward a comprehensive cultural history of knowledge; the cultivation of relations between the natural sciences on the one hand and the humanities and social sciences on the other; and the forging of networks among historically-oriented humanities and social science disciplines. The history of knowledge serves as a node among these disciplines.

The agreement yielded initial results in 2008 and 2009, including new staff hires and the strengthening of ties among those scholars working on the history of science in Berlin. The Max Planck Society has initiated two new research groups, and, together with its university partners, successfully concluded two search committees resulting in formal job offers. While one candidate, Professor Joachim Kurtz, was appointed a W3-Professor at Heidelberg University shortly after accepting the offer of the Max Planck Society, Dr. Veronika Lipphardt successfully launched her research group on *Historicizing Knowledge About Human Biological Diversity in the 20th Century* this past fall. Dr. Lipphardt is expected to be appointed S-Professor for the History of Life Sciences at the Free University in 2010, allowing Dr. Lipphardt to assume her teaching obligations in that partner university's history department. A joint search committee of the Free University and the Max Planck Society will soon name a second research group director. Two additional appointments deserve mention in this context: The Free University has appointed Professor Mark Geller in the TOPOI excellence cluster as a new W3-Professor for the History of Knowledge. The Humboldt University will soon appoint a new Junior Professor for the History of the Human Sciences.

The partners' goal remains to create dual appointments—at both the MPIWG and respective partner universities—enabling scholars to define future research In 2010, the agreement will be expanded to include Berlin's Technical University. The Technical University Berlin has one of the oldest chairs in the history of science in Germany, and the university has recently placed new emphasis on our field with the establishment of its *Innovation Center for the Study of Knowledge*. These developments were actively supported by the Berlin Center's cooperation council, established in 2007 and consisting of scholars in relevant disciplines from all partners in Berlin. The advisory board also includes representatives from other institutions with an abiding interest in the history of knowledge, including the Prussian Cultural Heritage Foundation and the Center for Human and Health Sciences at the Charité, the medical school for both the Humboldt University and the Free University.

The initial hires made possible by the 2007 agreement have occurred amid both heightened interest and dynamic changes in the history of science in Berlin. The research field received further impulses via new projects and positions set in motion at the Humboldt University and the TU Berlin. The partners have also begun to coordinate research-oriented teaching. Together, they seek to make the wealth of themes and methods developed in the history of science relevant to many different university departments and disciplines. To this end, the cooperation partners will soon issue a first joint course reading list. Further initiatives for 2010 and 2011 include a website underscoring the commitment of Berlin's institutions to the history of science. The partners also plan to hold joint events to mark each new academic semester, including a new workshop for assistant professors in Berlin.







Freie Universität Berlin, Henry-Ford-Bau. Photo: Reinhard Görner, FU Berlin

Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin. Photo: Heike Zappe, HU Berlin

Technische Universität Berlin, Photo: Ulrich Dahl, TU Berlin

Members of the Cooperation Council

Regular Members

- Prof. Dr. Rüdiger vom Bruch, Humboldt-University
- Prof. Dr. Christof Rapp, Humboldt-University
- Prof. Dr. Hartmut Böhme, Humboldt-University
- Prof. Dr. Herfried Münkler, Humboldt-University
- Prof. Dr. Erika Fischer-Lichte, Free University
- Prof. Dr. Julia Müller-Tamm, Free University
- Prof. Dr. Christine Keitel-Kreidt, Free University
- Prof. Dr. Wilhelm Schmidt-Biggemann, Free University
- Prof. Dr. Jürgen Renn, MPIWG
- Prof. Dr. Lorraine Daston, MPIWG
- Prof. Dr. Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, MPIWG
- *Prof. Dr. Peter Hammerstein*, Humboldt-University (representative of the MPIWG-advisory board)

Guest Members

- Prof. Dr. Volker Hess, Humboldt University
- *Prof. Dr. Hermann Parzinger,* The Prussian Cultural Heritage Foundation
- *Prof. Dr. Gerhard Wolf,* Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florence-MPI
- Prof. Dr. Günter Abel, Technical University

2. Outreach Activities of the Institute



Public Events

Left: Poster announcing the two panel discussions with Marcel Beyer, who was the "writer-in-residence" at the MPIWG in May 2008. The two events with him focused on the relationships of literature and biological knowledge and consisted first of a reading by Marcel Beyer followed by a discussion with Hans-Jörg Rheinberger and Safia Azzouni on "*Naturkunde: Poetisches trifft biologisches Wissen.*" The second event was a discussion of Marcel Beyer with Peter Berz and Christoph Hoffmann on "*Poetische treffen biologische Sprachen*". Both events were coordinated by Safia Azzouni and Christoph Hoffmann as part of the project "Knowledge in the Making".

Right: Poster announcing a panel discussion that formed part of the Darwin Year 2009 and convened historians of art, science and literature at the MPIWG on "Survival of the Prettiest. Evolution, Kunst und Ästhetik nach Darwin" ("Survival of the Prettiest. Evolution, Art and Aesthetics after Darwin"). Discussants were Peter Berz (University Vienna), Pamela Kort (curator-in-residence at the MPIWG and curator of the exhibition "Darwin. Art and the Search for Origins"), Winfried Menninghaus (Freie Universität Berlin), Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG) and Barbara Wittmann (MPIWG), who also coordinated the event as part of the project "Knowledge in the Making."

→ p. 136

The Quantum History Project contributed the texts to the spring 2008 exhibition → Quantum Physics Project, p. 38 "Max Planck: Revolutionär wider Willen" ("Max Planck: Reluctant Revolutionary") organized by the Max Planck Society at the Deutsches Technik Museum in honor of the 150th birthday of Max Planck. These texts were published in a special issue of the popular science journal Spektrum der Wissenschaft.

Physiology of the Piano: Lectures and Concerts on the Common History of Science and Music, II and III

Since 2006 MPIWG historians of science, musicians, and musicologists have analyzed the issue how and why piano playing has been a paradigm for the investigation of human physiology and psychology since the 19th century. In 15 concerts and lectures, they explored historicity and mutability of musical tuning in the sciences and in performance practice. Some of the results of those evenings were published in the MPIWG preprint series (No. 366). This series was coordinated by Julia Kursell. It is part of the project "Experimentalization of Life" that investigates the emergence of experimental cultures after 19th century physiology had introduced experimentation as its basic methodology. In this process, piano playing was considered to be a rich topic for the investigation of cognitive and motor skills, sensory perception and emotion. Pianists were invited into the scientists' laboratories as experimental subjects and collaborators. The series centered on such examples of collaboration, which continue to this day: they asked for the feedback between science and aesthetics, and explored the possibility not only to talk about performance and sound, but to make them accessible to a broader audience.



→ Experimentalization of Life, p. 120

					/ 1.
24.10.2007 - Honda Contact Contact The Source of Contact Cont		OF 03.2008 Commencements of the second of the last second with the transformation of the last second second transformation of the second second commencements on the second second commencements on	09.04.2000	11,06.2008 solve emiliario del la solución del del solo de la solución del del solo de la solución del del solo de la solución del solución del solución de solución de la solución d	the set
TANKA 17 An Anna 18 An Anna 18 An Anna Anna 19 An Anna Anna Anna 19 An Anna Anna 19 Anna Anna Anna 19 Anna 19 Anna Anna 19 Anna Anna 19 Anna 19 Anna Anna 19	1997				A #4
EINE VERANSTALTUNGSREIHE IM I	RAHMEN DES PROJEKTS "EXPE	RIMENTALISIEBUNG DES LEBEN	P. MAKALANCK INSTITUT FOR WIS	SENSCHAPTIGESCHICHTE, BERLIN	
SEBASTIAN CLAREN					·····
THOMAS ERTELT		PHYSIOL	GIE DES K	AVIERS II	··· ····
BERNHARD GÅL	VORTRAGE	E UND KONZERTE ZUR	WISSENSCHAFTSGESCH	HICHTE DER MUSIK	1424
FLORIAN HOELSCHER		1		Section of the sectio	P. C. Brancher and
KENIA HU	Sec. 2	1 441			officer in success.
BERNHARD LANG	100				
HEATHER O'DONNELL	100				
ENNO POPPE					PI
	Second Second	70	0	and the second s	
HANS-JORG RHEINBERGER	C.C.				
HANS-JÖRG RHEINBERGER NATALIA SOLOTYCH		A statement of the			and the second
HANSJÖRG RHEINBERGER NATALIA SOLOTYCH MARCO STROPPA				The second se	A SALES AND A SALES
HANS-JÖRG RHEINBERGER NATALIA SOLOTYCH MARCO STROPPA ERNST SURBERG	1			4/-	
HANSJÖRG RHEINBERGER NATALIA SOLOTYCH MARCO STROPPA ERNST SURBERG JOSEPH VOGL	10.00			*	E









In 2007/2008 and 2009, the following events took place:

October 24, 2007: Composer Bernhard Lang, pianist Heather O'Donnell, and philosophers Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (MPIWG) and Joseph Vogl (professor for German Literature at Humboldt University) discussed the topic of repetition in music and scientific experimentation. Their point of departure was Lang's cycle of composition "Differenz und Wiederholung" ("Difference and Repetition"), which was performed by Heather O'Donnell.

January 23, 2008: Ernst Surberg, piano and keyboard, performed music by Sebastian Claren, Reinhard Febel and Enno Poppe. Composers Claren and Poppe discussed two of their compositions that challenge the motor skills of the pianist. Claren's *Alkan* is a collage from 19th-century virtuoso Charles Valentin Alkan's fiendishly difficult music; Poppe reprogrammed a keyboard instrument, forcing the pianist to 'reprogram' the internal scheme of finger use.

March 6, 2008: An evening devoted to the relationships of music and space. Xenia Hu, piano, performed the sound installation *Mount Blanc* for piano and sound projection (2002) as well as further compositions by Bernhard Gál. Thomas Ertelt, director of the State Institute for Music Research, discussed with the two artists about this piece, which was especially designed for the institute's concert hall.

April 9, 2008: Martin Zenck's lecture on the concepts of taste and touch in 18thcentury was juxtaposed to Johann Sebastian Bach's Goldberg Variations. After playing Bach's cycle of variations in its entirety, Natalia Solotych introduced the audience to the various national styles of 18th-century keyboard music.

June 11, 2008: Florian Hoelscher, pianist in residence at the MPIWG, performed music by Luigi Nono, Oliver Schneller, Jonathan Harvey and Marco Stroppa for piano and electronics. Following the concert, he and the composers Stroppa and Schneller discussed the extension of instrumental music by live electronics.

May 13, 2009: Major figures in the history of physics such as Galilei, Kepler, Helmholtz, and Max Planck have been involved in the question that was discussed on this evening: the search for the ideal key board tuning system. Wolfgang Auhagen, the leading specialist on this topic, gave an introductory lecture, followed by a concert featuring the tuning systems invented by composer Edu Haubensak from Zurich. Tomas Bächli, piano, performed his pieces "Suite" and "Halo" for scordatura piano.

June 10, 2009: Hans-Christian Jabusch, professor at the Department of Music Medicine (IMM) at Dresden's Hochschule für Musik Carl Maria von Weber and pianist Ragna Schirmer gave two lectures about practicing the piano. Jabusch introduced the audience to the neurological processes accompanying successful practicing, Schirmer discussed the practical aspects of practicing, accompanied by performances of Chopin's Etudes and Liszt's Hungarian Rhapsodies.

Feature Stories online

As part of the MPIWG website relaunch in 2008, the institute started to establish a new format of feature stories as a portal to ongoing research activities at the MPIWG. Research fellows frequently present individual contributions of one relevant aspect of their research, or regarding a central aspect of the institute's research agenda at the front page of the institute's website. This format makes use of the opportunities of the Internet to make the latest research easily available and to offer links to sources, databases, audio-visual material, publications, authors and partner institutions. In 2010, these feature stories will be republished in a printed version.



Feature 1 **What (Good) is Historical Epistemology?** Reflections on a Conference at the MPIWG, July 2008 (by Thomas Sturm)



Feature 3 **Telling Instruments.** The Material Culture of Hugo Münsterberg's Laboratories in

Freiburg and at Harvard (by Henning Schmidgen)









Feature 5 Numbering Bees—A History of the Bee Language. Karl von Frisch, the Honeybee Dances, and Twentieth-Century Sciences of Communication (by Tania Munz)

Feature 6 **The Physiology of the Piano**— **Keystroke Experiments During the 1920s.** The Moscow Neurophysiologist Nikolai Bernstein Brought Piano Virtuosos into the Laboratory (by Julia Kursell)

Feature 7 **Who Were Einstein's Opponents?** Popular Opposition to the Theory of Relativity in the 1920s (by Milena Wazeck)

MPIWG RESEARCH REPORT 2008-2009 235







Feature 8 Dreaming in and of Neurophilosophy.

Feature 9 **Historicizing Knowledge about Human Biodiversity.** An Independent Research Group Is Investigating the History of the Biosciences during the Twentieth Century (by Veronika Lipphardt)



Feature 10 **Galileo and the Others**— **Background to a Revolution in Astronomy.** To mark the anniversary of Galileo's discovery of Jupiter's moons *Sterne und Weltraum* will publish a special issue (by Matteo Valleriani, Jakob Staude and Jürgen Renn)

Overviews

Researchers and Guests

Oscar João Abdounur, Ph. D., Professor Associado, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil (Visiting Scholar, February 1, 2008–January 31, 2009 and December 12, 2009–January 9, 2010): The Effect of Epistemological Principles in the Historical Development of Mathematical Ideas

Naamah Akavia, University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, January 1, 2008 – March 31, 2008 and October 2008 – December 2008, funded by UCLA and MPIWG): The Aesthetics of Psychotherapeutic Dynamics

Gadi Algazi, Ph. D., Associate Professor for History at Tel Aviv University, Israel (Visiting Scholar, July 1–August 31, 2009): Households of Knowledge: Reshaping the Scholarly Habitus, 1300–1600

Kirsti Andersen, Dr., Professor at the Department of Science Studies, Aarhus University, Denmark (Visiting Scholar, August 3–October 28, 2009, funded by the Aarhus University, Denmark): The Early History of the Logarithms

Daniel Andersson, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2007– August 31, 2010): Styles of Observation and Experience in Renaissance Aristotelianism

Lígia Arantes Sad, Dr., Professor of the History of Mathematics at the Federal University of Espírito Santo, Brazil (Visiting Scholar, October 15– December 14, 2008): Mathematics Education in an Intercultural Perspective for Native Brazilians (Indians) in the State of Espírito Santo

Mitchell G. Ash, Ph. D., Ordentlicher Universitätsprofessor für Geschichte der Neuzeit, Universität Wien, Austria (Visiting Scholar, June 2–July 24, 2009, funded by the Universität Wien, Austria): Scientific and Political Changes in 20th-Century Germany and Austria—1918, 1933/38, 1945, 1989/90 *Safia Azzouni*, Dr. (Karl Schädler Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2008 – June 30, 2010, funded by the Liechtenstein Fonds for the History of Science): The Popular Science Book: A New Genre between Literature and Science in the Late Nineteenth and Early Twentieth Centuries

Nikolaus Bacht, Dr. (Emmy Noether Research Group Director, October 1, 2008 – September 30, 2011, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft): Philosophy and History of Listening

Massimiliano Badino, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, June 1, 2005 – September 30, 2011): Thermodynamics and Statistical Mechanics from Boltzmann to Planck

Manuela Bauche, Leipzig University, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, January 1– March 31, 2010): Science, Metropole and Colony: The Medical Discourse on Malaria between Germany and Africa, ca. 1880–1920

Susanne Bauer, Dr. (Research Scholar, September 1, 2009 – August 31, 2012): Micropolitics of Difference: Soviet/Russian Biomedical Sciences from the Atomic Age to Genomics

Antonio Becchi, Dr.-Ing. (Visiting Scholar (intermittent), May 15, 2002–September 30, 2010): Epistemic History of Architecture

Viola van Beek, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, July 1, 2007–June 30, 2009): Codes of Experimenting and Experimental Spaces around 1900

Domenico Bertoloni-Meli, Ph. D., Professor of History and Philosophy of Science, Indiana University, Bloomington, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, May 1–June 30, 2009): Observing Life Processes: Vivisection from Colombo to Haller

Peter Beurton, Dr. (Research Scholar, September 1, 1994 – March 31, 2006, associated): Research Strategies in Biological Evolutionary Theory; Modern Darwinism and the Philosophy of Science

Marcel Beyer, (Author in Residence, April 21–May 31, 2008): Explorations and the Nature of Language: Research as a Process

Charlotte Bigg, Ph. D., Centre Alexandre Koyré/CNRS, Paris, France (Visiting Scholar, January 1–April 30, 2009): Brownian Motion Research c. 1900

Estelle Blaschke, E.H.E.S.S./Université Paris I—Sorbonne, France (Predoctoral Research Fellow, November 1, 2009–September 30, 2010): From the Picture Archive to the Image Bank: Commercializing the Visual through Photography

David Bloor, Ph. D., Professor of Sociology of Science at the University of Edinburgh, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, April 1–June 30, 2008): Rival Theories of Aerofoil, 1904–1926

Hans Erich Bödeker, Dr. (Research Scholar, December 1, 2006 – November 30, 2009): The Emergence of the Modern Social and Human Sciences

Bernhard Bolech, Universität Wien, Austria (Predoctoral Research Fellow, May 1–June 30, 2009, funded by the Universität Wien, Austria): Brain Research and the Human Sciences in Vienna around 1900

Stefan Borchers, Dr. des. (Karl Schädler Postdoctoral Research Fellow, March 1, 2009–February 28, 2011, funded by the Liechtenstein Fonds for the History of Science): Propagation of the Soul–Inheritance of the Sin

Francesca Bordogna, Ph. D., Associate Professor, Northwestern University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, October 1, 2009–May 31, 2010): The Pragmatist Hotel: Psychology as a Way of Life

Arianna Borrelli, Dr. (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2005–January 31, 2010, funded by the Fritz-Haber-Institut der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft): The Role of Molecules in the Development of Quantum Mechanics, with a Special Regard for the Contribution of Michael Polanyi and Eugene Wigner

Henk Bos, Ph. D., Prof. em. Aarhus University, Denmark and University of Utrecht, The Netherlands (Visiting Scholar, August 3–October 28, 2009, funded by the Aarhus University, Denmark): The Early Modern Tradition of Geometrical Problem Solving

Adam Bostanci, PHG Foundation Lecturer in Social Sciences, University of Cambridge, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, June 1–August 31, 2009): Social Dimensions of Human Genomics, and of (Non-Invasive) Prenatal Diagnosis

Marie-Noëlle Bourguet, Dr., Professeur d'histoire moderne, Université Paris 7, France (Visiting Scholar, February 1–June 30, 2009): À la vue des choses: The Scientific Traveller's Notebook (18th–19th Century)

Robert Brain, Ph. D., Assistant Professor, Department of History, University of British Columbia, Canada (Visiting Scholar, October 1–October 31, 2009): The Pulse of Modernism: Experimental Phonetics and the Invention of Free Verse and All-Sound Performance

Katharina Brandenberger, Universität Zürich, Switzerland (Predoctoral Research Fellow, November 1, 2009–April 30, 2010, funded by the Schweizerischer Nationalfonds): Psychotropic Drugs in Clinics and Society, 1950–1970

Thomas Brandstetter, Dr. (Visiting Scholar, August 1–August 31, 2008): Knowledge and Imitation. Mimetic Experiments in the Sciences around 1900

Christina Brandt, Dr. (Research Scholar, June 1, 2003–January 31, 2011, funded by the Minerva Program of the Max Planck Society): Reproduction in Biology. Configurations between Science and Culture, 1900–2000

Jean-François Braunstein, Ph. D., Professor of Philosophy at the University of Paris 1, France (Visiting Scholar, June 1–July 31, 2008): The History of Historical Epistomology in the French Context.

Francesca Bray, Ph. D., Professor of Social Anthropology, University of Edinburgh, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, October 15–November 30, 2009): Significant Technologies: Rethinking Technology as a Heuristic in Chinese History

Marco Bresadola, Ph. D., Assistent Professor at the University of Ferrara, Italy (Visiting Scholar, May 1–June 30, 2008): Practices of Observation in Italian Anatomy and Life Sciences, ca. 1660–1720.

Charlotte Brives, Ph. D., Université Victor Segalen, Bordeaux II, France (Visiting Scholar, June 15 – September 15, 2008): Yeast Saccharomyces Cerevisiae as a Model Organism: Co-emergence of a Natural Entity and an Epistemic Community

Mirjam Sarah Brusius, M.A., Ph. D. Candidate, University of Cambridge, U.K. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, April 1, 2009–June 30, 2010, funded by the Gerda Henkel Stiftung, AHRC, Cambridge Trust): Preserving the Forgotten—William Henry Fox Talbot, Photography and the Antique

Jochen Büttner, Dipl. Phys. (Research Scholar, July 1, 2004–December 31, 2012, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft): Early Modern Mechanics

Raúl Cabello, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Spain (Predoctoral Research Fellow, February 4–April 25, 2008 and May 2–July 27, 2009, funded by the Gobierno Vasco/Basque Government, Spain): Science-War Relations in Wilhelminian Germany.

Silvia Caianiello, L'Istituto per la Storia del Pensiero Filosofico e Scientifico Moderno (ISPF), Napoli, Italy (Visiting Scholar, August 27, 2007–July 31, 2008, funded by the Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Italy): History and Philosophy of the Notion of Modularity in the Life Sciences

Luis Campos, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2007–September 30, 2008): Synthetic Biology: Engineering Life in the Test Tube

Jimena Canales, Ph. D., Assistant Professor of the History of Science, Harvard University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 1–June 30, 2009): Individual Differences in Observation and Reaction

John Carson, Ph. D., Associate Professor for History at the University of Michigan, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, January 5–July 31, 2009): Mental Ability and the Birth of Medical Jurisprudence

Giuseppe Castagnetti, (Research Scholar, April 1, 2003 – September 30, 2011): History of Institutions of Physics in the 20th Century; Political and Social Context of Albert Einstein's Activities in Berlin.

Robert Casties, Dr. (Research Scholar since January 1, 2002): Information Technology Group

Francesco Paolo de Ceglia, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, October 1–December 31, 2009): Signs of Death

Grégoire Chamayou, Ph. D. (Research Scholar, September 1, 2009–August 31, 2012): The History and Philosophy of "Traceability"

Yue CHEN, Institute for the History of Natural Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China (Predoctoral Research Fellow, April 1–September 30, 2008)

Tobias Cheung, PD Dr. (Visiting Scholar, April 1–December 31, 2009, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft—Heisenberg Programm): Stimulus-Reaction-Schemes in Psychologies, Anthropologies, Urban Systems, and the Life Sciences 1830–1950.

Suparna Choudhury, Ph. D. (Research Scholar, September 1, 2008–August 31, 2014, funded by the Minerva Program of the Max Planck Society): Constructions of the Brain: Critical Neuroscience and the Adolescent Brain

Pingyi CHU, Ph. D., Associate Research Fellow, Institute of History & Philology, Academia Sinica, Taipei, Taiwan (Visiting Scholar, September 1–October 15, 2009): Construction of Disease and Narrating the Pain

Alix Cooper, Ph. D., Associate Professor of History at the State University of New York at Stony Brook, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, September 1–November 30, 2008, funded by the SUNY-Stony Brook): Domestic Matters: Family, Household, and the Labors of Observation in Early Modern Europe

Jacob Lebovitch Dahl, Ph. D., Lecturer of Oriental Studies at the University of Oxford, U.K. (Research Scholar, October 1, 2005 – September 30, 2008): Sumerian, Pre-classical Socio-economic History, and Early Near Eastern Writing Systems

Peter Damerow, PD Dr. (Research Scholar, January 1, 1997–December 31, 2005, associated): History of Science and Education, Individual and Historical Development of Cognition, Genesis of Writing and Arithmetic, History of Mathematics and Physics in Ancient and Early Modern Period

Lorraine Daston, Ph. D., Professor, Committee on Social Thought, University of Chicago, U.S.A., Honorarprofessorin für Wissenschaftsgeschichte an der Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Director at the MPIWG since July 15, 1995): History of Scientific Observation, Cognitive Practices of Science

Didier Debaise, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2008–January 31, 2011, funded by the Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung): Pragmatism and the Life Sciences. The Emergence of an Evolutionary Philosophy

Elisabeth Decultot, Dr., Directrice de recherche au Centre national de la recherche scientifique, Paris, France (Visiting Scholar, May 1–May 31, 2008, funded by the Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung): Aesthetics and History of Art in the Eighteen Century (particulary Winckelmann, Sulzer)

Tamás Demeter, Ph. D. (Lorenz Krüger Postdoctoral Research Fellow, June 1, 2008 – October 31, 2010): Hume and the Ideology of the Scientific Revolution

Emmanuel Didier, Ph. D., Research Fellow at the French National Center for Scientific Research, France (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, March 23–August 8, 2008): US Survey Statistics during the Interwar Period

Otniel E. Dror, MD, Ph. D., Senior Lecturer at the Hebrew University Jerusalem, Israel (Visiting Scholar, August 30–September 19, 2009): The Adrenaline Century, 1900–2000

Stéphanie Dupouy, Ph. D., Institut d'histoire et de philosophie de sciences et des techniques, Université Paris 1, France (Visiting Scholar, February 1–March 31, 2009): History of Experimentation in Psychology, 19th–20th Century

Maarten van Dyck, Dr. (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2007–February 29, 2008, funded by the Research Foundation–Flanders): Early Modern Mechanics from Guidobaldo del Monte to Christiaan Huygens

Elizabeth Edwards, Professor and Senior Research Fellow at the University of the Arts London, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, February 19–March 28, 2008): Camera as Historian: Photography, Survey, and the Construction of an Historical Topography. 1885–1918

Miki Elazar, (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2009 – December 31, 2010): Jesuit Science in the 17th Century

Eric J. Engstrom, Ph. D., Research Associate, Department of History, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Visiting Scholar, November 1, 2009–January 31, 2010): Emil Kraepelin's Research on Native and African American Psychiatric Patients and his Trip to the United States in 1925 **Rand B. Evans**, Ph. D., Professor at the Department of Psychology, East Carolina University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, May 1–May 31, 2009): Wilhelm Wundt and the Astronomers: Stellar Transits and the Measurement of Prior Entry in the Beginning of Experimental Psychology

Aude Fauvel, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2009 – August 31, 2010): Women, Madness, and Psychiatry in France. From 'Insane Females' to Women Doctores

Andrew M. Fearnley, Cambridge University, U.K. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2009 – February 28, 2010): Methods to Madness: Race, Knowledge and American Psychiatry, 1880–2000

Johannes Fehr, Dr. phil., Titularprofessor, Leiter des Ludwik Fleck Zentrums am Collegium Helveticum der ETH Zürich, Switzerland (Visiting Scholar, February 15 – May 15, 2009): The Role of Language in Fleck's Thinking on Science and Cognition

Rivka Feldhay, Ph. D., Associate Professor at the Cohn Institute for the History and Philosophy of Science and Ideas at Tel Aviv University, Israel (Visiting Scholar, July 22–August 31, 2008 and August 1–September 1, 2009): Jesuits on Statics, Dynamics, Mathematics, and Astronomy between Galileo and Newton

Jiren FENG, Ph. D., School of Languages and Cultures, Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2006 – September 30, 2008): History of Chinese Art and Architecture—Cultural Traditions of Architectural Technology as Reflected in Chinese Building Manuals of the 15th to 19th Century

Erna Fiorentini, Dr. Dr. (Visiting Scholar, January 1, 2003 – December 31, 2008, funded by the Freie Universität Berlin): Vision and Representation between Aesthetic Experience and Scientific Objectivity

Maja Fjaestad, Royal Institute of Technology, Sweden (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 12, 2008 – September 1, 2010, funded by the Bank of Sweden, Tercentenary Foundation): Nuclear Power History. Utopian Aspects of the Swedish Nuclear Breeder Program

Ragnar Fjelland, Ph. D., Professor of Theory of Science at the University of Bergen, Norway (Visiting Scholar, July 1–July 31, 2008): 1. On the Lifeworld Foundation of Science: Einstein and the Special Theory of Relativity 2. Newton and Goethe on Reality and Scientific Method

Martha Fleming, Ph. D., Natural History Museum/King's College London, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, January 1–February 29, 2008): Intermittence and Inspiration: Flicker, Pulse, Scintillate

Fabio Freitas, Universidade Estadual de Feira de Santana, Brazil (Predoctoral Research Fellow, June 30 – July 30, 2008 and December 1, 2009 – February 28, 2010): The Emergence of Decoherence: The Many Ways of a Physical Phenomenon

Gideon Freudenthal, Dr., Professor of Philosophy at the Tel Aviv University, Israel (Visiting Scholar, August 25–September 25, 2008 and September 1–September 30, 2009): "Ars Inveniendi" in the 18th Century

Vivette García Deister (Predoctoral Research Fellow, March 16–April 12, 2009, funded by the CONACyT)

Rodolphe Gasché, Ph. D., Distinguished Professor & Eugenio Donato Chair of Comparative Literature, University at Buffalo, The State University of New York, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 15–July 30, 2009): The Concept of Process in Alfred N. Whitehead and Hannah Arendt

Bernd Gausemeier, Dr. (Research Scholar, October 1, 2004 – May 31, 2010): Genealogy and Human Heredity from the 18th to the Early 20th Century

Oliver Gaycken, Ph. D., Assistant Professor at Temple University, Philadelphia, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, January 1–June 30, 2009, funded by the Temple University, Philadelphia): Popular Scientific Cinema 1890–1918

Florentina Badalanova Geller, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, December 17, 2007– January 16, 2008; June 23–September 10, 2008 and June 25–September 25, 2009): Oral Tradition and Holy Writ: The Folk Bible

Mark Geller, Ph. D., Professor of Hebrew and Jewish Studies at the University College London, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, December 17, 2007–January 16, 2008; June 23 – September 10, 2008 and June 25 – September 25, 2009): Babylonian Astral Medicine and Melothesia

Hannah Ginsborg, Ph. D., Professor of Philosophy at the University of California, Berkeley, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 1–August 16, 2008, funded by the University of California, Berkeley): Primitive Normativity and Rule-Following

Amanda Jo Goldstein, Department of Comparative Literature, University of California, Berkeley, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, November 1–November 30, 2009, funded by the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst): Tender Empiricism and Improper Bildung: Goethe's Counter-Disciplinary Morphology

Michael Gordin, Ph. D., Professor of History at Princeton University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2007–August 15, 2008): International History of the Atomic Monopoly, 1945–1949

Jean-Baptiste Gouyon, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2009–August 31, 2010): Archiving the Doomed. Fashioning a Public Science of Conservation

Mathias Grote, Dr. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, January 1–December 31, 2009): Transformations of Scientific Objects: Cells, Membranes, and Molecules (1970–1990)

Angela Grünberg, D. Phil. (Oxon), University of Sheffield, U.K. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1–December 31, 2009): Virtues as Sensibilities: The Tone of the German Language

Katja Guenther, Ph. D., Princeton University, U.S.A. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, June 29–July 17, 2009): A Body Made of Nerves—Reflexes, Body Maps and the Limits of the Self in Modern German Medicine

Nils Güttler, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, November 1, 2008 – December 31, 2010, funded by the Studienstiftung des Deutschen Volkes): The Role of Maps in 19th Century Plant Geography

David Gugerli, Dr., Professor für Technikgeschichte an der ETH Zürich, Switzerland (Visiting Scholar, June 1–July 31, 2009, funded by the ETH Zürich): Dealing with Human Capital 1950–2000

Ximo Guillem-Llobat, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2009– March 31, 2010): New Concepts of Food Quality and Safety in the Late Nineteenth and Early Twentieth Century. Artificial Sweeteners, Municipal Laboratories, and the Search for International Standards

Fuxiang GUO, Ph. D., Department of the Court History, The Palace Museum, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, July 1–August 31, 2008 and July 8–September 30, 2009): History and Art of the Court in the Ming and Quing Dynasty. The Clocks and Watches in the Quing Dynasty

Michael Hagner, Dr., Professor für Wissenschaftsforschung an der ETH Zürich, Switzerland (Visiting Scholar, February 1–June 30, 2009): What is Dippoldism? On Sexuality, Criminality and Media around 1900

Carmen Hammer (Research Scholar, April 1, 2008 – September 30, 2011): Scientific Supervision of Research Infrastructures Used within Projects: Development and Coordination of Archive Material

Yi HAN, Ph. D., Institute for the History of Natural Science, Chinese Acedemy of Sciences, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, April 10–June 8, 2008): Silk Production, Geographical Distribution and Technology Transfer in the Song Dynasty

Jonathan Harwood, Ph. D., Professor in the History of Science and Technology at the University of Manchester, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2007–April 30, 2008, funded by the Leverhulme Trust): Europes Green Revolution: the Rise and Fall of Peasant-Friendly Plant-Breeding in Central Europe, 1890–1945

Gary Hatfield, Ph. D., Professor of Philosophy at the University of Pennsylvania, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, May 25–June 24, 2009): Crisis in Psychology; Internal Senses in Descartes; Diagram from Descartes' Dioptrique.

Juan HE, Ph. D., Institute for the History of Natural Science, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, July 7–August 31, 2008): The Manipulation of Fire in Chinese Alchemy

Daniela Helbig, Harvard University, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1–December 31, 2009): Turbulence in Flight and Fluid Dynamics between the World Wars

Ina Heumann, Universität Wien, Austria (Predoctoral Research Fellow (intermittent), July 1, 2009–December 31, 2010): Styles of Science Communication. German-American Transfer Histories, 1945/1964

Philipp von Hilgers, Dr. phil. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, February 1, 2006– April 30, 2008): Mapping the Field of Vision. From Experimental Investigations of Reading to Pattern Recognition, 1860–1960

Florian Hoelscher (Pianist in Residence, April 15–June 15, 2008): Electro-acoustic Expansions of Piano Sound

Christoph Hoffmann, PD Dr. (Research Scholar, November 1, 2004–February 28, 2010): Epistemic Writings

Dieter Hoffmann, Dr., Außerordentlicher Professor an der Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Research Scholar since December 1, 1995): History of Physics in the 19th and 20th Centuries, esp. Institutional History of Quantum Theory and Modern Metrology; History of Science in the GDR.

Martin Hofmann, Dr. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, June 1, 2007–August 31, 2009): Philology of Master Craftsmen

Anna Holterhoff, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, June 1, 2009–May 31, 2011, funded by the Excellence Cluster TOPOI): The Establishment and Reconstruction of Copernicanism from the 16th to the 18th Century

Giora Hon, Ph. D., Professor for Philosophy and History of Science at the University of Haifa, Israel (Visiting Scholar, September 1–September 30, 2008 and Summer

2009): 1. On Magnification; 2. Dissymmetry and Polarization in Biot and Pasteur. A Tale of Conceptual Analysis

Thierry Hoquet, Dr., Maître de Conférences. Université Paris 10, France (Visiting Scholar, April 15–May 15, 2008 and April 14–May 11, 2009): Sexual Selection. The Long Century of Absence, 1871–1972

Brad Hume, Ph. D., Assistant Professor, Department of History, University of Dayton, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, September 1–November 15, 2009): Heredity and the Temporality of the Body

Ludmila Hyman, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2007–August 31, 2010): The Role of Concepts in Scientific Reasoning

Malcolm Hyman, Ph. D. (Research Scholar, 2004–2009): Text Processing, General Linguistics, Dissemination of New Research Methods

Anja Skaar Jacobsen, Ph.D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, November 15, 2008 – January 31, 2009): Foundations of Quantum Theory and Marxism: Bohm versus Rosenfeld

Michel Janssen, Ph. D., Associate Professor for the History of Science at the University of Minnesota, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 1, 2008–May 31, 2009): History of the Relativity and Quantum Revolutions in Physics

Christian Joas, Dr. (Research Scholar, February 15, 2007–October 15, 2010, funded by the Fritz-Haber-Institut der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft): The Origins of Wave Mechanics: Schrödinger's Notebooks; the Advent of Qantum Field Theoretical Methods in Solid State Physics; the History of Computational Materials Science

Marta Jordi, University of Barcelona, Spain (Predoctoral Research Fellow, March 1– October 31, 2008 and February 1–December 31, 2011, funded by the Regional Government of Catalonia (Spain), the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst, and the Institute): History of Optical Dispersion, from Classical to Quantum Physics

Edward Jurkowitz, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, June 15, 2008 – June 15, 2010, funded by the Fritz-Haber-Institut der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft): The Role of Computation in Solid-state Physics

Stephan Kammer, Dr. (Visiting Scholar, March 1, 2008 – December 31, 2009, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft): Strokes and Expressions: The History of Graphological Knowledge (1750–1950)

Hyo Yoon KANG, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2006–June 30, 2009): Patent Classification and Scientific Taxonomies: Law as a Space of History of Science?

Horst Kant, Dr. (Research Scholar since October 1, 1995): History of Physics in the 19th and 20th Centuries (esp. Atomic Physics and Institutional and Social Aspects)

Shaul Katzir, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, August 1, 2008–July 31, 2010, funded by the Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung): The Transformations of Scientific Research Towards and Following Technological Application: Piezoelectricity during the First World War and its Aftermath

Doris Kaufmann, Dr., Professorin für Geschichte an der Universität Bremen, Germany (Visiting Scholar, September 1–December 31, 2008, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft): 'Extending Understanding Beyond Existing Borders': The Discourse on Primitivism in the Cultural Sciences 1880–1930

Theresa M. Kelley, Ph. D., Professor of English at the University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, October 1–December 15, 2009, funded by the University of Wisconsin at Madison): Color Theory, Color Systems and the Status of Color in Taxonomic Systems and Botanical Illustration

Hartmut Kern, M.A. (Research Scholar since December 1, 2001): Project: Visualization and Publishing Scientific Content with Internet Technologies

Andreas Killen, Ph. D., Associate Professor of History at the City College of New York, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 15–July 15, 2008): The History of Early Cinema as a Discourse of Hypnosis and Suggestion

Philip Kitcher, Ph. D., Professor of Philosophy of Science at the Columbia University New York, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, October 1, 2007–May 31, 2008, funded by the Columbia University): Evolution, Altruism and Ethics

Stefanie Klamm, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, May 1, 2006 – September 30, 2009, funded by the MPIWG and the Gerda-Henkel-Stiftung): Strategies of Visualization in German Archaeology, 19th – 20th c. As of October 2009: Predoctoral Fellow, The Getty Museum Research Institute, Los Angeles, U.S.A.

Ursula Klein, Dr., Außerordentliche Professorin an der Universität Konstanz, Germany (Research Scholar since July 1, 1998): Technoscience avant la lettre— Science and Technology in Prussia

Falk-Juri Knauft, Dr. forest. Dipl.-Forstwirt (Research Scholar, September 1, 2008 – August 31, 2010): Geo Information System

Fabian Krämer, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2006–May 5, 2010, as of December 2009 funded by the FAZIT-Stiftung, Germany): Reference Structures in the Study of Nature
Arie Krampf, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, July 1, 2008–June 30, 2010, funded by the Research Network "History of Scientific Objects"): Translation of Economic Knowledge to Developing Countries and History of Central Banking

Karin Krauthausen, Dr. des. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, April 1, 2008 – January 31, 2011): Valéry's Cahiers (1984–1945)—Drawing and Writing as a Practice of Thought

Manfred Krebernik, Dr., Professor für Altorientalistik an der Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Jena, Germany (Visiting Scholar, April 1–December 31, 2008, funded by the Excellence Cluster TOPOI): Edition of the Lexical Texts from Fára in Connection with CDLI

Maria E. Kronfeldner, Dr. phil. (Karl Schädler Postdoctoral Research Fellow, March 1, 2006–September 30, 2008, funded by the Liechtenstein Fonds for the History of Science): The Anthropological Concept of Culture in the Context of Evolutionary Debates

Julia Kursell, Dr. phil. (Research Scholar, April 1, 2004–October 31, 2011, funded by the Initiative Pro Geisteswissenschaften): Historical Epistemology of Hearing (1850–2000)

Joachim Kurtz, Dr., Professor at the Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg, Germany (Research Group Director, January 1–June 30, 2009): Rhetoric of Innovation in Late Imperial Chinese Texts

Nicolas Langlitz, Dr. med., Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2007–December 31, 2009): Neurophilosophers, Neuroscientists, and the Dreaming Brain

Manfred Laubichler, Ph. D., Professor of Theoretical Biology and History of Biology at the Arizona State University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, April 1–July 31, 2008, funded by the Arizona State University, U.S.A.): Regulation and the Origin of Theoretical Biology

Mike Laufenberg, Technische Universität Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, August 5 – October 31, 2009 and December 1, 2009–March 31, 2010, funded by the Hans Böckler Stiftung/MPIWG): The Government of Sexuality: Subjectivity, Truth, and Power in the Age of Biology

Wolfgang Lefèvre, Dr., Außerordentlicher Professor an der Freien Universität Berlin, Germany (Research Scholar, July 1, 1994–February 28, 2006, associated): History of Science in Connection with History of Philosophy on the Basis of Social History; Sciences in Greek Antiquity; Early Modern Physics and Chemistry; History of Biology (15th–18th Centuries) *Christoph Lehner*, Ph. D. (Research Scholar, January 1, 2004–September 30, 2011): History and Philosophy of Modern Physics

Daryn Lehoux, Ph. D., Associate Professor for the History and Philosophy of Science and Technology at the Queen's University, Canada (Visiting Scholar, August 1, 2007–July 31, 2008): Ancient Science. The Roles of Observation in Theory Formation and Epistemology

Xiaojuan LI, Institute for the History of Natural Science, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, May 1–May 18, 2008): Visual Library and Digitization of Chinese Texts

Yuqun LIAO, Professor, Director of the Institute for the History of Natural Science, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, May 1–May 18, 2008): History of Traditional Chinese Medicine

Harry Liebersohn, Ph.D., Professor of History at the University of Illinois, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, May 19–June 27, 2008): Observing the Gift: the Making of a Social Scientific Category

Claudia Linhares Sanz, Universidade Federal Fluminense, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 4–December 28, 2008, funded by the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst): The History of Scientific Photography and Current Historical and Sociological Research on Neuroimages

Veronika Lipphardt, Dr. (Research Group Director, March 1, 2009–August 31, 2014): Historicizing Knowledge about Human Biological Diversity in the 20th Century

William Lockhart, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2008–September 30, 2010): Listening and Musical Analysis during the 19th Century

Pablo Lorenzano, Dr. phil., Professor for the Philosophy of Science at the National University of Quilmes, Argentina (Visiting Scholar, January 1–February 28, 2009): Theoretical Incommensurability and Empirical Comparability in the History of Genetics

Hannah Lotte Lund, (Research Scholar, September 1, 2005 – August 31, 2010): Berlin Jewish Salons, Coordination of the "Network History of Scientific Objects"

Wenhua LUO, Ph. D., Department of the Court History, The Palace Museum, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, July 1–September 30, 2009): Technical Exchange between Qing Court and Tibet *Xingbo LUO*, Institute for the History of Natural Science, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, May 1–May 18, 2008): Data Entry Specifications and Digitization of Chinese Texts

Rui Magone, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, March 1, 2009–April 30, 2010): Late Imperial China: The Relevance of Archival Practices to the Genesis and Evolution of Knowledge

Costas Mannouris, University of Athens, Greece (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1–September 30, 2009, funded by the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst): Darwin's Eight-Year Study of Barnacles: Rethinking the "Long Wait"

Silvia Manzo, Ph. D., Professor of History of Early-Modern Philosophy, Universidad Nacional de La Plata; Research Scholar CONICET, Argentina (Visiting Scholar, September 1–December 31, 2009): Probability and Certainty in Francis Bacon

José Ramon Marcaida, Institute of History, CISC, Madrid, Spain (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1– October 31, 2009, funded by the Spanish National Research Council): Nature, Art and Knowledge in Seventeenth-Century Spain

Claudia Mareis, Berner Fachhochschule—Hochschule der Künste Bern, Switzerland (Predoctoral Research Fellow, February 1–July 31, 2009, funded by the Schweizerischer Nationalfonds): Interferences between Discourses of Design and Knowledge

Lydia Marinelli, Dr., Sigmund Freud Museum Wien, Austria (Visiting Scholar, May 1–July 31, 2008): The Couch: From a Living Room Furnishing to a Site of Observation of the Unconscious

Alexander John Marr, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, February 4 – May 4, 2008): Mathematics and Material Culture in Late Renaissance Italy

Brendan Matz, Yale University, New Haven, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 8 – December 31, 2008, funded by the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst): Animal Breeding and the Study of Heredity in Germany and the United States, 1850–1929

Andreas Mayer, Dr. (Research Scholar, March 1, 2007–October 31, 2010): History of Modern Dream Research and its Epistemic Values

Peter McLaughlin, Dr. phil., Professor für Philosophie, Universität Heidelberg, Germany (Visiting Scholar, July 1– October 31, 2008 and July 1– October 31, 2009): History of Mechanics. Aristotle's "Mechanical Questions" in 16th and 17th Century Mechanics *Gordon R. McOuat*, Ph. D., Associate Professor for the History of Science and Technology at the University of King's College/Dalhousie University, Canada (Visiting Scholar, January 12–March 8, 2009, funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities of Canada Research Grant): Rewriting the History of Essentialism: Logic, Kinds and Place

Marietta Meier, Dr. phil., University of Zurich and Collegium Helveticum, Switzerland (Visiting Scholar, August 18–September 12, 2008): "The Emotional Sting"—Psychosurgery after the Second World War

Maurizio Meloni, Ph. D., Università degli Studi di Roma *La Sapienza*, Italy (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, March 1–May 31, 2008): Molecular "Dasein." Living and Thinking in a Neurobiological Era

Erika Milam, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2007–December 31, 2008): Animal Models of Behavior: Anthropomorphism, Zoomorphism, and Cultures of Observations

Gregg Mitman, Ph. D., Professor of History of Science, Medical History & Bioethics, and Science and Technology Studies at the University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, January 1–June 30, 2008, funded by the Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung): American Rubber Empire

Daniela Monaldi, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, April 25, 2006–March 31, 2009): The Early History of Bose-Einstein Statistics

Amos Morris-Reich, Ph. D., University of Haifa, Israel (Visiting Scholar, January 18–February 25, 2008 and September 1–September 30, 2008, funded by the Van Leer Foundation Israel): Race and Humanism: The Epistemology of Arthur Ruppin

Annette Mülberger, Ph. D., Professor for History of Psychology, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain (Visiting Scholar, August 12–September 12, 2008, April 5–April 12 and June 1–July 20, 2009, funded by the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain): Discussions about Crisis in Psychology in the Early Decade of the 20th Century

Kathrin Müller, Dr., Kunsthistorisches Institut Florenz, Italy (Visiting Scholar, July 16–August 8, 2008, funded by the KHI Florenz): Diagram and Ornament in Boethius' "De institutione arithmetica"

Staffan Müller-Wille, Dr. phil., Senior Lecturer, University of Exeter, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, August 1–August 31, 2009): The Dark Side of Evolution: Caprice, Deceit, Redundancy

Tania Munz, Ph. D. (Research Scholar, August 1, 2007–July 31, 2010): The Dancing Bees: Karl von Frisch, the Honeybee Dance, and 20th Century Sciences of Communication

Omar W. Nasim, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, April 1, 2007–March 31, 2008): Constructing the Heavens: Drawings of Nebulae in Victorian Science

Jaume Navarro, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, January 1, 2009 – June 30, 2010, funded by the Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung): Early Quantum Physics in Britain

Elio Nenci, Dr. phil. (Visiting Scholar, March, 27– August 7, 2008 and July 1, 2009 – December 31, 2010): The Relationship between Scientific Reflection and Practical Knowledge during the Renaissance and the First Decades of the 17th Century: The Case of Hydraulic Machines

Elizabeth Neswald, Ph. D., Associate Professor of History of Science and Technology, Brock University, St. Catherines, Canada (Visiting Scholar, January 1 – March 31, 2009, funded by the Canadian Institute of Health Research): Engineering the Body. Thermodynamics, Social Technologies and the Practice of Nutrition in the Late Nineteenth and Early Twentieth Centuries

Winifred Elysse Newman, Harvard University, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1 – December 31, 2008): History and Philosophy of Aesthetics, Psychology and Perception

Kärin Nickelsen, Dr. phil.-nat., Assistenzprofessorin für Wissenschaftstheorie und -geschichte an der Universität Bern, Switzerland (Visiting Scholar, September1– December 31, 2008, funded by the Universität Bern): Of Light and Darkness: Modelling Photosynthesis 1840–1960

Sybilla Nikolow, PD Dr. (Research Scholar, April 1 – September 30, 2009): "Words Divide, Pictures Unite." Otto Neurath's Pictorial Statistics in Historical Context

Horst Nowacki, Dr.-Ing., Dr.h.c., Prof. em. of Ship Design (Visiting Scholar since August 1, 2001): Publications on the History of Ship Theory and Ship Design (Archimedes, Euler, Bouguer)

Christine von Oertzen, PD Dr. (Research Scholar since June 15, 2005): Gender, Science, Internationalism: A Transnational History of Female Academic Networking

Kathryn Olesko, Ph. D., Associate Professor for History at the Georgetown University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, December 12–December 22, 2008, funded by the Georgetown University): Prussian Precision, 1648–1947

Frederico D' Onofrio, Universiteit van Amsterdam, The Netherlands (Predoctoral Research Fellow, May 1–June 30, 2009, funded by the University of Amsterdam, Netherlands): Political Economy in Eighteenth-Century Naples

Javier Ordóñez Rodríguez, Ph. D., Professor of History of Science at the Faculty of Philosophy and Letters of the Autonomous University of Madrid, Spain (Visiting

Scholar, February 1, 2009–February 1, 2010): Studies on War and Science. Consequences of the Standardization in the German Science and Industry between 1880 and 1914 in Subsequents War in Europe

Francisco Javier Guerrero Ortega, Dr. phil., Professor at the Institute for Social Medicine, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (Visiting Scholar, January 1–January 31 and July 1–July 31, 2009): History of the Body, History of the Self

Ernst-Wilhelm Osthues, Dr. (Research Scholar, December 1, 2005 – December 31, 2009): Epistemic History of Architecture

Laura Otis, Ph. D., Professor at the Emory University Atlanta, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, July 1, 2007–August 14, 2008, December 15, 2008–January 15, 2009, May 1–August 15, 2009 and December 9, 2009–January 12, 2010, funded by the Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung): Thinking with Images, Thinking with Words. Expressing Sensation in Language

José M. Pacheco, Ph. D., Professor for Applied Mathematics at the University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria (Visiting Scholar, March 1–August 31, 2008 and July 5–August 30, 2009): The Study of 19th Century Spanish Mathematics

Cathleen Paethe, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, October 15, 2008–September 30, 2009): The Bibliophile Qi Chenghan: Book Consumption and Commercialization in Late Ming China

Claudia Passos Ferreira, Dr., Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (Visiting Scholar, January 1–January 31, 2008, funded by the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst): Moral Psychology. The Impact of the Discovery of Mirror Neurons in Developmental Psychology Study of Morality

Manolis Patiniotis, Ph. D., Assistant Professor in History of Science at the Department of Philosophy and History of Science, Athens University, Greece (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2007–February 29, 2008): Periphery Reassessed: Greek Science in the Eighteenth Century

Trevor Pearce, University of Chicago, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, January 1– March 31, 2008): Nature as Technology: A Philosophical Investigation of Biomechanics

Dario Perinetti, Dr., Professeur agrégé, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada (Visiting Scholar, June 15–August 15, 2008): Moral Certainty and Empirical Knowledge in Early-modern Philosophy

Anna Perlina, Excellence Cluster 264 "TOPOI" (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2008–August 31, 2010): The Role of Language in the History of Transmission and Transformation of Psychological Concepts **Trevor Pinch**, Ph. D., Professor, Department of Science and Technology Studies and Department of Sociology, Cornell University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 1–June 30, 2009): Sound Studies and the Digitization of Audio

Christopher Plumb, University of Manchester, U.K. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2009–February 28, 2010): Exotic Animals in Eighteenth-Century Britain

Irina Podgorny, Ph. D. (Research Scholar, October 1, 2009–September 30, 2010): America's Mighty Skeletons

Gianna Pomata, Ph. D., Professor, Institute for the History of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, September 15–December 31, 2009): Medical Observation in Early Modern Europe

Theodore M. Porter, Ph. D., Professor for the History of Science at the University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 16–July 31, 2008): How Le Play Defined Scientific Observation as a Tool of Conservative Social Reform

Daniel T. Potts, Ph. D., Professor of Middle Eastern Archaeology at the University of Sydney, Australia (Visiting Scholar, June 27–July 27, 2008): Proto-Elamite and Linear Elamite Texts of Southwestern Iran

Sandra Pravica, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, July 1, 2007–June 30, 2010): Tentative Transgressions. Gaston Bachelard's Experimental Epistemology

Albert Presas i Puig, Dr. (Research Scholar, August 12, 2008 – March 17, 2010): Scientific Relationship between Germany and Spain: Science, Technological Transfer, and International Policy in the 20th Century

Michael Puett, Ph. D., Professor of Chinese History at Harvard University, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, February 16–March 16, 2009): Changing Conceptions of Knowledge and Expertise in Early Medieval China

Valentina Pugliano, University of Oxford (Mansfield College), U.K. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, August 25 – October 12, 2008): Practical Botanisers and Experienced Observers: Apothecaries and the Study of Nature in Venice and London, 1550–1630

Dhruv Raina, Ph. D., Professor at the Jawaharlal Nehru University in New Delhi, India (Visiting Scholar, June 1–June 30, 2009): Historiography of Non-Western Mathematics. Social Theory of Science

Vincent Ramillon, Ph. D., Assistant Professor in History of Science at the Department of Philosophy and History of Science, Athens University, Greece

(Postdoctoral Research Fellow, November 1, 2006–October 31, 2008): Norms and Practices in Genomic Research, ca. 1985–2003

Matteo Realdi, University of Padova, Italy (Predoctoral Research Fellow, March 24– May 4, 2008, funded by the University of Padova, Italy): History of Early Relativistic Cosmology

Christian Reiß, Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Jena, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, July 1, 2007–June 30, 2010): The Way into the Laboratory—the Mexican Axolotl's Long History as an Experimental Animal

Jürgen Renn, Executive Director since July 2009, Dr., Honorarprofessor für Wissenschaftsgeschichte an der Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany, Adjunct Professor for Philosophy and Physics at the Boston University, U.S.A. (Director at the MPIWG since March 1, 1994): History of Early Modern Mechanics, History of Relativity Theory; Interaction between Cognitive and Contextual Factors in the History of Science

Maria Rentetzi, Ph. D., Assistant Professor in Sociology of Science at the National Technical University of Athens, Greece (Visiting Scholar, June 23 – August 8, 2008 and February 17–March 3, 2009): Cultures of Evidence in Physics: Visualizing the Subatomic World

Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, Executive Director up to June 2009, Dr., Honorarprofessor für Wissenschaftsgeschichte an der Technischen Universität Berlin, Germany (Director at the MPIWG since January 1, 1997): 1. History and Epistemology of Experimentation 2. History of Heredity

Simone Rieger (Academic Officer, March 1, 2008 – February 28, 2013, funded by the MPG): Press and Public Relations of the Max Planck Society; Open Access Initiative "European Cultural Heritage Online" (ECHO)

Harriet Ritvo, Ph. D., Professor of History at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, November 1–November 30, 2009): Making Animals Wild

Raja Rosenhagen, Zentrum für Logik, Wissenschaftstheorie und Wissenschaftsgeschiche, Universität Rostock, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2009–June 30, 2010): Individual Experience and its Role in the Transformation of Knowledge Systems

Sophie Roux, Dr., Maitre de conférences, Université Grenoble II, France (Visiting Scholar, January 19–April 25, 2009, funded by the Institut universitaire de France): Edition of Galileo's Mechaniche

Bruce Rusk, Ph.D., Assistant Professor of Chinese Literature at Cornell University (Visiting Scholar, January 1–June 30, 2010): Making things in Ming (1368–1644) and Qing (1644–1911) China

Donald Salisbury, Ph. D., Associate Professor of Physics, Austin College, Texas, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, January 12–August 15, 2008 and June 1–July 30, 2009): Max and Peter Bergmann plus the History of Quantum Field Theory

Imad Samir, Dr., Professor at the Damascus University, Syria (Visiting Scholar, August 1–September 30, 2008): Editing of Group of Economic Texts from Ebla-Archive L.2769

Nina Samuel, NCCR Iconic Criticism, Basel, Switzerland and Humboldt University Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, February 15 – May 31, 2009): Shaping Chaos. Otto Rössler's Drawings

Helga Satzinger, Dr. rer. nat., Wellcome Trust for the History of Medicine at University College London, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, July 1–August 29, 2008, funded by the WTCHOM at UCL): Heredity and Difference: Gender Orders in Genetics and Hormone Research, 1890–1950

Tilman Sauer, PD Dr. (Visiting Scholar, June 15–August 31, 2009): Einstein's Work on Quantum Theory

Dagmar Schäfer, PD Dr. (Research Group Director, May 1, 2006–September 30, 2011): The Concepts and Modalities of Practical Knowledge Transmission: the culturally specific traits that drive alternative trajectories in the history of scientific and technological thinking, 10th–18th century China

Matthias Schemmel, Dr. (TOPOI Research Group Director (Excellence Cluster 264), April 1, 2008 – October 31, 2012): Long-term Development of Spatial Cognition; History of Early Modern Mechanics; History of Modern Physics and Astronomy; History of Chinese Science

Jutta Schickore, Dr., Department of History and Philosophy of Science, Indiana University, Bloomington, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, May 15–June 15, 2009): Vipers, Venom, and the Vagaries of Experimentation

Wulf Schiefenhövel, Dr., Prof. em., Human Ethology Group, MPI for Ornithology (Visiting Scholar, March 1–May 31, 2009, funded by the Excellence Cluster TOPOI): Spatial Practices and Languages in Non-literate Societies: A Comparison between EIPO and DENE

Arne Schirrmacher, Dr. (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2007–August 31, 2008 and December 23, 2008–May 31, 2009, Research Scholar December 1, 2009–November 30, 2010): History of 20th Century Science Communication; History of Quantum Physics

Wolfgang Schivelbusch, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, August 1–August 31, 2008 and July 1–August 31, 2009, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft): Historizising Concepts of Air

Oliver Schlaudt, Philosophisches Seminar, Universität Heidelberg, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, April 15–September 30, 2008): Measurement as Concrete Activity. Investigations on the Formation of Quantitative Concepts in the Natural Sciences

Thomas Schlich, Dr. med., Associate Professor at McGill University, Canada (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2009–August 31, 2010, funded by the McGill University): The Perfect Machine: The Body and Modernist Surgery in Early Twentieth Century Vienna

Henning Schmidgen, Dr. phil. (Research Scholar, July 1, 2006–January 31, 2011): Machines and Bodies without Organs in the History of Science

Wolfgang Schmidle, Dr. (Research Scholar, September 1, 2008 – August 31, 2010): Max Planck Digital Library

Urs Schoepflin, Dipl. Soz. (Head of the Library since September 1, 1994): Scientific Information Systems, Scientific Communication, Sociology and History of Science, Scientometrics

Peter Schöttler, Dr. phil., Directeur de recherche, CNRS, Institut d'histoire du temps présent, Paris, France; Honorarprofessor für Neuere Geschichte an der Freien Universität Berlin, Germany (Visiting Scholar, June 1, 2008–May 31, 2010): Marc Bloch and Scientism

Volkmar Schüller, Dr. (Research Scholar since September 15, 1994): History of Mathematics and Physics (16th and 17th Centuries)

Jeffrey Schwegman, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2008 – September 30, 2010): Metaphysics for an Enlightened Age: Condillac and the Construction of the Eighteenth-Century Human Sciences

Alexander von Schwerin, Dr. (Research Scholar, November 1, 2008–March 31, 2009): Making Mutations: Objects, Practices, Contexts

Zur Shalev, Ph. D., Lecturer at the University of Haifa, Israel (Visiting Scholar, September 1–September 30, 2009, funded by the University of Haifa): Learned Travel in the Early Modern Levant

Grace Yen SHEN, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, August 1, 2009–July 31, 2011): Song to Mid-Qing Coal Culture: Cultural Identity and Innovation

H. Otto Sibum, Dr., Hans Rausing Professor of History of Science & Director, Office for History of Science, Uppsala University, Sweden (Visiting Scholar, June 15– August 31, 2009): Developmental History, Theoretical Cinematographs, and Physicist's Practices of Theorizing around 1900

Martina Siebert, Dr. (Research Scholar, October 1, 2006–November 15, 2009): Data Entry Specifications and Digitization of Chinese Texts

Marcel Sigrist, Ph. D., Professeur à l'École Biblique et Archéologique Francaise, Jerusalem, Israel (Visiting Scholar, April 19–July 19, 2009): List of Year Names in Southern Mesopotamia

Skúli Sigurdsson, Ph. D. (Rathenau Senior Fellow since April 1, 2007): History of Science after 1800: Mathematics, Physics, Philosophy

Circe Mary Silva da Silva Dynnikov, Ph. D., Professor at the Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo, Brazil (Visiting Scholar, October 15 – December 14, 2008): Mathematics Education in an Intercultural Perspective for Native Brazilians (Indians) in the State of Espírito Santo

Ana Simões, Ph. D., Assistent Professor for the History of Science at the University of Lisboa, Portugal (Visiting Scholar, January 21–March 31, 2008): Revisiting the History of Quantum Chemistry from an Historiographical Perspective

Robyn Smith, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2007–April 30, 2009, funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Council of Canada): Encountering Hermes in the Unknown: Exploring Experimental Vitamin Research during World War I

Lingping SONG, Ph. D., Department of the Court History, The Palace Museum, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, July 15–August 22, 2009): Ritual Objects and Vessels of the Qing Dynasty

Max Stadler, Imperial College London, U.K. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, November 1, 2008 – February 12, 2009, Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1– June 30, 2010): Assembling Life. Models, the Cell, and the Reformations of Biological Science, 1920 – 1960

Kai Stalmann, Dr. (Research Scholar, March 5, 2007–May 31, 2008): Semantic Cluster Project

Ida Harmina Stamhuis, Dr., Faculty of Science, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (Visiting Scholar, September 29–October 24, 2008 and May 3–May 15, 2009): Women Investigators at the Institute for Heredity Research in Berlin

Thomas Sturm, Dr. phil. (Research Scholar, October 1, 2005–September 30, 2009): Rationality in Philosophy and Psychology; Perceptual Illusions; Crisis Debates in Psychology; Kant and the Human Sciences

Edna Maria Suárez Díaz, Dr., Professor for the History of Biology and the Philosophy of Technology at the National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico (Visiting Scholar, August 1, 2005 – July 31, 2008, funded by the National University of Mexico): Representation and the Construction of Knowledge in Molecular Evolution

Xiaochun SUN, Ph. D., Professor for History of Science at the Chinese Academy of Science, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, May 1– May 18, 2008 and January 3– February 28, 2009): History of Astronomy, History and Sociology of Science

Andrej Svorencik, Universiteit van Amsterdam, The Netherlands (Predoctoral Research Fellow, May 1– June 30, 2009, funded by the University of Amsterdam): History of Observational Practices in Economics, Particulary Experimental Economics

Mary Terrall, Ph. D., Associate Professor of the History of Science at the University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, June 1–July 30, 2008): The Practice of Natural History in the 18th Century

Martin Thiering, Ph. D., TOPOI Research Group E II, Excellence Cluster 264 (Visiting Scholar, September 14, 2008–October 14, 2010): Cognitive- and Psycholinguistics, Spatial Language and Concepts of Space, Topological Relations, Semiotics, History of Linguistics, Philosophy of Language, Linguistic Relativity

Georg Christoph Tholen, Dr., Professor für Medienwissenschaften an der Universität Basel, Switzerland (Visiting Scholar, October 1, 2009–January 31, 2010): Imagination and the Imaginary. Epistemological Studies on Concepts of Aesthetics and Mediality

Miao TIAN, Ph. D., Professor at the Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, February 1–August 15, 2009, funded by the Excellence Cluster TOPOI)

Margareta Tillberg, Dr., Associate Professor for History and Theory of Art and Design at the University of Växjö, Sweden (Visiting Scholar, April 21, 2006– December 31, 2010, funded by the Swedish Research Council): Observer and Observed in Soviet State Design Institutes 1960's – 1990's

Magaly Tornay, Universität Zürich, Switzerland (Predoctoral Research Fellow, November 1, 2009–April 30, 2010, funded by the Schweizerischer Nationalfonds): History of Psychoactive Drugs: Psychoactive Drugs and Personality Concepts in Switzerland (1950–1990) *John Tresch*, Ph. D., Assistant Professor at the University of Pennsylvania, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, December 1–December 31, 2009): The Romantic Machine: Technology and Metamorphosis in France, 1820–1851

Stefan Trzeciok, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2008–September 30, 2010): Knowledge Transfer in the Renaissance: Thomas Alvarus, Natural Philosophy and the Artist's Faculty

Christina Tsouparopoulou, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, December 1, 2008–March 31, 2011, funded by the Mellon Foundation): Establishment of a Database for Ancient Near Eastern Seals, Sealings, and Seal Impressions for the CDLI

Irina Tupikova, Ph. D. (Research Scholar, September 15, 2008–September 14, 2010): The Impact of Geographical Knowledge on the Generalization of Spatial Concepts

Sophia Vackimes, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, April 18, 2006 – May 31, 2008 and January 2 – February 28, 2009): Genetic Engineering in Cinema

Matteo Valleriani, (Research Scholar, October 15, 1998 – December 31, 2012, funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft): Relation between Practical and Theoretical Mechanics from Antiquity to the Early Modern Period

Fernando Vidal, PD Dr. (Research Scholar since September 1, 1999): The Cerebral Subject: Brain, Self and Body in History and Contemporary Culture

Annette Vogt, Dr. (Research Scholar since September 15, 1994): History of Mathematics and Science in the 19th and 20th Centuries, esp. in Germany; Gender Studies

Roy Wagner, Ph. D., Tel Aviv University, Israel (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2008–January 31, 2009): Semiotics of Mathematical Language

Bettina Wahrig, Dr., Professorin für Geschichte der Naturwissenschaften und Pharmaziegeschichte an der Technischen Universität Braunschweig, Germany (Visiting Scholar, May 1–July 31, 2008): Poisons, Toxicologies, and the Figurations of the Abject, 1700–1900

Renate Wahsner, Dr., Professorin für Wissenschaftsgeschichte (Research Scholar, October 1, 1995 – March 31, 2003, associated): History of Philosophy in Connection with History of Science; Epistemological Fundamentals and Problems of Physics; German Idealism; Classical Natural Philosophy

Silvia Waisse Priven, Ph. D. (Visiting Scholar, July 1–July 31, 2009): From Signs to Remedies: Medical Ways of Knowing in the Eighteenth Century

Sonja Walch, Universität Wien, Austria (Predoctoral Research Fellow, January 1– April 30, 2008, funded by the Universität Wien, Austria): Sex Hormones in Laboratory Practice: Eugen Steinach's Development of a Sex Hormone Theory, his Experimental Methodology and his Cooperation with Schering (1910–1938)

Guangyao WANG, Ph. D., Department of the Court History, The Palace Museum, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, June 4–August 31, 2008 and July 15–September 30, 2009): The History and Art of Porcelain and Ceramics, Bronze Vessels, the History of the Ancient Court. The Tinctorial Kilns during Quianlong and Jiaging Reign of Quing Dynasty

Jinyu WANG, Researcher of the Conservation Institute of the Dunhuang Academy, China (Visiting Scholar, March 1– March 31, 2009)

Daniel Warren, Ph. D., Associate Professor of Philosophy at the University of California, Berkeley, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, May 19–August 17, 2008)

Eric Watkins, Ph. D., Associate Professor of Philosophy, University of California, San Diego, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, August 5–September 5, 2009): Immanuel Kant: Natural Philosophy

Cecelia Watson, University of Chicago, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, April 1–June 30, 2008 and September 1, 2008–March 31, 2009): A Historical Treatment of the Artist and Art Critic John La Farge's Impact on William James's Intellectual Development, Considered in the Context of Late 19th and Early 20th Century Excharges between Art and Science

Milena Wazeck, Dr. (Research Scholar, February 15, 2004 – December 31, 2010): Opposition to the Theory of Relativity in the 1920s: History of Science Policy

Mai Wegener, Dr. (Visiting Scholar, October 1, 2008–March 31, 2009): Three Undiscovered Epistemologists: Paul Valéry, Kurt Goldstein, Jacques Lacan

Christina Wessely, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, March 1, 2009–August 31, 2010): Welteis. Science, Pseudoscience and the Limits of Cosmological Knowledge 1894–1945

Kelly J. Whitmer, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, June 1, 2008–May 31, 2010): Models and the Middle Way: Performing Philanthropy in the Early Enlightenment

Alexandra Widmer, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2009– August 31, 2011): Human Bio-diversity, Colonial Relations, and the Sociality of Science: Indigenous and Scientific Knowledge of Heredity and Fertility in Vanuatu *Kelley E. Wilder*, Ph. D., De Montfort University, Leicester, U.K. (Visiting Scholar, July 21–August 31, 2009): The Nature of Photographic Evidence

Josef Willenborg, Dr. (Research Scholar, September 1, 2008 – August 31, 2010): Max Planck Digital Library

Lambert Williams, Harvard University, U.S.A. (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 15, 2008 – March 15, 2009): Historical and Philosophical Issues in Complex Systems: Models and Simulations

Christof Windgätter, Dr. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, April 1, 2007–June 30, 2009): Knowledge through Print. Layout-Strategies and Book-Design in Scientific Publishing

Dirk Wintergrün, Dipl. Phys. (Research Scholar since January 1, 2000): Head of Information Technology Group

M. Norton Wise, Ph. D., Ph. D., Professor of History at the University of California, Los Angeles, U.S.A. (Visiting Scholar, July 12–August 15, 2008)

Barbara Wittmann, Dr. (Research Scholar, November 1, 2003–October 31, 2005 and May 1, 2006–January 31, 2011): Meaningful Scribbles. Children's Drawings as Psychological Instruments, 1880–1950

Charles T. Wolfe, Ph. D. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, December 1, 2007–January 31, 2008): History and Philosophy of the Concept of Organism, 1650–1950

Monika Wulz, Dr. phil. (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2008–December 31, 2010): Collective Theories of Knowledge around 1930: Edgar Zilsel's Epistemology of Mass Phenomena

Barbara Wurm, Mag. phil., IFK Wien, Austria (Visiting Scholar, June 1–September 15, 2009, funded by the IFK Wien): Beyond the Film Strip. Numerical-graphical Notation Procedures of the Medium Film

Xiaodong XU, Ph. D., Department of the Court History, The Palace Museum, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, June 4–August 31, 2008 and July 1–September 13, 2009): Ancient Chinese Jades, Gold and Silvers, Ambers, Enamels. History of Exchange of Craft Techniques between the Imperial Court and the Folk

Xiaodong YIN, (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, October 1, 2007– September 30, 2008): Quantum Mechanics in West and Development of Mechanical Knowledge in China

Sebastian Zacharias, University of Rostock, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, September 1, 2009 – October 31, 2010, funded by the Stiftung der Deutschen Wirtschaft): The Structure of Scientific Theories *Karin Zachmann*, Dr. rer. oec., Professorin für Geschichte der Technik an der Technischen Universität München, Germany (Visiting Scholar, February 16–March 14, 2009, funded by the Technische Universität München): Atomic Food for Peace? Materializing a Radiant Idea in a Transnational Network of Research and Development

Gábor Áron Zemplén, Ph. D., Hungarian Academy of Science, Budapest, Hungary (Visiting Scholar, October 1, 2009 – January 31, 2010): Scientific Debates around the Modificationist Theories of Colour

Baichun ZHANG, Ph. D., Professor, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, September 3 – September 30, 2008, funded by the Technische Universität Berlin): History of Mechanics. History of Technology. Project: Development of Mechanical Knowledge in China an its Interaction with other Cultural Traditions

Qiong ZHANG, Ph. D., Department of the Court History, The Palace Museum, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, June 4–August 31, 2008 and July 1– September 30, 2009): Textile History—The Court Costume and Textile Technology in Quing Dynasty

Shuxian ZHANG, Ph. D., Department of the Court History, The Palace Museum, Beijing, China (Visiting Scholar, June 4–August 31, 2008 and July 1– September 30, 2009): History and Art of Chinese Architecture during the Ming and Quing Dynasty. History of Exchange of Craft Techniques between the Imperial Court and the Folk

Joseph Ziegler, Ph. D., Haifa University, Israel (Visiting Scholar, September 1, 2008 – February 28, 2009, funded by the Yad Hanadiv Foundation): Medieval and Early Renaissance Physiognomy

Hansjakob Ziemer, Dr. (Research Scholar since January 1, 2008): Outreach and Cooperation, Cultural History of Music

Anne Ziemke, Max-Planck-Insitut für demografische Forschung, Rostock, Germany (Predoctoral Research Fellow, July 1, 2008 – March 31, 2010): Aging Research in 19th Century Biology

Rafaela Zorzanelli, Dr., Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil (Postdoctoral Research Fellow, September 1– September 30, 2008, funded by the CAPES (Brazilian Agency for the Advanced Training of University Personnel): The Impact of Neurosciences in the Psychosomatic Field

Collaborations and Other External Activities

Memberships

The Institute is member of the Agricola-Gesellschaft, the Gesellschaft für Wissenschaftsgeschichte and the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Geschichte der Medizin, Naturwissenschaft und Technik.

Professorships

Lorraine Daston is honorary professor at the Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, *Dieter Hoffmann* is außerplanmäßiger Professor at the Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin,

Ursula Klein is außerplanmäßige Professorin at the Universität Konstanz, *Wolfgang Lefèvre* is außerplanmäßiger Professor at the Freie Universität Berlin, *Jürgen Renn* is adjunct professor at Boston University and honorary professor at the Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin,

Hans-Jörg Rheinberger is honorary professor at the Technische Universität Berlin.

Cooperation Partners

American Council of Learned Societies, U.S.A. Berliner Medizinhistorisches Museum der Charité Bibliotheca Hertziana-Max-Planck-Institut für Kunstgeschichte, Rome, Italy Biblioteca Nacional de Portugal Centre Alexandre Koyré, Paris, France The Cohn Institute for the History and Philosophy of Science and Ideas, Tel Aviv University, Israel Comenius Garten, Berlin Consejo Superior de Investigationes Científicas, Spain Deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft Deutsches Technikmuseum, Berlin Excellence Cluster 264, TOPOI: The Formation and Transformation of Space and Knowledge in Ancient Civilizations Fakultät Medien, Bauhaus-Universität Weimar First National Archive, Beijing, China Freie Universität Berlin Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Jena Fritz-Haber-Institut der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft, Berlin Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin Indiana University Bloomington, U.S.A. Institut für Wissenschaft und Kunst, Wien, Austria Institute for the History of Natural Sciences, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florenz, Max-Planck-Institut, Italy Max-Planck-Institut für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht, Heidelberg Max-Planck-Institut für Astronomie, Heidelberg McGill University, Montreal, Canada Monash University, Melbourne, Australia Mongolian Academy of Science, Ulan Bator, Mongolia Moritz-Schlick-Forschungsstelle, Universität Rostock Museum für Naturkunde, Berlin The Newton Project at the University of Sussex, U.K. Opera di Santa Maria del Fiore, Florence, Italy Palace Museum, Beijing, China Staatsbibliothek zu Berlin-Preußischer Kulturbesitz Stiftung Bibliothek Werner Oechslin, Einsiedeln, Switzerland Technische Universität Berlin Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Universidade Federal da Bahia, Brazil Universiteit van Amsterdam, Netherlands University of California at Los Angeles, U.S.A. University of Chicago, U.S.A. Zentrum für Literatur- und Kulturforschung, Berlin

Hosted Scholars

The institutions listed below funded 44 scholars in 2008 and 54 scholars in 2009. The average duration of their stay was 5 months.

Aarhus University, Denmark Alexander-von-Humboldt-Stiftung Bank of Sweden, Tercentenary Foundation Cambridge European Trust Canadian Institute of Health Research CAPES (Brazilian agency for the advanced training of university personnel) Columbia University, New York, U.S.A. Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología, Mexico Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Italy Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst Excellence Cluster Topoi, Berlin Freie Universität Berlin Fritz-Haber-Institut der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft Fritz-Thyssen-Stiftung Georgetown University, U.S.A. Gerda Henkel Stiftung German-Israeli Foundation for Scientific Research and Development

Gobierno Vasco (Basque Government), Spain Hans-Böckler-Stiftung Hans Rausing Scholarship Internationales Forschungszentrum Kulturwissenschaften, Wien, Austria Institut universitaire de France Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florenz Leverhulme Trust, U.K. Liechtenstein Fonds for the History of Science Minerva Foundation Princeton Bicentennial Preceptorship, U.S.A. Regional Government of Catalonia, Spain Research Foundation—Flanders (FWO) Schweizerischer Nationalfonds Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Spanish National Research Council State University of New York at Stony Brook, U.S.A. Stiftung der Deutschen Wirtschaft Studienstiftung des Deutschen Volkes Technische Universität Berlin Technische Universität München Swedish Research Council Università degli Studi di Padova, Italy Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain Universität Wien, Austria Universiteit van Amsterdam, Netherlands University of California at Berkeley, U.S.A. University of California at Los Angeles, U.S.A. University of Haifa University of Wisconsin-Madison, U.S.A. Van Leer Institute, Jerusalem, Israel VolkswagenStiftung

Teaching Activities

Winter 2007/2008

Christina Brandt: Lebenswissenschaften um 1800 (together with Prof. Dr. Bettina Wahrig), (Seminar, Technische Universität Braunschweig)
Christoph Hoffmann: Erzählen als Problem. Einführung in das BA-Modul Literaturwissenschaft. (Seminar, Europa-Universität Viadrina, Frankfurt/Oder)
Ursula Klein: Francis Bacon's Philosophy (Seminar, Universität Konstanz)
Dagmar Schäfer: Foreign Kings, Remote Emperors: Legitimation in Imperial
rulership (Seminar, Universität Würzburg)
Stefan Trzeciok: Nelio oder der Geschmack des Windes (Lehrwerkstatt Theater, Fachhochschule Fulda)

Annette Vogt: Von der Preußischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität zu Berlin zur Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin: Wissenschaft und Politik in drei Systemen (1932/33-1961). (Proseminar mit PhD Peter Th. Walther, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Summer 2008

Christina Brandt: Von der Zelltheorie zur Vererbung: Zur Kulturgeschichte biowissenschaftlicher Konzepte im 19. Jahrhundert (Seminar, Technische Universität Braunschweig)

Christina Brandt: Geschichte und Wissenschaftstheorie der Biologie (together with Dr. Bernd Gausemeier) (Lecture and Seminar, Freie Universität Braunschweig) Lorraine Daston: Lives of the Mind (Seminar, University of Chicago) Bernd Gausemeier: Geschichte und Wissenschaftstheorie der Biologie (mit Christina Brandt), (Vorlesung und Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin) Christian Joas: Geschichte der Quantentheorie, (Seminar mit Jürgen Renn und Christoph Lehner), Freie Universität Berlin) Ursula Klein: Philosophy of Science: Toulmin, Kuhn, Feyerabend (Seminar, Universität Konstanz) Jürgen Renn: Geschichte der Quantentheorie (Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin) Henning Schmidgen: Probleme der Akteur-Netzwerk-Theorie (Seminar, Bauhaus Universität Weimar) Dagmar Schäfer: Eigenständige Tradition und Wissenstransfer: Die Geschichte der Wissenschaft in China, (together with Matthias Schemmel) (Seminar, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin) Dagmar Schäfer: Tourism: Traditions within New Cultures of Interaction (Seminar, Universität Würzburg) Annette Vogt: Berlin als Wissenschaftsstadt und Wissenschaftslandschaft-Orte, Räume, Disziplinen (1810 - 2000) (Proseminar mit PhD Peter Th. Walther, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Winter 2008/2009

Hans Erich Bödeker: Science, Liberalism, and the Brothers Humboldt (Vorlesung und Seminar ab September 2008, Theodor Heuss Gastprofessur an der CIDE, Mexico City) Arianna Borrelli: Uhren und Zeit: Zeitvorstellungen und Zeitdarstellungen gestern und heute (Seminar/Übung, Technische Universität Braunschweig) Christina Brandt: Theorien der Wissenschaftsgeschichte: Eine Einführung in klassische Texte (Seminar, Technische Universität Braunschweig) Christoph Hoffmann: History of Science & Literary Theory (Seminar, Columbia University, New York) Ursula Klein: History and Philosophy of the Experimental Sciences I (Seminar, Universität Konstanz) Dagmar Schäfer: Einführung in die Technikgeschichte Chinas seit der Ming Zeit: Denken, Handeln, Schreiben I (Seminar, Technische Universität Berlin) Arne Schirrmacher: Von der Wissenschaftspopularisierung zur Wissensgesellschaft. Zum Wandel des Verhältnisses zwischen Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit im 19. und 20. Jahrhundert (Seminar, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin) Peter Schöttler: Französische Geschichtswissenschaft im 20. Jahrhundert (Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin) Thomas Sturm: Early Modern Philosophy of Mind and Psychology (Master Course in History of Science, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona) Thomas Sturm: Naturalized Epistemology and the Psychology of Rationality (Master Course in Philosophy of Science, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona) Thomas Sturm: Introduction to Medical Ethics: Ronald Dworkin on Euthanasia and Abortion (Erasmus Master Course on "Dynamics in Health and Welfare," Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona) Stefan Trzeciok: Das große Ganze (Lehrwerkstatt Theater, Fachhochschule Fulda) Annette Vogt: Heimkehr in die Fremde?-Remigranten aus Wissenschaft, Kultur und Politik nach Ost- und Westdeutschland (Proseminar mit PhD Peter Th. Walther, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin) Annette Vogt: What is Statistics?-From the Historical Perspective (Seminar,

Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Milena Wazeck: Wissenschaftspopularisierung im 19. Jahrhundert (Proseminar, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Summer 2009

Safia Azzouni: Prosa und Drama des Naturalismus (Seminar, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Arianna Borrelli: Wind und Wetter: Beobachten, Erklären, Voraussagen (Seminar/ Übung, Technische Universität Braunschweig)

Christina Brandt: Geschichte der Evolution (together with Prof. Dr. Norbert Käufer, Prof. Dr. Bettina Wahrig), (Seminar, Technische Universität Braunschweig)
Christina Brandt: Geschichte und Wissenschaftstheorie der Biologie (together with Dr. Bernd Gausemeier), (Lecture and Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin)
Christina Brandt: Reproduction, Replication, and Reprogramming: Cloning in 20th Century Life Sciences (Lecture, Zoological Station, Naples, 11th Ischia
Summer School on the History of Life Sciences)
Lorraine Daston: The Passions: A Philosophical History (Seminar, University of

Chicago)

Bernd Gausemeier: Geschichte und Wissenschaftstheorie der Biologie (mit Christina Brandt), (Vorlesung und Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin)

Ursula Klein: History and Philosophy of the Experimental Sciences II (Seminar, Universität Konstanz)

Hannah Lotte Lund: DER Markt, DIE Frau, DAS Buch. Geschlechterrollen auf dem deutschen Buchmarkt um 1800 (Pro-Seminar Gender Studies/Geschichtswissenschaften, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin Christine von Oertzen: Studieren im "Dritten Reich". Going to University During the 'Third Reich' (Seminar, Technische Universität Braunschweig)
Dagmar Schäfer: Einführung in die Technikgeschichte Chinas seit der Ming Zeit: Denken, Handeln, Schreiben II (Seminar, Technische Universität Berlin)
Arne Schirrmacher: The American Way of Wissenschaft. Entstehung und Durchsetzung einer neuen Wissenschaftskultur, 1865 – 2000 (Seminar, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)
Sonja Walch: Wissenschaft, Kultur und Geschlecht in der Moderne (seminar: contribution with regards to content and guest-lecture, Universität Wien)
Sebastian Zacharias: Einführung in wissenschaftliche Methoden und Arbeitstechnik (Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin)

Winter 2009/2010

Arianna Borrelli: Bilder aus der Maschine: Von Spiegelbild zum Kino (Seminar/ Übung, Technische Universität Braunschweig)

Christina Brandt: On the History of Cloning. Concepts and Practices in 20th Century Life Science and Culture (Seminar, Indiana University, Bloomington (August – October)

Christina Brandt: Geschichte der Reproduktionswissenschaften. Perspektiven der Gender Studies (Lecture, Technische Universität Braunschweig; as Maria Goeppert Mayer Visiting Professor for International Gender Studies)

Christina Brandt: Darwin, biologisches Geschlecht und Gender: Evolutionstheorien des 19. und 20. Jahrhunderts im kulturellen Kontext (Seminar, TU Braunschweig, as Maria Goeppert Mayer Visiting Professor for International Gender Studies) *Christina Brandt*: Die Geschichte des Klonens zwischen Fakt und Fiktion: Ein historischer Streifzug durch Biowissenschaft und Literatur (Seminar, TU Braunschweig, Maria Goeppert Mayer Visiting Professor for International Gender Studies) *Christoph Hoffmann*: Wissenschaftsforschung (Lecture, Universität Luzern) *Christoph Hoffmann*: Biologisches Denken 1 (1800 – 1900) (Seminar, Universität Luzern)

Ursula Klein: Philosophy of Science in Historical Context (Seminar, Universität Konstanz)

Julia Kursell: Musik und Medien. Eine Einführung. (Seminar, Universität Basel, Herbstsemester 2009)

Hannah Lotte Lund: The Politics of Gender: Yesterday Today and Tomorrow (Seminar, IES Abroad Berlin)

Christine von Oertzen: Die Archivierung der Welt. Archiving the World (Seminar, Technische Universität Braunschweig)

Hans-Jörg Rheinberger: Literatur zum Darwin-Jahr: Eine Bestandsaufnahme (Hauptseminar, Technische Universität Berlin)

Arne Schirrmacher: Politik der Exzellenz. Die naturwissenschaftlichen Nobelpreise und ihre politische Rolle im 20. Jahrhundert (Seminar, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin) *Peter Schöttler:* Deutsch-französisches Kolloquium (mit Anne Kwaschik) (Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin)

Martin Thiering: Vom Gebrauch der Zeichen (Proseminar Semiotik und Sprechakttheorie, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Milena Wazeck: Wissenschaft und Weltanschauung im 19. Jahrhundert (Übung, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Sebastian Zacharias: Einführung in wissenschaftliche Methoden und Arbeitstechnik (Seminar, Freie Universität Berlin)

Sebastian Zacharias: Erschaffen oder entwickelt? Eine Analyse der Debatte um Evolution und Kreation mit einem Fokus auf wissenschaftliche Arbeitstechniken (Seminar, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin)

Conferences, Workshops, and Colloquia

Workshops and Conferences

11 January 2008: Scholarly Publishing and the Issues of Cultural Heritage, Fair Use, Reproduction Fees and Copyrights

21–24 February 2008: The Educated Eye: Photographic Evidence in Scientific Observation

28 – 29 February 2008, 2 – 3 March 2009: Jesuit Mechanics and Preclassical Mechanics

3 - 4 March 2008: Giordano Bruno Colloquium: Turning Traditions Upside Down. Rethinking Giordano Bruno's Enlightenment

6 March 2008: History of Science/History of Knowledge: Interdisciplinary Perspectives of Young Researchers

7 March 2008 (Berlin), 16–17 October 2008 (Pisa): The Biography of Ten Scientific Images: An Invisible Seminar

27–29 March 2008: Foreign Scientists under Hitler. Workshop organized with the Union College, Schenectady, NY and the University of Göttingen

28 – 29 March 2008: History of Plant-Breeding since 1880

16-17 May 2008: Epistemic Objects

26–27 May 2008: Governance of and through Science and Numbers: Notions, Categories and Tools

29–31 May 2008: Living Properties: Making Knowledge and Controlling Ownership in the History of Biology

31 May 2008: History of Quantum Theory. Satellite meeting at the University of Sydney.

10 June 2008: Nachlese/Afterthoughts 2: "Schreibszenen"/"Writing scenes"

11 – 15 June 2008: Graphic Genes, Cells and Embryos

12-14 June 2008: Cultures of Seeing 3D and Beyond

16 – 17 June 2008: Scientific Objects and Seriality II: Seriality and scientific objects 1780 – 1848

7-9 July 2008: History of Scientific Observation

11-13 July 2008: Animal Subjects Under Observation 17 July 2008: Nachlese/Afterthoughts 3: "Kritzel und Schnipsel"/"Scrips and Scribbles" 24-26 July 2008: What (Good) Is Historical Epistemology? 29 August 2008: Women and Gender in the History of Science, Medicine, and Technology: State of the Arts and Future Perspectives 9-11 October 2008: Müller's Vision. Das wissenschaftliche Vermächtnis des Naturforschers Johannes Müller 10-12 October 2008: Crisis Debates in Psychology 29-31 October 2008: Writing the History of Genomics 5 November 2008: Einstein revisits Humboldt. Ceremonial event organized by the Humboldt University, the Herbrew University and the MPIWG 5 November 2008: History of Scientific Observation 13-15 November 2008: Animal Cultures-Human Natures: Participant Observation in the History of the Natural and Social Sciences 13-15 November 2008: Materialprobe 3: "Notes-Sketches-Scribbles: Writing and Drawing as Creative Tools" 26 November 2008: Forgery and the Production of Luxury Commodities in Late-Ming China 27 - 28 November 2008: The Exhibition as Product and Generator of Scholarship. Co-organized with Deutsches Museum München 29 November -1 December 2008, 11-12 May and 28-30 September 2009: Workshops with the Bibliothek Werner Oechslin, Einsiedeln 12 December 2008: Wissen im Druck: Zur Epistemologie der Buchgestaltung zwischen 1850 und 1950 13-15 January 2009: Workshop on 3D-scanning in Jena 9 January 2009: Traditions-Transmission-Circulation of Knowledge 13-15 January 2009: Making Mutations: Objects, Practices, Contexts 31 January 2009: The Emergence of New Sciences 12-14 February 2009: Darwin als Erzieher: Die Popularisierungsgeschichte der Evolutionstheorie für Kinder und Jugendliche 20-22 February 2009: Neurocultures 7 March 2009: The Knowledge of Doing 12-13 March 2009: Experts and Expertise 20-21 March 2009: The Tenacity of the Nature/Nurture Divide 15-16 April 2009: Scientific Objects and Seriality III: Seriality and Scientific Objects 1848-1919 27-28 April 2009: Observation, Evidence and Reason in Early Modern England: The Arts Course from the Reformation to Newton 30 April - 2 May 2009: Writing and The Transmission of Knowledge 5-6 June 2009: Origins: The Historical Sciences in the Age of Darwin 19 June 2009: Nachlese/Afterthoughts 4: "Erschriebene Denkräume" 28 June - 5 July 2009: From Generation to Reproduction: Knowledge and Techniques from the Renaissance to the Present Day 17 July 2009: ZwischenRäume: Disorders 23-25 July 2009: Epistemic Vehicles in the Human Sciences: A Conference in Memory of Lydia Marinelli

4 - 5 September 2009: Status and Skills: The Portrayal of Individuals in Chinese Historiography, 10th – 18th Century
12 - 19 November 2009: Darwin in Latin America
12 - 13 November 2009: Materialprobe 4: Die Materialität der Konstruktion.
Graphische Verfahren der Welterzeugung
26 November 2009: Kolloquium für Hans Erich Bödeker
3 - 6 December 2009: Performing Voices: Between Embodiment and Mediation.

Organized with the American Academy in Rome

7–8 December 2009: Workshop with the MPG Humanities Section on the Max Planck Digital Library Project

Flanck Digital Library Floject

14-15 December 2009: Multilingualism, Linguae Francae, and the Global History of Concepts

The Institute's Colloquia

30 January 2008 *Lissa Roberts* Discussion on the book "Materials in eighteenth century science" by Ursula Klein and Wolfgang Lefèvre

13 February 2008 *John Pickstone* Practices and Disciplines in the History of Science, Technology, and Medicine

5 March 2008 Ruth Leys How to Do the History of the Emotions

19 March 2008 Lissa Roberts The Mindful Hand Goes to Japan: Dutch-Japanese

Trade During the Eighteenth-century

2 July 2008 Project Presentation of the Department 2

23 July 2008 Project Presentation of the Department. 3

30 July 2008 Lorraine Daston and Ted Porter "Objectivity: A Debate"

27 August 2008 Project Presentation of the Department. 1

15 October 2008 Gary Hatfield Descartes' Mechanization of the Sensitive Soul

21 January 2009 *Nikolaus Bacht* Presentation of the new Emmy Noether Research Group

8 July 2009 *Allan Young* Pro Patria Mori: New light on the Moral Life of Slime Mold30 September 2009 *Zur Shalev* Quantification and the Pilgrim Experience

4 November 2009 *Harriet Ritvo* The Animals' Turn?

16 December 2009 John Tresch La Technésthetique: A Physico-Spiritualist Conception of the Arts in French Romanticism

Scholars' Forum

In cooperation with partner institutions, the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science organizes scholars' forums for doctoral candidates and postdoctoral fellows: Studientag Wissenschaftsgeschichte: April 13, 2007 and May 16, 2008 Studientag Literatur und Wissenschaftsgeschichte: July 19, 2008 and June 13, 2009 ZwischenRäume: April 18, 2008 and February 20, 2009

Reading Groups

Reading groups are a substantial part of the academic life at the MPIWG. They are independently organized by scholars from different departments and focus on one particular theme in the history of science. In 2008 and 2009, reading groups worked on topics such as animals, communicating knowledge, neuroscience and culture, note-taking, ontology, sciences of the senses, re-reading the classics, or quantum history.

Academic Achievements and Scientific Awards

Completed Dissertations

Beat Bächi (ETH Zürich), at the Institute 2006/07; *Björn Brüsch* (see Research Report 2006/07) *Jochen Büttner* (see p. 34); *Christina Ratmoko* (Universität Zürich), at the Institute 2005; *Oliver Schlaudt* (Universität Heidelberg), (see p. 155), *Max Stadler* (see p. 113), *Matteo Valleriani* (see p. 32), *Hansjakob Ziemer* (see p. 230), *Rafaela Zorzanelli* (see p. 113)

Habilitations

Erna Fiorentini received her venia legendi in Kunstgeschichte from the Freie Universität Berlin in November 2009.

Sabine Höhler (at the Institue 1999/2002) received her venia legendi in Wissenschafts-,Technik- und Umweltgeschichte from the Technische Universität Darmstadt in January 2010

Christine von Oertzen received her venia legendi in Neuere Geschichte from the Technische Universität Braunschweig in January 2010.

Iris Schröder (at the Institue 2000/02) received her venia legendi in Neuere und Neueste Geschichte from the Humboldt Universität zu Berlin in June 2009.

Appointments

Viola van Beek (Predoctoral Research Fellow July 1, 2007–June 30, 2009) was appointed as fellow at the art, science & business program of Akademie Schloss Solitude, Germany.

Bernhard Bolech (Predoctoral Research Fellow May 1–June 30, 2009) was appointed as Kollegiat at the Initiativkolleg Naturwissenschaften im historischen Kontext, Universität Wien, Austria.

Luis Campos (Postdoctoral Research Fellow October 1, 2007–September 30, 2008) was appointed as Assistant Professor at the Drew University, Madison, New Jersey, U.S.A.

Jacob Lebovitch Dahl (Research Scholar October 1, 2005–September 30, 2008) was appointed as University Lecturer at the Oxford University, U.K.

Jiren FENG (Postdoctoral Research Fellow October 1, 2006–September 30, 2008) was appointed as Lecturer at the Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand. Vivette Garcia Deister (Predoctoral Research Fellow March 16–April 12, 2009) was appointed as Research Associate at the School of Social Anthropology of the University of Manchester, U.K.

Amanda Jo Goldstein (Predoctoral Research Fellow November 1–November 30, 2009) was appointed as Predoctoral Fellow at the Department of Comparative Literature at the University of California at Berkeley, U.S.A.

Mathias Grote (Postdoctoral Research Fellow January 1–December 31, 2009) was appointed as Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the ESRC Research Centre for Genomics in Society (Egenis), University of Exeter, U.K.

Ina Heumann (Predoctoral Research Fellow July 1–October 31, 2009) was appointed as Predoctoral Fellow at the Universität Wien, Austria.

Martin Hofmann (Postdoctoral Research Fellow/Visiting Scholar October 1, 2008 – August 31, 2009) was appointed as Research Scholar at the Ruprecht-Karls-Universität, Heidelberg, Germany.

Anja Skaar Jacobsen (Postdoctoral Research Fellow November 15, 2008–January 31, 2009) was appointed as Senior Researcher at the Niels Bohr Archive, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Hyo Yoon KANG (Postdoctoral Research Fellow October 1, 2006–June 30, 2009) was appointed as Oberassistentin at the Universität Luzern, Switzerland.

Stefanie Klamm (Predoctoral Research Fellow May 1, 2006 – September 30, 2009) was appointed as Predoctoral Fellow at the Getty Museum Research Institute, Los Angeles, U.S.A.

Maria E. Kronfeldner (Karl Schädler Postdoctoral Research Fellow March 1, 2006 – September 30, 2008) was appointed as Research Scholar at the Universität Bielefeld, Germany.

Joachim Kurtz (Research Group Director January 1–June 30, 2009) was appointed as Professor at the Ruprecht-Karls-Universität, Heidelberg, Germany.

Nicolas Langlitz (Postdoctoral Research Fellow September 1, 2007–December 31, 2009) was appointed as Assistant Professor at the New School for Social Research, New York City, U.S.A.

Costas Mannouris (Predoctoral Research Fellow September 1– September 30, 2009) was appointed as Predocoral Research Fellow and Assistant Editor of Meta Science at the University of Athens, Greece.

Claudia Mareis (Predoctoral Research Fellow February 1–July 31, 2009) was appointed as Forschungsdozentin at the Hochschule der Künste Bern, Switzerland. *Brendan Matz* (Predoctoral Research Fellow September 8 – December 31, 2008) was appointed as Graduate Student at the Yale School of Medicine, Yale University, U.S.A. *Erika Milam* (Postdoctoral Research Fellow September 1, 2007– December 31, 2008) was appointed as Assistant Professor at the University of Maryland, U.S.A.

Sybilla Nikolow (Research Scholar April 1 – September 30, 2009) was appointed as Research Scholar at the Institut für Wissenschafts- und Technikforschung, Universität Bielefeld, Germany.

Nina Samuel (Predoctoral Research Fellow February 15 – May 31, 2009) was appointed as Research Scholar at the Institut für Philosophie, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany.

Oliver Schlaudt (Predoctoral Research Fellow April 15 – September 30, 2008) was appointed as Akademischer Rat a. Z. at the Philosphisches Seminar, University of Heidelberg, Germany.

Alexander von Schwerin (Research Scholar November 1, 2008 – March 31, 2009) was appointed as Research Scholar at the Technische Universität Braunschweig, Germany. *Martina Siebert* (Research Scholar October 1, 2006 – November 15, 2009) was appointed as Research Scholar at the Ostasienabteilung, Staatsbibliothek Berlin, Germany.

Robyn Smith (Postdoctoral Research Fellow October 1, 2007–April 30, 2009) was appointed as Assistant Professor at the University of Alberta, Canada. *Thomas Sturm* (Research Scholar October 1, 2005–September 30, 2009) was appointed as Faculty Member at the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain. *Sonja Walch* (Predoctoral Research Fellow January 1–April 30, 2008) was appointed as Predoctoral Fellow at the Institut für Zeitgeschichte, Universität Wien, Austria. *Christof Windgätter* (Postdoctoral Research Fellow April 1, 2007–June 30, 2009) was appointed as Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the Kulturabteilung der Stadt Wien, Referat Wissenschafts- und Forschungsförderung, Austria.

Charles Wolfe (Postdoctoral Research Fellow December 1, 2007–January 31, 2008) was appointed as Research Fellow at the Unit for History and Philosophy of Science, University of Sydney, Australia.

Awards

Julia Damerow received a *special award* from the Heinz-Billing-Foundation of the Max Planck Society for her diploma thesis "Entwicklung eines MDD-Tools für eine virtuelle Ausstellung."

Tamás Demeter won the 2009 *Talentum Prize* by the Hungarian Academy of Sciences.

Miki Elazar won the 2009 *Funkenstein Prize* of the Tel Aviv University for his doctoral dissertation "Honoré Fabri and the Concept of Impetus: A Bridge between Paradigms."

Together with *Susan Neiman* and *Iris Nachum*, *Peter McLaughlin* was awarded the 2009 *Margherita-von-Brentano-Preis* for the comprehensive edition and publication of the Nachlass of Margherita-von-Brentano.

Arne Schirrmacher was awarded the 2007 Publikationspreis des Deutschen Museums for his article "Der lange Weg zum neuen Bild des Atoms. Zum Vermittlungssystem der Naturwissenschaften zwischen Jahrhundertwende und Weimarer Republik." *Henning Schmidgen* was awarded the 2010 *Paul-Bunge-Preis* of the Gesellschaft Deutscher Chemiker for his book "Die Helmholtz-Kurven. Auf der Spur der verlorenen Zeit" and his significant contributions to the internet project "Virtual Laboratory."

Milena Wazeck was awarded the 2009 *Georg-Uschmann-Preis für Wissenschaftsgeschichte* from the German Academy of Sciences, Leopoldina for her thesis on Einstein's adversaries.

Publications

This bibliography comprises the publications of the Institute's members and guests during the period 2008–2009. Book reviews are not listed. Bibliography editor: Sabine Bertram, MPIWG Library. Last update: May 6, 2010.

Abdounur, Oscar João. "An exhibition as a tool to approach didactical and historical aspects of the relationship between mathematics and music." In *Promoting creativity for all students in mathematics education : the 11th international congress on mathematical education, Monterrey, Mexico, July 6–13, 2008*, eds. Emiliya Velikova and Agnis Andžāns. 112–119. Rousse: University of Rousse, 2008: http://dg.icme11.org/document/get/266

Abdounur, Oscar João. "From arithmetical-speculative to physical-geometrical conceptions : epistemological changes in the Renaissance music theory." *International Journal of Essential Science* 2 (2 2008): 1–11.

Abdounur, Oscar João. "Ratios and music in the late Middle Ages : a preliminary survey." In *Music and mathematics in late medieval and early modern Europe*, ed. Philippe Vendrix. 23–69. Turnhout: Brepols, 2008.

Abdounur, Oscar João. "Razones, proporciones y pensamiento proporcional en la música pitagórica : un abordaje histórico-didáctico." In *La proporción : arte y matemáticas*, ed. Joaquin Giménez. 61–86. Barcelona: Editorial Graó, 2009.

Akavia, Naamah. "Writing 'The case of Ellen West' : clinical knowledge and historical representation." *Science in Context* 21 (1 2008): 119–144.

Algazi, Gadi. "Norbert Elias's motion pictures : history, cinema and gestures in the process of civilization." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 444–458.

Altmann, Jan. "Andere Augen : was Tiere sehen." In *Blick. Spiel. Feld*, eds. Malda Denana, Jule Hillgärtner, and Eva Holling. 79–92. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2008.

Altmann, Jan. "[Entry] 'Koch." In *Encyclopedia of nineteenth-century photography. Vol. 2*, ed. John Hannavy. 802. New York: Taylor & Francis, 2008.

Andersson, Daniel C. "'Embarke, but under caution' : a new Elizabethan masque fragment." *Notes and Queries* 55 (2 2008): 171–175.

Andersson, Daniel C. "Anagogicis ... excessibus : a philological addendum on the religious phenomenology of Frans Titelmans." *Verbum Analecta Neolatina* 11 (1 2009): 29–32.



Andersson, Daniel C. "Humanism and natural philosophy in Renaissance Cambridge : Bodley MS 616." In *History of Universities. Vol. XXIV/1–2*, ed. Mordechai Feingold. 69–116. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009.

1 Andersson, Daniel C. *Lord Henry Howard (1540–1614) : an Elizabethan life*. Studies in Renaissance literature ; 27. Cambridge: Brewer, 2009.

Arabatzis, Theodore. "Causes and contingencies in the history of science : a plea for a pluralist historiography." *Centaurus* 50 (1–2 2008): 32–36.

Arabatzis, Theodore. "Cathode rays." In *Compendium of quantum physics : concepts, experiments, history and philosophy*, eds. Daniel Greenberger, Klaus Hentschel, and Friedel Weinert. 89–92. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Arabatzis, Theodore. "Electrons." In *Compendium of quantum physics : concepts, experiments, history and philosophy*, eds. Daniel Greenberger, Klaus Hentschel, and Friedel Weinert. 195–199. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Arabatzis, Theodore and Vasso Kindi. "The problem of conceptual change in the philosophy and history of science." In *International handbook of research on conceptual change*, ed. Stella Vosniadou. 345–373. New York [u.a]: Routledge, 2008.

Aubin, David. "'The memory of life itself': Bénard's cells and the cinematography of self-organization." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 359–369.

2 Avidar, Pnina, Raviv Ganchrow, and Julia Kursell, eds. *Immersed : sound and architecture*. Oase ; 78. Rotterdam: Netherlands Architecture Institute, 2009.

Azzouni, Safia. "Der Topos des Erhabenen als Schlüssel zur Methode populärwissenschaftlichen Schreibens um 1900." In *Sachbuch und populäres Wissen im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Andy Hahnemann and David Oels. 211–220. Frankfurt am Main [u.a.]: Lang, 2008.

Azzouni, Safia. "Der Wert des Wurms : zu einer Parallele populärwissenschaftlicher und kulturwissenschaftlicher Argumentationslogik um 1900." In *Logiken und Praktiken der Kulturforschung*, ed. Uwe Wirth. 43–55. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008. Azzouni, Safia. "Essay review of: Bölsche, Wilhelm: Werke und Briefe : wissenschaftliche Ausgabe, Bd. 2: Die Mittagsgöttin: ein Roman aus dem Geisteskampfe der Gegenwart. Berlin: Weidler 2005." *Scientia Poetica* 12 (2008): 390–404.

Azzouni, Safia. "Denkkollektive : Goethe mit Fleck lesen." In *Versuchsanordnungen 1800*, eds. Sabine Schimma and Joseph Vogl. 189–198. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes Verlag, 2009.

Azzouni, Safia. "Populärwissenschaft als fachwissenschaftliche Autorität : Wilhelm Bölsches 'Das Liebesleben in der Natur' und die Anfänge der Sexualwissenschaft." *Jahrbuch Literatur und Medizin* 3 (2009): 13–38.

Badalanova, Florentina. "The bible in the making : Slavonic creation stories." In *Imagining creation*, eds. Markham J. Geller and Mineke Schipper. 161–366. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2008.

Badino, Massimiliano. "[Entry] 'Boltzmann." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 1*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 337–339. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Badino, Massimiliano. "The odd couple : Boltzmann, Planck and the application of statistics to physics (1900–1913)." *Annalen der Physik* 18 (2–3 2009): 81–101.

Badino, Massimiliano, Arianna Borrelli, Jochen Büttner, Giuseppe Castagnetti, Dieter Hoffmann, Christian Joas, Horst Kant, Christoph Lehner, Jürgen Renn, Simone Rieger, Arne Schirrmacher, Urs Schoepflin, and Milena Wazeck, eds. *Max Planck : Revolutionär wider Willen ; eine kleine Geschichte der Quantentheorie und ihres Begründers ; [eine Ausstellung der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Deutschen Technikmuseum Berlin anläßlich des 150. Geburtstages von Max Planck, 26. 4. – 5. 10. 2008].* Spektrum der Wissenschaft : Biographie ; 1/2008. Heidelberg: Spektrum der Wissenschaft Verlagsges., 2008.

Bauer, Susanne see also Wahlberg and Bauer

Bauer, Susanne. "From society to molecule and back : the contested scale of public health science." In *Contested categories : life sciences in society*, eds. Susanne Bauer and Ayo Wahlberg. 113–134. Farnham [u. a.]: Ashgate, 2009.

 Bauer, Susanne and Ayo Wahlberg, eds. *Contested categories : life sciences in society*. Theory, technology and society. Farnham [u.a.]: Ashgate, 2009.

Becchi, Antonio. "[Entry] 'Baldi." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 1*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 166–168. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Becchi, Antonio. "Imaginer l'entasis : constructions, définitions, malentendus dans les traités de la Renaissance." In *La colonne : nouvelle histoire de la construction*, ed. Roberto Gargiani. 149–163. Lausanne: Presses polytechniques et universitaires romandes, 2008. Becchi, Antonio. "Les paradoxes (historiographiques) de la 'vis columnarum." In *La colonne : nouvelle histoire de la construction*, ed. Roberto Gargiani. 203–219. Lausanne: Presses polytechniques et universitaires romandes, 2008.

Becchi, Antonio. "'Taccia dunque la turba de gli architetti pratici ...' : Henry Wotton und der Abt von Guastalla." In *Wissensformen : sechster Internationaler Barocksommerkurs, Stiftung Bibliothek Werner Oechslin, Einsiedeln*, ed. Werner Oechslin. 100–107. Zürich: gta-Verlag, 2008.

Becchi, Antonio. "The body of the architect : flesh, bones and forces between mechanical and architectural theories." In *Proceedings of the Third International Congress on Construction History, Brandenburg University of Technology, Cottbus, 20th–24th May 2009. Vol. 1*, eds. Karl-Eugen Kurrer, Werner Lorenz, and Volker Wetzk. 151–158. Berlin: Neunplus 1, 2009.

Becchi, Antonio. "Juxta textum Vitruvii et mentem Newtonii : das neue Wissen und das 'Räthsel der Architektur?" In *Architekt und/ versus Baumeister : die Frage nach dem Metier*, 40–49. Zürich: gta Verlag, 2009.

Becchi, Antonio. "Pregnant columns : from word to shape." In *Creating shapes in civil and naval architecture : a cross-disciplinary comparison*, eds. Horst Nowacki and Wolfgang Lefèvre. 279–296. Leiden [u. a.]: Brill, 2009.

Becchi, Antonio. "Uno e trino : impronte stravaganti di un testimone postumo (1621)." In *Saggi di letteratura architettonica, da Vitruvio a Winckelmann. Vol. 1*, ed. Franceso P. Di Teodoro. 29–45. Firenze: Olschki, 2009.

Becchi, Antonio. "Vitruvius in the Sahara : Auguste Choisy's philologie plafonnante." In Auguste Choisy (1841–1909) : l'architecture et l'art de bâtir ; actas del Simposio Internacional celebrado en Madrid, 19–20 de noviembre de 2009, eds. Javier Girón and Santiago Huerta. 1–14. Madrid: Instituto Juan de Herrera, 2009.

Becchi, Antonio, Mario Carpo, Pierre Caye, Claude Mignot, Werner Oechslin, and Pascal Dubourg Glatigny. "Les livres d'architecture : leurs éditions de la Renaissance à nous jours." *Perspective : la revue de l'Institut National d'Histoire de l'Art* (2 2008): 189–204.

Beek, Viola van. "Experimental spaces outside the laboratory—Experiment kits and instruction manuals around 1900." *The virtual laboratory : essays and resources on the experimentalization of life* (2009): http://vlp.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/references?id=art73



Beek, Viola van. "'Man lasse doch diese Dinger selber einmal sprechen' : Experimentierkästen, Experimentalanleitungen und Erzählungen zwischen 1870 und 1930." *NTM* 17 (4 2009): 387–414. http://www.springerlink.com/content/562827673572q738/?p=9dec29531e4c4749bc2 3eccab3ef1b80&pi=1

Beier, Henning M., Boris Fehse, Bärbel Friedrich, Magdalena Götz, Ingo Hansmann, Ferdinand Hucho, Kristian Köchy, Bernd Müller-Röber, and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, eds. *Neue Wege der Stammzellforschung : Reprogrammierung von differenzierten Körperzellen.* Berlin: Berlin-Brandenburgische Akademie der Wissenschaften, 2009.

Berndt, Frauke and Stephan Kammer, eds. *Amphibolie—Ambiguität—Ambivalenz*. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2009.

 Berndt, Frauke and Stephan Kammer. "Amphibolie—Ambiguität—Ambivalenz : die Struktur antagonistisch-gleichzeitiger Zweiwertigkeit." In *Amphibolie— Ambiguität—Ambivalenz*, eds. Frauke Berndt and Stephan Kammer. 7–30. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2009.

Beurton, Peter. "Darwins Beitrag zum Genbegriff." In *Charles Darwin und seine Wirkung*, ed. Eve-Marie Engels. 255–275. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2009.

Bigg, Charlotte. "Die Karriere der quantitativen Spektralanalyse : Experimentalkulturen zwischen Physik, Chemie und Industrie." *Mitteilungen der Gesellschaft Deutscher Chemiker, Fachgruppe Geschichte der Chemie* 19 (2007): 50–65. Published 2008.

Bigg, Charlotte. "Evident atoms : visuality in Jean Perrin's Brownian motion research." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 312–322.

Bigg, Charlotte. "La carte du ciel vue de Potsdam." In *La carte du ciel : histoire et actualité d'un projet scientifique international*, ed. Jérôme Lamy. 129–153. Les Ulis: EDP Sciences, 2008.

Bigg, Charlotte. "Sebastian Rug : Spuren zeichnen/Drawing traces." In *Zeichnung als Prozess = Drawing as process [Ausstellung Museum Folkwang Essen]*, ed. Tobias Burg. 131–142. Essen: Kehrer, 2008.



Bigg, Charlotte. "Der Wissenschaftler als öffentliche Persönlichkeit : die Wissenschaft der Intimität im Nadar-Chevreul-Interview (1886)." In *Frosch und Frankenstein : Bilder als Medium der Popularisierung von Wissenschaft*, eds. Bernd Hüppauf and Peter Weingart. 205–231. Bielefeld: Transcript, 2009.

Bigg, Charlotte. "[Entry] 'Brownian motion." In *Compendium of quantum physics : concepts, experiments, history and philosophy*, eds. Daniel Greenberger, Klaus Hentschel, and Friedel Weinert. 81–84. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Bigg, Charlotte. "Jean Perrins Beobachtung von dünnen Schichten und die Sichtbarmachung der molekularen Realität." In *Atombilder : Ikonographien des Atoms in Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit des 20. Jahrhunderts*, eds. Charlotte Bigg and Jochen Hennig. 69–70. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Bigg, Charlotte, David Aubin, and David Felsch, eds. *The laboratory of nature : science in the mountains—mountains in science, from the late eighteenth to the early twentieth century.* Science in Context ; 22/3. Cambridge : Cambridge Univ. Press, 2009.

Bigg, Charlotte and Jochen Hennig, eds. Atombilder : Ikonographien des Atoms in Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit des 20. Jahrhunderts. Abhandlungen und Berichte/ Deutsches Museum ; N. F. 25. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Bigg, Charlotte and Jochen Hennig. "Spuren des Unsichtbaren : Fotografie macht Radioaktivität sichtbar." In *Atombilder : Ikonographien des Atoms in Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit des 20. Jahrhunderts*, eds. Charlotte Bigg and Jochen Hennig. 31–36. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Bippus, Elke, Julia Cloot, Dieter Mersch, Marion Saxer, and Henning Schmidgen. "Das Experiment in der Gegenwartskultur : ein Gespräch." *Musik & Ästhetik* 13 (52 2009): 5–23.

Bloor, David. "Sichtbarmachung, common sense and construction in fluid mechanics : the cases of Hele-Shaw and Ludwig Prandtl." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 349–358.

2 Bluche, Lorraine, Veronika Lipphardt, and Kiran Klaus Patel, eds. Der Europäerein Konstrukt : Wissensbestände, Diskurse, Praktiken. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Bonneuil, Christophe, Pierre-Benoît Joly, and Claire Marris. "Disentrenching experiment : the construction of GM-crop field trials as a social problem." *Science, Technology, and Human Values* 33 (2 2008): 201–229.

Borchers, Stefan. "Samenkörner und Samentierchen : zu Christian Wolffs Zeugungsphysiologie." In *'Allerhand nützliche Versuche' : empirische Wissenskultur in Halle und Göttingen (1720–1750)*, eds. Tanja van Hoorn and Yvonne Wübben. 65–87. Hannover: Wehrhahn-Verlag, 2009.

3 Bordogna, Francesca. *William James at the boundaries : philosophy, science, and the geography of knowledge.* Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 2008.

Börne, Armin M. and Arne Schirrmacher. "Heisenberg, Werner: Physikalische Prinzipien der Quantentheorie." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 7*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 312–313. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Borrelli, Arianna see also Badino and Borrelli

Borrelli, Arianna. "Force and its measure." *Media Art History Archive, re:place Background Texts* (2007/2008): http://193.171.60.44/dspace/bitstream/10002/422/1/force-borrelli.pdf

Borrelli, Arianna. "The media perspective in the study of scientific abstraction." *Media Art History Archive, re:place Presentations* (2007/2008): http://193.171.60.44/dspace/bitstream/10002/455/1/borrelli.pdf

4 Borrelli, Arianna. *Aspects of the astrolabe : 'architectonica ratio' in tenth- and eleventh-century Europe*. Sudhoffs Archiv : Beihefte ; 57. Stuttgart: Steiner, 2008.

Borrelli, Arianna. "Pneumatics and the alchemy of weather : what is wind and why does it blow?" In *Variantology 3 : on deep time relations of arts, sciences and technologies in China and elsewhere*, eds. Siegfried Zielinski and Eckhard Fürlus. 37–72. Köln: König, 2008.

Borrelli, Arianna. "The weatherglass and its observers in the early seventeenth century." In *Philosophies of technology : Francis Bacon and his contemporaries. Vol. 1*, eds. Claus Zittel, Gisela Engel, Romano Nanni, and Nicole C. Karafyllis. 67–130. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2008.

Borrelli, Arianna. "The emergence of selection rules and their encounter with group theory, 1913–1927." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 40 (4 2009): 327–337.



Borrelli, Arianna. "[Entries] 'Bose-Einstein statistics', 'Quantum statistics', 'Renormalization', 'Spin statistics theorem." In *Compendium of quantum physics : concepts, experiments, history and philosophy*, eds. Daniel Greenberger, Klaus Hentschel, and Friedel Weinert. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Brain, Robert M. "The pulse of modernism : experimental physiology and aesthetic avant-gardes circa 1900." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 393–417.

Brain, Robert M. and Kelly J. Whitmer. "Dissecting vision in early science and medicine." *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine* 52 (3 2009): 448–453.

- 1 Brandstetter, Thomas, Dirk Rupnow, and Christina Wessely, eds. *Sachunterricht* : *Fundstücke aus der Wissenschaftsgeschichte*. Wien: Löcker, 2008.
- 2 Brandstetter, Thomas and Christof Windgätter, eds. Zeichen der Kraft : Wissensformationen 1800–1900. Kaleidogramme ; 26. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Brandt, Christina see also Vienne and Brandt

Brandt, Christina. "Cloned Lives : literarisches Experiment und biowissenschaftliche Narration im Klondiskurs der 1970er Jahre." In *Engineering life : Narrationen vom Menschen in Biomedizin, Kultur und Literatur*, eds. Claudia Breger, Irmela Krüger-Fürhoff, and Tanja Nusser. 123–143. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Brandt, Christina. "Codes & Clones : Begriffs-Konjunkturen in den Biowissenschaften 1950–1980." *Zeitgeschichte* 35 (6 2008): 354–371.

Brandt, Christina. "Die Diffusion des zukünftigen Menschen : Klonpraktiken und Visionen des Humanen, 1960–1980." In *Wissensobjekt Mensch : humanwissenschaftliche Praktiken im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Florence Vienne and Christina Brandt. 215–241. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Brandt, Christina. "Die zwei (und mehr) Kulturen des 'Klons' : Utopie und Fiktion im biowissenschaftlichen Diskurs der Nachkriegszeit." *NTM* 17 (3 2009): 243–275. http://www.springerlink.com/content/w41l473477212331/?p=01334e116862465590 5b8e010afd568f&pi=0
Brandt, Christina. "'In his Image': Klonexperimente zwischen Biowissenschaft und Science-fiction." In *Kulturgeschichte des Menschenversuchs im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Birgit Griesecke, Marcus Krause, Nicolas Pethes, and Katja Sabisch. 373–393. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp Wissenschaft, 2009.

Brandt, Christina. "Wissenschaftserzählungen : narrative Strukturen im naturwissenschaftlichen Diskurs." In *Wirklichkeitserzählungen : Felder, Formen und Funktionen nicht-literarischen Erzählens*, eds. Christian Klein and Matías Martínez. 81–109. Stuttgart [u.a.]: Metzler, 2009.

Braunstein, Jean-François. "Deux philosophies de la médecine : Canguilhem et Fleck." In *Philosophie et médecine : en hommage à Georges Canguilhem ; colloque, le 10 juin 2005*, eds. Anne Fagot-Largeault, Claude Debru, Michel Morange, and Hee-Jin Han. 63–80. Paris: Vrin, 2008.

- Braunstein, Jean-François, ed. L'histoire des sciences : méthodes, styles et controverses. Textes clés de l'histoire des sciences. Paris: Vrin, 2008.
- 4 Braunstein, Jean-François. *La philosophie de la médecine d'Auguste Comte : vaches carnivores, Vierge Mère et morts vivants.* Science, histoire et société. Paris: Presses universitaires de France, 2009.

Bray, Francesca, ed. *Constructing intimacy : technology, family and gender in East Asia*. East Asian Science, Technology and Society ; 2/2. Dordrecht: Springer, 2008.

Bray, Francesca. "Constructing intimacy : technology, family and gender in East Asia (Introduction)." *East Asian Science, Technology and Society* 2 (2 2008): 1–15.

Bray, Francesca. "Science, technique, technology : passages between matter and knowledge in imperial Chinese agriculture." *The British Journal for the History of Science* 41 (3 2008): 319–344.

Bray, Francesca. "Tales of fertility : reproductive narratives in late imperial China." In *Variantology 3: On deep time relations of arts, sciences and technologies in China and elsewhere*, eds. Siegfried Zielinski and Eckhard Fürlus. 93–114. Köln: König, 2008.

Bray, Francesca. "Becoming a mother in late imperial China : maternal doubles and the ambiguity of fertility." In *Chinese kinship : contemporary anthropological perspectives*, eds. Susanne Brandstädter and Gonçalo D. Santos. 181–203. London [u. a.]: Routledge, 2009.

Bray, Francesca. "Chinese technology." In *A companion to the philosophy of technology*, eds. Jan Kyrre Berg Olsen, Stig Andur Pedersen, and Vincent F. Hendricks. 28–31. Chichester, U.K. [u.a.]: Wiley-Blackwell, 2009.

Brüsch, Björn. "Ein dem Publico wohlthätiges und nützliches Vergnügen': der Garten als epistemologischer Raum um 1800." In *Kulturen des Wissens im 18. Jahrhundert*, ed. Ulrich Johannes Schneider. 563–570. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.

Brusius, Mirjam. "Inscriptions in a double sense : the biography of an early scientific photograph of script." *Nuncius* 24 (2 2009): 367–392.

Brusius, Mirjam. "Unschärfe als frühe Fotokritik : Julia Margaret Camerons Frage nach dem Maß der Fotografie im 19. Jahrhundert." In *Maßlose Bilder : visuelle Ästhetik der Transgression*, eds. Ingeborg Reichle and Steffen Siegel. 341–358. Paderborn [u. a.]: Fink, 2009.

Bührig, Claudia. Das spätkaiserzeitliche Bogenmonument 'extra muros' in Gadara (Umm Qais) : städtebauliche Bedeutung und Funktion eines freistehenden Torbaus an der Schnittstelle von Stadt und Umland. Orient-Archäologie ; 21. Rahden/Westf.: Deutsches Archäologisches Institut, Orient-Abteilung, 2008.

Büttner, Jochen see also Badino, Borrelli and Büttner

Büttner, Jochen. "Big wheel keep on turning." Galilaeana 5 (2008): 33-62.

Büttner, Jochen. "The pendulum as a challenging object in early-modern mechanics." In *Mechanics and natural philosophy before the scientific revolution*, eds. Walter Roy Laird and Sophie Roux. 223–237. Dordrecht: Springer, 2008.

Büttner, Jochen. "Galilei, Galileo: Discorsi e dimostrazioni matematiche intorno à due nuove scienze attenenti alla mecanica & i movimenti locali." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 6*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 50–51. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Büttner, Jochen. "Wie auf Erden, so im Himmel : zwei Welten—eine Physik." Sterne und Weltraum : Dossier (1 2009): 64–73.

Büttner, Jochen and Jürgen Renn. "Cosmology between physics and philosophy— Galileo to Einstein." In *Pathways through an eclectic universe : proceedings of a conference held at Santiago del Teide, Tenerife, Spain 23–27 april 2007 to celebrate John Beckman's 40 years in astrophysics*, eds. Johan Knapen, Terry Mahoney, and Alexandre Vazdekis. 547–561. San Francisco: The Astronomical Society of the Pacific, 2008.

Büttner, Jochen and Jürgen Renn. "Kosmologie zwischen Physik und Philosophie bei Galileo und Einstein." In *Kosmologie, Evolution und Evolutionäre Anthropologie*, eds. Stephan Borrmann and Günter Rager. 49–78. Freiburg i. Br. [u. a.]: Alber, 2009.

Caianiello, Silvia. "La federazione delle parti : sul concetto di individuo in Rudolf Virchow." *Medicina nei secoli* 20 (1 2008): 43–89.



Caianiello, Silvia. "L'enjeu épistémologique de la notion d'époque entre organisme et système au XIXe siècle." *Annales : Histoire, Sciences Sociales* 64 (1 2009): 111–142.

Caliman, Luciana Vieira. "O TDAH : entre as funções, disfunções e otimização da atenção." *Psicologia em estudo* 13 (3 2008): 559–566.

Caliman, Luciana Vieira. "A constituição sócio-médica do 'fato TDAH." *Psicologia & sociedade* 21 (1 2009): 135–144.

Castagnetti, Giuseppe see Badino, Borrelli, Büttner and Castagnetti

Chadarevian, Soraya de and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger. *Disciplinary histories and the history of disciplines : the challenge of molecular biology*. Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences : special issue ; 40/1. Amsterdam [u. a.]: Elsevier, 2009.

Chemla, Karine. "Literacy and the history of science : reflections based on Chinese and other sources." In *The Cambridge handbook of literacy*, eds. David R. Olson and Nancy Torrance. 253–270. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2009.

Cheung, Tobias. "Regulating agents, functional interactions, and stimulus-reactionschemes : the concept of 'organism' in the organic system theories of Stahl, Bordeu, and Barthez." *Science in Context* 21 (4 2008): 495–519.

Cheung, Tobias. *Res vivens : Agentenmodelle organischer Ordnung 1600 – 1800.* Berliner Kulturwissenschaft ; 8. Freiburg i. Br. [u.a.]: Rombach, 2008.

Cheung, Tobias. "Der Baum im Baum : Modellkörper, reproduktive Systeme und die Differenz zwischen Lebendigem und Unlebendigem bei Kant und Bonnet." In *Kants Philosophie der Natur : ihre Entwicklung im 'Opus postumum' und ihre Wirkung*, ed. Ernst-Otto Onnasch. 25–49. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2009.

Cheung, Tobias. "System, Mikrooperator und Transformation : Leibniz' gemeinsames Ordnungsdispositiv der Monade und des Lebendigen im naturgeschichtlichen Kontext." In *Der Monadenbegriff zwischen Spätrenaissance und Aufklärung*, ed. Hanns-Peter Neumann. 143–201. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2009. Choudhury, Suparna, Tony Charman and Sarah-Jayne Blakemore. "Mentalizing and development during adolescence." In *Handbook of developmental social neuroscience*, eds. Michelle De Haan and Megan R. Gunnar. 159–174. New York: Guilford Press, 2009.

Dahl, Jacob. "Early writing in Iran, a reappraisal." Iran 47 (2009): 23-31.

Dahmen, Silvio R. "Boltzmann and the art of flying." *Physics in Perspective* 11 (3 2009): 244–260.

Damerow, Peter see also Zhang, Schemmel, Renn and Damerow

Damerow, Peter and Jürgen Renn. "(in Chinese) The transformation of ancient mechanics into a mechanistic world view." In 传播与会通:《奇器图说》研究与校注. *Chuan bo yu hui tong*: "*Qi qi tu shuo*" *yan jiu yu jiao zhu* = *Transmission and integration*: '*Qiqi tushuo*', eds. Baichun Zhang, Matthias Schemmel, Jürgen Renn and Peter Damerow. 21–47. Nanjing: Jiangsu ke xue ji shu chu ban she, 2008.

Damerow, Peter. "Ethnomathematik und Curriculumexport—Zu diesem Buch 'Ethnogeometrie : kulturanthropologische Beiträge zur Genese und Didaktik der Geometrie?" In *Introducing Paulus Gerdes' ethnomathematics books : a collection of prefaces, forewords, afterwords, and afterthought.* 9–18. Maputo/Mozambique: CEMEC, Universidade Pedagógica, Maputo, 2009.

Damerow, Peter. "Kreise und Räder." In: *Einfach*, eds. Hannes Böhringer, Hans Hansen, Hans and Axel Kufus. 58–72. Berlin: Merve Verlag, 2009.

Daston, Lorraine see also Galison and Daston

Daston, Lorraine. "Analogies and the migration of scientific ideas : the strange career of the normal curve." *Nova Acta Leopoldina : N. F. 97* (358 2008): 169–185.

Daston, Lorraine. "Die Quantifizierung der weiblichen Intelligenz." In 'Aller Männerkultur zum Trotz': Frauen in Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften, ed. Renate Tobies. 81–96. 2., aktualisierte und erweiterte Aufl. Frankfurt am Main [u.a.]: Campus-Verlag, 2008.

Daston, Lorraine. "Life, chance, and life chances." Daedalus 137 (1 2008): 5-14.

Daston, Lorraine. "Monomanie in der Wissenschaft." In *Über das Glück : ein Symposion*, ed. Heinrich Meier. 221–252. München [u.a.]: Piper, 2008.

Daston, Lorraine. "On scientific observation." Isis 99 (1 2008): 97-110.



Daston, Lorraine. "A short history of Einstein's paradise beyond the personal." In *Einstein for the 21st century : his legacy in science, art, and modern culture*, eds. Peter L. Galison, Gerald J. Holton, and Silvan S. Schweber. 15–26. Princeton [u.a.]: Princeton University Press, 2008.

Daston, Lorraine. "Toward a history of reason." In *Aurora Torealis : studies in the history of science and ideas in honor of Tore Frängsmyr*, eds. Marco Beretta, Karl Grandin, and Svante Lindqvist. 165–180. Sagamore Beach: Science History Publications, 2008.

Daston, Lorraine. "Unruly weather : natural law confronts natural variability." In *Natural law and laws of nature in early modern Europe : jurisprudence, theology, moral, and natural philosophy*, eds. Lorraine Daston and Michael Stolleis. 233–248. Aldershot: Ashgate, 2008.

 Daston, Lorraine. "Kunst und Wissenschaft : jenseits der Moral?" In Schimpfwort Moral, ed. Elisabeth Schweeger. 29–50. Philosophische Salons. Frankfurter Dialoge ;
5. München: Belleville, 2009.

Daston, Lorraine. "Science studies and the history of science." *Critical Inquiry* 35 (4 2009): 798–813.

Daston, Lorraine. "The scientist's nightstand." *American Scientist Online* (2009): 1–2. http://www.americanscientist.org/bookshelf/pub/scientists-nightstand-lorraine-daston

Daston, Lorraine. "A story without an ending." In *Ideas on the nature of science*, ed. David Cayley. 34–52. Fredericton, Canada: Goose Lane Editions, 2009.

Daston, Lorraine and Peter Galison. "Objectivity and its critics." *Victorian Studies* 50 (4 2008): 666–677.

2 Daston, Lorraine and Michael Stolleis, eds. *Natural law and laws of nature in early modern Europe : jurisprudence, theology, moral, and natural philosophy.* Aldershot: Ashgate, 2008.

De Ceglia, Francesco Paolo, ed. *Friedrich Hoffman: Differenza tra la dottrina di Stahl e la mia in patologia e terapia.* Pisa: Plus, 2009.

1 De Ceglia, Francesco Paolo. *I fari di Halle : Georg Ernst Stahl, Friedrich Hoffmann e la medicina europea del primo Settecento.* Annali dell'Istituto storico italo-germanico in Trento : monografie ; 54. Bologna: il Mulino, 2009.

De Ceglia, Francesco Paolo. "Il fisico bestiale dei morti : cadaveri plastinati in esposizione." *Nuovi argomenti* 45 (2009): 44–57.

De Ceglia, Francesco Paolo. "Quegli strani cugini d'oltremare : racconti di uomini con la coda." In *L'arcipelago inquieto : una raccolta di saggi interdisciplinari sull'evoluzionismo visto dal mare*, ed. Emanuele Coco. 31–42. Milano: Mondadori, 2009.

De Ceglia, Francesco Paolo. "Tutti contro Galileo!" Scienza e società (7-8 2009): 11-16.

De Rijcke, Sarah. "Light tries the expert eye : the introduction of photography in nineteenth-century macroscopic neuroanatomy." *Journal of the History of the Neurosciences* 17 (3 2008): 349–366.

Debaise, Didier. "Eine Philosophie der Zwischenräume : Whitehead und die Frage nach dem Leben." In *Parasiten und Sirenen : Zwischenräume als Orte der materiellen Wissensproduktion*, eds. Bernhard J. Dotzler and Henning Schmidgen. 125–139. Bielefeld: transcript, 2008.

Debaise, Didier. "The emergence of a speculative empiricism : Whitehead reading Bergson." In *Deleuze, Whitehead, Bergson : rhizomatics connections*, ed. Keith Robinson. 77–88. New York [u.a.]: Palgrave Macmillan, 2008.

2 Demeter, Tamás. *Mentális fikcionalizmus.* Kognitív Szeminárium. Budapest: Gondolat, 2008.

Demeter, Tamás. "The sociological tradition of Hungarian philosophy." *Studies in East European Thought* 60 (1–2 2008): 1–16.

Demeter, Tamás. "Can the strong program be generalized?" *Review of Sociology* 15 (1 2009): 5–16. http://www.szociologia.hu/dynamic/RewSoc_2009_1_5_16_DemeterT.pdf

Demeter, Tamás. "Two kinds of mental realism." *Journal for General Philosophy of Science* 40 (1 2009): 59–71. http://www.springerlink.com/content/n4rll28j5h334238/?p=4bffec842a7448119c333 b9406a15c9b&pi=4

Demeter, Tamás. "Where rationality is." In *Verstehen : nach Heidegger und Brandom*, ed. Barbara Merker. 247–262. Hamburg: Meiner, 2009.



3 Didier, Emmanuel. *En quoi consiste l'Amérique : les statistiques, le New Deal et la démocratie.* Textes à l'appui. Paris: La Découverte, 2009.

Dommann, Monika. "Lost in tradition? Reconsidering the history of folklore and its legal protection since 1800." In *Intellectual property and traditional cultural expressions : legal protection in a digital environment*, eds. Christoph Beat Graber and Mira Burri-Nenova. 3–16. Cheltenham [u.a.]: Elgar, 2008.

Dommann, Monika. "Papierstau und Informationsfluss : die Normierung der Bibliothekskopie." *Historische Anthropologie* 16 (1 2008): 31–54.

Dotzler, Bernhard J. and Henning Schmidgen. "Einleitung : zu einer Epistemologie der Zwischenräume." In *Parasiten und Sirenen : Zwischenräume als Orte der materiellen Wissensproduktion*, eds. Bernhard J. Dotzler and Henning Schmidgen. 7–18. Bielefeld: transcript, 2008.

4 Dotzler, Bernhard J. and Henning Schmidgen, eds. *Parasiten und Sirenen : Zwischenräume als Orte der materiellen Wissensproduktion*. Literalität und Liminalität ; 6. Bielefeld: transcript, 2008.

Duncan, Anthony and Michel Janssen. "Pascual Jordan's resolution of the conundrum of the wave-particle duality of light." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 39 (3 2008): 634–666.

Duncan, Anthony and Michel Janssen. "From canonical transformations to transformation theory, 1926–1927 : the road to Jordan's Neue Begründung." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 40 (4 2009): 352–362.

5 Ebeling, Werner and Dieter Hoffmann, eds. *Planck, Max: Über thermodynamische Gleichgewichte*. Ostwalds Klassiker der exakten Wissenschaften ; 299. Frankfurt am Main: Deutsch, 2008.

Eckert, Michael and Dieter Hoffmann. "Max Planck as a reviewer." In *Max Planck : Annalen papers*, ed. Dieter Hoffmann. 791–793. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2008.

Eckert, Michael and Dieter Hoffmann. "Max Planck as a theoritician per se." In *Max Planck : Annalen papers*, ed. Dieter Hoffmann. 731–735. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2008.

Edwards, Elizabeth. "Straightforward and ordered : amateur photographic surveys and scientific aspiration, 1885–1914." *Photography and Culture* 1 (2 2008): 185–209.

Edwards, Elizabeth. "Photography and the material performance of the past." *History and Theory* 48 (4 2009): 130–150.

Engler, Fynn Ole. "Moritz Schlick und Hans Reichenbach über die Eindeutigkeit der Zuordnung, die Gründe diese aufzugeben und die heuristische Stärke eines Empirismus mit begriffskonstitutiven Prinzipien." In *Moritz Schlick : Leben, Werk und Wirkung*, eds. Fynn Ole Engler and Mathias Iven. 131–191. Berlin: Parerga, 2008.

1 Engler, Fynn Ole. Realismus und Wissenschaft : der empirische Erfolg der Wissenschaft zwischen metaphysischer Erklärung und methodologischer Beurteilung. Philosophische Untersuchungen ; 19. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2008.

Engler, Fynn Ole. "Moritz Schlicks Beitrag zum Einstein-Wettbewerb des 'Scientific American." In *Stationen : dem Philosophen und Physiker Moritz Schlick zum 125. Geburtstag*, eds. Friedrich Stadler and Hans Jürgen Wendel. 281–291. Wien [u. a.]: Springer, 2009.

Engler, Fynn Ole. "Über das erkenntnistheoretische Raumproblem bei Moritz Schlick, Wilhelm Wundt und Albert Einstein." In *Stationen : dem Philosophen und Physiker Moritz Schlick zum 125. Geburtstag*, eds. Friedrich Stadler and Hans Jürgen Wendel. 107–145. Wien [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

- 2 Engler, Fynn Ole and Mathias Iven, eds. *Moritz Schlick : Leben, Werk und Wirkung.* Schlickiana ; 1. Berlin: Parerga, 2008.
- **3** Engler, Fynn Ole and Hans Jürgen Wendel, eds. *Moritz Schlick: Allgemeine Erkenntnislehre*. Moritz Schlick Gesamtausgabe ; 1. Wien: Springer, 2009.

Erdbeer, Robert Matthias and Christina Wessely. "Kosmische Resonanzen : Theorie und Körper in der Esoterischen Moderne." In *Resonanz : Potentiale einer akustischen Figur*, eds. Karsten Lichau, Viktoria Tkaczyk, and Rebecca Wolf. 143–176. Paderborn: Fink, 2009.

Evans, Rand B. "Haptics in the United States before 1940." In *Human haptic perception : basics and applications*, ed. Martin Grunwald. 67–82. Basel [u.a.]: Birkhäuser, 2008.

Fehr, Johannes. "De la circulation des idées et des mots—et de ce qui s'y déplace." In *Penser avec Fleck—investigating a life studying life sciences*, eds. Johannes Fehr, Nathalie Jas, and Ilana Löwy. 111–118. Zürich: Collegium Helveticum, 2009.



4 Fehr, Johannes, Nathalie Jas, and Ilana Löwy, eds. *Penser avec Fleck—investigating a life studying life sciences*. Collegium Helveticum Hefte ; 2. Zürich: Collegium Helveticum, 2009.

Feldhay, Rivka. "Der Fall Galilei : der damalige Konflikt zwischen Glauben und Wissen aus heutiger Sicht." *Sterne und Weltraum* : Dossier (1 2009): 84–93.

Fernández, Isabel and José M. Pacheco. "A new proof of the uniqueness of the solution of a diophantine equation associated to the number 16." *Folia Canariensis Academiae Scientiarum* 19 (1–2 2008): 121–125.

Fick, Dieter and Horst Kant. "Walther Bothe's contributions to the understanding of the wave-particle duality of light." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 40 (4 2009): 395–405.

Fiorentini, Erna. "Modus Videndi : ein historischer Versuch zwischen Sehen und Verbildlichen, in drei Akten." In *Modernisierung des Sehens : Sehweisen zwischen Künsten und Medien*, eds. Matthias Bruhn and Kai-Uwe Hemken. 125–139. Bielefeld: Transcript Verl., 2008.

Fiorentini, Erna. "Optical instruments and modes of vision in early nineteenth century." In *Verfeinertes Sehen : Optik und Farbe im 18. und frühen 19. Jahrhundert*, ed. Werner Busch. 201–221. München: Oldenbourg, 2008.

Fjaestad, Maja. "Demokratins triumf eller fiasko? : folkomröstningen om kärnkraft i retroperspektiv." *Daedalus/Tekniska museets årsbok* 76 (2008): 64–75.

Fjaestad, Maja. "Max Plancks strålande upptäckt." *Svenska Dagbladet*, 26.05.2008: http://www.svd.se/kulturnoje/understrecket/artikel_1290471.svd

Fjaestad, Maja. "Why did the breed reactor fail? : Swedish and international nuclear development in a cold war context." *CESIS Electronic Working Paper Series in Economics and Institutions of Innovation* 186 (2009): http://cesis.abe.kth.se/documents/186.pdf

Forstner, Christian. "The early history of David Bohm's quantum mechanics through the perspective of Ludwik Fleck's thought-collectives." *Minerva* 46 (2 2008): 215–229.

Freitas, Fábio see Osnaghi and Freitas

Freudenthal, Gideon and Peter McLaughlin, eds. The social and economic roots of the scientific revolution : texts by Boris Hessen and Henryk Grossmann. Boston studies in the philosophy of science ; 278. Dordrecht [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Galison, Peter and Lorraine Daston. "Scientific coordination as ethos and epistemology." In *Instruments in art and science : on the architectonics of cultural boundaries in the 17th century*, eds. Helmar Schramm, Ludger Schwarte, and Jan Lazardzig. 296–333. New York [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.

Galison, Peter and Christina Wessely. "Wider die Relativität : der Fall Friedrich Adler ; ein Gespräch." In *Pseudowissenschaft : Konzeptionen von Nichtwissenschaftlichkeit in der Wissenschaftsgeschichte*, eds. Dirk Rupnow, Veronika Lipphardt, Jens Thiel, and Christina Wessely. 434–450. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2008.

Gans, Henk A. de and Harro Maas. "Making things visible : the development and use of graphical method in the Netherlands (1870–1940)." In *The statistical mind in modern society : the Netherlands 1850–1940. Vol. 2*, eds. Jacques Van Maarseveen, Paul Klep, and Ida Stamhuis. 199–230. Amsterdam: Aksant, 2008.

Gaudillière, Jean-Paul. "How pharmaceutical became patentable : the production and appropriation of drugs in the twentieth century." *History and Technology* 24 (2 2008): 99–106.

Gaudillière, Jean-Paul. "Professional or industrial order? : patents, biological drugs, and pharmaceutical capitalism in early twentieth century Germany." *History and Technology* 24 (2 2008): 107–133.

Gausemeier, Bernd. "Auf der 'Brücke zwischen Natur- und Geschichtswissenschaft': Ottokar Lorenz und die Neuerfindung der Genealogie um 1900." In *Wissensobjekt Mensch : humanwissenschaftliche Praktiken im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Florence Vienne and Christina Brandt. 137–164. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Gavroglu, Kostas, Manolis Patiniotis, Faidra Papanelopoulou, Ana Simões, Ana Carneiro, Maria Paula Diogo, José Ramón Bertomeu Sánchez, Antonio García Belmar, and Agustí Nieto-Galan. "Science and technology in the European periphery : some historiographical reflections." *History of Science* 46 (2 2008): 153–175.

Geller, Markham J. "Archaeology of touch : Babylonian magic and healing." In *The power of touch : handling objects in museum and heritage contexts*, ed. Elizabeth Pye. 63–72. Walnut Creek, Calif.: Left Coast Press, 2008.



Geller, Markham J. "Babylone dans le Talmud de Babylone." In *Babylone : à Babylone, d'hier et d'aujourd'hui ; catalogue de l'exposition 'Babylone' Paris, Musée du Louvre, 14 mars – 2 juin 2008*, ed. Béatrice André-Salvini. 368–372. Paris: Hazan [u.a.], 2008.

Geller, Markham J. "La science babylonienne au 1er millénaire av. J.-C." In *Babylone [Exhibition]*, eds. Béatrice André-Salvini, Musée du Louvre, Pergamonmuseum, and British Museum. 303–309. Paris: Hazan [u.a.], 2008.

2 Geller, Markham J. and Mineke Schipper, eds. *Imagining creation*. Studies in Judaica/ Institute of Jewish Studies ; 5. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2008.

Geller, Markham J. and F. A. M. Wiggermann. "Duplicating Akkadian magic." In Studies in ancient Near Eastern world view and society : presented to Marten Stol on the occasion of his 65th birthday, 10 november 2005, and his retirement from the Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, ed. R. J. van der Spek. 149–160. Bethesda, MD: CDL Press, 2008.

Gerritsen, Bart, Wim Gielingh, Horst Nowacki, Reiner Anderl, and Werner Dankwort, eds. *Current state and future of product data technologies (PDT)*. Computer-Aided Design : special issue ; 40/7. Amsterdam [u.a.]: Elsevier Science, 2008.

Gockel, Bettina. "Paul Klee's picture-making and persona : tools for making invisible realities visible." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 418–433.

3 Gorbach, Frida and Carlos López-Beltrán, eds. Saberes locales : ensayos sobre historia de la ciencia en América Latina. Colección debates. Zamora, Michoacán: El Colegio de Michoacán, 2008.

Gordin, Michael D. "The Heidelberg circle : German inflections on the professionalization of Russian chemistry in the 1860s." *Osiris* 23 (2008): 23–49.

- 4 Gordin, Michael D. *Red cloud at dawn : Truman, Stalin, and the end of the atomic monopoly.* New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 2009.
- 5 Gordin, Michael D. and Karl Hall. "Intelligentsia science inside and outside Russia." Osiris 23 (2008): 1–22.

Gordin, Michael D., Karl Hall, and Alexei Kojevnikov, eds. *Intelligentsia science : the Russian century*, *1860–1960*. Osiris ; 23. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 2008.

Granek, Galina and Giora Hon. "Searching for asses, finding a kingdom : the story of the invention of the scanning tunneling microscope (STM)." *Annals of Science* 65 (1 2008): 101–125.

Griesecke, Birgit see also Pethes and Griesecke

Griesecke, Birgit. "Autokorrektur : Möglichkeitsdenken im Umfeld des Wiener Kreises." In *Werkstätten des Möglichen 1930–1936 : L. Fleck, E. Husserl., R. Musil, L. Wittgenstein,* ed. Birgit Griesecke. 13–44. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2008.

- Griesecke, Birgit, ed. Werkstätten des Möglichen 1930–1936 : L. Fleck, E. Husserl., R. Musil, L. Wittgenstein. Studien zur Kulturpoetik ; 12. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2008.
- Griesecke, Birgit and Erich O. Graf, eds. Ludwik Flecks vergleichende Erkenntnistheorie : die Debatte in Przeglad Filozoficzny 1936–1937. Fleck-Studien ; 1. Berlin: Parerga, 2008.

Grote, Mathias. "Hybridizing bacteria, crossing methods, cross-checking arguments : the transition from episomes to plasmids (1961–1969)." *History and Philosophy of the Life Sciences* 30 (3–4 2008): 407–430.

Guan, Xiaowu. "An interpretation of a Shui Lun Fu 水輪賦 (Rhapsody on Waterwheel)." In *International symposium on history of machines and mechanisms : proceedings of HMM 2008*, eds. Hong-Sen Yan and Marco Ceccarelli. 215–224. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

 Guillem-Llobat, Ximo. De la cuina a la fàbrica : l'aliment industrial i el frau ; el cas Valencià en el context internacional (1878–1936). Alacant: Publicacions de la Universitat d'Alacant, 2009.

Guillem-Llobat, Ximo. "The foundation of a new site for food safety regulation : the Municipal Chemical Laboratory of València (1881–1936)." In *Healthcare systems and medical institutions : proceedings from the 7th Bergen Workshop on the history of health and medicine ; Medical institutions in the 20th century*, eds. Astri Andresen, Tore Gronlie, William Hubbard, and T. Ryymin. 142–153. Oslo: Novus Forlag, 2009.

4 Guillem-Llobat, Ximo and Gabriel Garcia-Frasquet, eds. *Salut, alimentació i cultura popular al País Valencià*. Trobades ; 6. Gandia: CEIC-Alfons el Vell, 2009.

Guo, Fuxiang. "(in Chinese) On the beginning time of the manufacturing of clocks and watches in Suchow." *Historical review* 史林 *Shilin* (2 2009).



5 Guo, Fuxiang. (in Chinese) Shou Ming Yu Tian – The Imperial Seals in The Palace Museum = 受命于天 – 故宫博物院藏清代御玺. Beijing: The Forbidden City Publishing House, 2009.

Hall, Karl see also Gordin and Hall

Hall, Karl. "[Entry] 'Migdal'." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 5*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 127–132. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Hall, Karl. "The schooling of Lev Landau : the European context of postrevolutionary Soviet theoretical physics." *Osiris* 23 (2008): 230–259.

Harwood, Jonathan. "Peasant friendly plant breeding and the early years of the Green Revolution in Mexico." *Agricultural History* 83 (3 2009): 384–410.

Harwood, Jonathan. "Research and extension in political context : rural unrest and the origins of the Prussian chambers of agriculture." In *The state and rural societies : policy and education in Europe, 1750–2000*, ed. Nadine Vivier. 135–157. Turnhout: Brepols, 2009.

Harwood, Jonathan. "Universities." In *The Cambridge history of science. Vol. 6: The modern biological and earth sciences*, eds. Peter Bowler and John V. Pickstone. 90–107. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2009.

Hau, Michael. "Sports in the human economy : 'Leibesübungen', medicine, psychology, and performance enhancement during the Weimar Republic." *Central European History* 41 (3 2008): 381–412.

Heumann, Ina. "'Mit Sicherheit und Würde der Öffentlichkeit über ihre Arbeit berichten' : Wissenschaftskommunikation in 'Bild der Wissenschaft' und 'Scientific American' (1964–1974)." In *Das Medium Wissenschaftszeitschrift seit dem 19. Jahrhundert : Verwissenschaftlichung der Gesellschaft—Vergesellschaftung von Wissenschaft*, eds. Sigrid Stöckel, Wiebke Lisner, and Gerlind Rüve. 207–228. Stuttgart: Steiner, 2009.



Hilgers, Philipp von. "Sirenen : Lösungen des Klangs vom Körper." In Parasiten und Sirenen : Zwischenräume als Orte der materiellen Wissensproduktion, eds. Bernhard J. Dotzler and Henning Schmidgen. 195–218. Bielefeld: transcript, 2008.

Hobart, Michael E. and Joan L. Richards. "De Morgan's logic." In British logic in the nineteenth century, eds. John Woods and Dov M. Gabbay. 283–329. Amsterdam [u. a.]: North-Holland, 2008.

1 Hoffmann, Christoph, ed. *Daten sichern : Schreiben und Zeichnen als Verfahren der Aufzeichnung*. Wissen im Entwurf ; 1. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2008.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Die Gefahren der Gesundheit." *Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung*, 28.10. 2008, 41.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Festhalten, Bereitstellen : Verfahren der Aufzeichnung." In *Daten sichern : Schreiben und Zeichnen als Verfahren der Aufzeichnung*, ed. Christoph Hoffmann. 7–20. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2008.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "In der Prosektur : zwischen B. und Benn." In '… *im Trunk der Augen*' : *Gottfried Benn—Arzt und Dichter in der Pathologie Westend*, eds. Anne Marie Freybourg and Ernst Kraas. 35–44. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2008.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Kein Haus ist nah' : philologische Programme 1960." *Weimarer Beiträge* 54 (4 2008): 485–499.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Schneiden und Schreiben: das Sektionsprotokoll in der Pathologie um 1900." In *Daten sichern : Schreiben und Zeichnen als Verfahren der Aufzeichnung*, ed. Christoph Hoffmann. 153–196. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2008.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Schreiben, um zu lesen : Listen, Klammern und Striche in Ernst Machs Notizbüchern." In 'Schreiben heißt: sich selber lesen' : Schreibszenen als Selbstlektüren, eds. Davide Giuriato, Martin Stingelin, and Sandro Zanetti. 199–215. München: Fink, 2008.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Wie Lesen?—Das Notizbuch als Bühne der Forschung." In *Werkstätten des Möglichen 1930–1936 : L. Fleck, E. Husserl., R. Musil, L. Wittgenstein*, ed. Birgit Griesecke. 45–57. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2008. Hoffmann, Christoph. "Gebilde des Protokollierens : Schreibverfahren in Kurt Lewins Psychologie der Selbsbeobachtung." In *Kulturgeschichte des Menschenversuchs im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Birgit Griesecke, Marcus Krause, Nicolas Pethes, and Katja Sabisch. 129–155. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp Wissenschaft, 2009.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Helmholtz, Hermann von: Handbuch der physiologischen Optik." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 7*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 330–331. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "Representing difference : Ernst Mach and Peter Salcher's ballistic-photographic experiments." *Endeavour* 33 (1 2009): 18–23.

Hoffmann, Christoph. "The scent of filth : experiments, waste, and the set-up." In *Going amiss in experimental research*, eds. Giora Hon, Jutta Schickore, and Friedrich Steinle. 239–251. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Hoffmann, Dieter see also Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti and Hoffmann

Hoffmann, Dieter see also Ebeling and Hoffmann

Hoffmann, Dieter see also Eckert and Hoffmann

Hoffmann, Dieter see also Laitko and Hoffmann

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Albert Einstein—pragmatisch pazifistisch und relativ jüdisch." In *Grenzen menschlicher Existenz : Klimawandel—Menschenwürde—Unschärferelation*, ed. Hans Daub. 152–174. Petersberg: Imhof, 2008.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Der Physiker Max Planck." In *Max Planck und die Max-Planck-Gesellschaft : zum 150. Geburtstag am 23. April 2008 aus den Quellen zusammengestellt*, ed. Lorenz Friedrich Beck. 61–86. Berlin: Archiv zur Geschichte der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft, 2008.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "[Entry] 'Planck." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography*. *Vol. 6*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 111–115. Detroit [u. a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Gefährten im Widerspruch." *Karl : die kulturelle Schachzeitung* 25 (1 2008): 30–31.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "'Kaum eine Sitzung, die ich versäumt habe' : Max Planck und die Physikalische Gesellschaft." *Physik-Journal* 7 (3 2008): 26–33.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Klaus Fuchs als Remigrant." In *Ethik in der Wissenschaft—Die Verantwortung der Wissenschaftler : zum Gedenken an Klaus Fuchs*, eds. Günter Flach and Klaus Fuchs-Kittowski. 193–202. Berlin: trafo Wissenschaftsverlag, 2008. Hoffmann, Dieter. "Kollegen im Widerstreit : Max Planck und Albert Einstein." Spektrum der Wissenschaft (5 2008): 32–39.

1 Hoffmann, Dieter. *Max Planck : die Entstehung der modernen Physik*. Beck'sche Reihe ; 2442. München: Beck, 2008.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Max Planck als akademischer Lehrer von Moritz Schlick und die Beziehungen beider Gelehrter im Spiegel ihrer Korrespondenz." In *Moritz Schlick : Leben, Werk und Wirkung*, eds. Fynn Ole Engler and Mathias Iven. 31–58. Berlin: Parerga, 2008.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Max Planck and the Annalen der Physik." In *Max Planck : Annalen papers*, ed. Dieter Hoffmann. 1–28. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2008.

2 Hoffmann, Dieter, ed. Max Planck: Annalen papers. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH, 2008.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "'… you can't say to any one to their face : your paper is rubbish' : Max Planck as editor of the 'Annalen der Physik." *Annalen der Physik* 17 (5 2008): 271–301.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Der rote Baron." *Frankfurter Allgemeine Sonntagszeitung*, 08.11.2009, 66.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Die Remigration von (Natur-)Wissenschaftlern in die DDR : das Beispiel der Physiker Martin Strauss, Fritz Lange und Klaus Fuchs." In *Medizin, Wissenschaft und Technik in der SBZ und DDR : Organisationsformen, Inhalte, Realitäten*, eds. Sabine Schleiermacher and Norman Pohl. 41–78. Husum: Matthiesen Verl., 2009.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "[Entries] 'Black body', 'Planck's Constant h." In *Compendium of quantum physics : concepts, experiments, history and philosophy*, eds. Daniel Greenberger, Klaus Hentschel, and Friedel Weinert. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Fritz Lange, Klaus Fuchs, and the remigration of scientists to East Germany." *Physics in Perspective* 11 (4 2009): 405–425.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Havemann, Robert: Dialektik ohne Dogma? : Naturwissenschaft und Weltanschauung." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 7*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 187–188. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Physics in Berlin." In *The physical tourist : a science guide for the traveler*, eds. John S. Ridgen and Roger H. Stuewer. 81–110. Basel [u.a.]: Birkhäuser, 2009.

Hoffmann, Dieter. "Planck, Max: Vorträge und Erinnerungen." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 13*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 56–57. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.



 Hoffmann, Dieter and Robert Schulmann, eds. (in Russian) Albert Einstein (1879–1955). Moskau [u.a.]: R & C Dynamics, 2009.

Hofmann, Joseph Ehrenfried and Gábor Á. Zemplén. "Newton, Isaac: Opticks or a treatise of the reflections, refractions, inflections & colours of light." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 12*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 71–71. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Hofmann, Martin see Schmidle, Siebert and Hofmann

Hon, Giora see also Granek and Hon

Hon, Giora. "Error : the long neglect, the one-sided view, and a typology." In *Going amiss in experimental research*, eds. Giora Hon, Jutta Schickore, and Friedrich Steinle. 11–26. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Hon, Giora. "Kepler's conception of error in optics and astronomy : a comparison with Galileo." *Studia Copernicana* 42 (2009): 205–222.

Hon, Giora. "Living extremely flat : the life of an automaton ; John von Neumann's conception of error of (in)animate systems." In *Going amiss in experimental research*, eds. Giora Hon, Jutta Schickore, and Friedrich Steinle. 55–71. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

4 Hon, Giora and Bernard R. Goldstein. *From 'summetria' to symmetry : the making of a revolutionary scientific concept.* Archimedes ; 20. London [u.a.]: Springer, 2008.

Hon, Giora and Bernard R. Goldstein. "Hertz's methodology and its influence on Einstein." In *Heinrich Hertz (1857–1894) and the development of communication : proceedings of the symposium for history of science, Hamburg, October 8–12, 2007,* ed. Gudrun Wolfschmidt. 95–105. Norderstedt: Books on Demand, 2008: http://www.math.uni-hamburg.de/spag/ign/hertz/giora-hertz-proc08.pdf

Hon, Giora and Bernard R. Goldstein. "What keeps the earth in its place? The concept of stability in Plato and Aristotle." *Centaurus* 50 (4 2008): 305–323.

Hon, Giora and Bernard R. Goldstein. "In pursuit of conceptual change: the case of Legendre and symmetry." *Centaurus* 51 (4 2009): 288–293.

1 Hon, Giora, Jutta Schickore, and Friedrich Steinle, eds. *Going amiss in experimental research*. Boston studies in the philosophy of science ; 267. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Hon, Giora and Yaakov Zik. "Kepler's 'Optical part of astronomy' (1604) : introducing the ecliptic instrument." *Perspectives on Science* 17 (3 2009): 307–345.

Hoquet, Thierry. "Buffon : from natural history to the history of nature?" *Biological Theory* 2 (4 2007): 413–419. Published 2008.

2 Hoquet, Thierry. *Darwin contre Darwin : comment lire 'L'origine des espèces'*? L'ordre philosophique. Paris: Ed. du Seuil, 2009.

Hyman, Malcolm D. see Renn and Hyman

Hyman, Malcolm D. see Schiefsky and Hyman

Hyman, Malcolm D. see Schmidle, Siebert, Hofmann, Thoden and Hyman

Janssen, Michel see Duncan and Janssen

Joas, Christian see also Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann and Joas

Joas, Christian and Christoph Lehner. "The classical roots of wave mechanics : Schrödinger's transformations of the optical-mechanical analogy." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 40 (4 2009): 338–351.

Kammer, Stephan see also Berndt and Kammer

Kammer, Stephan. "Ereignis/Beobachtung : die Schreibszenen des Spiritismus und die Medialität des Schreibens." In 'Schreiben heißt: sich selber lesen' : Schreibszenen als Selbstlektüren, eds. Davide Giuriato, Martin Stingelin, and Sandro Zanetti. 39–66. München: Fink, 2008.

Kammer, Stephan. "'Eins und doppelt' : Goethes Poetik der Ambiguität." In *Amphibolie—Ambiguität—Ambivalenz*, eds. Frauke Berndt and Stephan Kammer. 157–182. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2009.

Kammer, Stephan. "Symptome der Individualität : das Wissen vom Schreiben (1880–1910)." In *Spuren erzeugen : Zeichnen und Schreiben als Verfahren der Selbstaufzeichnung*, ed. Barbara Wittmann. 39–68. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2009.



Kammer, Stephan. "Zettelkasten und bewegliche Lettern : die poetologische Entzauberung des Anfang(en)s." In *Anfangen zu Schreiben : ein kardinales Moment von Textgenese und Schreibprozeß im literarischen Archiv des 20. Jahrhunderts*, eds. Hubert Thüring, Corinna Jäger-Trees, and Michael Schläfli. 29–42. München: Fink, 2009.

Kant, Horst see also Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann, Joas and Kant

Kant, Horst see also Fick and Kant

Kant, Horst. "Klaus Fuchs—als britischer Staatsbürger im amerikanischen Manhattan-Projekt." In *Ethik in der Wissenschaft—Die Verantwortung der Wissenschaftler : zum Gedenken an Klaus Fuchs*, eds. Günter Flach and Klaus Fuchs-Kittowski. 31–43. Berlin: trafo Wissenschaftsverlag, 2008.

Kant, Horst. "Von der Lichttherapie zum Zyklotron : das Institut für Physik im Heidelberger Kaiser-Wilhelm-Institut für medizinische Forschung bis 1945." *Dahlemer Archivgespräche 13/2007* (2008): 49–92.

Kant, Horst. "Wissenschaftsorganisation und Wissenschaftspolitik um 1900 im Deutschen Reich und im Internationalen Vergleich : Bericht vom 73. Dahlemer Archivgespräch zum 100. Todestag von Friedrich Althoff." *Leibniz intern* : *Mitteilungen der Leibniz-Sozietät e.V.* (41 2008): 9.

Kantel, Jörg. "Local.tv is here : Entwurf eines unabhängigen, lokalen Internet-TV." In *Web 2.0 : Jugend online als pädagogische Herausforderung ; Navigation durch die digitale Jugendkultur*, eds. Jürgen Ertelt and Franz Josef Röll. 219–243. München: kopaed, 2008.

Kantel, Jörg. "Ping, Tags und Social Software : Communitybildung und Medienkonvergenz durch neue Publikationsformen im Internet." In *Web 2.0 : Jugend online als pädagogische Herausforderung ; Navigation durch die digitale Jugendkultur*, eds. Jürgen Ertelt and Franz Josef Röll. 21–38. München: kopaed, 2008.

 Kantel, Jörg. Per Anhalter durch das Mitmach-Web : Publizieren im Web 2.0 ; von social networks über Weblogs und Wikis zum eigenen Internet Fernsehsender. Heidelberg: mitp, 2009. Katzir, Shaul. "From ultrasonic to frequency standards : Walter Cady's discovery of the sharp resonance of crystals." *Archive for History of Exact Sciences* 62 (5 2008): 469–487.

Katzir, Shaul. "Hermann Aron's electricity meters : physics and invention in late nineteenth-century Germany." *Historical Studies in the Natural Sciences* 39 (4 2009): 444–481.

Katzir, Shaul. "Symmetry in the physics of Lamé and his contemporaries." *Bulletin de la Société des Amis de la Bibliothèque de l'Ecole Polytechnique/SABIX* 44 (2009): 95–100.

Kaufmann, Doris. "Pushing the limits of understanding': the discourse on primitivism in German Kulturwissenschaften, 1880–1930." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 434–443.

Klamm, Stefanie. "[Entries] 'Ahrendts', 'Biow', 'Böttger', 'Bruckmann Verlag', 'Edler', 'Graff', 'Matthies-Masuren', 'Meydenbauer', 'Miethe', 'Schnauss'." In *Encyclopedia of nineteenth-century photography. Vol.1–2*, ed. John Hannavy. New York [u.a.]: Taylor & Francis, 2008.

Klein, Ursula. "Die technowissenschaftlichen Laboratorien der Frühen Neuzeit." NTM 16 (1 2008): 5–38. http://www.springerlink.com/content/l672557wn3582374/?p=3658a57cdcc24e1799a c2dae0cf66893&pi=1

Klein, Ursula. "A historical ontology of material substances : c. 1700–1830." In *Stuff : the nature of chemical substances*, eds. Klaus Ruthenberg and Jaap van Brakel. 21–42. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2008.

Klein, Ursula. "Testen und Erfinden : Farbe im chemischen Experiment des 18. Jahrhunderts." In *Verfeinertes Sehen : Optik und Farbe im 18. und frühen 19. Jahrhundert*, ed. Werner Busch. 5–14. München: Oldenbourg, 2008.

Klein, Ursula. "Dalton, John: A new system of chemical philosophy." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 4*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 368–369. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Klein, Ursula. "Der Chemiekult der Frühromantik." In *Wissenschaft und Geselligkeit : Friedrich Schleiermacher in Berlin 1796–1802*, ed. Andreas Arndt. 67–92. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2009.

Klein, Ursula. "In the thick of organic matter." In *Going amiss in experimental research*, eds. Giora Hon, Jutta Schickore, and Friedrich Steinle. 253–272. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Klein, Ursula. "Lavoisier, Antoine-Laurent: Traité élémentaire de chimie." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 9*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 692–693. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Klein, Ursula. "Liebig, Justus: Die organische Chemie in ihrer Anwendung auf Physiologie und Pathologie." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 10*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 147–148. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Krämer, Fabian. "[Entry] 'Naturwunder." In *Enzyklopädie der Neuzeit. Vol. 9: Naturhaushalt—Physiokratie*, ed. Friedrich Jaeger. 67–70. Stuttgart [u.a.]: Metzler, 2009.

Krämer, Fabian. "The persistent image of an unusual centaur : a biography of Aldrovandi's Two-legged centaur woodcut." *Nuncius* 24 (2 2009): 313–340.

Krauthausen, Karin. "Experten ohne Auftrag : Interview mit der Autorin Kathrin Röggla zu Ausnahmezustand und Literatur." *trajectoires* 3 (2009): http://trajectoires.revues.org/index337.html

Kronfeldner, Maria. "Trigger me : Evolutionspsychologie, Genzentrismus und die Idee der Kultur." *Nach Feierabend : Zürcher Jahrbuch für Wissensgeschichte* 4 (2008): 31–45.

Kronfeldner, Maria. "Über kleine und große Meilensteine : wie wir finden, was wir suchen." *Erwägen, Wissen, Ethik* 19 (2 2008): 177–178.

Kronfeldner, Maria. "Von Macbeth bis Machwerk : Kreativität und Abgrenzung." In *Von etwas, das nie aufhört*, ed. Jean-Baptiste Joly. 100–102. Stuttgart: Merz & Solitude, 2008.

Kurapkat, Dietmar. "Das Wissen der neolithischen Bauleute : zu den epistemischen Fundamenten der kleinasiatischen Bautechnik." In *Bautechnik im antiken und vorantiken Kleinasien : internationale Konferenz, 13.–16. Juni 2007 in Istanbul,* ed. Martin Bachmann. 65–80. Istanbul: Ege Yayinlari, 2009.

Kursell, Julia see also Avidar and Kursell

Kursell, Julia. "Piano mécanique and Piano biologique : Nikolai Bernstein's neurophysiological study of piano touch." *Configurations* 14 (3 2006): 245–273. Published 2008.

Kursell, Julia. "Hermann von Helmholtz und Carl Stumpf über Konsonanz und Dissonanz." *Berichte zur Wissenschaftsgeschichte* 31 (2 2008): 130–143.

Kursell, Julia. "Nikolaj Kulbin und die Notation der freien Musik." In *Laien*, *Lektüren*, *Laboratorien : Künste und Wissenschaften in Russland 1860–1960*, eds. Matthias Schwartz, Wladimir Velminski, and Torben Philipp. 201–221. Frankfurt am Main: Lang, 2008.

Kursell, Julia. "Stravinskij am Klavier." In *Der dementierte Gegenstand : Artefaktskepsis der russischen Avantgarde zwischen Abstraktion und Dinglichkeit*, eds. Anke Hennig and Georg Witte. 421–443. München: Sagner, 2008.

Kursell, Julia. "Wohlklang im Körper : Kombinationstöne in der experimentellen Hörphysiologie von Hermann von Helmholtz." In *Resonanz : Potentiale einer akustischen Figur*, eds. Karsten Lichau, Viktoria Tkaczyk, and Rebecca Wolf. 55–74. Paderborn: Fink, 2009.

Kursell, Julia and Armin Schäfer. "Schmutziger Strom : Versuch über David Tudors elektronische Musik." *Figurationen* 9 (2 2008): 73–85.

Kursell, Julia and Armin Schäfer. "Passage zur glatten Zeit : Conlon Nancarrows studies for player piano." In *Passagen : Theorien des Übergangs in Musik und anderen Kunstformen*, eds. Christian Utz and Martin Zenck. 189–218. Saarbrücken: Pfau, 2009.

Kursell, Julia and Armin Schäfer. "Ruimtes voorbij de tonaliteit. I: De lange negentiende eeuw, II: John Cage, 'Imaginary Landscape I." In *Immersed : architectuur en geluid*, ed. Pnina Avidar. 83–103. Rotterdam: Netherlands Architecture Institute, 2009.

Kursell, Julia and Armin Schäfer. "Spaces beyond tonality. I: The Long Nineteenth Century, II: John Cage, 'Imaginary Landscape I." In *Immersed : sound and architecture*, eds. Pnina Avidar, Julia Kursell, and Raviv Ganchrow. 82–102. 2009.

 Kutrovátz, Gábor, Benedek Láng, and Gábor Á. Zemplén. A tudomány határai/ The boundaries of science. Budapest: Typotex, 2009.

Laitko, Hubert and Dieter Hoffmann. "Mach, Ernst: Erkenntnis und Irrtum : Skizzen zur Psychologie der Forschung." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 10*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 436–437. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Langlitz, Nicolas. "Neuroimaging und Visionen : zur Erforschung des Halluzinogenrauschs seit der 'Dekade des Gehirns." *Bildwelten des Wissens* 6 (1 2008): 30–42.

Langlitz, Nicolas. "The office of experiments' truth serum threat : notes on the psychopharmacology of truthfulness." In *Sk-interfaces : exploding borders, creating membranes in art, technology and society*, ed. Jens Hauser. 118–124. Liverpool: Fact, Liverpool University Press, 2008.

Langlitz, Nicolas. "The New Old Books Forum." BioSocieties 4 (4 2009): 447-448.



Langlitz, Nicolas. "Pharmacovigilance and post-black market surveillance." *Social Studies of Science* 39 (3 2009): 395–420.

Laubichler, Manfred Dietrich see also Maienschein and Laubichler

Laubichler, Manfred Dietrich and Jane Maienschein. *Form and function in developmental evolution*. Cambridge studies in philosophy and biology. Cambridge [u. a.]: Cambridge University Press, 2009.

Laubichler, Manfred Dietrich. "Form and function in Evo Devo : historical and conceptual reflections." In *Form and function in developmental evolution*, ed. Manfred Dietrich Laubichler and Jane Maienschein. 10–46. Cambridge [u.a.]: Cambridge University Press, 2009.

Lehner, Christoph see Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann, Joas, Kant and Lehner

Lehner, Christoph see Joas and Lehner

Lefèvre, Wolfgang see also Nowacki and Lefèvre

Lefèvre, Wolfgang. "Maschinenzeichnungen der Renaissance." In *Spuren der Avantgarde: Theatrum machinarum : Frühe Neuzeit und Moderne im Kulturvergleich*, eds. Helmar Schramm, Ludwig Schwarte, and Jan Lazardzig. 28–50. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.

2 Lefèvre, Wolfgang. Die Entstehung der biologischen Evolutionstheorie. Überarbeitete Auflage mit einem neuen Nachwort. Suhrkamp Taschenbuch Wissenschaft ; 1905. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2009.

Lefèvre, Wolfgang. "Lamarck, Jean-Baptiste de: Philosophie zoologique, ou exposition des considérations relatives à l'histoire naturelle des animaux." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 9*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 608–609. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Lewis, Rhodri. "Hooke's two buckets : memory, mnemotechnique and knowledge in the early Royal Society." In *Ars reminiscendi : mind and memory in Renaissance culture*, eds. Donald Beecher and Grant Williams. 339–366. Toronto: Centre for Reformation and Renaissance Studies, 2009.

Lewis, Rhodri. "A kind of sagacity : Francis Bacon, the Ars memoriae and the pursuit of natural knowledge." *Intellectual History Review* 19 (2 2009): 155–175.

Li, Yong and Xiaochun Sun. "Gnomon shadow lengths recorded in the Zhoubi Suanjing : the earliest meridian observations in China?" *Research in Astronomy and Astrophysics* 9 (12 2009): 1377–1386.

Lin, Tsung-Yi, Deng-Maw Lu, Baichun Zhang, Lie Sun, and Zhizhong Zhang. "On the mechanism analysis of the vertical shaft type wind-power Chinese square-pallet chain-pump." In *International symposium on history of machines and mechanisms : proceedings of HMM 2008*, eds. Hong-Sen Yan and Marco Ceccarelli. 309–324. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Lipphardt, Veronika see also Bluche and Lipphardt

Lipphardt, Veronika see also Patel and Lipphardt

Lipphardt, Veronika. "Der Körper als Substrat des Unterscheidens : vom Rassekonzept zur Humandiversität." In *KörperWissen : Erkenntnis zwischen Eros und Ekel ; Publikation zur gleichnamigen Ausstellung des Museums der Universität Tübingen MUT im Museum Schloss Hohentübingen vom 30. Oktober 2009 bis 31. Januar 2010*, eds. Ernst Seidl and Philipp Aumann. 104–111. Tübingen: Museum der Universität, 2009.

Lipphardt, Veronika. "'Investigation of biological changes': Franz Boas in Kooperation mit deutsch-jüdischen Anthropologen, 1929–1940." In *Kulturrelativismus und Antirassismus : der Anthropologe Franz Boas (1858–1942)*, ed. Hans-Walter Schmuhl. 163–185. Bielefeld: transcript, 2009.

Lipphardt, Veronika. "Von der 'europäischen Rasse' zu den 'Europiden' : Wissen um die biologische Beschaffenheit des Europäers in Sach- und Lehrbüchern 1950–1989." In *Der Europäer—ein Konstrukt : Wissensbestände, Diskurse, Praktiken*, eds. Lorraine Bluche, Veronika Lipphardt, and Kiran Klaus Patel. 158–186. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Lipphardt, Veronika. "Wenn Forscher Rassen am Geruch erkennen : intuitive Erkenntniswege der deutschen Rassenbiologie." *Jahrbuch für Universitätsgeschichte* 12 (2009): 57–73.

López-Beltrán, Carlos see also Gorbach and López-Beltrán



López-Beltrán, Carlos. "Sangre y temperamento : pureza y mestizajes en las sociedades de castas americanas." In *Saberes locales : ensayos sobre historia de la ciencia en América Latina*, eds. Frida Gorbach and Carlos López-Beltrán. 289–342. Zamora, Michoacán: El Colegio de Michoacán, 2008.

Lorenzano, Pablo. "Bas van Fraassen y la ley de Hardy-Weinberg : una discussión y desarrollo de su diagnóstico." *Principia : revista internacional de epistemologia* 12 (2 2008): 121–54.

Lorenzano, Pablo. "¿El redescubrimiento o la reinterpretación del trabajo de Mendel?" In *Biología*, eds. Helena Curtis, N. Sue Barnes, Adriana Schnek, and Alicia Massarini. 154–154. 7. ed. Buenos Aires: Editorial Médica Panamericana, 2008.

Lorenzano, Pablo. "Inconmensurabilidad teórica y comparabilidad empírica." *Análisis filosófico* 28 (2 2008): 239–279.

Lorenzano, Pablo. "Lo a priori constitutivo y las leyes (y teorías) científicas." *Revista de filosofía* 33 (2 2008): 21–48.

Lorenzano, Pablo. "Principios, modelos, ejemplares y representaciones en la genética clásica." In *Filosofía e historia de la ciencia en el Cono Sur. Vol. II*, eds. Pablo Lorenzano and Hernán Miguel. 323–336. Buenos Aires: C.C.C. Educando, 2008.

- Lorenzano, Pablo and Hernán Miguel, eds. *Filosofía e historia de la ciencia en el Cono Sur. Vol. II.* Buenos Aires: C.C.C. Educando, 2008.
- **2** Loza, Carmen Beatriz. *El laberinto de la curación : itinerarios terapéuticos en las ciudades de La Paz y El Alto*. Religión y desarrollo en Los Andes. La Paz: ISEAT, 2008.

Lund, Hannah Lotte. "Nachtthee, Networking und Emanzipation oder: Was macht eine Berliner Salonière 1799?" In *Salondamen und Dienstboten : jüdisches Bürgertum um 1800 aus weiblicher Sicht*, 2–9. 2009. Wien: Institut für jüdische Geschichte Österreichs, 2009.

Luo, Wenhua. Gu gong jing dian. Zang chuan fo jiao zao xiang 故宮经典.
藏传佛教造像. Beijing: Forbidden City Publishing House, 2009.



Luo, Wenhua. "(in Chinese) Development of Tibetan buddhist and spread among imperial household during Kangxi period : form of emperor Kangxi's personal belief." *Studies on Ming and Qing History* 明清论丛 *Ming Qing lun cong* 9 (2009): 399–408.

- 1 Luo, Wenhua. (in Chinese) Eulogies to the sacred images of the Buddhas and Bodhisattvas = Zhu Fopusa shengxiangzan 诸佛菩萨圣像赞. Beijing: China Tibetology Publishing House, 2009.
- 2 Luo, Wenhua. (in Chinese) Samādhi of completion: secret Tibetan Yoga illuminations from the Qing court = Jiujingding: Qinggong cangmi Yujia xiuxingbaodian 究竟定: 清宫藏密瑜伽修行宝典. Beijing: Forbidden City Publishing House, 2009.

Luo, Wenhua. "(in Chinese) The wooden talismanic tablets enshrined in the roof of Supreme Harmony Hall, the Forbidden City and their symbolism." *Gugong-Bowuyuan-yuankan = Palace Museum Journal* (5 2009): 6–25.

Luo, Wenhua. "Sichuan Baiyasi zangchuanfojiao bihua diaochabaogao: Bihua de neirong yu shidai 四川白垭寺藏传佛教壁画调查报告:壁画的内容与时代." In 首都师范大学美术史论丛书·汉藏佛教美术研究:第三届西藏考古与艺术国际学术讨论会文集 (Studies on Sino-Tibetan buddhist art : proceedings of the third international conference on Tibetan archaeology and art), eds. Xie Jisheng and Luo Wenhua. 369–388. Shanghai: Shanghai Guji Publishing House, 2009.

Maas, Harro see also Gans and Maas

Maas, Harro. "'A hard battle to fight' : natural theology and the dismal science, 1820–1850." *History of Political Economy* 40 (2008): 143–167.

Maienschein, Jane, Manfred Dietrich Laubichler, and Andrea Loettgers. "How can history of science matter to scientists?" *Isis* 99 (2 2008): 341–349.

Manzo, Silvia. "Probability, certainty and facts in Francis Bacon's natural histories : a double attitude towards skepticism." In *Skepticism in the modern age : building on the work of Richard Popkin*, eds. José Raimundo Maia Neto, Gianni Paganini, and John Christian Laursen. 123–137. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2009.



Manzo, Silvia. "Sobre antiguos y modernos en el siglo XXI. Apuntes sobre la historiografía y la enseñanza de la filosofía." In *La enseñanza de la filosofía en perspectiva*, ed. Alejandro Cerletti. 46–57. Buenos Aires: EUDEBA, 2009.

Marie, Jennifer Anne. "For science, love and money : the social worlds of poultry and rabbit breeding in Britain, 1900–1940." *Social Studies of Science* 38 (6 2008): 919–936.

Marinelli, Lydia. "Fort, DA : the cap in the museum." *Psychoanalysis and History* 11 (1 2009): 116–120.

- Marinelli, Lydia. Psyches Kanon : zur Publikationsgeschichte rund um den Internationalen Psychoanalytischen Verlag. Wien [u.a.]: Turia + Kant, 2009.
- 4 Marinelli, Lydia and Andreas Mayer. *Rêver avec Freud* : *l'histoire collective de 'L'interprétation du rêve'*. Translated by Dominique Tassel. Paris: Aubier, 2009.
- Marinelli, Lydia and Andreas Mayer. *Träume nach Freud : die "Traumdeutung" und die Geschichte der psychoanalytischen Bewegung*. 2., durchgesehene Auflage. Wien [u.a.]: Turia + Kant, 2009.
- 6 Marinelli, Lydia and Andreas Mayer, eds. *Tricks der Evidenz : zur Geschichte psychoanalytischer Medien*. Wien [u.a.]: Turia + Kant, 2009.
- Martínez, Sergio Fernando and Edna Suárez Díaz. Ciencia y tecnología en sociedad : el cambio tecnológico con miras a una sociedad democrática. México: UNAM; Limusa-Wiley, 2009.

Mayer, Andreas see also Marinelli and Mayer

Mayer, Andreas. "Das Bildgedächtnis der Traumforschung : Bausteine zu einer historischen Kritik." *Bildwelten des Wissens* 6 (1 2008): 93–107.

Mayer, Andreas. "The historian of the Freud Museum : Lydia Marinelli." *Psychoanalysis and History* 11 (1 2009): 109–115.

Mayer, Andreas. "Shadow of a couch." American Imago 66 (2 2009): 137-147.

Mayer, Andreas. "The specificity of the psychoanalytical operation." *Cahiers parisiens* 5 (2009): 261–272.

McLaughlin, Peter see also Freudenthal and McLaughlin

McLaughlin, Peter see also Rheinberger and McLaughlin

McLaughlin, Peter. "Funktion und Bewusstsein." In *Funktionen des Bewusstseins*, eds. Detlev Ganten, Volker Gerhardt, and Julian Nida-Rümelin. 21–38. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.

McLaughlin, Peter. "Reverend Paley's naturalist revival." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences* 39 (1 2008): 25–37.

McLaughlin, Peter. "Functions and norms." In *Functions in biological and artificial worlds : comparative philosophical perspectives*, eds. Ulrich Krohs and Peter Kroes. 93–102. Cambridge, Mass. [u.a.]: MIT Press, 2009.

Mei, Xiaoqing and Baichun Zhang. "(in Chinese) An investigation of traditional skin-raft-making technology in the Upper Reach of the Yellow River." *Journal of Harbin Institute of Technology = Ha'erbin-Gongye-Daxue-xuebao* 9 (6 2007): 1–8. Published 2008.

Mingarelli, Angelo B., José M. Pacheco, and Ángel Plaza. "A mean value property for pairs of integrals." *Acta Mathematica Universitatis Comenianae* 78 (1 2009): 65–70.

Monaldi, Daniela. "The indirect observation of the decay of mesotrons : italian experiments on cosmic radiation, 1937–1943." *Historical Studies in the Natural Sciences* 38 (3 2008): 353–404.

Monaldi, Daniela. "A note on the prehistory of indistinguishable particles." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 40 (4 2009): 383–394.

Müggenburg, Jan. "Das 5-Dollar-Neuron : von biologischen Rechnern und rechnenden Biologen." In *Informatik 2009 : im Focus das Leben ; Beiträge der 39. Jahrestagung der Gesellschaft für Informatik e. V. (GI), 28. 9.–2. 10. 2009 in Lübeck,* eds. Stefan Fischer, Erik Maehle, and Rüdiger Reischuk. 810–824. Lübeck: Gesellschaft für Informatik, 2009.

 Müller, Kathrin. Visuelle Weltaneignung : astronomische und kosmologische Diagramme in Handschriften des Mittelalters. Historische Semantik ; 11. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 2008.



2 Müller-Röber, Bernd, Mathias Boysen, Boris Fehse, Ferdinand Hucho, Kristian Köchy, Jens Reich, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, Hans-Hilger Ropers, Karl Sperling, and Anna M. Wobus, eds. Zweiter Gentechnologiebericht : Analyse einer Hochtechnologie in Deutschland. Forschungsberichte der interdisziplinären Arbeitsgruppen der Berlin-Brandenburgischen Akademie der Wissenschaften ; 23. Dornburg: Forum W, 2009.

Müller-Wille, Staffan see also Rheinberger and Müller-Wille

Müller-Wille, Staffan. "Introduction." In *Linné, Carl von: Musa Cliffortiana : Clifford's banana plant.* 15–67. Reprint and translation of the original ed. (Leiden 1736). Ruggell, Liechtenstein: Ganter, 2007(2008).

Müller-Wille, Staffan. "Botanischer Tausch und Ökonomie der Natur." In *Wissen im Netz* : *Botanik und Pflanzentransfer in europäischen Korrespondenznetzen des 18. Jahrhunderts*, ed. Regina Dauser. 79–89. Berlin: Akademie Verlag, 2008.

Müller-Wille, Staffan. "History redoubled : the synthesis of facts in Linnaean natural history." In *Philosophies of technology : Francis Bacon and his contemporaries. Vol. 2*, eds. Claus Zittel, Gisela Engel, Romano Nanni, and Nicole C. Karafyllis. 515–538. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2008.

Müller-Wille, Staffan. "Zeugung, Entwicklung, Evolution : neue Perspektiven in der Geschichte der Lebenswissenschaften." *NTM* 16 (3 2008): 399–404. http://www.springerlink.com/content/a40708gn2004vkm8/?p=6f7dab36399449dabf ece82b252d478c&pi=5

Müller-Wille, Staffan. "[Entry] 'Rasse." In *Enzyklopädie der Neuzeit. Vol. 10: Physiologie—Religiöses Epos*, ed. Friedrich Jaeger. 605–607. Stuttgart [u.a.]: Metzler, 2009.

Müller-Wille, Staffan. "Naturgeschichte und wissenschaftliche Revolution." *NTM* 17 (3 2009): 329–338.

Müller-Wille, Staffan and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger. "De la génération à l'hérédité : continuités médiévales et conjonctures historiques modernes." In *L'hérédité entre moyen âge et époque moderne : perspectives historiques*, eds. Maaike van der Lugt and Charles de Miramon. 355–388. Firenze: SISMEL, 2008.

Müller-Wille, Staffan and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger. "Race and genomics : old wine in new bottles? Documents from a transdisciplinary discussion." *NTM* 16 (3 2008): 363–386.

http://www.springerlink.com/content/g834x3008u257118/?p=6f7dab36399449dabfe ce82b252d478c&pi=3

 Müller-Wille, Staffan and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger. Das Gen im Zeitalter der Postgenomik : eine wissenschaftshistorische Bestandsaufnahme. Edition Unseld ; 25. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2009.

Müller-Wille, Staffan and Hans-Jörg Rheinberger. "Zur Genesis der Vererbung als biologisches Konzept, 1750–1900." In *Vita aesthetica : Szenarien ästhetischer Lebendigkeit*, eds. Armen Avanessian, Winfried Menninghaus, and Jan Völker. 215–225. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2009.

Nasim, Omar W. "Beobachtungen mit der Hand : astronomische Nebelskizzen im 19. Jahrhundert." In *Daten sichern : Schreiben und Zeichnen als Verfahren der Aufzeichnung*, ed. Christoph Hoffmann. 21–46. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2008.

2 Nasim, Omar W. *Bertrand Russell and the Edwardian philosophers : constructing the world.* History of analytic philosophy. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2008.

Nasim, Omar W. "Explaining G. F. Stout's reaction to Russell's 'On denoting." In *Russell vs. Meinong : the legacy of 'On denoting*', eds. Nicholas Griffin and Dale Jacquette. 101–112. New York: Routledge Press, 2009.

Nasim, Omar W. "On seeing an image of a spiral nebula : from Whewell to Flammarion." *Nuncius* 24 (2 2009): 393–414.

Navarro, Jaume. "'A dedicated missionary' : Charles Galton Darwin and the new quantum mechanics in Britain." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 40 (4 2009): 316–326.

Nenci, Elio. "Galileo and the 'Boboli fontanieri' : the problem of the hydraulic pumps between philosophers and practitioners." *Galilaeana* 5 (2008): 63–87.

Nenci, Elio. "Glaubenshüter und Paladine der Vernunft : der historiografische Streit um den Fall Galilei vom 17. bis zum 19. Jahrhundert." *Sterne und Weltraum : Dossier* (1 2009): 94–103.

Nickelsen, Kärin. "The construction of a scientific model : Otto Warburg and the building block strategy." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences* 40 (2 2009): 73–86.



Nobre, Sergio. "Christian Wolffs Beitrag zur Popularisierung der Mathematik in Deutschland, Portugal und Lateinamerika." In *Wolffiana II: Christian Wolff und die europäische Aufklärung : Akten des 1. Internationalen Christian-Wolff-Kongresses, Halle (Saale), 4.–8. April 2004, Teil 4*, eds. Jürgen Stolzenberg and Oliver P. Rudolph. 39–53. Hildesheim [u.a.]: Olms, 2008.

Nowacki, Horst see also Gerritsen, Gielingh and Nowacki

Nowacki, Horst. "Laudatio: Zur Würdigung des Wirkens von Hermann Föttinger." In Gedenkschrift zum Wirken und zu den Verdiensten von Prof. Dr.-Ing. Hermann Föttinger : Ingenieur, Erfinder, Strömungsmechaniker, Hochschullehrer, geb. am 09. 02. 1877, verstorben am 28. 04. 1945, eds. Horst Nowacki and Helmut Siekmann. 11–34. Berlin: Technische Universität, 2008.

Nowacki, Horst. "Leonhard Euler und die Theorie des Schiffes." In *Leonhard Euler*, *1707–1783 : Mathematiker, Mechaniker, Physiker*, eds. Gerd Biegel, Angela Klein, and Thomas Sonar. 421–453. Braunschweig: Braunschweigisches Landesmuseum, 2008.

Nowacki, Horst. "Schiffsentwurf in Berlin : Vergangenheit und Zukunft." In *Tradition und Zukunft des Schiffsentwurfs in Berlin : Horst Nowacki 75 Jahre ; Festschrift aus Anlass des Kolloquiums auf der Schleuseninsel in den Räumen der ehemaligen Versuchsanstalt für Wasserbau und Schiffbau, ed. Gerd Holbach. 61–76. Berlin: Technische Universität, 2008.*

Nowacki, Horst. "Developments in marine design methodology : roots, results and future trends." In *IMDC 2009 : 10th International Marine Design Conference, Trondheim, May 26–29, 2009. Vol. 1*, ed. Stein Ove Erikstad. 47–80. Trondheim: Tapir Academic Press, 2009.

Nowacki, Horst. "Shape creation knowledge in civil and naval architecture." In *Creating shapes in civil and naval architecture : a cross-disciplinary comparison,* eds. Horst Nowacki and Wolfgang Lefèvre. 3–45. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2009.

3 Nowacki, Horst and Wolfgang Lefèvre, eds. *Creating shapes in civil and naval architecture : a cross-disciplinary comparison.* History of science and medicine library ; 11. Leiden [u. a.]: Brill, 2009.



1 Nowacki, Horst and Helmut Siekmann, eds. Gedenkschrift zum Wirken und zu den Verdiensten von Prof. Dr.-Ing. Hermann Föttinger : Ingenieur, Erfinder, Strömungsmechaniker, Hochschullehrer, geb. am 09. 02. 1877, verstorben am 28. 04. 1945. Berlin: Technische Universität, 2008.

Oertzen, Christine von. "50 Jahre Rückblick 1968 : ein Eklat ohne Folgen." *WerkstattGeschichte* 50 (2009): 13–24.

Olesko, Kathryn M. and Christoph Strupp. "Wissen : Universität und Forschung." In *Wettlauf um die Moderne : die U.S.A. und Deutschland 1890 bis heute*, eds. Christof Mauch and Kiran Klaus Patel. 393–424. München: Pantheon, 2008.

2 Ortega, Francisco. *O corpo incerto : corporeidade, tecnologias médicas e cultura contemporanea.* Rio de Janeiro: Garamond, 2008.

Osnaghi, Stefano, Fábio Freitas, and Olival Freire Jr. "The origin of the Everettian heresy." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 40 (2 2009): 97–123.

Otis, Laura. "Going with your gut : some thoughts on language and the body." *The Lancet* 372 (9641 2008): 798–799.

Otis, Laura. "Minimizing narrative : knowledge without stories, stories without knowledge." *Texte : revue de critique et de théorie littéraire* 43–44 (2008): 193–210.

Pacheco, José M. see Fernández and Pacheco

Pacheco, José M. see Mingarelli and Pacheco

Park, Katharine. "Response to Brian Vickers 'Francis Bacon, feminist historiography, and the dominion of nature." *Journal of the History of Ideas* 69 (1 2008): 143–146.

Patel, Kiran Klaus and Veronika Lipphardt. "Einleitung." In *Der Europäer—ein Konstrukt : Wissensbestände, Diskurse, Praktiken*, eds. Lorraine Bluche, Veronika Lipphardt, and Kiran Klaus Patel. 7–32. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Patiniotis, Manolis see also Gavroglu and Patiniotis

Patiniotis, Manolis. "Origins of the historiography of modern Greek science." *Nuncius 23 (2 2008): 265–289.*

 Pethes, Nicolas, Birgit Griesecke, Marcus Krause, and Katja Sabisch, eds. *Menschenversuche : eine Anthologie ; 1750–2000.* Suhrkamp Taschenbuch Wissenschaft ; 1850. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2008.

Pietsch, Annik. "Farbentheorie und Malpraxis um 1800 : die handwerkliche Produktion des künstlerischen Kolorits nach den 'Gesetzen der Ästhetik und Physik." In *Verfeinertes Sehen : Optik und Farbe im 18. und frühen 19. Jahrhundert*, ed. Werner Busch. 15–40. München: Oldenbourg, 2008.

Pogliano, Claudio. "Concordia discors : sul carteggio Mieli-Sar." In *Scienze e storia nell'Italia del Novecento*, ed. Claudio Pogliano. 275–292. Pisa: Plus, 2007. Published 2008.

Pols, Hans. "Psychology." In *History of humanity : scientific and cultural development. Vol. 7: The twentieth century*, eds. Sarvepalli Gopal and Sergei L. Tikhvinsky. 340–349. London [u. a.]: Routledge, 2008.

Pons, Josep M., Donald C. Salisbury, and Kurt A. Sundermeyer. "Gravitational observables, intrinsic coordinates, and canonical maps." *Modern Physics Letters A* 24 (10 2009): 725–732.

Pons, Josep M., Donald C. Salisbury, and Kurt A. Sundermeyer. "Revisiting observables in generally covariant theories in the light of gauge fixing methods." *Physical Review : D* 80 (8 2009): 1–23.

Potts, Daniel T. see also Renn, Hyman and Potts

Potts, Daniel T. see also Tengberg and Potts

Potts, Daniel T. "The deacon and the dove : on some early Christian (?) grave stelae from al-Maqsha and Shakhura (Bahrain)." *Arabian Archaeology and Epigraphy* 19 (1 2008): 109–119.

Potts, Daniel T. "The Persepolis fortification texts and the Royal Road : another look at the Fahliyan area." In *L'archive des fortifications de Persépolis : état des questions et perspectives de recherches ; actes du colloque organisé au College de France, 3–4 novembre 2006*, eds. Pierre Briant, Wouter F. M. Henkelman, and Matthew W. Stolper. 275–301. Paris: de Boccard, 2008.

Potts, Daniel T. "Puzur-Insusinak and the Oxus civilization (BMAC) : reflections on Simaski and the geo-political landscape of Iran and Central Asia in the Ur III period." *Zeitschrift für Assyriologie und Vorderasiatische Archäologie* 98 (2 2008): 165–194. Potts, Daniel T. "The Sasanian relationship with South Arabia : literary, epigraphic and oral historical perspectives." *Studia Iranica* 37 (2 2008): 197–213.

Potts, Daniel T. "An Umm an-Nar-type compartmented soft-stone vessel from Gonur Depe, Turkmenistan." *Arabian Archaeology and Epigraphy* 19 (2 2008): 167–180.

Potts, Daniel T. "The archaeology and early history of the Persian Gulf." In *The Persian Gulf in history*, ed. Lawrence G. Potter. 27–56. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2009.

Presas i Puig, Albert. "On a lecture trip to Spain : the scientific relations between Germany and Spain during the Entente boycott (1919–1926)." *Annals of Science* 65 (4 2008): 529–546.

Presas i Puig, Albert. "Technological transfer as a political weapon : technological relations between Germany and Spain from 1918 to the early 1950s." *Journal of Modern European History* 6 (2 2008): 218–236.

Ragep, F. Jamil. "[Entry] 'Qutb al-Din Mahmud Ibn Mas'ud Ibn al-Muslih al-Shirazi." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol.* 6, ed. Noretta Koertge. 187–189. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Ragep, F. Jamil and Sally P. Ragep. "The Islamic scientific manuscript initiative (ISMI) : towards a sociology of the exact sciences in Islam." In *A shared legacy : Islamic science East and West ; homage to Professor J. M. Millàs Vallicrosa*, eds. Emilia Calvo, Mercè Comes, Roser Puig, and Monica Rius. 15–21. Barcelona: Barcelona University Press, 2008.

Ragep, Sally P. "[Entry] 'Jaghmini, Sharaf al-Din Mahmud Ibn Muhammad Ibn Umar al-." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 4*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 20–22. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Reinhardt, Carsten. "[Entry] 'Gutowsky." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography*. *Vol. 3*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 195–201. Detroit [u. a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Renn, Jürgen see also Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann, Joas, Kant, Lehner and Renn

Renn, Jürgen see also Büttner and Renn

Renn, Jürgen see also Damerow and Renn

Renn, Jürgen see Zhang, Schemmel and Renn

Renn, Jürgen. "Boltzmann and the end of the mechanistic worldview." In *Boltzmann's legacy*, eds. Giovanni Gallavotti, Wolfgang L. Reiter, and Jakob Yngvason. 7–26. Zurich: European Mathematical Society Publishing House, 2008.

Renn, Jürgen. "Galileis Revolution und die Transformation des Wissens." *Sterne und Weltraum* (11 2008): 32–42.

Renn, Jürgen. "The genesis of general relativity." In *The Eleventh Marcel Grossmann Meeting : on recent developments in theoretical and experimental general relativity, gravitation and relativistic field theories ; proceedings of the MG11 Meeting on General Relativity, Berlin, Germany, 23–29 July 2006 ; part A,* eds. Hagen Kleinert and Robert T. Jantzen. 532–542. New Jersey [u.a.]: World Scientifc, 2008.

Renn, Jürgen. "The historical epistemology of mechanics : a foreword." In *The English Galileo : Thomas Harriot's work on motion as an example of preclassical mechanics. Vol. 1*, by Matthias Schemmel. VII–X. Dordrecht: Springer, 2008.

Renn, Jürgen. "La rivoluzione della relatività vista dalla prospettiva dell'epistemologia storica." In *Atti del XXV congresso nazionale di storia della fisica e dell'astronomia <Milano, 10–12 novembre 2005>.* 3. 1–3. 11. Milano: SISFA, 2008: http://www.brera.unimi.it/sisfa/atti/atti2005/R3-Renn.pdf

Renn, Jürgen. "Learning from Einstein : innovation in science." In *Einstein for the 21st century : his legacy in science, art, and modern culture*, eds. Peter L. Galison, Gerald J. Holton, and Silvan S. Schweber. 239–256. Princeton [u. a.]: Princeton University Press, 2008.

Renn, Jürgen. "Wissenschaftsgeschichte im Kontext." In *Max Planck : Revolutionär* wider Willen ; eine kleine Geschichte der Quantentheorie und ihres Begründers ; [eine Ausstellung der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft in Zusammenarbeit mit dem Deutschen Technikmuseum Berlin anläßlich des 150. Geburtstages von Max Planck, 26. 4. – 5. 10. 2008], 3. Heidelberg: Spektrum der Wissenschaft Verlagsgesellschaft, 2008.

Renn, Jürgen and Luigi Guerrini. "(in Chinese) Johannes Schreck and the globalization of knowledge in the age of Galileo." In 传播与会通: 《奇器图说》研究与校注. *Chuan bo yu hui tong: "Qi qi tu shuo" yan jiu yu jiao zhu = Transmission and integration: 'Qiqi tushuo*', eds. Baichun Zhang, Matthias Schemmel, Jürgen Renn and Peter Damerow. 50-82. Nanjing: Jiangsu ke xue ji shu chu ban she, 2008.

Renn, Jürgen. "Cuộc cách mạng của Galilei và sự chuyển hóa tri thức." In *400 năm thiên văn học & Galileo Galilei*, eds. Nguyen Xuan Xanh. 25–50. Ho Chi Minh City: Tri Thuc Publ. House, 2009.

Renn, Jürgen. "Die neue Sicht auf den Himmel : Revolution des Weltbilds und Evolution des Wissens." *Sterne und Weltraum : Dossier* (1 2009): 6–10.

Renn, Jürgen. "Galileis Revolution und die Transformation des Wissens." Sterne und Weltraum : Dossier (1 2009): 12–21.

Renn, Jürgen. "Interview mit Jürgen Renn." Künstliche Intelligenz : KI (4 2009): 48-53.

Renn, Jürgen. "La revolución de Galileo y la transformación de la ciencia." *Revista investigación y ciencia* 394 (2009): 50–59.

Renn, Jürgen. "站在巨人与矮子肩上 / Zhan zai ju ren yu ai zi jian shang". Beijing: Peking University Press, 2009. (in Chinese: Auf den Schultern von Riesen und Zwergen).

Renn, Jürgen, Malcolm Hyman, and Daniel T. Potts. "Die Wege des Wissens in der Alten Welt : ein kurzer Überblick." *Raumwissen* 1 (1 2009): 64–69.

Renn, Jürgen, Matteo Valleriani, and Jakob Staude, eds. *Galilei und die Anderen* : *Hintergründe einer Revolution der Astronomie.* Sterne und Weltraum : Dossier ; 1/2009. Heidelberg: Spektrum der Wissenschaft, 2009.

Rentetzi, Maria. "[Entry] 'Blau." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol.* 1, ed. Noretta Koertge. 298–302. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Rentetzi, Maria. "The U.S. radium industry : industrial in-house research and the commercialization of science." *Minerva* 46 (2 2008): 437–462.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg see also Beier, Fehse, Friedrich, Götz, Hansmann, Hucho, Köchy, Müller-Röber and Rheinberger

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg see also Chadarevian and Rheinberger

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg see also Müller-Röber, Boysen, Fehse, Hucho, Köchy, Reich and Rheinberger

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg see also Müller-Wille and Rheinberger

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Acht Miszellen zur Notation in den Wissenschaften." In Notation : Kalkül und Form in den Künsten ; Ausstellung Notation. Kalkül und Form in den Künsten <2008–2009, Berlin; Karlsruhe>, eds. Hubertus von Amelunxen, Dieter Appelt, and Peter Weibel. 279–288. Berlin [u.a.]: Akad. der Künste, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Begriffsgeschichte epistemischer Objekte." In *Begriffsgeschichte der Naturwissenschaften : zur historischen und kulturellen Dimension naturwissenschaftlicher Konzepte*, eds. Ernst Müller and Falko Schmieder. 1–9. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "[Entry] 'Claude, Albert." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 2*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 142–148. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Experimentelle Virtuosität." In 'Interesse für bedingtes Wissen': Wechselbeziehungen zwischen den Wissenskulturen, eds. Caroline Welsh and Stefan Willer. 331–342. Paderborn: Fink, 2008.
Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Gene, Zellen, Moleküle : organische Natur und technische Reproduktion—Karten der Biologie." *Lettre International* 81 (2008): 197–198. Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Heredity and its entities around 1900." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 370–374.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "How molecular genetics came into being." In *Genetics understanding living systems : XX International congress of genetics, Berlin July 12–17,* 2008 ; abstract book. 23. Berlin: German Genetics Society, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Intersections : some thoughts on instruments and objects in the experimental context of the life sciences." In *Instruments in art and science : on the architectonics of cultural boundaries in the 17th century*, eds. Helmar Schramm, Ludger Schwarte, and Jan Lazardzig. 1–19. New York [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Sexualität und Experiment : biologische Forschungslandschaften um 1900." In *Gender goes life : die Lebenswissenschaften als Herausforderung für die Gender Studies*, eds. Marie-Luise Angerer and Christiane König. 163–177. Bielefeld: transcript, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Translating Derrida." *Dalhousie French studies* = *Derrida* : *legatee and legacy* 82 (2008): 85–91.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Wenn Grenzen sich verschieben." *Schweizer Monatshefte* : *Zeitschrift für Politik, Wirtschaft, Kultur* 88 (959 2008): 27–28.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "What happened to molecular biology?" *BioSocieties* 3 (3 2008): 303–310.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Bernard, Claude: Introduction à l'étude de la médecine expérimentale." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 2*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 388–389. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Conceptos de gen : fragmentos desde la perspectiva de la biología molecular." In *Conceptos de gen*, ed. Roberto Torretti. 123–150. Santiago de Chile: Ediciones Universidad Diego Portales, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Consistency from the perspective of an experimental systems apporach to the sciences and their epistemic objects." In Science, truth and consistency : abstracts of the CLE/AIPS event, August 23th-28th 2009, Campinas, Brazil. 53–54. Campinas: Unicamp, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Darwin gestern—Darwin heute." Zeitschrift für Didaktik der Philosophie und Ethik 31 (2 2009): 82–83.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Darwin's heredity." In *Darwin in science and society : an interdisciplinary symposium 4/5 September 2009 University of Zurich, Campus Irchel Programme, Abstracts and Curriculum Vitae*, 40–41. Zürich: Swiss Academies of Arts and Sciences, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "[Entry] 'Gaston Bachelard'." In *Philosophenlexikon*, eds. Stefan Jordan and Burkhard Mojsisch. 49–51. Stuttgart: Reclam, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Experimental reorientations." In *Going amiss in experimental research*, eds. Giora Hon, Jutta Schickore, and Friedrich Steinle. 75–90. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Experimentalsysteme, In-vitro-Kulturen, Modellorganismen." In *Kulturgeschichte des Menschenversuchs im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Birgit Griesecke, Marcus Krause, Nicolas Pethes, and Katja Sabisch. 394–404. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp Wissenschaft, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "History of science with George Kubler." *Texte zur Kunst* 19 (76 2009): 109–111.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Jacob, François: La logique du vivant : une histoire de l'hérédité." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 8*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 198–199. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "La créativité de l'expérience." In *L'imagination et l'intuition dans les sciences*, eds. Pierre Buser, Claude Debru, and Andreas Kleinert. 33–42. Paris: Hermann, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Laboratory writing." In Ideas and instruments in social context : XXIII International congress of history of science and technology, 18 July – 2 August 2009, Budapest. 301. Budapest: Omigraf, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Latour, Bruno: Science in action : how to follow scientists and engineers through society." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 9*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 674–676. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Mendel, Gregor Johann: Versuche über Pflanzen-Hybriden." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 11*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 182–183. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Präzision und Unschärfe im Umgang mit Forschungsobjekten." In *genau—leicht—konsequent : ein dreifaches Rendezvous der Künste und Wissenschaften*, eds. Florian Dombois, Yeboaa Ofosu, and Sarah Schmidt. 45–50. Basel: Schwabe, 2009.



Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Recent science and its exploration : the case of molecular biology." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences* 40 (1 2009): 6–12.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Sichtbar machen : Visualisierungen in den Naturwissenschaften." In *Bildtheorien : anthropologische und kulturelle Grundlagen des Visualistic Turn*, ed. Klaus Sachs-Hombach. 127–145. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2009.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Wissenschaftsgeschichte mit George Kubler." *Texte zur Kunst* 19 (76 2009): 46–51.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg. "Zu lesen aufgegeben." Zeitschrift für Kulturwissenschaften (2 2009): 130–132.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg and Peter McLaughlin. "Naturgeschichte." In *Grundriss der Geschichte der Philosophie : Philosophie des 18. Jahrhunderts. Bd. 2: Frankreich*, eds. Johannes Rohbeck and Helmut Holzhey. 380–414. Basel: Schwabe, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg and Staffan Müller-Wille. "Gene concepts." In *A companion to the philosophy of biology*, eds. Sahotra Sarkar and Anya Plutynski. 3–21. Oxford: Blackwell, 2008.

Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg and Staffan Müller-Wille. "Technische Reproduzierbarkeit organischer Natur—aus der Perspektive einer Geschichte der Molekularbiologie." In *Bios und Zoë : die menschliche Natur im Zeitalter ihrer technischen Reproduzierbarkeit*, ed. Martin G. Weiß. 11–33. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2009.

 Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg and Staffan Müller-Wille. Vererbung : Geschichte und Kultur eines biologischen Konzepts. Fischer Taschenbuch ; 17063. Frankfurt am Main: Fischer Taschenbuch Verlag, 2009.

Richards, Joan L. see Hobart and Richards

Rieger, Simone see Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann, Joas, Kant, Lehner, Renn and Rieger

 Rupnow, Dirk, Veronika Lipphardt, Jens Thiel, and Christina Wessely, eds. *Pseudo-wissenschaft : Konzeptionen von Nichtwissenschaftlichkeit in der Wissenschaftsgeschichte*. Suhrkamp-Taschenbuch Wissenschaft ; 1897. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2008.

Salisbury, Donald C. see also Pons and Salisbury

Salisbury, Donald C. "Léon Rosenfeld and the challenge of the vanishing momentum in quantum electrodynamics." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 40* (4 2009): 363–373.

Salisbury, Donald C. "Essay review of: Renn, Jürgen (ed): The genesis of general relativity. Dordrecht: Springer 2007." *General Relativity and Gravitation* 41 (3 2009): 661–668.

Samir, Imad. "(in Arabic) Nechao II." The Arab encyclopaedia 20 (2008): 531-532.

Samir, Imad. "(in Arabic) Nergal." The Arab encyclopaedia 20 (2008): 563-564.

Satzinger, Helga. *Differenz und Vererbung : Geschlechterordnungen in der Genetik und Hormonforschung 1890–1950*. Köln [u.a.]: Böhlau, 2009.

Schabas, Margaret see also Wennerlind and Schabas

Schabas, Margaret. "Hume's monetary thought experiments." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (2 2008): 161–169.

Schabas, Margaret. "Nature does nothing in vain." Daedalus 137 (2 2008): 71-79.

Schäfer, Dagmar. "Ganying—Resonance in seventeenth-century China : the examples of Wang Fuzhi (1609–1696) and Song Yingxing (1589 – ca. 1666)." In *Variantology 3 : on deep time relations of arts, sciences and technologies in China and elsewhere*, eds. Siegfried Zielinski and Eckhard Fürlus. 225–254. Köln: König, 2008.

Schäfer, Dagmar. "Technische Erfindungen und Innovationen in China." *Jahrbuch der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft* (2008): http://www.mpg.de/bilderBerichteDokumente/dokumentation/jahrbuch/2008/ wissenschaftsgeschichte/forschungsSchwerpunkt/index.html

Schemmel, Matthias see also Zhang and Schemmel

Schemmel, Matthias. *The English Galileo : Thomas Harriot's work on motion as an example of preclassical mechanics*. Boston studies in the philosophy of science ; 268. Dordrecht: Springer, 2008.

Schemmel, Matthias. "Der richtige Abstand : zur Relativität räumlicher Topoi." *Raumwissen* 1 (1 2009): 26–29.



Schemmel, Matthias. "Galilei, Galileo: Sidereus Nuncius." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 6*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 47–48. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Schemmel, Matthias. "Wie entstehen neue Weltbilder? Die Herausforderung der Kosmologie durch die Erfindung des Teleskops." *Sterne und Weltraum : Dossier* (1 2009): 52–62.

Schiefsky, Mark J. and Malcolm D. Hyman. "Euclid and beyond : towards a long-term history of deductivity." *Künstliche Intelligenz : KI* (4 2009): 25–29.

Schirrmacher, Arne see also Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann, Joas, Kant, Lehner, Renn, Rieger and Schirrmacher

Schirrmacher, Arne see also Börne and Schirrmacher

Schirrmacher, Arne. "Kosmos, Koralle und Kultur-Milieu : zur Bedeutung der populären Wissenschaftsvermittlung im späten Kaiserreich und in der Weimarer Republik." *Berichte zur Wissenschaftsgeschichte* 31 (4 2008): 353–371.

Schirrmacher, Arne. "Nach der Popularisierung : zur Relation von Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit im 20. Jahrhundert." *Geschichte und Gesellschaft* 34 (1 2008): 73–95.

Schirrmacher, Arne. "Bohrsche Bahnen in Europa : Bilder und Modelle zur Vermittlung des modernen Atoms." In *Atombilder : Ikonographien des Atoms in Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit des 20. Jahrhunderts*, eds. Charlotte Bigg and Jochen Hennig. 73–82. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Schirrmacher, Arne. "Dirac, Paul Adrien Maurice: The principles of quantum mechanics." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 4*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 640–641. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Schirrmacher, Arne. "[Entry] 'Bohr's Atomic Model." In *Compendium of quantum physics : concepts, experiments, history and philosophy*, eds. Daniel Greenberger, Klaus Hentschel, and Friedel Weinert. 58–61. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Schirrmacher, Arne. "Feynman, Richard Phillips: QED : the strange theory of light and matter." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 5*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 475–476. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Schirrmacher, Arne. "Von der Geschossbahn zum Atomorbital? Möglichkeiten der Mobilisierung von Kriegs- und Grundlagenforschung füreinander in Frankreich, Großbritannien und Deutschland, 1914–1924." In *Mit Feder und Schwert : Militär und Wissenschaft—Wissenschaftler und Krieg*, eds. Matthias Berg, Jens Thiel, and Peter T. Walther. 155–175. Stuttgart: Steiner, 2009.

- 1 Schlaudt, Oliver, ed. *Die Quantifizierung der Natur : klassische Texte der Messtheorie von 1696 bis 1999.* Paderborn: Mentis Verl., 2009.
- 2 Schlaudt, Oliver. Messung als konkrete Handlung : eine kritische Untersuchung über die Grundlagen der Bildung quantitativer Begriffe in den Naturwissenschaften.
 Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2009.

Schlich, Thomas see also Schlünder and Schlich

Schlich, Thomas. "The perfect machine : Lorenz Böhler's rationalized fracture treatment in World War I." *Isis* 100 (4 2009): 758–791.

Schlich, Thomas, Melanie Rock, and Eric Mykhalovskiy. "Animals in surgery surgery in animals : nature and culture in animal-human relations and modern surgery." *History and Philosophy of the Life Sciences* 31 (4 2009): 321–354.

Schlünder, Martina and Thomas Schlich. "The emergence of 'implant-pets' and 'bone-sheep': animals as new biomedical objects in orthopedic surgery (1960s–2010)." *History and Philosophy of the Life Sciences* 31 (4 2009): 433–466.

Schmidgen, Henning see also Bippus, Cloot, Mersch, Saxer and Schmidgen

Schmidgen, Henning see also Dotzler and Schmidgen

3 Schmidgen, Henning, ed. *Canguilhem, Georges: Die Herausbildung des Reflexbegriffs im 17. und 18. Jahrhundert.* München: Fink, 2008.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Die Materialität der Dinge? Bruno Latour und die Wissenschaftsgeschichte." In *Bruno Latours Kollektive : Kontroversen zur Entgrenzung des Sozialen*, eds. Georg Kneer, Markus Schroer, and Erhard Schüttpelz. 15–46. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2008.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Dreifache Dezentrierung : Canguilhem und die Geschichte wissenschaftlicher Begriffe." In *Begriffsgeschichte der Naturwissenschaften : zur historischen und kulturellen Dimension naturwissenschaftlicher Konzepte*, eds. Ernst Müller and Falko Schmieder. 149–163. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.



Schmidgen, Henning. "Einleitung: Fehlformen des Wissens." In *Canguilhem, Georges: Die Herausbildung des Reflexbegriffs im 17. und 18. Jahrhundert*, VII–LVIII. München: Fink, 2008.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Georges Canguilhem et 'les discours allemands." In *Philosophie et médecine : en hommage à Georges Canguilhem ; colloque, le 10 juin 2005*, eds. Anne Fagot-Largeault, Claude Debru, Michel Morange, and Hee-Jin Han. 49–62. Paris: Vrin, 2008.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Leben und Erkenntnis : über eine Entwicklung im Werk von Georges Canguilhem." *Paragrana* 17 (2 2008): 33–43.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Leerstellen des Denkens : die Entdeckung der physiologischen Zeit." In *Parasiten und Sirenen : Zwischenräume als Orte der materiellen Wissensproduktion*, eds. Bernhard J. Dotzler and Henning Schmidgen. 107–124. Bielefeld: transcript, 2008.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Münsterberg's photoplays : instruments and models in his laboratories at Freiburg and Harvard (1891–1893)." *The virtual laboratory : essays and resources on the experimentalization of life* (2008): http://vlp.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/essays/data/art71

Schmidgen, Henning. "Wissenschaft : das Labor als Archiv und Maschine." In *Poststrukturalistische Sozialwissenschaften*, eds. Stephan Moebius and Andreas Reckwitz. 450–466. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2008.

4 Schmidgen, Henning. *Die Helmholtz-Kurven : auf der Spur der verlorenen Zeit.* Merve ; 341. Berlin: Merve Verl., 2009.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Ein neues Bild des Lebens." *Bildwelten des Wissens* 7 (1 2009): 58–65.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Latour, Bruno." In *Die französische Philosophie im* 20. Jahrhundert : ein Autorenhandbuch, eds. Thomas Bedorf and Kurt Röttgers. 208–211. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 2009. Schmidgen, Henning. "Mind, the Gap : the discovery of physiological time." In *Film 1900 : technology, perception, culture*, eds. Annemone Ligensa and Klaus Kreimeier. 53–65. New Barnet [u.a.]: Libbey [u.a.], 2009.

Schmidgen, Henning. "Wundt as chemist? A fresh look at this practice and theory of experiment." In *A history of psychology : original sources and contemporary research*, ed. Ludy T. Benjamin. 73–78. 3. ed. Malden, MA [u.a.]: Blackwell, 2009.

Schmidle, Wolfgang, Martina Siebert, Martin Hofmann, Klaus Thoden, and Malcolm D. Hyman. "Data entry specs for Chinese text : version 2.0.1 (22nd June 2009)." *MPIWG Pythia* (2009): http://pythia.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/department1/mpdl/despecs/DESpecs_chinese.pdf/ DESpecs_chinese_V3.pdf

Schoepflin, Urs see Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann, Joas, Kant, Lehner, Renn, Rieger, Schirrmacher and Schoepflin

Schöttler, Peter. "Die autobiographische Versuchung." In *Gelehrtenleben : Wissenschaftspraxis in der Neuzeit*, eds. Alf Lüdtke and Rainer Prass. 131–140. Köln [u. a.]: Böhlau, 2008.

Schöttler, Peter. "Die deutsche Geschichtswissenschaft und Marc Bloch : die ersten Nachkriegsjahrzehnte." In *Die Rückkehr der deutschen Geschichtswissenschaft in die 'Ökumene der Historiker' : ein wissenschaftsgeschichtlicher Ansatz*, ed. Ulrich Pfeil. 155–185. München: Oldenbourg, 2008.

Schöttler, Peter. "Zone Interdite : Vergangenheiten einer Zunft." In *Alltag, Erfahrung, Eigensinn : historisch-anthropologische Erkundungen*, eds. Belinda Davis, Thomas Lindenberger, and Michael Wildt. 389–402. Frankfurt am Main [u.a.]: Campus, 2008.

Schöttler, Peter. "[Entry] 'Louis Althusser." In *Philosophenlexikon*, eds. Stefan Jordan and Burkhard Mojsisch. 19–21. Stuttgart: Reclam, 2009.

Schöttler, Peter. "Rothbarth, Margarete." In *Historikerinnen : eine biobibliographische Spurensuche im deutschen Sprachraum*, ed. Hiram Kümper. 182–183. Kassel: Stiftung Archiv der deutschen Frauenbewegung, 2009.

Schöttler, Peter. "Varga, Lucie." In *Historikerinnen : eine biobibliographische Spurensuche im deutschen Sprachraum*, ed. Hiram Kümper. 208–210. Kassel: Stiftung Archiv der deutschen Frauenbewegung, 2009.

Schöttler, Peter. "Wie weiter mit—Marc Bloch?" *Sozial.Geschichte online* 23 (1 2009): 11–50.

http://duepublico.uni-duisburg-essen.de/servlets/DocumentServlet?id=20573

Schüller, Volkmar. "[Entry] 'Samuel Clarke." In *Philosophenlexikon*, eds. Stefan Jordan and Burkhard Mojsisch. 132–134. Stuttgart: Reclam, 2009.

Schüller, Volkmar. "Newton, Isaac: Philosophiae naturalis principia mathematica." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 12*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 69–71. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Schwerin, Alexander von. "Der gefährdete Organismus : Biologie und Regierung der Gefahren am Übergang vom 'Atomzeitalter' zur Umweltpolitik (1950–1970)." In *Wissensobjekt Mensch : humanwissenschaftliche Praktiken im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Florence Vienne and Christina Brandt. 187–214. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Schwerin, Alexander von. "Prekäre Stoffe : Radiumökonomie, Risikoepisteme und die Etablierung der Radioindikatortechnik in der Zeit des Nationalsozialismus." *NTM* 17 (1 2009): 5–33.

Seth, Suman. "Crafting the quantum : Arnold Sommerfeld and the older quantum theory." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 335–348.

Shen, Grace Yen. "Taking to the field : geological fieldwork and national identity in Republican China." *Osiris* 24 (1 2009): 231–252.

Sibum, H. Otto. "Experience—experiment : the changing experiential basis of physics." In *Aurora Torealis : studies in the history of science and ideas in honor of Tore Frängsmyr*, eds. Marco Beretta, Karl Grandin, and Svante Lindqvist. 181–191. Sagamore Beach: Science History Publications, 2008.

Sibum, H. Otto. "Latente Bilder : optische Praktiken und die Natur der Wärme im frühen Viktorianischen England." In *Verfeinertes Sehen : Optik und Farbe im 18. und frühen 19. Jahrhundert*, ed. Werner Busch. 185–199. München: Oldenbourg, 2008.

Sibum, H. Otto. "Machines, bats, and scholars : experimental knowledge in the late eighteenth and nineteenth centuries." In *Instruments in art and science : on the architectonics of cultural boundaries in the 17th century*, eds. Helmar Schramm, Ludger Schwarte, and Jan Lazardzig. 280–295. New York [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2008.

Sibum, H. Otto, ed. *Science and the changing senses of reality circa 1900*. Studies in History and Philosophy of Science ; 39/3. Amsterdam [u.a.]: Elsevier, 2008.

Sibum, H. Otto. "Science and the changing senses of reality circa 1900 [Introduction]." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 295–297.

Siebert, Martina see Schmidle and Siebert

Sigurdsson, Skúli. "deCODE, gen og fögur loforð." Stúdentablaðið (The University of Iceland Student Bi-Monthly) (April-May 2009): 21-23.

Silva da Silva, Circe Mary and Claudia Lorenzoni. "Geometria em práticas e artefatos das etnias Tupinikim e Guarani do Espírito Santo." *XII Ebrapem* (2008): http://www2.rc.unesp.br/eventos/matematica/ebrapem2008/upload/217-1-A-gt7_ lorenzoni_ta.pdf

Silva da Silva, Circe Mary and Claudia Lorenzoni. "Cestaria Guarani do Espírito Santo na educação escolar indígena." *Seminário povos indigenas e sustentabilidade* (2009):

http://www.rededesaberes.org (16.2.2010).

Silva da Silva, Circe Mary and Ruth Portanova. "Pesquisa em educação matemática para uma cultura de paz." In *Avaliação e interatividade na educação básica em ciências e matemática*, eds. Regina Maria Rabello Borges, João Bernardes da Rocha Filho, and Nara Regina de Souza Basso. 99–114. Porto Alegre: Edipucrs; CAPES, 2008.

Silva da Silva, Circe Mary and Ligia Arantes Sad. "Avaliação em matemática no contexto da educação indígena." *Boletim de educação matemática* 5 (33 2009).

Silva da Silva, Circe Mary and Ligia Arantes Sad. "Transformaçoes de conhecimentos nas interrelaçoes culturais de Tupinikim e Guarani com o Nao-Indio no Espírito Santo." *Seminário povos indígenas e sustentabilidade* (2009): http://www.rededesaberes.org (16.2.2010).

Simões, Ana see also Gavroglu, Patiniotis, Papanelopoulou and Simões

Simões, Ana. "A quantum chemical dialogue mediated by textbooks : Pauling's The nature of the chemical bond and Coulson's Valence." *Notes and Records of the Royal Society of London* 62 (3 2008): 259–269. http://rsnr.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/62/3/259.full.pdf+html

Skelton, Christina. "Methods of using phylogenetic systematics to reconstruct the history of the linear B script." *Archaeometry* 50 (1 2008): 158–176.

Smith, Robyn. "Exploring the ethical limitations and potential of aesthetic experiences of food and eating in vegetarian cookbooks." *Food, Culture & Society* 11 (4 2008): 419–448.

Smith, Robyn. "Affect, friendship and the 'As Yet Unknown' : rat feeding experiments of early vitamin research." In *Animal encounters*, eds. Tom Tyler and Manuela Rossini. 99–114. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2009.

Solhdju, Katrin. "Mapping nerves : an investigation into the vitality of an image." *Nuncius* 24 (2 2009): 465–488.

Speich, Daniel. "Der Entwicklungsautomatismus : ökonomisches Wissen als Heilsversprechen in der ostafrikanischen Dekolonisation." *Archiv für Sozialgeschichte* 48 (2008): 183–212.



Staley, Richard. "Worldviews and physicists' experience of disciplinary change : on the uses of 'classical' physics." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (3 2008): 298–311.

Sturm, Thomas. "Why did Kant reject physiological explanations in his anthropology?" *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science A* 39 (4 2008): 495–505.

1 Sturm, Thomas. *Kant und die Wissenschaften vom Menschen*. Paderborn: Mentis, 2009.

Suárez Díaz, Edna see also Martínez and Suárez Díaz

Suárez Díaz, Edna. "Yes! There's still a lot to learn about the history of molecular biology. Essay review." *Historical Studies in the Natural Sciences* 38 (3 2008): 463–473.

Suárez Díaz, Edna. "Molecular evolution : concepts and the origin of disciplines." Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences 40 (1 2009): 43–53.

Suárez Díaz, Edna. "Pragmatismo y filosofía del experimento : el caso del DNA-satélite." In *Normas y prácticas en la ciencia*, eds. José Miguel Esteban and Sergio F. Martínez. México: UNAM/Instituto de Investigaciones Filosóficas, 2009.

Suárez Díaz, Edna and Victor H. Anaya-Nuñoz. "History, objectivity, and the construction of molecular phylogenies." *Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences* 39 (4 2008): 451–468.

Sun, Lie, Baichun Zhang, Tsung-Yi Lin, and Zhizhong Zhang. "An investigation and reconstruction of traditional vertical-Axle-styled 'Chinese great windmill' and its square-pallet chain-pump." In *International symposium on history of machines and mechanisms : proceedings of HMM 2008*, eds. Hong-Sen Yan and Marco Ceccarelli. 295–308. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Sun, Xiaochun see also Li and Sun

Sun, Xiaochun. "State control and peer competition : a study of calendar reforms during the Northern Song." In *Science and the state in the Song dynasty*, eds. Xiaochun Sun and Xiongsheng Zeng. 30–49. Beijing: China Science & Technology Press, 2007. Published 2008.

Sun, Xiaochun. "The impact of the telescope on astronomy and society in China." In *Astronomia ieri e oggi : il viaggio dell'uomo lungo le mappe celesti*, 59–78. Foligno: Edicit, 2009.

Sun, Xiaochun. "(in Chinese) The role of astronomy in ancient Chinese society and culture." *The Chinese Journal for the History of Science and Technology* 30 (1 2009): 5–15.

Sun, Xiaochun and Geng Li. "(in Chinese) Gnomon shadow measurements and changes in cosmology since Han China." *The Chinese Journal for the History of Science and Technology* 30 (1 2009): 120–131.

Sun, Xiaochun and Guoqiang Wang. "(in Chinese) Keplerian physical astronomy in the Chongzhen lishu." *The Chinese Journal for the History of Science and Technology* 29 (1 2008): 42–53.

Sun, Xiaochun and Guangchao Wang. "(in Chinese) The impact of the telescope on Chinese astronomy in Ming-Qing China." *Studies in the History of Natural Science* 自然科学史研究 27 (3 2008): 309–324.

Sun, Xiaochun and Xiongsheng Zeng, eds. (in Chinese) Science and the state in the Song dynasty. Beijing: China Science & Technology Press, 2007. Published 2008.

Tengberg, M., Daniel T. Potts, and H.-P. Francfort. "The golden leaves of Ur." *Antiquity* 82 (318 2008): 925–936.

Thiering, Martin. "Language loss in spatial semantics : Dene Suline." In *Variation in indigenous minority languages*, eds. James N. Stanford and Dennis R. Preston. 485–516. Amsterdam [u.a.]: John Benjamins, 2009.

Thoden, Klaus see Schmidle, Siebert, Hofmann and Thoden

Thomas, William and Lambert Williams. "The epistemologies of non-forecasting simulations, part I: industrial dynamics and management pedagogy at MIT." *Science in Context* 22 (2 2009): 245–270.

Tian, Miao and Baichun Zhang. "(in Chinese) Wang Zheng who transmitted European science and technology and culture to China." *Journal of Harbin Institute of Technology = Haerbin-Gongye-Daxue-xuebao* 9 (6 2007): 1–10. Published 2008.



Tian, Miao and Baichun Zhang. "(in Chinese) Mechanical knowledge and technology in the 'Dayu Zhishui Tu." In *Ji shu fa zhan yu wen hua yi chan = Technology as cultural heritage in China*, eds. Baichun Zhang, Zhenhuan Jiang, and Lisheng Feng. 38–45. Jinan: Shandong jiaoyu chubanshe, 2008.

Tian, Miao and Baichun Zhang. "The development of knowledge on levers in ancient China." In *International symposium on history of machines and mechanisms : proceedings of HMM 2008*, eds. Hong-Sen Yan and Marco Ceccarelli. 251–268. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Tillberg, Margareta. "Collaborative design : the electric industry in Soviet Russia 1973–79." *Focused—Current design research projects and methods : Swiss design network Symposium <30–31 May 2008, Mount Gurten, Berne, Switzerland>* (2008): 233–253. http://5-10-20.ch/~sdn/SDN08_pdf_conference%20papers/

Tillberg, Margareta. "Essay review of: Ericsson, Anne-Marie: M/S Kungsholms inredning: masterverk i svensk art deco. Lund: Bokförlaget Signum 2005." *Konsthistorisk tidskrift* 77 (4 2008): 230–235.

2 Tillberg, Margareta. (in Russian) *Tvsetnaia vselennaia : Mikhail Matiushin ob iskusstve i zrenii*. Moskva: Novoe literaturnoe obozrenie, 2008.

Tillberg, Margareta. "You are now leaving the American sector : the Russian group Dvizhenie, 1962–1978." In *Place studies in art, media, science and technology : historical investigations on the sites and the migration of knowledge*, eds. Andreas Broeckmann and Gunalan Nadarajan. 147–165. Weimar: VDG, 2008.

Tillberg, Margareta. "(in Russian) Zvuk i muzyka v tvorcestve M. V. Matjushina." In *Avangard i teatr 1910–1920-ch godov*, ed. Georgij F. Kovalenko. 321–345. Moskva: Nauka, 2008.

Tillberg, Margareta. "Atomdesign : die Kontrollräume von Tschernobyl." In *Atombilder : Ikonographien des Atoms in Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit des 20. Jahrhunderts*, eds. Charlotte Bigg and Jochen Hennig. 186–196. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.



Tillberg, Margareta. "Independencies and interdependencies in art criticism today." In *Pressures on art criticism*, ed. Margareta Tillberg. 15–22. Stockholm: Swedish Art Critics Association Press, 2009.

Tillberg, Margareta, ed. *Pressures on art criticism : perspectives on relations with the market, friendships and ideological positions; What is an independent art critic today?* Stockholm: Swedish Art Critics Association Press, 2009.

Turmel, André. "Das normale Kind : zwischen Kategorisierung, Statistik und Entwicklung." In *Ganz normale Kinder : Heterogenität und Standardisierung kindlicher Entwicklung*, eds. Helga Kelle and Anja Tervooren. 17–40. Weinheim: Juventa, 2008.

1 Turmel, André. *A historical sociology of childhood : developmental thinking, categorization, and graphic visualization.* Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 2008.

Turmel, André and Louis Guay. "Une sociologie historique des problèmes urbains : la montée de l'Etat aménagiste." In *L'Etat au Québec : perspectives d'analyse et expériences historiques*, eds. Donald Fyson and Yvan Rousseau. 33–38. Québec: Centre interuniversitaire d'études québécoises, 2008.

2 Vackimes, Sophia. Science museums : magic or ideology? México: Albedrío, 2008.

Valleriani, Matteo see also Renn and Valleriani

Valleriani, Matteo. "Galileo in the role of the caster's assistant : the 1634 bell of the Torre del Mangia in Siena." *Galilaeana* 5 (2008): 89–112.

Valleriani, Matteo. "Trasformazione e ricostruzione della 'Pneumatica' di Erone Alessandrino nel parco di Pratolino = The transformation and reconstruction of Hero of Alexandria's 'Pneumatics' in the Garden of Pratolino." In *Pratolino : un mito alle porte di Firenze—a myth at the gates of Florence*, eds. Simonetta Merendoni and Luigi Ulivieri. 155–181. Venezia: Marsilio, 2008.

Valleriani, Matteo. "Galilei, Galileo: Dialogo di Galileo Galilei linceo matematico sopraordinario dello studio di Pisa e filosofo e matematico primario del Serenissimo Gr. Duca di Toscana." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 6*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 49–50. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009. Valleriani, Matteo. "Galileis astronomische Werkstatt." *Sterne und Weltraum : Dossier* (1 2009): 43–51.

Valleriani, Matteo. "Galileo, engineer : the astronomer's experiments appeal to an engineer's mind." *Italian Journal* 20 (2 2009): 38–40.

Valleriani, Matteo. "The transformation of Aristotle's 'Mechanical questions' : a bridge between the Italian Renaissance architects and Galileo's first new science." *Annals of Science* 66 (2 2009): 183–208.

Vetter, Jeremy. "Cowboys, scientists, and fossils : the field site and local collaboration in the American West." *Isis* 99 (2 2008): 273–303.

Vicedo-Castello, Marga. "The father of ethology and the foster mother of ducks : Konrad Lorenz as expert on motherhood." *Isis* 100 (2 2009): 263–291.

Vicedo-Castello, Marga. "Mothers, machines, and morals : Harry Harlow's work on primate love from lab to legend." Journal of the History of the Behavioral Sciences 45 (3 2009): 193–218.

Vidal, Fernando. "The 'prehistory' of psychology : thoughts on a historiographical illusion." *Physis* 43 (1–2 2006): 31–59. Published 2008.

Vidal, Fernando. "Die Geschichte der Psychologie als zentrales Element der 'Geschichte der Menschheit." In *Die Wissenschaft vom Menschen in Göttingen um 1800 : wissenschaftliche Praktiken, institutionelle Geographie, europäische Netzwerke*, eds. Hans Erich Bödeker, Philippe Büttgen, and Michel Espagne. 177–198. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 2008.

Vidal, Fernando. "[Entry] 'Piaget." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 6*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 90–96. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Vidal, Fernando. "Le discours de la méthode dans la psychologie des Lumières." In *Marges et marginalisations dans l'histoire de la psychologie*, ed. Michel Kail. 53–82. Paris: L'Harmattan, 2008.

Vidal, Fernando. "Brainhood, anthropological figure of modernity." *History of the Human Sciences* 22 (1 2009): 5–36.

Vidal, Fernando. "Das zerebrale Subjekt : Gehirn und Selbst in Geschichte und zeitgenössischer Kultur." *Jahrbuch der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft : Tätigkeitsbericht 2008* (2009):

http://www.mpg.de/bilderBerichteDokumente/dokumentation/jahrbuch/2009/ wissenschaftsgeschichte/forschungsSchwerpunkt/index.html

Vidal, Fernando. "Ectobrains in the movies." In *The fragment : an incomplete history*, ed. William Tronzo. 193–211. Los Angeles: Getty Research Institute, 2009.



Vidal, Fernando. "Ghosts of the European Enlightenment." In *Rethinking ghosts in world religions*, ed. Mu-chou Poo. 163–182. Leiden [u.a.]: Brill, 2009.

Vienne, Florence and Christina Brandt. "Einleitung: Die Geschichte des Wissens vom Menschen—historiografische Anmerkungen." In *Wissensobjekt Mensch : humanwissenschaftliche Praktiken im 20. Jahrhundert*, eds. Florence Vienne and Christina Brandt. 9–29. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

1 Vienne, Florence and Christina Brandt, eds. *Wissensobjekt Mensch : humanwissenschaftliche Praktiken im 20. Jahrhundert*. Kaleidogramme ; 35. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Vogt, Annette. "Bemühungen um eine mathematische Ökonomie : ein Brief von Robert Remak an Emil Julius Gumbel." In *Kosmos und Zahl : Beiträge zur Mathematikund Astronomiegeschichte, zu Alexander von Humboldt und Leibniz*, eds. Hartmut Hecht, Regina Mikosch, Ingo Schwarz, Harald Siebert, and Romy Werther. 411–422. Stuttgart: Steiner, 2008.

Vogt, Annette. "Die Kaiser-Wilhelm-Gesellschaft wagte es : Frauen als Abteilungsleiterinnen." In *'Aller Männerkultur zum Trotz' : Frauen in Mathematik und Naturwissenschaften*, ed. Renate Tobies. 225–244. 2., aktualisierte und erweiterte Aufl. Frankfurt am Main [u.a.]: Campus-Verlag, 2008.

Vogt, Annette. "[Entry] 'Ehrenfest-Afanas'eva." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 2*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 356–358. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

Vogt, Annette. "[Entry] 'Shtern." In *The new dictionary of scientific biography. Vol. 6*, ed. Noretta Koertge. 447–449. Detroit [u.a.]: Thomson, 2008.

 Vogt, Annette. Wissenschaftlerinnen in Kaiser-Wilhelm-Instituten : A–Z. 2., erweiterte Auflage. Veröffentlichungen aus dem Archiv der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft ; 12. Berlin: Archiv der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft, 2008.

Vogt, Annette. "Berlin." In *Jüdische Mathematiker in der deutschsprachigen akademischen Kultur*, eds. Birgit Bergmann and Moritz Epple. 46–56. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Vogt, Annette. "Das Gift des Antisemitismus." In *Jüdische Mathematiker in der deutschsprachigen akademischen Kultur*, eds. Birgit Bergmann and Moritz Epple. 182–198. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Vogt, Annette. "Maier, Anneliese." In *Historikerinnen : eine biobibliographische Spurensuche im deutschen Sprachraum*, ed. Hiram Kümper. 127–130. Kassel: Stiftung Archiv der deutschen Frauenbewegung, 2009.

Vogt, Annette. "Schwestern und Freundinnen : zur Kommunikations- und Beziehungskultur unter Berliner Privatdozentinnen." In *Schwestern und Freundinnen : zur Kulturgeschichte weiblicher Kommunikation*, ed. Eva Labouvie. 143–173. Köln [u.a.]: Böhlau, 2009.

Vogt, Annette. "Vertreibung, Exil, Rückkehr?" In *Jüdische Mathematiker in der deutschsprachigen akademischen Kultur*, eds. Birgit Bergmann and Moritz Epple. 199–220. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Vogt, Annette. "Von der Ausgrenzung zur Akzeptanz, von der Akzeptanz zur Ausschließung." In Jüdische Mathematiker in der deutschsprachigen akademischen Kultur, eds. Birgit Bergmann and Moritz Epple. 12–32. Berlin [u.a.]: Springer, 2009.

Vogt, Annette. "Welskopf, Elisabeth Charlotte." In *Historikerinnen : eine biobibliographische Spurensuche im deutschen Sprachraum*, ed. Hiram Kümper. 214–218. Kassel: Stiftung Archiv der deutschen Frauenbewegung, 2009.

Wahlberg, Ayo and Susanne Bauer. "Introduction : categories of life." In *Contested categories : life sciences in society*, eds. Susanne Bauer and Ayo Wahlberg. 1–13. Farnham [u.a.]: Ashgate, 2009.

Wahsner, Renate. "Newton's concept of gravity—a categorial change in physics and philosophy." *Scientific Research : electronic issue (Blagoevgrad, Bulgaria)* 5 (2007): 1–14. Published 2008: http://acad.swu.bg/~press/epub/volume5/101PDF

Wahsner, Renate. "(in Bulgarian) Newton's concept of gravity—a categorial change in physics and philosophy." *Filosofski forum* IX/16 (1 2008): 215–239.

Wahsner, Renate. "Bestimmt der Staat die Logik oder die Logik den Staat? Ist der Staat oder die Gesellschaft als ein in sich Vernünftiges zu begreifen?" In *Hegel-Jahrbuch 2009 : Hegels politische Philosophie. Zweiter Teil*, eds. Andreas Arndt, Paul Cruysberghs, and Andrzej Przylebski. 63–69. Berlin: Akademie Verlag, 2009.

Wahsner, Renate. "Das Mechanismus-Organismus-Problem bei Kant unter dem Aspekt von allgemeinen und besonderen Naturgesetzen." In *Kants Philosophie der Natur : ihre Entwicklung im 'Opus postumum' und ihre Wirkung*, ed. Ernst-Otto Onnasch. 161–188. Berlin [u.a.]: de Gruyter, 2009. Wahsner, Renate. "Die entäusserte Rippe." In *Geist : Erkundungen zu einem Begriff*, eds. Andreas Arndt and Jure Zovko. 99–103. Hannover: Wehrhahn, 2009.

Wahsner, Renate. "Die Materie der Erkenntnis kann nicht gedichtet werden' : zu den Bedingungen einer materialistischen Spekulation bzw. Dialektik und zur Unmöglichkeit einer monistischen Abbildtheorie." *Zeitschrift marxistische Erneuerung* : *Z* 20 (77 2009): 138–157.

Wahsner, Renate. "Die Natur und ihr Begriff." *Marxistische Blätter* 47 (5 2009): 35–43.

Wahsner, Renate. "Inwieweit ist Hegels Rückgriff auf die Anschauung ein Rückgriff auf eine inadäquate oder rudimentäre Rezeption der Naturwissenschaft?" In *Naturwissenschaft und Methode in Hegels Naturphilosophie*, ed. Wolfgang Neuser. 59–75. Würzburg: Königshausen & Neumann, 2009.

Wazeck, Milena see also Badino, Borrelli, Büttner, Castagnetti, Hoffmann, Joas, Kant, Lehner, Renn, Rieger, Schirrmacher, Schoepflin and Wazeck

Wazeck, Milena. "Alles ist relativ, selbst der Walzer." *Frankfurter Allgemeine Sonntagszeitung*, 01.11.2009, 60.

1 Wazeck, Milena. *Einsteins Gegner : die öffentliche Kontroverse um die Relativitätstheorie in den 1920er Jahren*. Frankfurt am Main [u.a.]: Campus, 2009.

Wegener, Mai. "Der psychophysische Parallelismus : zu einer Diskursfigur im Feld der wissenschaftlichen Umbrüche des ausgehenden 19. Jahrhunderts." *NTM* 17 (3 2009): 277–316. http://www.springerlink.com/content/78w4l541613j5115/?p=73206a317b97442b8df 6f230d7c4fcb8&pi=1

Wellmann, Janina. "Rhythmus : eine neue Figur des Wissens in Poetik und Biologie um 1800." In 'Interesse für bedingtes Wissen' : Wechselbeziehungen zwischen den Wissenskulturen, eds. Caroline Welsh and Stefan Willer. 89–107. Paderborn: Fink, 2008.

Wennerlind, Carl and Margaret Schabas, eds. *David Hume's political economy*.
 Routledge studies in the history of economics ; 89. London [u. a.]: Routledge, 2008.

Werrett, Simon. "The finest fireworks in the world': Chinese pyrotechnics in early modern Europe." In *Variantology 3 : on deep time relations of arts, sciences and technologies in China and elsewhere*, eds. Siegfried Zielinski and Eckhard Fürlus. 17–34. Köln: König, 2008.

Wessely, Christina see also Brandstetter, Rupnow, and Wessely



Wessely, Christina see also Erdbeer and Wessely

Wessely, Christina see also Galison and Wessely

Wessely, Christina see also Rupnow, Lipphardt, Thiel and Wessely

3 Wessely, Christina. *Künstliche Tiere : zoologische Gärten und urbane Moderne.* Kaleidogramme ; 31. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Wessely, Christina. "'Künstliche Tiere etc.' : zoologische Schaulust um 1900." *NTM* 16 (2 2008): 153–182. http://www.springerlink.com/content/t48w020678217502/?p=33a636676e90414994 971aa1d636962c&pi=0

Wessely, Christina. "Lesarten des Natürlichen : Tiergärten und urbaner Raum ; der Schönbrunner Tiergarten und der Berliner Zoo im Vergleich." In *Mensch, Tier und Zoo : der Tiergarten Schönbrunn im internationalen Vergleich vom 18. Jahrhundert bis heute*, ed. Mitchell G. Ash. 133–150. Wien [u.a.]: Böhlau, 2008.

Wessely, Christina. "Weltarchiv—Die Erotik der Bürokratie : das Wiener Pantechnische Archiv." In *Sachunterricht : Fundstücke aus der Wissenschaftsgeschichte*, eds. Thomas Brandstetter, Dirk Rupnow, and Christina Wessely. 256–261. Wien: Löcker, 2008.

Wessely, Christina. "Welteis : die 'Astronomie des Unsichtbaren' um 1900." In *Pseudowissenschaft : Konzeptionen von Nichtwissenschaftlichkeit in der Wissenschaftsgeschichte*, eds. Dirk Rupnow, Veronika Lipphardt, Jens Thiel, and Christina Wessely. 163–193. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 2009.

Whitmer, Kelly J. see also Brain and Whitmer

Whitmer, Kelly J. "Eclecticism and the technologies of discernment in pietist pedagogy." *Journal of the History of Ideas* 70 (4 2009): 545–567.

Whitmer, Kelly J. "Reconciling cognition and experience through Anschauung in the Christoph Semler Lehrplan." In *Alter Adam und neue Kreatur : Pietismus und Anthropologie ; Beiträge zum II. Internationalen Kongress für Pietismusfoschung 2005. Vol. 1*, ed. Udo Sträter. 259–275. Tübingen: Niemeyer, 2009.

Whitmer, Kelly J. "Unmittelbare Erkenntnis : das Modell des Salomonischen Tempels im Waisenhaus zu Halle als Anschauungsobjekt der frühen Aufklärung." *Bildwelten des Wissens* 7 (1 2009): 92–104.

Wilder, Kelley. "[Entry] 'Schneider." In *Encyclopedia of nineteenth-century photography. Vol. 2*, ed. John Hannavy. 1249–1250. New York: Taylor & Francis, 2008.

Wilder, Kelley. "Bilder von Becquerelstrahlen." In *Atombilder : Ikonographien des Atoms in Wissenschaft und Öffentlichkeit des 20. Jahrhunderts*, eds. Charlotte Bigg and Jochen Hennig. 37–40. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

1 Wilder, Kelley. Photography and science. Exposures. London: Reaktion Books, 2009.

Williams, Lambert see also Thomas and Williams

Williams, Lambert and William Thomas. "The epistemologies of non-forecasting simulations, part II: climate, chaos, computing style, and the contextual plasticity of error." *Science in Context* 22 (2 2009): 271–310.

2 Wilson, Catherine. *Epicureanism at the origins of modernity*. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 2008.

Windgätter, Christof. "Euphorie und Erschöpfung : das Paradigma der Kraft im 19. Jahrhundert." In *Zeichen der Kraft : Wissensformationen 1800–1900*, eds. Thomas Brandstetter and Christof Windgätter. 7–23. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Windgätter, Christof. "KraftRäume : Aufstieg und Fall der Dynamometrie." In *Zeichen der Kraft : Wissensformationen 1800–1900*, eds. Thomas Brandstetter and Christof Windgätter. 108–137. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Windgätter, Christof. "ZeitSchriften : von einer Revolution der Experimentalkultur im 19. Jahrhundert." In *Zeitkritische Medien*, ed. Axel Volmar. 81–104. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2009.

Windgätter, Christof. "Zu den Akten : Verlags- und Wissenschaftsstrategien der frühen Wiener Psychoanalyse." *Berichte zur Wissenschaftsgeschichte* 32 (3 2009): 246–274.

Wise, M. Norton. "Machines without Kraft : on the cultural meaning of Automata." In *Zeichen der Kraft : Wissensformationen 1800–1900*, eds. Thomas Brandstetter and Christof Windgätter. 81–107. Berlin: Kulturverlag Kadmos, 2008.

Wittmann, Barbara. "Das Porträt der Spezies : Zeichnen im Naturkundemuseum." In *Daten sichern : Schreiben und Zeichnen als Verfahren der Aufzeichnung*, ed. Christoph Hoffmann. 47–72. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2008.



Wittmann, Barbara. "Anti-Pygmalion : zur Krise der Lebendigkeit in der realistischen Malerei, 1860–1880." In *Vita aesthetica : Szenarien ästhetischer Lebendigkeit*, eds. Armen Avanessian, Winfried Menninghaus, and Jan Völker. 177–191. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2009.

Wittmann, Barbara. "Drawing cure': die Kinderzeichnung als Instrument der Psychoanalyse." In *Spuren erzeugen : Zeichnen und Schreiben als Verfahren der Selbstaufzeichnung*, ed. Barbara Wittmann. 109–144. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2009.

Wittmann, Barbara. "Le squiggle game: l'esprit du dessin à quatre mains." *Roven. Revue critique sur le dessin contemporain* 2 (2009): 56–57.

Wittmann, Barbara. "Linkische und rechte Spiegelungen : das Kind, die Zeichnung und die Geometrie." In *Topologie : Falten, Knoten, Netze, Stülpungen in Kunst und Theorie*, eds. Wolfram Pichler and Ralph Ubl. 149–192. Wien: Turia + Kant, 2009.

Wittmann, Barbara. "Ohne Vorbild : Kinderzeichnungen machen Schule." *Bildwelten des Wissens* 7 (1 2009): 72–80.

 Wittmann, Barbara, ed. Spuren erzeugen : Zeichnen und Schreiben als Verfahren der Selbstaufzeichnung. Wissen im Entwurf ; 2. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2009.

Wittmann, Barbara. "Symptomatologie des Zeichnens und Schreibens : Verfahren der Selbstaufzeichnung." In *Spuren erzeugen : Zeichnen und Schreiben als Verfahren der Selbstaufzeichnung*, ed. Barbara Wittmann. 7–19. Zürich [u.a.]: Diaphanes, 2009.

Xu, Xiaodong. "(in Chinese) Godsends-Four largest Jade mountains in Qing Dynasty (1644–1911)." Air Travel 空中生活 (5 2009): 26–31.

Xu, Xiaodong. "(in Chinese) Amber carving of Qing Dynasty (1644–1911)." Air Travel 空中生活 (2 2009): 24–29.

Xu, Xiaodong. "(in Chinese) Ancient Chinese amber arts : Shang to Yuan (16th BC– 1368 AD)." *Gugong-Bowuyuan-yuankan = Palace Museum Journal* (6 2009): 112–131. Xu, Xiaodong. "(in Chinese) On Yingluo Necklace of Liao Dynasty (907–1125) = Liaodai Yingluo jiqi shengxing yuanyin de tantao 辽代瓔珞及其盛行原因的探讨." In *History and archaeology of Liao and Jin Dynasties*, eds. Research Union of Qidan and Nvzhen Clans of the Liao and Jin Dynasties. 333–342. Liaoning: Liaoning Education Publications House, 2009.

Xu, Xiaodong. "Multi-cultural characteristics of Liao amber and the source of raw material : amber from the tomb of princess Chen and her consort." In *Amber in archaeology : proceedings of the fifth international conference, Belgrade, 2006*, eds. Aleksandar Palavestra, Curt W. Beck, and Joan M. Todd. 238–249. Belgrade: National Museum, 2009.

Yin, Xiaodong. "(in Chinese) A research on making of breech-loading cannon and musket in Ming Dynasty." In *Ji shu fa zhan yu wen hua yi chan = Technology as cultural heritage in China*, eds. Baichun Zhang, Zhenhuan Jiang, and Lisheng Feng. 97–110. Jinan: Shandong jiaoyu chubanshe, 2008.

Yin, Xiaodong. "Western cannons in China in the 16th–17th century." *ICON* 14 (2008): 41–61.

Zemplén, Gábor Á. see also Hofmann and Zemplén

Zemplén, Gábor Á. see also Kutrovátz, Láng and Zemplén

Zemplén, Gábor Á. "Enciklopédista relativizmus, retorika és nemes csalások a tudományfilozófiáéan : Megjegyzések Pléh Csaba cikkéhez." In *Kuhn és a relativizmus : Kuhn öröksége a tudományfilozófiában*, eds. Viktor Binzberger, Márta Fehér, and Gábor Á Zemplén. 31–35. Budapest: L'Harmattan, 2007 (2008).

Zemplén, Gábor Á. "[Entry] 'Licht und Farbe." In *Enzyklopädie der Neuzeit. Vol. 7: Konzert—Männlichkeit*, ed. Friedrich Jaeger. 887–895. Stuttgart [u.a.]: Metzler, 2008.

Zemplén, Gábor Á. "Scientific controversies and the pragma-dialectical model : analysing a case study from the 1670s, the published part of the Newton-Lucas correspondence." In *Controversy and confrontation : relating controversy analysis with argumentation theory*, eds. Frans H. van Eemeren and Bart Garssen. 249–273. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publ. Comp., 2008.

Zemplén, Gábor Á. "Kepler, Johannes: Ad Vitellionem paralipomena, quibus astronomiae pars optica traditur." In *Kindlers Literatur Lexikon. Vol. 8*, ed. Heinz Ludwig Arnold. 806–807. 3., völlig neu bearb. Aufl. Stuttgart: Metzler, 2009.

Zhang, Baichun see also Lin, Lu and Zhang

Zhang, Baichun see also Mei and Zhang



Zhang, Baichun see also Sun and Zhang

Zhang, Baichun see also Tian and Zhang

Zhang, Baichun. "Ancient Chinese windmills." In *International symposium on history of machines and mechanisms : proceedings of HMM 2008*, eds. Hong-Sen Yan and Marco Ceccarelli. 203–214. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

- 1 Zhang, Baichun, Zhenhuan Jiang, and Lisheng Feng, eds. 技术发展与文化遗产 Ji shu fa zhan yu wen hua yi chan = Technology as cultural heritage in China. Jinan: Shandong jiaoyu chubanshe, 2008.
- 2 Zhang, Baichun, Matthias Schemmel, Jürgen Renn, and Peter Damerow, eds. 传播与 会通:《奇器图说》研究与校注. Chuan bo yu hui tong: 'Qi qi tu shuo' yan jiu yu jiao zhu. 2 Vol. Nanjing: Jiangsu ke xue ji shu chu ban she, 2008.

Zhang, Baichun, Jiuchun Zhang, and Yao Fan. "(in Russian) Peredaca technologij iz Sovetskogo Sojuza v Kitajskuju Narodnuju Respubliku 1949–1966." *Voprosy istorij estestvoznanija i techniki* 28 (4 2007): 54–77. Published 2008.

Zhang, Qiong. "(in Chinese) Painting of the emperor Yongzheng viewing blossoms and enjoying his leisure and the mystery of the emperor Yongzheng's accession to the throne." *Gugong-Bowuyuan-yuankan = Palace Museum Journal* (5 2009): 127–142.

Zhang, Qiong. "(in Chinese) Calligraphic and painted tapestries in Song style in the Qianlong Reign." *The National Palace Museum Monthly of Chinese Art* (313 2009): 64–69.

Ziegler, Joseph. "Héredité et physiognomonie." In *L'hérédité entre Moyen Âge et époque moderne : perspectives historiques*, eds. Maaike van der Lugt and Charles de Miramon. 245–271. Firenze: SISMEL, 2008.

Ziemer, Hansjakob. *Die Moderne hören : das Konzert als urbanes Forum, 1890–1940.* Campus Historische Studien ; 46. Frankfurt am Main [u. a.]: Campus, 2008.

Ziemer, Hansjakob. "Musik im Leben der Völker : Musik und Gesellschaft in Frankfurt am Main um 1927." *Archiv für Frankfurts Geschichte und Kunst* 71 (2008): 111–125.

Ziemer, Hansjakob. "Versachlichung der Klänge : Musikwissenschaft, Emotion und Konzertliebe 1900–1930." In *Rationalisierungen des Gefühls : zum Verhältnis von Wissenschaft und Emotionen 1880–1930*, eds. Uffa Jensen and Daniel Morat. 213–230. Paderborn: Fink, 2008.

Ziemer, Hansjakob. "'Homo Europaeus Musicus' : Musikwissenschaftler, Musik und kulturelle Identität im ersten Drittel des 20. Jahrhunderts." In *Der Europäer—ein Konstrukt : Wissensbestände, Diskurse, Praktiken*, eds. Lorraine Bluche, Veronika Lipphardt, and Kiran Klaus Patel. 33–56. Göttingen: Wallstein, 2009.

Preprints 2008-2009

No. 340 Uljana Feest, Giora Hon, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, Jutta Schickore, Friedrich Steinle (eds.) Generating Experimental Knowledge No. 341 Sílvio R. Dahmen Boltzmann and the art of flying No. 342 Gerhard Herrgott Wanderer-Fantasien. Franz Liszt und die Figuren des Begehrens No. 343 Conference A Cultural History of Heredity IV: Heredity in the Century of the Gene No. 344 Karine Chemla Canon and commentary in ancient China: An outlook based on mathematical sources No. 345 Omar W. Nasim Observations, Descriptions and Drawings of Nebulae: A Sketch. No. 346 Julia Kursell (ed.) Sounds of Science-Schall im Labor (1800-1930) No. 347 Sophia Vackimes The Genetically Engineered Body: A Cinematic Context No. 348 Luigi Guerrini The 'Accademia dei Lincei' and the New World. No. 349 Jens Høyrup Über den italienischen Hintergrund der Rechenmeister-Mathematik No. 350 Christian Joas, Christoph Lehner, and Jürgen Renn (eds.) HQ-1: Conference on the History of Quantum Physics (Vols. I & II) No. 351 José M. Pacheco Does more abstraction imply better understanding? ("Apuntes de Mecánica Social", by Antonio Portuondo) No. 352 José Miguel Pacheco Castelao, F. Javier Pérez-Fernández, Carlos O. Suárez Alemán Following the steps of Spanish Mathematical Analysis: From Cauchy to Weierstrass between 1880 and 1914 No. 353 José Miguel Pacheco Castelao, F. Javier Pérez-Fernández, Carlos O. Suárez Alemán Infinitesimals in Spain: Antonio Portuondo's Ensayo sobre el Infinito No. 354 Albert Presas i Puig Reflections on a peripheral Paperclip Project: A technological innovation system in Spain based on the transfer of German technology No. 355 Albert Presas i Puig The Contribution of the History of Science and Social Studies to the Understanding of Scientific Dynamics: the Case of the Spanish Nuclear Energy Program No. 356 Viola Balz, Alexander v. Schwerin, Heiko Stoff, Bettina Wahrig (eds.) Precarious Matters/Prekäre Stoffe. The History of Dangerous and Endangered Substances in the 19th and 20th Centuries No. 357 Florentina Badalanova Geller Qur'ān in vernacular. Folk Islam in the Balkans No. 358 Renate Wahsner & Horst-Heino v. Borzeszkowski Die Naturwissenschaft und der philosophische Begriff des Geistes No. 359 Jens Høyrup Baroque Mind-set and New Science. A Dialectic of Seventeenth-Century High Culture No. 360 Dieter Fick & Horst Kant Walther Bothe's contributions to the particle-wave dualism of light No. 361 Albert Presas i Puig (ed.) Who is Making Science? Scientists as Makers of Technical-Scientific Structures and Administrators of Science Policy

No. 362 Christof Windgätter Zu den Akten—Verlags- und Wissenschaftsstrategien der Wiener Psychoanalyse (1919–1938)

No. 363 Jean Paul Gaudillière and Volker Hess (eds.) Ways of Regulating: Therapeutic Agents between Plants, Shops and Consulting Rooms

No. 364 Angelo Baracca, Leopoldo Nuti, Jürgen Renn, Reiner Braun, Matteo Gerlini, Marilena Gala, and Albert Presas i Puig (eds.) Nuclear Proliferation: History and Present Problems

No. 365 Viola van Beek "Man lasse doch diese Dinge selber einmal sprechen"—
Experimentierkästen, Experimentalanleitungen und Erzählungen um 1900
No. 366 Julia Kursell (Hrsg.) Physiologie des Klaviers. Vorträge und Konzerte zur

Wissenschaftsgeschichte der Musik

No. 367 *Hubert Laitko* Strategen, Organisatoren, Kritiker, Dissidenten—Verhaltensmuster prominenter Naturwissenschaftler der DDR in den 50er und 60er Jahren des 20. Jahrhunderts

No. 368 Renate Wahsner & Horst-Heino v. Borzeszkowski Naturwissenschaft und Weltbild

No. 369 *Dieter Hoffmann, Hole Rößler, Gerald Reuther* "Lachkabinett" und "großes Fest" der Physiker. Walter Grotrians "physikalischer Einakter" zu Max Plancks 80. Geburtstag.

No. 370 *Shaul Katzir* From academic physics to invention and industry: the course of Hermann Aron's (1845–1913) career

No. 371 *Larrie D. Ferreiro* The Aristotelian Heritage in Early Naval Architecture, from the Venetian Arsenal to the French Navy, 1500–1700

No. 372 *Christof Windgätter* Ansichtssachen. Zur Typographie- und Farbpolitik des Internationalen Psychoanalytischen Verlages (1919–1938)

No. 373 *Martin Thiering* Linguistic Categorization of Topological Spatial Relations (TOPOI–Towards a Historical Epistemology of Space)

No. 374 *Uljana Feest, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger, Günter Abel (eds.)* Epistemic Objects **No. 375** *Ludmila Hyman* Vygotsky on Scientific Observation

No. 376 *Anna Holterhoff* Naturwissenschaft versus Religion? Zum Verhältnis von Theologie und Kosmologie im 18. Jahrhundert (TOPOI–Towards a Historical Epistemology of Space)

No. 377 *Fabian Krämer* The Persistent Image of an Unusual Centaur. A Biography of Aldrovandi's Two-Legged Centaur Woodcut

No. 378 *José M. Pacheco* The mathematician Norberto Cuesta Dutari recovered from oblivion

No. 379 *Tania Munz* "My Goose Child Martina". The Multiple Uses of Geese in Konrad Lorenz's Animal Behavior Studies, 1935–1988

No. 380 Sabine Brauckmann, Christina Brandt, Denis Thieffry, Gerd B. Müller (eds.) Graphing Genes, Cells, and Embryos. Cultures of Seeing 3D and Beyond

No. 381 Donald Salisbury Translation and Commentary of Leon Rosenfeld's "Zur Quantelung der Wellenfelder", Annalen der Physik 397, 113 (1930)

No. 382 Jean-Paul Gaudillière, Daniel J. Kevles, Hans-Jörg Rheinberger (eds.)

Living Properties: Making Knowledge and Controlling Ownership in the History of Biology

No. 383 *Arie Krampf* Translation of central banking to developing countries in the postwar period: The Case of the Bank of Israel

No. 384 Zur Shalev Christian Pilgrimage and Ritual Measurement in Jerusalem

No. 385 *Arne Schirrmacher (ed.)* Communicating Science in 20th Century Europe. A Survey on Research and Comparative Perspectives

No. 386 *Thomas Sturm & Uljana Feest (eds.)* What (Good) is Historical Epistemology?

No. 387 Christoph Hoffmann und Lidia Westermann Gottfried Benns Literatur-

referate in der Berliner Klinischen Wochenschrift. Faksimileabdruck und Einführung

No. 388 Alfred Gierer Wissenschaft, Religion und die deutungsoffenen Grundfragen der Biologie

No. 389 *Horst Nowacki* The Heritage of Archimedes in Ship Hydrostatics: 2000 Years from Theories to Applications

No. 390 *Jens Høyrup* Hesitating progress—the slow development toward algebraic symbolization in abbacus—and related manuscripts, c. 1300 to c. 1550

Index

A

Abdounur, Oscar João 33, 237 Abel, Günter 202, 204, 208, 209, 214, 215, 231 Akavia, Naamah 9, 237 Algazi, Gadi 113, 237 Allesch, Christian 93 Amad, Paula 107 Andersen, Kirsti 113, 237 Andersson, Daniel 73, 74, 117, 128, 237 Anker, Suzanne 90 Antonacci, Anna-Caterina 96 Arantes Sad, Lígia 237 Ash, Mitchell G. 113, 219, 237 Asquith, Pamela 73 Auhagen, Wolfgang 234 Azzouni, Safia 148, 149, 232, 238, 269

В

Bächi, Beat 274 Bächli, Tomas 234 Bacht, Nikolaus 68, 110, 238, 273 Badino, Massimiliano 40, 41, 238 Baer, Jordan 71 Baim, Adam 94 Baracca, Angelo 58, 59 Barahona, Ana 127, 134, 135 Barberis, Daniela 94 Barbieri-Low, Anthony 182 Bauche, Manuela 196, 238 Bauer, Susanne 15, 187, 191, 238 Bazan, Ariane 90 Becchi, Antonio 21, 33, 238 Beck, Naomi 94 Beek, Martijn van 90 Beek, Viola van 120, 124, 238, 274 Beltrame, Lorenzo 209 Bencard, Adam 212 Benin, David 71 Bernardoni, Andrea 209 Bertoloni-Meli, Domenico 70, 74, 238 Bertram, Sabine 277 Berz, Peter 232 Beurton, Peter 15, 238 Beyer, Marcel 154, 232, 238

Bielstein, Susan 219 Bigg, Charlotte 15, 70, 75, 238 Binding, Günther 21 Bisaha, Nancy 104 Blank, Andreas 73 Blaschke, Estelle 107, 112, 238 Bleichmar, Daniela 70 Bloor, David 154, 239 Blum, Volker 43 Bödecker, Katja 65 Bödeker, Hans Erich 15, 144, 239, 268 Bogen, Jim 209 Böhme, Hartmut 231 Bolech, Bernhard 112, 239, 274 Bol, Peter 182 Boltz, William G. 48 Borchers, Stefan 127, 129, 239 Bordogna, Francesca 93, 94, 113, 239 Borrelli, Arianna 43, 239, 268, 269, 270 Bosch, Mineke 99 Bos, Henk 113, 239 Bostanci, Adam 127, 133, 239 Bourguet, Marie-Noëlle 75, 239 Braarvig, Jens 50, 55 Brain, Robert 113, 239 Brandenberger, Katharina 154, 239 Brandstetter, Thomas 154, 240 Brandt, Christina 15, 127, 128, 134, 135, 240, 270, 267, 268, 269, 270 Brauckmann, Sabine 135 Braulin, Flavio 206 Braun, Robyn see Smith-Brown, Robyn Braunstein, Jean-François 154, 240 Bray, Francesca 13, 180, 240 Bredekamp, Horst 65 Bresadola, Marco 75, 240 Brevern, Jan von 209 Brives, Charlotte 154, 240 Brody, Martin 96, 126 Brook, Timothy 182 Browne, Janet 13, 157 Bruch, Rüdiger vom 231 Brückner, Uwe 212 Brüsch, Björn 274

Bührig, Claudia 21 Brüning, Jochen 202, 211, 212 Brusius, Mirjam Sarah 112, 210, 240 Bud, Robert 212 Büttner, Jochen 15, 34, 61, 63, 65, 214, 240, 274 Burnham, John 95 Burt, Jonethan 72

С

Cabello, Raúl 240 Cadden, Joan 99 Caianiello, Silvia 145, 146, 240 Campe, Rüdiger 136, 143 Campos, Luis 127, 131, 132, 135, 240, 274 Canadelli, Elena 210 Canales, Jimena 70, 71, 113, 240 Carroy, Jaqueline 95, 97 Carson, John 92, 93, 97, 241 Cartwright, Lisa 71 Castagnetti, Giuseppe 15, 40, 241 Casties, Robert 241 Cat, Jordi 93 Ceglia, Francesco Paolo de 201, 215, 241 Celenza, Christopher S. 104 Chamayou, Grégoire 15, 106, 108, 109, 241 Chemla, Karine 167 Chen-Morris, Raz 104 CHEN Yue 241 Cheung, Tobias 146, 241 CHO Philip 176, 177 Choudhury, Suparna 15, 68, 90, 241 CHU Pingyi 179, 241 Claren, Sebastian 234 Cole, Michael 93 *Cooper, Alix* 113, 241 Cowles, Henry 94 Curtis, Scott 71

D

Dahl, Jacob Lebovitch 15, 61, 241, 274
Damerow, Julia 25, 64
Damerow, Peter 15, 30, 36, 48, 49, 50, 51, 54, 61, 241
Daston, Lorraine 15, 67, 69, 70, 72, 76, 85, 88, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 99, 103, 104, 106, 108, 201, 202, 203, 209, 211, 219, 231, 242, 265, 268, 269, 273
Debaise, Didier 146, 242

Decultot, Elisabeth 113, 242 Demeter, Tamás 149, 242 Deschamps, Juliette 96 Despret, Vinciane 72 Didier, Emmanuel 112, 242 Dirzo, Rodolfo 135 D'Onofrio, Frederico 112, 253 Dotzler, Bernhard J. 126 Dror, Otniel E. 70, 113, 242 Duncan, Anthony 41, 43 Dupouy, Stéphanie 114, 242 Dupré, Sven 65 Dyck, Maarten van 36, 242

Е

Eckert, Michael 40, 44 Edminster, Avigdor 73 Edwards, Elizabeth 71, 76, 107, 242 Edwards, Michael 73 Ehrenstein, Vera 154 Elazar, Miki 37, 242 Engler, Olaf 45 Englund, Robert 61 Engstrom, Eric J. 195 Epple, Moritz 13 Ertelt, Thomas 234 Esfeld, Michael 209 Eskildsen, Kasper 94 Evans, Rand B. 120, 125, 243

F

 Fabian, Carole Ann 219

 Fauerbach, Ulrike 21

 Fauvel, Aude 100, 243

 Faye, Cathy 93

 Fazlioglu, Ihsan 104

 Fearnley, Andrew M. 112, 243

 Feest, Uljana 90, 92, 93, 204, 208, 209

 Fehr, Johannes 154, 243

 Feldhay, Rivka 26, 36, 65, 103, 104, 243

 Feldman, Martha 96

 FENG Jiren 167, 168, 243, 275

 Fick, Dieter 42

 Fiorentini, Erna 77, 243, 274

 Fjaestad, Maja 44, 243

Fjelland, Ragnar 154, 243 Fleming, Martha 114, 212, 243 Forrester, John 72, 95, 202 Forstner, Christian 44 Frazzetto, Giovanni 90 Freire, Olival 44 Freitas, Fabio 44, 244 Freudenthal, Gideon 33, 244 Freyberg, Sascha 52 Friedrich, Bretisla 44 Fudge, Erica 72

G

Galison, Peter 13, 202, 203 Galluzzi, Paolo 13, 202, 205 García Deister, Vivette 134, 244, 275 Gardey, Delphine 99 Gasché, Rodolphe 154, 244 Gattei, Stefano 210 Gaudillière, Jean-Paul 157, 207 Gausemeier, Bernd 15, 127, 129, 134, 135, 244, 268, 269 Gavroglu, Kostas 43, 56 Gaycken, Oliver 77, 206, 244 Geimer, Peter 71, 107 Geller, Florentina Badalanova 56, 244 Geller, Mark 24, 54, 231, 244 Giglioni, Guido 73 Ginsborg, Hannah 114, 244 Ginsburg, Faye 71, 107 Giovanetti, Silvia 209 Godefroid, Annette 219 Goenner, Hubert 40 Goeppert Mayer, Maria 270 Goette, Hans Rupprecht 219 Golan, Tal 71 Goldstein, Amanda Jo 154, 244, 275 Goldstein, Ian 97 Gordin, Michael 70, 78, 97, 244 Gordon, Bonnie 96 Gossett, Philip 96 Gouyon, Jean-Baptiste 73, 107, 109, 245 Grasshoff, Gerd 54 Grimshaw, Anna 71 Groeben, Christiane 157 Grote, Mathias 134, 150, 245, 275

Grünberg, Angela 112, 245 Grütters, Monika 13 Guenther, Katja 112, 245 Guerrero, Fabrizzio 134 Gugerli, David 154, 245 Guillem-Llobat, Ximo 154, 245 Gundlach, Horst 93 Gunthert, André 219 GUO Fuxiang 170, 174, 245 Güttler, Nils 78, 245

Н

Hagner, Michael 90, 154, 202, 203, 209, 214, 245 Haines, Margaret 21 Hamma, Kenneth 219 Hammer, Carmen 15, 245 Hammerstein, Peter 13, 231 HAN Yi 175, 177, 245 Harrington, Jean 134 Harwood, Jonathan 127, 133, 135, 246 Hatfield, Gary 93, 114, 246, 273 Hauser, Walter 212 Hauskeller, Christine 127, 134 Heekeren, Hauke 90 HE Juan 177, 178, 246 Helbig, Daniela 112, 246 Hess, Volker 231 Heumann, Ina 154, 246, 275 Hiebert, Erwin 225 Hilgers, Philipp von 154, 157, 246 Hilgert, Markus 21 Hoelscher, Florian 120, 125, 234, 246 Hoffmann, Christoph 15, 136, 137, 143, 232, 246, 267, 268, 270 Hoffmann, Dieter 15, 40, 41, 44, 45, 246, 265 Hoffmann, Hans Falk 58 Hoffmann, Katrin 197 Hofmann, Martin 168, 169, 181, 246, 275 Höhler, Sabine 274 Holmes, Marcie 94 Holste, Dagmar 21 Holterhoff, Anna 51, 246 Hon, Giora 154, 246 Hopwood, Nick 157, 202, 210 Hoquet, Thierry 154, 247 Hruška, Blahoslav 8, 225

Hübel, Thomas 95 Hume, Brad 127, 133, 247 Hu, Xenia 234 Hyman, Ludmila 79, 90, 92, 93, 247 Hyman, Malcolm 25, 58, 63, 93, 182, 247

J

Jabusch, Hans-Christian 234 Jacobsen, Anja Skaar 44, 247, 275 Jähnert, Martin 44 James, Frank 219 James, Jeremiah 44 Janousch, Andreas 182 Janssen, Michel 41, 43, 247 Jesseph, Dough 73 Jesús, María 207 Joas, Christian 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 247, 268 Jordi, Marta 41, 247 Jugl, Jacqueline 49 Jurdant, Baudouin 95 Jurkowitz, Edward 43, 247

К

Kammer, Stephan 136, 141, 247 KANG Hyo Yoon 151, 247, 275 Kantel, Jörg 61 Kant, Horst 15, 42, 44, 45, 248 Kaplan, Judith 94 Katzir, Shaul 41, 42, 248 Käufer, Norbert 269 Kaufmann, Doris 155, 248 Keitel-Kreidt, Christine 231 Kelley, Theresa M. 79, 248 Kelsey, Robin 71 Kern, Hartmut 248 Kevles, Daniel 157 Killen, Andreas 155, 248 Kilz, Werner 13 Kirk, Robert 72 Kitcher, Philip 98, 248 Kittler, Friedrich 202, 205 Kitz, Volker 219 Klamm, Stefanie 71, 80, 94, 107, 248, 275 Klein, Ursula 15, 144, 248, 265, 267, 268, 269, 270, 273 Klotz, Sebastian 96

Knauft, Falk-Juri 15, 63, 165, 248 Knobloch, Eberhard 202 Ko, Dorothy 181 Kogge, Werner 136, 143 Köhler, Sarah 61 Kohlstedt, Sally 99 Kojevniknov, Alexei 40 Kort, Pamela 232 Kotnis, Sita 90 Krämer, Fabian 80, 210, 248 Krampf, Arie 59, 212, 249 Krauthausen, Karin 136, 140, 249 Kraye, Jill 73 Krebernik, Manfred 24, 54, 61, 249 Krohn, Wolfgang 202, 203 Kronfeldner, Maria E. 73, 127, 130, 134, 135, 249, 275 Kurapkat, Dietmar 21 Kursell, Julia 15, 49, 96, 120, 121, 126, 233, 235, 249, 270 Kurtz, Joachim 230, 249, 275 Kwaschik, Anne 271

L

Lamouroux, Christian 181 Lam, Vincent 209 Lang, Bernhard 234 Langlitz, Nicolas 89, 90, 91, 236, 249, 275 Laubichler, Manfred 127, 133, 249 Laufenberg, Mike 195, 249 Law, Tax 219 Lefèvre, Wolfgang 15, 32, 33, 249, 265, 273 Lehmann-Brauns, Susanne 212 Lehner, Christoph 15, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 250, 268 Lehoux, Daryn 81, 250 Lemke, Thomas 90 Lenzen, Dieter 13 Leonelli, Sabina 134 Lerman, Nina 181 Lestel, Dominique 72 Lewis, Rhodri 73 Leys, Ruth 72, 95, 273 LIAO Yuqun 177, 250 Liebersohn, Harry 114, 250 LI Geng 175 Linhares Sanz, Claudia 250

Lipphardt, Veronika 7, 15, 74, 112, 185, 188, 197, 230, 231, 236, 250 Liverani, Marco 134 LI Xiaojuan 177, 250 Lockhart, William 111, 250 Loewy, Ilana 13, 206 López Beltrán, Carlos 127, 135 Lorenzano, Pablo 127, 133, 250 Lorge, Peter 181 Lossau, Norbert 219 Low, Morris 181 Löwy, Ilana 13 Lunbeck, Elizabeth 70, 85, 94, 95 Lund, Hannah Lotte 15, 235, 250, 269, 270 LUO Wenhua 170, 172, 250 LUO Xingbo 251

Μ

Maas, Ad 212 Maasen, Sabine 90 Maas, Harro 70 MacCallum, Catriona 219 Macho, Thomas 202, 204 Mack, Peter 73 Magone, Rui 163, 251 Makeïeff, Macha 96 Mannouris, Costas 120, 125, 251, 275 Manzo, Silvia 114, 251 Marcaida, José Ramon 112, 251 Mareis, Claudia 136, 143, 251, 275 Margulies, Daniel 90 Marinelli, Lydia 8, 72, 95, 98, 251 Markowitsch, Hans 90 Markschies, Christoph 13 Marr, Alexander John 33, 251 Marthelot, Perrine 93 Martin, Emily 90 Martínez, Sergio 134, 135 Matz, Brendan 127, 133, 251, 275 Mavroudi, Maria 104 Mayer, Andreas 15, 69, 72, 73, 82, 90, 92, 95, 96, 97, 126, 251 Mayer-Deutsch, Angela 95 Mayrhofer, Maria Theresia 207 Mazzolini, Renato 203, 209 McLaughlin, Peter 30, 33, 251

McOuat, Gordon R. 114, 252 Meier, Marietta 155, 252 Meinel, Christoph 13 Meloni, Maurizio 112, 252 Mendelsohn, Andrew 70 Mendelsohn, Everett 202 Menninghaus, Winfried 232 Métraux, Alexandre 72, 95 Metzinger, Thomas 90 Meyer, Torsten 21 Milam, Erika 72, 73, 82, 99, 252, 275 Mitman, Gregg 71, 72, 83, 107, 252 Moll-Murata, Christine 181 Monaldi, Daniela 42, 252 Moon, Suzanne 181 Morgan, Mary 70 Morrison, Robert 104 Morris-Reich, Amos 71, 114, 252 Most, Glen 97 Müggenburg, Jan 155 Mülberger, Annette 93, 98, 252 Müller, Gerd B. 135 Müller, Kathrin 112, 252 Müller-Tamm, Julia 231 Müller-Wille, Staffan 118, 127, 128, 133, 134, 135, 252 Münkler, Herfried 231 Munz, Tania 15, 69, 71, 72, 73, 74, 83, 191, 197, 235, 252

Ν

Nasim, Omar W. 136, 210, 253 Navarro, Jaume 40, 42, 253 Nenci, Elio 32, 65, 253 Neswald, Elizabeth 84, 253 Newman, Winifred Elysse 112, 253 Nickelsen, Kärin 85, 253 Niebaum, Jens 21 Nikolow, Sybilla 15, 147, 253, 275 Nowacki, Horst 32, 253 Nyhart, Lynn 94 Nyssa, Zoe 94

0

O'Donnell, Heather 234 Oertzen, Christine von 15, 99, 100, 217, 219, 235, 253, 270, 274 Olesko, Kathryn 114, 253 Opinel, Annick 206 Ordóñez Rodríguez, Javier 253 Ortega, Francisco Javier Guerrero 88, 90, 92, 254 Ortlieb, Cornelia 136 Osterkamp, Ernst 24 Osthues, Ernst-Wilhelm 15, 21, 254 Otis, Laura 155, 157, 254

Ρ

Paaß, Claudia 15 Pacheco, José M. 56, 254 Paethe, Cathleen 164, 254 Paleit, Edward 73 Papayannakos, Dimitris 120, 125 Park, Katharine 70 Parzinger, Hermann 231 Passos Ferreira, Claudia 114, 254 Patiniotis, Manolis 56, 254 Pauen, Michael 90 Pearce, Trevor 94, 112, 254 Perinetti, Dario 114, 254 Perlina, Anna 59, 254 Pestre, Dominique 202, 203, 207 Pfeffer, Naomi 207 Pichler, Wolfram 136 Pickert, Susanne 211 Pientka-Hinz, Rosel 21 Pinch, Trevor 155, 255 Pines, Doralynn 219 Pircher, Wolfgang 136 Plumb, Christopher 112, 255 Podgorny, Irina 15, 155, 255 Pogliano, Claudio 202, 203, 209, 215 Pomata, Gianna 70, 81, 85, 255 Ponce, Rachel 94 Poppe, Enno 234 Popplow, Marcus 33 Porter, Theodore M. 70, 85, 255, 273 Potts, Daniel T. 255 Pravica, Sandra 120,122, 255 Presas i Puig, Albert 15, 58, 255

Pritchard, Michael 71 Prochiantz, Alain 90 Puett, Michael 179, 255 Pugliano, Valentina 112, 255

Q

Quantin, Jean-Louis 73

R

Raalte, Alyson van 197 Ragep, Jamil 103, 104, 105 Ragep, Sally 103, 104 Raina, Dhruv 56, 179, 255 Ramillon, Vincent 127, 131, 135, 255 Ramsden, Ed 135 Rapp, Christof 231 Raulff, Ulrich 212 Realdi, Matteo 256 Rees, Tobias 90 Reinhardt, Carsten 201, 202, 203 Reiß, Christian 73, 120, 123, 134, 256 Renn, Jürgen 15, 17, 24, 30, 36, 39, 40, 42, 43, 44, 51, 52, 57, 58, 65, 201, 202, 204, 211, 214, 219, 231, 236, 256, 265, 268 Rentetzi, Maria 99, 120, 125, 256 Rheinberger, Hans-Jörg 15, 79, 95, 96, 117, 127, 128, 135, 143, 157, 201, 202, 203, 204, 206, 208, 209, 211, 212, 215, 219, 231, 232, 234, 256, 265, 270 Richards, Robert J. 92, 94, 97 Rieger, Simone 15, 25, 52, 55, 57, 62, 219, 256 Rijcke, Sarah de 71 Ritvo, Harriet 73, 256, 273 Roepstorff, Andreas 90 Roller, Claudio 204, 208, 209 Rosenhagen, Raja 256 Rose, Nikolas 90 Roux, Sophie 114, 256 Rusk, Bruce 162, 181

S

Sabean, David 13 Sad, Ligia 57 Sahlins, Marshall 94 Salisbury, Donald 43, 52, 257 Samir, Imad 61, 62, 257 Samuel, Nina 136, 143, 257, 275 Sanz, Linhares 112 Sarukhán, José 135 Satzinger, Helga 99, 101, 257 Sauer, Tilman 41, 257 Schäfer, Dagmar 7, 14 15, 19, 159, 160, 165, 170, 177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 221, 257, 267, 268, 269, 270 Schaffer, Simon 202, 203, 210 Schemmel, Matthias 15, 24, 31, 43, 46, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 55, 65, 257 Schickore, Jutta 155, 257 Schieder, Wolfgang 13, 219 Schiefenhövel, Wulf 47, 257 Schiefsky, Mark 24, 55 Schirmer, Ragna 234 Schirrmacher, Arne 15, 25, 40, 42, 44, 65, 257, 269, 270 Schivelbusch, Wolfgang 114, 258 Schlaudt, Oliver 155, 258, 274, 276 Schlich, Thomas 155, 258 Schlimme, Hermann 21 Schmidgen, Henning 15, 120, 122, 126, 235, 258, 268 Schmidle, Wolfgang 15, 63, 258 Schmidt-Biggemann, Wilhelm 231 Schmidt-Hannisa, Hans-Walter 95 Schnalke, Thomas 157, 212 Schneider, Jochen 15 Schneller, Oliver 234 Schoepflin, Urs 15, 57, 219, 224, 258 Schöttler, Peter 147, 148, 258, 269, 271 Schröder, Iris 274 Schüller, Volkmar 15, 33, 258 Schurink, Fred 73 Schwegman, Jeffrey 151, 258 Schwerin, Alexander von 15, 127, 133, 135, 258, 276 Seal, Alan 219 Secord, Anne 70 Secord, Jim 210 Serjeantson, Richard W. 73 Shalev, Zur 114, 258, 273 Shank, Michael 104 SHEN, Grace Yen 161, 258 Sibum, H. Otto 114, 259 Sichau, Christian 202, 205, 211, 212 Siebert, Martina 15, 166, 167, 259, 276 Sievertsen, Uwe 21 Sigrist, Marcel 61, 62, 259

Sigurdsson, Skúli 2, 259 Silva Dynnikov, Circe Mary Silva da 57, 259 Simões, Ana 43, 259 Singh, Ilina 90 Sivin, Nathan 177 Sleigh, Charlotte 73 Sloan, Phil 94 Smith-Brown, Robyn 152, 259, 276 Söderqvist, Thomas 212 Solhdju, Katrin 73, 210 Solotych, Natalia 234 Sommer, Marianne 73 SONG Lingping 180, 259 Stadler, Max 113, 155, 259, 274 Staley, Richard 94 Stalmann, Kai 259 Stamhuis, Ida Harmina 102, 259 Staude, Jakob 236 Steege, Benjamin 96 Steinhauser, Thomas 44 Steinle, Friedrich 215 Sterner, Beckett 94 Strano, Giorgio 65 Stroppa, Marco 234 Sturm, Thomas 15, 86, 90, 92, 93, 94, 235, 260, 269, 276 Suárez Díaz, Edna Maria 127, 132, 133, 134, 135, 260 Sundermeyer, Kurt 43, 52 Sulzen, Donald 96 SUN Xiaochun 19, 175, 177, 260 Surberg, Ernst 234 Svorencik, Andrej 113, 260 Sylla, Edith 104 Syvret, Gareth 71

Т

Tabb, Kathryn 94 Tanner, Jacob 202 Terrall, Mary 70, 86, 260 Thieffry, Denis 135 Thiering, Martin 47, 52, 260, 271 Thoden, Klaus 63 Tholen, Georg Christoph 155, 260 TIAN Miao 50, 260 Tiedemann, Ralph 197 *Tillberg, Margareta* 59, 260 *Tobing Rony, Fatimah* 71 *Tornay, Magaly* 156, 260 *Torrens, Erika* 134 *Tresch, John* 114, 261, 273 *Trischler, Helmuth* 13, 202, 203, 205, 211, 212 *Trzeciok, Stefan* 31, 261, 267, 269 *Tsouparopoulou, Christina* 61, 62, 261 *Tucker, Jennifer* 107 *Tupikova, Irina* 49, 50, 52, 261

V

Vackimes, Sophia 127, 133, 261 Valleriani, Matteo 15, 22, 30, 32, 65, 236, 261, 274 Vedder, Ulrike 134 Vertesi, Janet 71, 107 Vidal, Fernando 15, 88, 89, 90, 92, 93, 94, 106, 108, 261 Vienne, Florence 134, 135 Vierck, Henning 65 Villinger, Arno 90 Vitro, Harriet 114 Vogl, Joseph 234 Vogt, Annette 15, 99, 102, 261, 268, 269 Voorhoeve, Jutta 136 Vrecko, Scott 90

W

Wagner, Roy 114, 261 Wahrig, Bettina 156, 261, 267, 269 Wahsner, Renate 15, 261 Waisse Priven, Silvia 156, 261 Walch, Sonja 156, 262, 270, 276 Walker, Brett 73 Wallmoden, Thedel von 13, 219 Walther, Peter Th. 268, 269 WANG Guangyao 172, 262 WANG Jinyu 262 Warren, Daniel 262 Watkins, Eric 262 Watson, Cecelia 94, 113, 262 Wazeck, Milena 15, 24, 25, 24, 59, 235, 262, 269, 271 Wegener, Mai 148, 262 Weindling, Paul 207 Weingart, Peter 202, 203, 207 Wessely, Christina 152, 153, 262

Whitmer, Kelly J. 156, 212, 262 Widmer, Alexandra 187, 193, 262 Wilder, Kelley E. 15, 69, 70, 71, 87, 156, 217, 219, 263 Wild, Markus 73 Willenborg, Josef 63, 263 Willer, Stefan 134 Williams, Lambert 156, 263 Windgätter, Christof 136, 142, 263, 276 Winter, Alison 72, 92, 94, 95, 97 Wisnovsky, Robert 105 Wintergrün, Dirk 15, 263 Wise, M. Norton 13, 263 Wittmann, Barbara 15, 95, 136, 139, 143, 232, 263 Wolf, Gerhard 57, 231 Wolfrum, Rüdiger 57 Wolfe, Charles T. 156, 263, 276 Wulz, Monika 153, 263 Wurm, Barbara 136, 143, 263

Х

XU Xiaodong 170, 263

Y

YIN Xiaodong 43, 263 Yogeshwar, Ranga 13 Young, Allan 90, 273

Z

Zacharias, Sebastian 263, 270, 271 Zachmann, Karin 99, 114, 181, 264 Zavershneva, Ekaterina 93 Zemplén, Gábor Áron 156, 264 Zenck, Martin 234 ZENG Xiongsheng 176 ZHANG Baichun 264 ZHANG Baichun 264 ZHANG Shuxian 170, 171, 264 Ziegler, Joseph 87, 264 Ziegler, Joseph 87, 264 Ziemke, Anne 264 Ziorzanelli, Rafaela 113, 264, 274 ZUO Ya 181

MAX-PLANCK-INSTITUT FÜR WISSENSCHAFTSGESCHICHTE

Boltzmannstraße 22, 14195 Berlin, Phone (+4930) 22667-0, www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de

